
 

 

Notice of Meeting 
 
Cabinet 
Councillors Simon Werner (Chair), Lynne Jones (Vice-Chair), Richard Coe, 
Geoff Hill, Joshua Reynolds, Catherine Del Campo, Adam Bermange, 
Karen Davies and Amy Tisi 
 
Wednesday 27 September 2023 7.00 pm 
Grey Room - York House - Windsor & on RBWM YouTube 
 

 
Agenda 

 
Part I 

 
Item Description Page   

Apologies for Absence 
 

 

1 To receive any apologies for absence. 
 

- 
  

Declarations of Interest 
 

 

2 To receive any declarations of interest from Cabinet Members. 
 

5 - 6 
  

Minutes 
 

 

3 To consider the minutes of the meeting held on Thursday 27 July 2023 as a 
true and accurate record. 
  
 

7 - 14 
 

 
Appointments 
 

 

4 

To note the appointments to the below: 
  
St Luke’s Community Hall – Councillor Jack Douglas 
  
Spoore Merry and Rixman Foundation – Philip Love 
  
Non-Religious Worldviews position in Group A on SACRE - Dr Anthony Lewis 
  
 

 
 
 

- 

 
Forward Plan 
 

 

5 To consider the Forward Plan for the period October 2023 to January 2024. 
 

15 - 24 
  

Update on the Council's Financial Position 
 

 

6 To receive a verbal update on the Council’s current financial position.  
 

Verbal 
Report 

  
 

 

 

Public Document Pack

https://www.youtube.com/user/WindsorMaidenhead


 
 

 

 
Cabinet Member Reports 

 
  

Draft Sustainability Supplementary Planning Document – Regulation 13 
Consultation 
 

 

7 

Cabinet Member for Planning, Legal & Asset Management 
  
To note the report and: 
  

i)               Approve the publication of the draft Sustainability SPD for public 
consultation; and  

ii)              Delegate authority to the Assistant Director of Planning in 
consultation with the Cabinet Member for Planning, Legal and 
Asset Management, to approve and publish any minor changes to 
the draft Sustainability SPD, prior to its publication. 

 

 
 
 

25 - 124 
 

 
Procurement of the Specialist Integrated Sexual and Reproductive 
Health Service 
 

 

8 

Cabinet Member for Adults, Health & Housing Services 
  
To note the report and: 
  
i)         Approve a two-year direct award to an eligible provider to ensure 

continuity of specialist, integrated SRH service provision beyond 
the 30th June 2024 across Berkshire East (RBWM, Bracknell 
Forest Council (BFC) and Slough Borough Council). 

ii)              Delegate authority and accountability for the contract award to 
BFC as the Lead Authority for the procurement.  

iii)              BFC to work with the market and NHS commissioning bodies to 
develop a life course response to sexual and reproductive health 
needs that offers better services for local communities. This 
process will result in initiation of a procurement of the specialist 
integrated SRH service during the lifetime of the 2-year contract to 
ensure longer term provision.  

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

125 - 134 
 

 
A308 speed limit reduction: Monkey Island Lane to M4 motorway bridge 
 

 

9 

Cabinet Member for Highways and Transport, Customer Service Centre & 
Employment 

To note the report and decide on whether to reduce the speed limit on this 
stretch of the A308 from 40 mph to 30 mph. 

 

 
 

135 - 152 
 

 
Supported bus services tender approval 
 

 

10 

Cabinet Member for Highways and Transport, Customer Service Centre & 
Employment 
  
To note the report and approve the redesign proposals and authorises a 
tender process. 
 
 

 
 

153 - 172 
 

 



 
 

 

Self-Build and Custom Housebuilding Guidance Note 
 

 

11 

Cabinet Member for Planning, Legal & Asset Management 
  
To note the report and: 

i) Adopt the Self-Build and Custom Housebuilding Guidance Note to be 
published as guidance and afforded weight as a material 
consideration in the planning process; and 

ii) Delegate authority to the Assistant Director of Planning in consultation 
with the Cabinet Member for Planning, Legal and Asset 
Management, to approve and publish any minor changes to the 
Self-Build and Custom Housebuilding Guidance Note, prior to its 
publication. 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

173 - 196 
 

 
Renewal of lease over land at Cookham Bridge and Toll House, 
Cookham 
 

 

12 
Cabinet Member for Planning, Legal & Asset Management 
  
To note the report and delegate authority to the Executive Director of Place 
Services in consultation with the Cabinet Member for Planning, Legal and 
Asset Management, to conclude the renewal of the lease over land at 
Cookham Bridge and Toll House, Cookham. 
 

 
197 - 212 
 

 
Retendering of Library Stock Contract 
 

 

13 

Cabinet Member for Communities & Leisure 
  
i)               To Note the retender for the supply of library stock by the Central 

Buying Consortium under the compliant procurement process. 
ii)              Approve the Council continuing to remain an Associate Member of 

the Central Buying Consortium for the supply of library stock until 
31 March 2028. 

iii)             Delegate authority to the Executive Director of Resources, in 
consultation with the Cabinet Member for Communities and 
Leisure, to award the tender and exercise the optional extension 
until 31 March 2028 if CBC pursues the extension. 

iv)             Delegate authority to the Executive Director of Resources, in 
consultation with the Cabinet Member for Communities and 
Leisure, to consider increasing the proposed £100k minimum 
spend should the budgetary opportunity arise during the period of 
the contract. 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

213 - 228 
 

 
LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 - EXCLUSION OF THE PUBLIC 
 

 

14 

Agenda item 7 is supported by annexes containing exempt information as 
defined in Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972. If Cabinet wishes 
to discuss the content of these annexes in detail, it may choose to move the 
following resolution: 
  
“That pursuant to Regulation 4 of the Local Authorities (Executive 
Arrangements) (Access to Information) Regulations 2012 and having regard 

 
 
- 



 
 

 

to the public interest, members of the public and press be excluded from the 
meeting for the consideration of item 7, which involves the likely disclosure of 
exempt information under the following category of Schedule 12A of the Local 
Government Act 1972: 
  
(3) Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular 
person (including the authority holding that information).” 
  

 

Cabinet Member Reports 
 
  

 
 
 

15 

Procurement of the Specialist Integrated Sexual and Reproductive 
Health Service  
 
To consider Appendix A. 
 
(Not for publication by virtue of Paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the 
Local Government Act 1972) 
 

 
 
 

229 - 240 

 
 
By attending this meeting, participants are consenting to the audio & visual 
recording being permitted and acknowledge that this shall remain 
accessible in the public domain permanently. 
 
Please contact Oran Norris-Browne, Oran.Norris-Browne@rbwm.gov.uk, 
with any special requests that you may have when attending this meeting. 
 
Published: Tuesday 19 September 2023 

 

 
 



Revised October 2022 

 

MEMBERS’ GUIDE TO DECLARING INTERESTS AT MEETINGS 

Disclosure at Meetings 

If a Member has not disclosed an interest in their Register of Interests, they must make the declaration 
of interest at the beginning of the meeting, or as soon as they are aware that they have a Disclosable 
Pecuniary Interest (DPI) or Other Registerable Interest. If a Member has already disclosed the interest 
in their Register of Interests they are still required to disclose this in the meeting if it relates to the matter 
being discussed. 

Any Member with concerns about the nature of their interest should consult the Monitoring Officer in 
advance of the meeting.  

Non-participation in case of Disclosable Pecuniary Interest (DPI) 

Where a matter arises at a meeting which directly relates to one of your DPIs (summary below, 
further details set out in Table 1 of the Members’ Code of Conduct) you must disclose the interest, 
not participate in any discussion or vote on the matter and must not remain in the room 
unless you have been granted a dispensation. If it is a ‘sensitive interest’ (as agreed in advance by 
the Monitoring Officer), you do not have to disclose the nature of the interest, just that you have an 
interest. Dispensation may be granted by the Monitoring Officer in limited circumstances, to enable 
you to participate and vote on a matter in which you have a DPI. 

Where you have a DPI on a matter to be considered or is being considered by you as a Cabinet 
Member in exercise of your executive function, you must notify the Monitoring Officer of the interest 
and must not take any steps or further steps in the matter apart from arranging for someone else to 
deal with it. 

DPIs (relating to the Member or their partner) include: 

• Any employment, office, trade, profession or vocation carried on for profit or gain. 

• Any payment or provision of any other financial benefit (other than from the council) made to the 
councillor during the previous 12-month period for expenses incurred by him/her in carrying out 
his/her duties as a councillor, or towards his/her election expenses 

• Any contract under which goods and services are to be provided/works to be executed which has 
not been fully discharged. 

• Any beneficial interest in land within the area of the council. 

• Any licence to occupy land in the area of the council for a month or longer. 

• Any tenancy where the landlord is the council, and the tenant is a body in which the relevant 
person has a beneficial interest in the securities of. 

• Any beneficial interest in securities of a body where: 
a) that body has a place of business or land in the area of the council, and 
b) either (i) the total nominal value of the securities exceeds £25,000 or one hundredth of the 
total issued share capital of that body or (ii) the total nominal value of the shares of any one class 
belonging to the relevant person exceeds one hundredth of the total issued share capital of that 
class. 

Any Member who is unsure if their interest falls within any of the above legal definitions should seek 
advice from the Monitoring Officer in advance of the meeting.  

Disclosure of Other Registerable Interests 

Where a matter arises at a meeting which directly relates to one of your Other Registerable 
Interests (summary below and as set out in Table 2 of the Members Code of Conduct), you must 
disclose the interest. You may speak on the matter only if members of the public are also 
allowed to speak at the meeting but otherwise must not take part in any discussion or vote on 
the matter and must not remain in the room unless you have been granted a dispensation. If it 
is a ‘sensitive interest’ (as agreed in advance by the Monitoring Officer), you do not have to 
disclose the nature of the interest. 

5

Agenda Item 2



Revised October 2022 

 

Other Registerable Interests: 

a) any unpaid directorships  

b) any body of which you are a member or are in a position of general control or management 

and to which you are nominated or appointed by your authority  

c) any body  

(i) exercising functions of a public nature  

(ii) directed to charitable purposes or  

(iii) one of whose principal purposes includes the influence of public opinion or policy (including 

any political party or trade union)  

 of which you are a member or in a position of general control or management 

Disclosure of Non- Registerable Interests 

Where a matter arises at a meeting which directly relates to your financial interest or well-being (and is 
not a DPI) or a financial interest or well-being of a relative or close associate, or a body included under 
Other Registerable Interests in Table 2 you must disclose the interest. You may speak on the matter 
only if members of the public are also allowed to speak at the meeting but otherwise must not 
take part in any discussion or vote on the matter and must not remain in the room unless you 

have been granted a dispensation. If it is a ‘sensitive interest’ (agreed in advance by the Monitoring 
Officer) you do not have to disclose the nature of the interest. 

Where a matter arises at a meeting which affects – 

a. your own financial interest or well-being; 

b. a financial interest or well-being of a friend, relative, close associate; or 

c. a financial interest or well-being of a body included under Other Registerable 
Interests as set out in Table 2 (as set out above and in the Members’ code of 
Conduct) 

you must disclose the interest. In order to determine whether you can remain in the meeting after 

disclosing your interest the following test should be applied. 

Where a matter (referred to in the paragraph above) affects the financial interest or well-being: 

a. to a greater extent than it affects the financial interests of the majority of 

inhabitants of the ward affected by the decision and; 

b. a reasonable member of the public knowing all the facts would believe that it 

would affect your view of the wider public interest 

You may speak on the matter only if members of the public are also allowed to speak at the 
meeting but otherwise must not take part in any discussion or vote on the matter and must 
not remain in the room unless you have been granted a dispensation. If it is a ‘sensitive 
interest’ (agreed in advance by the Monitoring Officer, you do not have to disclose the nature of 
the interest. 

Other declarations 

Members may wish to declare at the beginning of the meeting any other information they feel should 

be in the public domain in relation to an item on the agenda; such Member statements will be included 

in the minutes for transparency. 

6



CABINET 
 

THURSDAY 27 JULY 2023 
 
PRESENT: Councillors Simon Werner (Chair), Lynne Jones (Vice-Chair), Richard Coe, 
Geoff Hill, Joshua Reynolds, Catherine Del Campo, Adam Bermange and 
Karen Davies 
 
Also in attendance:  Councillor Price 
 
Also in attendance virtually:  Councillors Taylor, Knowles, Hunt & Sharpe 
 
Officers: Oran Norris-Browne, Stephen Evans, Lin Ferguson, Andrew Durrant, Kevin 
McDaniel and Andrew Vallance 
 
Officers in attendance virtually: Elaine Browne 
 
 
Apologies for Absence  
 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillor Tisi. 
  
  
Declarations of Interest  
 
Councillor Bermange & Councillor Hill both declared a non-pecuniary interest in item 10 
‘Disposal of Open Space Land, Land at Braywick Park, Maidenhead’, so would not take part in 
the debate and would leave the room during the course of this item.  
  
 
Minutes  
 
RESOLVED UNANIMOUSLY: That the Part I minutes of the meeting held on Tuesday 11 
July 2023 were approved. 
 
Appointments  
 
Cabinet noted and agreed to the appointments to the Standing Advisory Council on Religious 
Education.  
 
Forward Plan  
 
Cabinet noted the Forward Plan for the next four months including the following additional 
changes: 
  

        Public Spaces Protection Orders Consultation, which was appearing at the current 
Cabinet meeting.  

        Article 4 Direction – removal of permitted development rights to change of use from Class 
E (commercial class) to C3 (residential) would come to September Cabinet. 

        Highway Service Contract - Award would come to November Cabinet.  
        Central Buying Consortium (CBC) Library Stock Contract would come to September 

Cabinet.  
  
Councillor Price asked a question on the ‘Article 4 Direction – removal of permitted 
development rights to change of use from Class E to C3’ item as to why a 12-month period 

7

Agenda Item 3



was needed for it? Councillor Bermange replied by stating that essentially there was a 12-
month period where the Council would be liable to compensation and therefore it was within 
the Council’s interest to do this.  
  
 
Disposal of Open Space Land, Land at Braywick Park, Maidenhead  
 
AGREED: That the order of agenda items be altered so that item 10 was to be heard 
first, followed by item 7 and then item 6. 
  
Councillors Hill & Bermange left the room before this item commenced as stated earlier in the 
meeting.  
  
Cabinet considered the report titled ‘Disposal of Open Space Land, Land at Braywick Park, 
Maidenhead’.  
  
The Cabinet were addressed by 2 public speakers, Andrew Hill and Stephen Bough, both who 
were attending virtually. Due to technical difficulties, Stephen Bough was unable to fully 
deliver his speech. Oran Norris-Browne, Principal Democratic Services Officer, invited 
Stephen to email him his speech, to read out on his behalf to the Cabinet Members. Andrew 
Hill then addressed the Cabinet for 3 minutes.  
  
Councillor Reynolds, Cabinet Member for Communities and Leisure then introduced the report 
to Cabinet Members by outlining the report and giving a brief history of the process since it 
began in 2019. 22 objections had been received to the item, which led to a statutory 
requirement for the Cabinet to consider these when deciding on a recommendation. He added 
that it was a difficult decision for Cabinet to make as there were many positives, however the 
objections that had been received were also very valid and needed to be taken into account.  
  
Oran Norris-Browne, then proceeded to read out the remaining segments of Stephen Bough’s 
comments on his behalf due to the technical difficulties that had been experienced, upon 
request of the Chair.  
  
Councillor Taylor then indicated her desire to speak virtually as a non-Cabinet Member, which 
the Chair allowed.  
  
Councillor Davies, Cabinet Member for Climate Change, Biodiversity and Windsor Town 
Council, said that she was concerned about the large loss of open space to Maidenhead. 
Open green space was very important for general wellbeing, which was directly mentioned 
within several of the 22 objections that were received on this item.  
  
Councillor Del Campo, Cabinet Member for Adults, Health & Housing Services, said that the 
annual cost was concerning as it was less than for a flat within the town centre.  
  
Councillor Coe, Cabinet Member for Environmental Services, said that he had taken on board 
all of the information that officers had provided within the report and also the objections that 
had been received from residents. He was concerned about the open space loss of this land, 
especially if the proposed development went forward on the golf course too. He felt that the 
value to residents was diminished if this decision went through.  
  
Councillor Jones, Deputy Leader of the Council and Cabinet Member for Finance, wished to 
make a point of clarification to the Cabinet that borrowing costs would be brought down. The 
cost-of-living crisis was very prominent and that taking away a free public open space would 
be a concern.   
  
The Chair said that he acknowledged the hard work of Maidenhead Football Club and their 
work in the community, however this needed to be balanced finely with the loss of open space 

8



to Maidenhead and that it was currently at a premium within the area, especially with the 
increase in population in recent times.  
Councillor Reynolds acknowledged and welcomed the debate amongst speakers on this item. 
He said that it appeared that fellow Cabinet Members shared similar views on the loss of the 
open space to the town.  
  
Councillor Reynolds proposed that Cabinet did not agree to the disposal of the open space. 
This was seconded by Councillor K. Davies.  
  
A show of hands occurred from Cabinet Members who were in support of this. 
  
AGREED UNANIMOSULY: That Cabinet considered the objections received in relation 
to the proposed disposal (by the grant of a lease) of land at Braywick Park, Maidenhead 
(“the Open Space”) following the statutory notification of the Council’s intention to 
dispose of the Open Space and having regard to the objections, confirmed that they did 
not agree to the disposal of the Open Space. 
  
 
Finance Update Month 2 2023/24  
 
Cabinet considered the report titled ‘2023/24 Month 2 Revenue Monitoring Report’. 
  
Councillor Jones introduced the item to Cabinet by stating that the overspend needed to be 
immediately addressed. There were growing costs on services such as Adult Social Care, 
which were currently forecasting a £2.8 million overspend on services.  
  
The Children’s Services overspend was much lower at £50,000, however there were still 
pressures. The Place directorate were forecasting a £2.5 million overspend for reasons such 
as a decrease in parking season ticket sales, higher contract costs and higher costs for 
recycling. There was an underspend currently within the Resources directorate of £500,000, 
however these were more related to staff vacancies. Staffing was noted as being a huge issue 
across the Council, with services not being fully staffed, this was affecting the service delivery. 
High inflation and interest rates were also affecting all Council services. The debt of the 
Council also needed to be addressed.   
  
Stephen Evans, Chief Executive, said that work had already begun to balance the budget. The 
reserves that the Council had did not quite cover the projected overspend that was currently 
being forecast. The in-year position for the current financial year showed a forecast overspend 
of £4.9 million as of May 2023. The forecast budget gap for the next financial year of 2024/25 
was currently showing a gap of £3.7 million with a total forecast gap to 2028/29 of £10.1 
million.  
  
Stephen Evans admitted that a budget gap of this size would be very challenging to manage, 
and he admitted that tough decisions would be required. He shared the concern of staffing 
levels in some services across the Council especially in some corporate services such as 
contract management and procurement. He then outlined some of the things that he had 
implemented at the Council since he became Chief Executive in April 2023. This included a 
new senior officer performance and resources board which had been established to scrutinise 
budgets and opportunities. He admitted that capacity and funding unfortunately did limit the 
Council.  
  
The Chair said that the Council’s financial position was shocking and that it was a result of the 
previous administration’s legacy. Insourcing, commercialisation, using the Council’s assets 
and contract management in terms of staffing levels were all areas that were to be focussed 
upon by the new administration.  
  

9



Andrew Vallance, Deputy Director of Finance said that the new regime for monitoring was 
being implemented as discussed by Stephen Evans and outlined some of the timelines that 
Cabinet would expect to see these reports. 
  
Councillor Price asked as a non-Cabinet Member about the Cabinet Transformation Sub-
Committee. She said that she would always attend it as she believed it to be very important, 
however admitted that no real transformation was seen from it along with it constantly being 
cancelled. She asked if it was to be continued & if it could be utilised as a driver for this. 
Stephen Evans replied by saying that the Council were not currently at a position to focus 
upon this, however welcomed it in the future.  
  
Councillor Price then pleaded to the Cabinet to ensure there was good community 
engagement to advertise what was occurring currently to do with the financial position.  
  
Councillor Bermange then discussed the parking season ticket decrease, which had been 
mentioned by Councillor Jones. Councillor Hill replied by stating that a review of parking 
needed to be looked at, and it was planned to come before Cabinet over the next few months. 
  
The Chair seconded the recommendation in the report.  
  
AGREED UNANIMOUSLY: That Cabinet noted: 
       i.          the forecast revenue outturn for the year was an overspend on services of 

£4.900m which reduces to an overspend of £1.520m when including unallocated 
contingency budgets and changes to funding budgets (para 4). 

     ii.          that the Council’s approach to in-year budget monitoring and management was 
being strengthened – as part of a wider approach to improving corporate 
governance at RBWM - as set out in paragraph 5.1. 

    iii.          the forecast capital outturn was expenditure of £70.325m against a budget of 
£87.695m (para 10); and 

    iv.          agreed the virement in paragraph 11.4 to fund the additional capital costs of 
£0.101m for the Berkshire Records Office. 

  
 
Medium-term Financial Plan 2024/25 - 2028/29  
 
Cabinet considered the report titled ‘Medium-term Financial Plan 2024/25 – 2028/29’. 
  
Councillor Jones outlined the report to Cabinet. She said that there was a historic low level of 
Council tax that the borough had to work with, which was big pressure for the Council. 
Reserves had strengthened over the last few years; however, this was still not enough as 
explained within the previous item. In 2024/25, forecast interest and borrowing was a rate of 
£10 million.  
  
Andrew Vallance said that there would be a series of 1-year settlements provided. The details 
of next year’s settlements were purely assumptions at this time and would not be known until 
December 2023. This was coupled with there being a General Election in 2024, which could 
indeed change things once again. He did note that there would be no gap if it was not for 
rising inflation and interest rates. He then stated that when using last year’s levels, there 
would already be a balanced budget at this current moment in time.  
  
Councillor Bermange wished to acknowledge the comments that had been made by Andrew 
Vallance and asked him if the realities of service demand were being correctly acknowledged 
in forward planning areas. Kevin McDaniel, Executive Director of Adult Services & Health 
offered some clarity to this. 
Councillor Jones summarised the position of the Council that had been discussed and asked 
Cabinet to note the report and the recommendation set out.  
  

10



The recommendation was seconded by the Chair. 
  
AGREED UNANIMOUSLY: That Cabinet notes: 
       i.          the Medium-Term Financial Plan set out in Appendix A, including the forecast 

budget gap for the next financial year 2024-25 and over the medium-term 
     ii.          the proposed budget themes that will drive the budget process to identify 

savings and income growth; and 
    iii.          the business planning process, and timeline for developing the new Medium 

Term Financial Strategy, Budget 2024-25, and new Corporate Plan. 

  
 
Disabled Facilities Grant Policy  
 
Cabinet considered the report titled ‘Disabled Facilities Grant and Housing Assistance Policy’. 
  
Councillor Del Campo introduced the report to Cabinet and stated that the report had been in 
the works for some time, long before the new administration came into power. She then 
outlined the specifics of the report to the Cabinet. She clarified that no additional funding was 
being obtained through the paper that was in front of Cabinet to decide upon.  
  
Councillor Price asked how the policy that Cabinet were being asked to agree differed to that 
of the one that was currently in place. Councillor Del Campo gave this clarity.  
  
The Chair seconded the recommendation within the report. 
  
AGREED UNANIMOUSLY: That Cabinet noted the report and: 
       i.          Delegated authority to the Executive Director of Place in consultation with the 

relevant Cabinet Member to take the Housing Allocations Policy through a public 
consultation process and to adopt the final version of the Policy and 

     ii.          Delegated authority to the Executive Director of Place in consultation with the 
relevant Cabinet Member to approve updates to the policy prior to publishing for 
consultation. 

  
 
Allocations Policy  
 
Cabinet considered the report titled ‘Housing Allocations Policy’. 
  
Councillor Del Campo introduced the report to Cabinet by saying that as an administration, 
that one of their main commitments was to provide a suitable level of social housing within the 
borough. The policy that had been place before Cabinet to decide upon, would allow the 
Council to ensure that social housing would be allocated to the people who really needed it. 
  
Councillor Price asked if due to the low stock available, would the exception test be passed. 
Councillor Del Campo replied by saying that an allocations policy was required regardless of 
the quantity of social housing on offer, so implored Cabinet to adopt the paper.  
  
The Chair seconded the recommendation. 
  
 AGREED UNANIMOUSLY: That Cabinet noted the report and: 
       i.          Delegated authority to the Executive Director of Place in consultation with the 

relevant Cabinet Member to take the Housing Allocations Policy through a public 
consultation process and to adopt the final version of the Policy and 

     ii.          Delegated authority to the Executive Director of Place in consultation with the 
relevant Cabinet Member to approve updates to the policy prior to publishing for 
consultation. 

11



  
 
Public Spaces Protection Orders Consultation  
 
Cabinet considered the report titled ‘Introduction of Public Space Protection Orders’. 
  
The Chair introduced the report to Cabinet and outlined what Cabinet were specifically being 
asked to approve. It was not to ban alcohol consumption within parks, but instead being able 
to deal with behaviour caused by alcohol. The 2nd PSPO was to prevent barbeques from 
being lighted within public parks. Councillor Del Campo welcomed the comments that the 
Chair made in relation to the specifics of the recommendation, involving alcohol specifically.  
  
Councillor Reynolds said that over just under 300 persons who responded to the consultation, 
only 6 of those were under 24 years of age. Overall, only 5% of respondents were under 34 
years of age and that work was needed to engage young person’s such as the Youth Council 
was very important. He acknowledged and agreed with Councillor Del Campo’s comments on 
barbeques and said that this was an area that he wished to look at with officers in the future.  
  
Councillor Sharpe raised concerns over the advertising of the consultation as it was only done 
so online. He asked for future consultations to be communicated with parish councils. The 
Chair agreed with Councillor Sharpe and thanked him for his comments.  
  
Councillor Hill seconded the recommendation. 
  
AGREED UNANIMOUSLY: That Cabinet noted the report and considered the Royal 
Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead, Antisocial Behaviour Crime and Policing Act 
2014, Public Space Protection Order (Alcohol Consumption) Order 2023 and delegated 
authority to the Executive Director of Place Services in consultation with the Cabinet 
Member for Community Partnerships, Public Protection and Maidenhead portfolio to 
approve both Orders. 
  
 
Broadway Car Park - Nicholson Quarter Development update report  
 
Cabinet considered the report titled ‘Broadway Multistorey Car Park Maidenhead – Demolition 
of existing structure.  
  
Councillor Hill, Cabinet Member for Highways and Transport, Customer Service Centre & 
Employment, outlined the report and provided some background information on the car park 
history and its recent structural failings that were allowed to occur under the previous 
administration. He stated that the demolition would take roughly around 10 months, on top of 
the time needed for a procurement process to take place between approval and demolition 
commencement.  
  
The Chair thanked Councillor Hill for his efforts in progressing the report that was before 
Cabinet, as it had been originally pencilled in for Autumn.  
  
Councillor Coe asked for some clarity for the public as to how the process of the demolition 
would occur. Andrew Durrant, Executive Director of Place Services, said that the car park was 
located within a central part of the town, within close proximity to various different neighbours, 
so admitted that it of course would come with its challenges, however it was necessary. He 
also discussed about the new signage that was being planned to be installed, advertising the 
alternate Vicus Way car park.  
  
Councillor Price asked if the car park was planned originally to be demolished regardless of 
these current situations. Andrew Durrant confirmed that in the future with the proposed 
redevelopment of the Nicholsons hopping centre, the plan was to do this at some point.  

12



  
Councillor Davies said that it was a shame from a climate and sustainability viewpoint that the 
Council was in this position. 
  
Councillor Hill said that he wished for the parking strategy item to come to Cabinet in the very 
near future. Andrew Durrant confirmed that his team would be moving it forward as fast as 
possible.  
  
The Chair seconded the recommendation.  
  
AGREED UNANIMOUSLY: That Cabinet noted the report and delegated authority to the 
Executive Director of Place in consultation with the Cabinet Member for Highways and 
Transport, to go out to Tender and approve a contract to demolish the Broad Way 
Multistorey Car Park. 
  
 
The meeting, which began at 7.00 pm, finished at 8.40 pm 
 

CHAIR………………………………. 
 

DATE………………………….......... 
 

13



This page is intentionally left blank



N.B. All documents to be used by the decision maker to be listed in the report to Cabinet 

FORWARD PLAN OF CABINET DECISIONS 
 

 
 
All enquiries, including representations, about any of the items listed below should be made in the first instance to Democratic Services, Town Hall, St 
Ives Road, Maidenhead. Email: democratic.services@rbwm.gov.uk 
 

 
 

FORWARD PLAN 
 

ITEM Private 
Meeting - 
contains 
exempt/ 

confidential 
information? 

See 
categories 

below. 

Short Description Key 
Decision, 
Council 

or other? 

REPORTING 
MEMBER 
(to whom 

representations 
should be made) 

REPORTING 
OFFICER / 

DIRECTOR (to 
whom 

representations 
should be made) 

Consultation 
(please specify 

consultees, dates 
(to and from) and 

form of 
consultation), 

including other 
meetings 

Date and 
name of 
meeting 

Date of 
Council 
decision 

(if 
required) 

A308/Mill 
Lane/Parsonage 
Lane junction 
improvement 
 

Open -  
 

For approval by 
cabinet the 
proposal to install a 
new Cyclops-style 
junction at the 
intersection of 
A308/Mill 
Lane/Parsonage 
Lane to boost 
pedestrian and 
cyclist safety. This 
junction has a high 
injury count, as 
recorded by the 
police, with this 
solution likely to 
result in a 
substantial 
improvement in 
safety. 

Yes Cabinet Member 
for Highways and 
Transport, 
Customer Service 
Centre & 
Employment 
(Councillor Geoff 
Hill) 

 
Tim Golabek 

 

Scheme formally 
consulted on in 
January and 
February 2023 

Cabinet 
25 Oct 
2023 

 

EV ChargePoint 
Procurement 
 

Open -  
 

Procurement 
approach for 
delivering EV 

Yes Cabinet Member 
for Highways and 
Transport, 

 
Tim Golabek, Chris 

Joyce 

Internal process  Cabinet 
25 Oct 
2023 

 

15

A
genda Item

 5



ITEM Private 
Meeting - 
contains 
exempt/ 

confidential 
information? 

See 
categories 

below 

Short Description Key 
Decision, 
Council 

or other? 

REPORTING 
MEMBER           (to 

whom 
representations 
should be made) 

REPORTING 
OFFICER / 

DIRECTOR          (to 
whom 

representations 
should be made) 

Consultation 
(please specify 

consultees, dates 
(to and from) and 

form of 
consultation), 

including other 
meetings. 

Date and 
name of 
meeting 

Date of             
Council 
decision 

(if 
required) 

 

N.B. All documents to be used by the decision maker to be listed in the report to Cabinet 

chargepoints on 
public highways 
and council car 
parks, to deliver 
the council's EV 
Chargepoint 
Implementation 
Plan 

Customer Service 
Centre & 
Employment 
(Councillor Geoff 
Hill) 

 

Achieving for 
Children (AfC) 
Annual Reports 
2022/23 
 

Open -  
 

This report will 
include the Annual 
Report, statement 
of accounts and 
equalities report. 

Yes Cabinet Member 
for Children's 
Services, 
Education & 
Windsor (Councillor 
Amy Tisi) 

 
Lin Ferguson, Lucy 

Kourpas 
 

None Cabinet 
25 Oct 
2023 

 

Achieving for 
Children (AfC) 
Contract 
 

Open -  
 

To decide whether 
the AfC Contract 
should be 
renewed.  

Yes Cabinet Member 
for Children's 
Services, 
Education & 
Windsor (Councillor 
Amy Tisi) 

 
Lin Ferguson, Lucy 

Kourpas 
 

None Cabinet 
25 Oct 
2023 

 

A308/Holyport 
Road junction 
improvements 
 

Open -  
 

Approval sought to 
proceed with the 
improvement of the 
junction at Holyport 
Road and A308 
which is currently a 
location of reported 
near misses and 
queues. 

Yes Cabinet Member 
for Highways and 
Transport, 
Customer Service 
Centre & 
Employment 
(Councillor Geoff 
Hill) 

 
Tim Golabek 

 

Internal process 
and external 
consultations on 
the design. 

Cabinet 
25 Oct 
2023 

 

Quarterly 
Assurance 
Report 

Open -  
 

Report setting out 
detail of council 
performance, 

No Leader of the 
Council and 
Cabinet Member 

 
Becky Hatch, 

Rachel Kinniburgh 

Internal process  Cabinet 
25 Oct 
2023 

 

16



ITEM Private 
Meeting - 
contains 
exempt/ 

confidential 
information? 

See 
categories 

below 

Short Description Key 
Decision, 
Council 

or other? 

REPORTING 
MEMBER           (to 

whom 
representations 
should be made) 

REPORTING 
OFFICER / 

DIRECTOR          (to 
whom 

representations 
should be made) 

Consultation 
(please specify 

consultees, dates 
(to and from) and 

form of 
consultation), 

including other 
meetings. 

Date and 
name of 
meeting 

Date of             
Council 
decision 

(if 
required) 

 

N.B. All documents to be used by the decision maker to be listed in the report to Cabinet 

 finance and risk.  for Community 
Partnerships, 
Public Protection & 
Maidenhead 
(Councillor Simon 
Werner) 

 

York Road Phase 
I, Maidenhead 
 

Part exempt 
-  
 

Cabinet to note the 
potential ‘windfall’ 
from the Council’s 
receipt of the 
reversion to the 
notional 4,000 sq.ft 
of commercial 
floorspace now not 
being provided to 
Maidenhead 
Heritage Centre in 
accordance with 
Clause 3.4.1 of the 
York Road – Site 
Proposal under the 
Development 
Agreement with 
Countryside. 

No Cabinet Member 
for Planning, Legal 
& Asset 
Management 
(Councillor Adam 
Bermange), Deputy 
Leader of the 
Council and 
Cabinet Member 
for Finance 
(Councillor Lynne 
Jones) 

 
Ian Brazier-Dubber, 

Emmanuel 
Ogedengbe 

 

Internal Process Cabinet 
25 Oct 
2023 

 

Maidenhead 
Parking Strategy 
 

Open -  
 

To provide an 
update on parking 
provision in 
Maidenhead Town 
Centre  

No Cabinet Member 
for Highways and 
Transport, 
Customer Service 
Centre & 
Employment 
(Councillor Geoff 
Hill) 
 

 
Alysse Strachan, 

Neil Walter 
 

Internal process  Cabinet 
29 Nov 
2023 

 

17



ITEM Private 
Meeting - 
contains 
exempt/ 

confidential 
information? 

See 
categories 

below 

Short Description Key 
Decision, 
Council 

or other? 

REPORTING 
MEMBER           (to 

whom 
representations 
should be made) 

REPORTING 
OFFICER / 

DIRECTOR          (to 
whom 

representations 
should be made) 

Consultation 
(please specify 

consultees, dates 
(to and from) and 

form of 
consultation), 

including other 
meetings. 

Date and 
name of 
meeting 

Date of             
Council 
decision 

(if 
required) 

 

N.B. All documents to be used by the decision maker to be listed in the report to Cabinet 

Highway Services 
Contracts – 
Award 
 

Part exempt 
- 3 
 

A procurement has 
been undertaken 
for the Highways 
Service Contracts. 
Bids have been 
received, which 
have been 
evaluated both for 
quality and finance 
purposes. The 
purpose of the 
report is to gain 
approval to appoint 
the associated 
contractor(s) for 
each of the lots.  

Yes Cabinet Member 
for Highways and 
Transport, 
Customer Service 
Centre & 
Employment 
(Councillor Geoff 
Hill) 

 
Andrew Durrant, 
Alysse Strachan 

 

External market 
engagement, 
Internal process 
with Key 
stakeholders.  

Cabinet 
29 Nov 
2023 

 

Annual update on 
demand for 
school places 
 

Open -  
 

Update on the 
projected demand 
for school places in 
the borough, and 
recommendations 
relating to any next 
steps. 

No Cabinet Member 
for Children's 
Services, 
Education & 
Windsor (Councillor 
Amy Tisi) 

 
Lin Ferguson, 
Lynne Penn 

 

Internal process  Cabinet 
29 Nov 
2023 

 

Article 4 
Direction–
removal of 
permitted 
development 
rights to change 
of use from Class 
E (commercial 
class) to C3 
(residential) 

Open -  
 

The report 
recommends that a 
non-immediate 
Article 4 direction 
be introduced to 
remove permitted 
development rights 
for changes of use 
from Class E to 
residential on 

Yes Cabinet Member 
for Planning, Legal 
& Asset 
Management 
(Councillor Adam 
Bermange) 

 
Ian Motuel, Adrien 

Waite 
 

External 
consultation will 
take place subject 
to Cabinet approval 

Cabinet 
13 Dec 
2023 

 

18



ITEM Private 
Meeting - 
contains 
exempt/ 

confidential 
information? 

See 
categories 

below 

Short Description Key 
Decision, 
Council 

or other? 

REPORTING 
MEMBER           (to 

whom 
representations 
should be made) 

REPORTING 
OFFICER / 

DIRECTOR          (to 
whom 

representations 
should be made) 

Consultation 
(please specify 

consultees, dates 
(to and from) and 

form of 
consultation), 

including other 
meetings. 

Date and 
name of 
meeting 

Date of             
Council 
decision 

(if 
required) 

 

N.B. All documents to be used by the decision maker to be listed in the report to Cabinet 

 protected 
employment sites 
set out in BLP 
Policy ED2. 
Following 
Cabinet's approval, 
this would be 
subject to public 
consultation for at 
least 28 days 
and it is anticipated 
that a report would 
then be taken back 
to Cabinet to 
confirm 
the Article 4 
direction. The 
Article 4 would 
then come into 
force 12 month's 
after 
initial publication of 
the notice. 

Mill Lane 
Conservation 
Area Appraisal 
 

Open -  
 

The Mill Lane 
Conservation Area 
is located in 
Clewer Village to 
the north-west of 
Windsor. The area 
was designated in 
1974 but does not 
have a 
Conservation Area 
Appraisal. A 

Yes Cabinet Member 
for Planning, Legal 
& Asset 
Management 
(Councillor Adam 
Bermange) 

 
Adrien Waite 

 

Internal Cabinet 
13 Dec 
2023 

 

19



ITEM Private 
Meeting - 
contains 
exempt/ 

confidential 
information? 

See 
categories 

below 

Short Description Key 
Decision, 
Council 

or other? 

REPORTING 
MEMBER           (to 

whom 
representations 
should be made) 

REPORTING 
OFFICER / 

DIRECTOR          (to 
whom 

representations 
should be made) 

Consultation 
(please specify 

consultees, dates 
(to and from) and 

form of 
consultation), 

including other 
meetings. 

Date and 
name of 
meeting 

Date of             
Council 
decision 

(if 
required) 

 

N.B. All documents to be used by the decision maker to be listed in the report to Cabinet 

Conservation Area 
Appraisal is an 
important 
document for 
development 
management 
purposes that 
explains the 
importance of a 
conservation area 
and describes how 
this can be 
retained and 
enhanced, 
particularly when 
new works are 
proposed. This 
report seeks 
Cabinet approval 
for the draft Mill 
Lane Conservation 
Area Appraisal and 
agreement to 
undertake a period 
of public 
consultation on the 
document. The 
appraisal will then 
be revised to take 
account of the 
views of local 
residents and 
interested parties, 
and submitted to 

20



ITEM Private 
Meeting - 
contains 
exempt/ 

confidential 
information? 

See 
categories 

below 

Short Description Key 
Decision, 
Council 

or other? 

REPORTING 
MEMBER           (to 

whom 
representations 
should be made) 

REPORTING 
OFFICER / 

DIRECTOR          (to 
whom 

representations 
should be made) 

Consultation 
(please specify 

consultees, dates 
(to and from) and 

form of 
consultation), 

including other 
meetings. 

Date and 
name of 
meeting 

Date of             
Council 
decision 

(if 
required) 

 

N.B. All documents to be used by the decision maker to be listed in the report to Cabinet 

Cabinet for final 
approval. 

 
 

21



ITEM Private 
Meeting - 
contains 
exempt/ 

confidential 
information? 

See 
categories 

below 

Short Description Key 
Decision, 
Council 

or other? 

REPORTING 
MEMBER           (to 

whom 
representations 
should be made) 

REPORTING 
OFFICER / 

DIRECTOR          (to 
whom 

representations 
should be made) 

Consultation 
(please specify 

consultees, dates 
(to and from) and 

form of 
consultation), 

including other 
meetings. 

Date and 
name of 
meeting 

Date of             
Council 
decision 

(if 
required) 

 

N.B. All documents to be used by the decision maker to be listed in the report to Cabinet 

 
 
 
DESCRIPTIONS OF EXEMPT INFORMATION: ENGLAND 
 
1 Information relating to any individual. 
 
2 Information which is likely to reveal the identity of an individual. 
 
3 Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular person (including the authority holding that information). 
 
4 Information relating to any consultations or negotiations, or contemplated consultations or negotiations, in connection with any labour 
relations matter arising between the authority or a Minister of the Crown and employees of, or office holders under, the authority. 
 
5 Information in respect of which a claim to legal professional privilege could be maintained in legal proceedings. 
 
6 Information which reveals that the authority proposes: 
(a) to give under any enactment a notice under or by virtue of which requirements are imposed on a person; or 
(b) to make an order or direction under any enactment. 
 
7 Information relating to any action taken or to be taken in connection with the prevention, investigation or prosecution of crime. 

22



Cabinet Forward Plan - changes made since Cabinet meeting on 27.07.23: 

 

Item Scheduled 
date New date Reason for change 

A308/Mill Lane/Parsonage Lane junction 
improvement 27.09.23 25.10.23 To allow further time for the budget setting process to occur 

Central Buying Consortium (CBC) Library Stock 
Contract 27.09.23 25.10.23  

Mill Lane Conservation Area Appraisal 27.09.23 13.12.23 Due to capacity and to align with the appraisal’s 
implementation 

Draft Sustainability Supplementary Planning 
Document – Regulation 13 Consultation 27.09.23 - New Item 

A308 speed limit reduction: Monkey Island Lane 
to M4 motorway bridge 27.09.23 - New Item 

Procurement of the Specialist Integrated Sexual 
and Reproductive Health Service 27.09.23 - New Item 

Renewal of lease over land at Cookham Bridge 
and Toll House, Cookham 27.09.23 - New Item 

EV ChargePoint Procurement 25.10.23 - New Item 

Article 4 Direction– removal of permitted 
development rights 25.10.23 13.12.23 Currently unable to progress this due to staff vacancy within 

the Planning Policy team 

Sale of Oakley Green, Windsor 25.10.23 - Item Removed 

23



Achieving for Children (AfC) Annual Reports 
2022/23 25.10.23 - New Item 

Renewal of Lease at Cookham Marina 25.10.23 27.09.23 Item covered into “Renewal of lease over land at Cookham 
Bridge and Toll House, Cookham” item 

York Road Phase I, Maidenhead 25.10.23 - New Item 

Achieving for Children (AfC) Contract 25.10.23 - New Item 

Annual update on demand for school places 25.10.23 29.11.23 Further time is needed to evaluate data and outcomes 

Quarterly Assurance Report 25.10.23 - New Item 

Maidenhead Parking Strategy 29.11.23 - New Item 

 

 

24



 
Report Title: Draft Sustainability Supplementary Planning 

Document – Regulation 13 Consultation 
Contains 
Confidential or 
Exempt Information 

No - Part I  

Cabinet Member: Councillor Bermange, Cabinet Member for 
Planning, Legal and Asset Management 

Meeting and Date: Cabinet 27th September 2023 
Responsible 
Officer(s): 

Andrew Durrant – Executive Director of Place  

Wards affected:   All 
 
REPORT SUMMARY 
 
The report recommends that the Cabinet approves the publication of the draft 
Sustainability SPD for public consultation in Autumn 2023. 
 
The draft SPD provides more detailed advice and guidance on the implementation of 
Local Plan policies by providing technical guidance on energy and carbon, climate 
adaptation, sustainable materials and construction, biodiversity and sustainable 
transport.   
 
The SPD will help the Council to meet one of the main objectives of the Corporate 
Plan 2023-26 by taking action to tackle climate change and its consequences and 
improve our natural environment. The Corporate Plan specifically identifies the 
requirement for the Council to adopt a new, best practice SPD to drive forward our 
climate and environmental goals in all new developments.  

1. DETAILS OF RECOMMENDATION(S) 

RECOMMENDATION: That Cabinet notes the report and: 
 

i) Approves the publication of the draft Sustainability SPD for public 
consultation; and  
 

ii) Delegates authority to the Assistant Director of Planning in 
consultation with the Cabinet Member for Planning, Legal and Asset 
Management, to approve and publish any minor changes to the draft 
Sustainability SPD, prior to its publication. 

2. REASON(S) FOR RECOMMENDATION(S) AND OPTIONS CONSIDERED 

Options  
 

Table 1: Options arising from this report. 

Option Comments 
Approve the publication of the draft 
Sustainability SPD for public consultation. 
 
This is the recommended option 

The SPD provides the opportunity to 
providing technical guidance on 
energy and carbon, climate 
adaptation, sustainable materials 

25

Agenda Item 7



Option Comments 
and construction, biodiversity and 
sustainable transport public 
consultation is an important, 
required stage in the development of 
SPDs.  
 
Choosing not to approve the public 
consultation would delay the 
adoption of the SPD. By delaying 
the SPD there is a risk that the 
Council is not able to resist some 
forms of less sustainable new 
development because it does not 
have relevant detailed, locally 
specific guidance. 

Not publish the draft Sustainability SPD for 
public consultation. 

There is a risk that this would leave 
the Council without the detailed 
guidance that is considered to be 
appropriate across the Royal 
Borough which could result in less 
sustainable development coming 
forward and being permitted. 
 
 

Do Nothing This would cause delays to the 
adoption of a Sustainability SPD. 
 
There is a risk that this would leave 
the Council without the detailed 
guidance needed to determine any 
planning applications that were 
submitted before the SPD was 
adopted.  

  
2.1 The National Planning Policy Framework (2021) defines Supplementary 

Planning Documents (SPDs) as, Documents which add further detail to the 
policies in the development plan. They can be used to provide further 
guidance for development on specific sites, or on particular issues, such as 
design. Supplementary planning documents are capable of being a material 
consideration in planning decisions but are not part of the development plan. 

They are important documents in helping to deliver the policies and proposals 
set out in the BLP. However, it should be emphasised that SPDs do not create 
new policy, and do not replace or amend, existing policy in the BLP. 

2.2 A key commitment of the Council’s Environment and Climate Strategy (2020) 
is the preparation of a new Supplementary Planning Document to help reduce 
building carbon emissions and improve the energy efficiency of new builds.  

2.3 A key aim of BLP Policy SP2 is for all development proposals to demonstrate 
how they have been designed to incorporate measures to adapt to and 
mitigate climate change. This includes factors such as building orientation, 
solar shading, thermal mass, heating and ventilation, green and blue 
infrastructure, and sustainable drainage.  

26



2.4 Policy SP2 states that applicants should refer to the adopted Sustainable 
Design and Construction Supplementary Planning Document (SPD), the 
Borough Wide Design Guide SPD and the Environment and Climate Strategy 
2020-2025, or successor documents for further guidance. The draft 
Sustainability SPD is the successor document to the Sustainable Design and 
Construction SPD, which was adopted in 2009, which was adopted in 2009, 
and will also replace the Interim Sustainability Position Statement from March 
2021.  

2.5 Supporting information is also provided in the draft Sustainability SPD to 
further assist the implementation of the following BLP policies: 

• QP1 – Sustainability and Placemaking 

• QP2 – Green and Blue Infrastructure 

• QP3 – Character and Design of New Development 

• NR1 – Managing Flood Risk and Waterways 

• NR2 – Nature Conservation and Biodiversity 

• NR5 – Renewable Energy 

• IF1 – Infrastructure and Developer Contributions 

• IF2 – Sustainable Transport 

• IF4 – Open Space 

2.6 The draft SPD provides detailed guidance on energy and carbon, climate 
adaptation, sustainable materials and construction, biodiversity and 
sustainable transport and is set out at Appendix B. It provides transparent 
guidance for applicants with more detail about policy requirements and 
expectations, ensures that applicants consistently submit information to 
demonstrate compliance with policy, helps officers and councillors assess the 
environmental credentials of developments in their decision making and 
encourages developers to go further than current policy. The SPD primarily 
relates to new residential and non-residential buildings but also sets standards 
for existing buildings. However, it cannot introduce new policy requirements 
that are not already part of a local plan policy. 

2.7 The draft SPD has been prepared in collaboration with industry experts, 
Councillors, and the local community and draws on industry expertise, 
examples of best practice. A process of early scoping engagement took place 
through sessions with Council Officers, Councillors, developers, and the wider 
local climate community in late 2022 and early 2023. Three additional 
presentations were also given to the same stakeholders in August 2023, 
which gave attendees the opportunity to review the progress that has been 
made on the draft SPD, and to take part in a question-and-answer session. 

2.8 The next statutory stage in the preparation of an SPD is to publish it for public 
consultation - it is recommended that the draft SPD is published for 
consultation in Autumn 2023. If the recommendation is agreed, there will be 

27



updates to the formatting and presentation of the draft SPD for the start of the 
consultation. The minimum period for consultation on a draft SPD is 4 weeks. 
It is anticipated that there would be “in person” consultation events during the 
consultation period. 

2.9 Supporting documents that would be published to accompany the consultation 
draft of the SPD including the Strategic Environmental Assessment Scoping 
Report and a draft Consultation Statement summarising the early engagement 
undertaken in the preparation of the SPD. 

3. KEY IMPLICATIONS 

 
3.1 Whilst SPDs are not part of the statutory development plan (such as the 

Borough Local Plan) with its associated planning status and weight in decision 
making, they are an important material consideration when determining 
planning applications. As noted above the preparation of this SPD is 
specifically referred to in BLP Policy SP2. 

 
Table 2: Key Implications 

Outcome Unmet Met Exceeded Significantly 
Exceeded 

Date of 
delivery 

Publication of 
the draft 
Sustainability 
SPD and 
supporting 
documents 

SPD 
published for 
consultation 
in late 
2023/early 
2024 or not 
at all 

SPD 
published for 
consultation 
in Autumn 
2023 

n/a n/a SPD 
anticipated 
to be 
adopted 
early 2024 

4. FINANCIAL DETAILS / VALUE FOR MONEY  

4.1 The cost of producing the SPD has, to date, been around £45,000. This has 
funded: 
 

• Early engagement events 
• Specialist sustainability, climate change and planning advice and input. 
• The drafting of the SPD 
• Hosting of presentations on the draft SPD by consultants 

 
4.2 The preparation of the SPD to date has been undertaken within existing 

budgets. The public consultation would also be undertaken within existing 
budgets. 
 

4.3 The SPD requires planning applications to include detailed energy and carbon 
life cycle assessments which Development Management officers are not able 
to assess accurately. Undertaking these assessments would require specialist 
expertise and add to the work required to process a planning application. 
Officers estimate that an additional 1 FTE post would be required (at grade 7) 
to effectively implement the SPD, which would cost approximately £45,000 per 
annum (including on-costs). 
 

28



4.4 The Council plans to meet this funding requirement by re-prioritising its 
Sustainability & Climate team’s current delivery plan to ensure its resources are 
focused on the areas that can deliver the greatest positive impact on the 
environment and climate crisis. Work already being undertaken to improve 
energy management processes will support this change and subject to 
proposals that will be taken forward through the council’s normal budget 
processes additional resource will be focussed on energy and carbon reduction 
that would have the right expertise to assess the material required for the SPD.   

 
4.5 These changes are not expected to impact the delivery of the Council’s 

Environment & Climate Strategy or Biodiversity Action Plan.  In addition, a bid 
has recently been made to the Government’s Planning Skills Delivery Fund, 
and if this is successful, it will enable additional staffing resources to be put in 
place for the short term, pending the reprioritisation exercise set out above.   
 

4.6 The successful delivery and full adoption of this SPD is therefore subject to 
successfully securing an alternative funding source and/or reprioritisation to 
delivery within an existing staffing model. These new arrangements would need 
to be in place before the SPD could be adopted by the Council. 

5. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS  

5.1 The SPD will not form part of the statutory development plan but will be an 
important material consideration.  
 

5.2 There is a statutory process for preparing an SPD. Regulations 11 to 16 of the 
Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012 set 
out these requirements. 

5.3 The Environmental Assessment of Plans and Programmes Regulations 2004 
(SEA Regulations) also require the Council to consider whether or not 
Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA) of the SPD should be undertaken. 
The Environment Agency, Historic England and Natural England were 
consulted, and no objection was raised to the Council’s decision that an SEA 
is not required for this SPD. 

6. RISK MANAGEMENT  

Table 3: Impact of risk and mitigation 
Threat or 
risk 

Impact 
with no 
mitigation
s in place 
or if all 
mitigation
s fail  

Likelihoo
d of risk 
occurring 
with no 
mitigation
s in place. 
 
 

Mitigations 
currently 
in place  
 
 

Mitigations 
proposed. 
 
 

Impact of 
risk 
once all 
mitigation
s in place 
and 
working 

Likelihoo
d of risk 
occurring 
with all 
mitigation
s in place. 
 
 

There is a 
risk that the 
Council is 
not able to 
resist some 
forms of 
less 
sustainable 

Major 3  
 

High 
 
 

The Council 
currently 
has the 
Policies in 
the adopted 
BLP and 
the Interim 
Sustainabilit

Actions set out 
in 
recommendati
on 

Minor 1 
 

Low 
 

29

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/767/part/5/made
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/767/part/5/made


new 
developmen
t because it 
does not 
have 
detailed, 
locally 
specific 
guidance 
relating to 
sustainable 
design and 
construction
, biodiversity 
enhanceme
nt and 
sustainable 
transport in 
the Royal 
Borough. 

y Position 
Statement. 

7. POTENTIAL IMPACTS  

7.1 Equalities. An Equality Impact Assessment is available as Appendix A.  
 
7.2 Climate change/sustainability. The adoption of the Sustainability SPD will have 

a positive impact in relation to climate change / sustainability.  
 
7.3 Data Protection/GDPR. The consultation on the draft Sustainability SPD will 

be undertaken by the council in accordance with the Data Protection Act 2018 
and the General Data Protection Regulation. There are not anticipated to be 
any impacts. 

8. CONSULTATION 

8.1 The draft Sustainability SPD will, if agreed by Cabinet, be published for at 
least 4 weeks public consultation in Autumn 2023 under Regulation 13 of The 
Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012, as 
amended. The Council’s Statement of Community Involvement includes a 
minimum requirement of 4 weeks for public consultation on draft 
Supplementary Planning Documents.   

9. TIMETABLE FOR IMPLEMENTATION 

9.1 Implementation date if not called in: Autumn 2023. The full implementation 
stages are set out in table 4. 
 
Table 4: Implementation timetable 
Date Details 
October 2023 Commence public consultation on draft SPD 
November 2023 Close public consultation on the draft SPD 

30



10. APPENDICES  

10.1 This report is supported by 2 appendices: 
 
• Appendix A – Equality Impact Assessment  
• Appendix B – Draft Sustainability SPD. 

 

11. BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS 

11.1 This report is supported by 3 background documents: 
 
• Royal Borough Windsor and Maidenhead Borough Local Plan 2013-2033  

Adopted local plan | Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead 
(rbwm.gov.uk) 
 

• National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)  
National Planning Policy Framework - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk) 
 

• Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead Environment and Climate 
Strategy  
Environment and climate strategy | Royal Borough of Windsor and 
Maidenhead (rbwm.gov.uk) 
 

• Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead Interim Sustainability Position 
Statement 
Interim Sustainability Position Statement | Royal Borough of Windsor and 
Maidenhead (rbwm.gov.uk) 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

12. CONSULTATION 

 Name of 
consultee 

Post held Date 
sent 

Date 
returned 

Mandatory:  Statutory Officer (or deputy)   
Andrew Vallance Head of Finance/ interim S151 

Officer 
15/08  

Elizabeth Griffiths Executive Director of resources 
and S151 Officer 

14/09 15/09/23 

Elaine Browne Deputy Director of Law & 
Governance and Monitoring 
Officer 

15/08 29/08/23 

Deputies:    

31

https://www.rbwm.gov.uk/home/planning-and-building-control/planning-policy/development-plan/adopted-local-plan
https://www.rbwm.gov.uk/home/planning-and-building-control/planning-policy/development-plan/adopted-local-plan
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-planning-policy-framework--2
https://www.rbwm.gov.uk/home/environment-and-waste/energy-and-sustainability/environment-and-climate-strategy
https://www.rbwm.gov.uk/home/environment-and-waste/energy-and-sustainability/environment-and-climate-strategy
https://www.rbwm.gov.uk/home/planning/planning-policy/planning-guidance/interim-sustainability-position-statement
https://www.rbwm.gov.uk/home/planning/planning-policy/planning-guidance/interim-sustainability-position-statement


Julian McGowan Senior Business Partner 
Finance 

15/08 18/08 

    
Ellen McManus-
Fry 

Equalities & Engagement Officer 15/08 17/08 

Other consultees:    
Directors (where 
relevant) 

   

Stephen Evans Chief Executive 15/08  
Andrew Durrant Executive Director of Place 15/08 15/09/20

23 
Heads of Service 
(where relevant)  

   

Adrien Waite Assistant Director of Planning 15/08 29/08/23 

Chris Joyce Assistant Director of 
Infrastructure, Sustainability and 
Economic Growth 

15/08  

External (where 
relevant) 

   

N/A    

 
Confirmation 
relevant Cabinet 
Member(s) 
consulted  

Cabinet Member for Planning, 
Legal and Asset Management 
 
And  
 
Cabinet Member for Climate 
Change, Biodiversity and 
Windsor Town Council 

Yes 

 

REPORT HISTORY  
 

Decision type: Urgency item? To follow item? 
Cabinet report: 
Key decision  
First entered into 
the Cabinet 
Forward Plan: 
31/07/2023 
 

No  
 

No  

 
Report Author: Garry Thornton, Principal Planning Policy Officer 

 
 

 

 

32



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Equality Impact Assessment 

For support in completing this EQIA, please consult the EQIA Guidance 
Document or contact equality@rbwm.gov.uk 

 

1. Background Information 
 

Title of policy/strategy/plan: 
 

Draft Sustainability Supplementary Planning Document 
– Regulation 13 Consultation 

Service area: 
 

Planning 

Directorate: 
 

Place 

 

33

mailto:equality@rbwm.gov.uk


Provide a brief explanation of the proposal: 
• What are its intended outcomes? 
• Who will deliver it? 
• Is it a new proposal or a change to an existing one? 

 
The report recommends that the Cabinet approves the publication of the draft 
Sustainability SPD for public consultation in Autumn 2023. 
 
The Consultation will be delivered by Planning Policy Officers and ISEG Officers. 
 
This is a new proposal. 
 

 

 

2. Relevance Check 
Is this proposal likely to directly impact people, communities or RBWM employees?  

• If No, please explain why not, including how you’ve considered equality issues.  
• Will this proposal need a EQIA at a later stage? (for example, for a forthcoming 

action plan) 
Yes, the public consultation will directly impact people and the local community throughout 
the Borough as they will all have the opportunity to provide comment on the draft SPD.  
 
The SPD itself will also directly impact people and the local community throughout the 
Borough. The principal purpose of the SPD is to provide details and guidance on the 
application of various policies within the Borough Local Plan.  

 

If ‘No’, proceed to ‘Sign off’. If unsure, please contact equality@rbwm.gov.uk 

 

3. Evidence Gathering and Stakeholder Engagement 
Who will be affected by this proposal?  
For example, users of a particular service, residents of a geographical area, staff 

 
The SPD is borough wide, therefore, all residents of the borough could be affected. 
 
Council Planning Officers will also be affected as they would have to take the Document 
into account during their decision-making process in relation to any planning applications 
received. 
 
Among those affected by the proposal, are protected characteristics (age, sex, 
disability, race, religion, sexual orientation, gender reassignment, pregnancy/maternity, 
marriage/civil partnership) disproportionately represented?  
For example, compared to the general population do a higher proportion have disabilities?  
 
The adopted Borough Local Plan was subject to Equality Impact Assessments in 2017 and 
2019, which did not identify any negative impacts for any group with protected 
characteristics.  
 
The SPD provides further details and guidance on the application of policies in the 
Borough Local Plan. It does not create new policy. 
 

34

mailto:equality@rbwm.gov.uk


Future planning applications will need to comply with Borough Local Plan policy. There is 
nothing in the SPD which is considered to disproportionately impact on any particular 
individual or group. 

What engagement/consultation has been undertaken or planned?  
• How has/will equality considerations be taken into account?   
• Where known, what were the outcomes of this engagement? 

 
Early engagement sessions were held in late 2022 and early 2023. In addition, 3 
presentations and feedback sessions were held with key stakeholders in early August 
2023. This Report recommends holding a 4-week public consultation. The results of this 
consultation and engagement will be incorporated into the final version of the SPD where 
appropriate. 
What sources of data and evidence have been used in this assessment?  
Please consult the Equalities Evidence Grid for relevant data. Examples of other possible 
sources of information are in the Guidance document. 
 
The Council’s parish profiles and the Council’s Equalities Evidence Grid. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

4. Equality Analysis 
Please detail, using supporting evidence: 

• How the protected characteristics below might influence the needs and experiences 
of individuals, in relation to this proposal. 

• How these characteristics might affect the impact of this proposal. 

Tick positive/negative impact as appropriate. If there is no impact, or a neutral impact, state 
‘Not Applicable’ 

More information on each protected characteristic is provided in the Guidance document. 

 Details and supporting evidence Potential 
positive impact 

Potential 
negative 
impact 

Age 
 

The SPD develops the policies and 
requirements set out in the Borough Local 
Plan. It does not create new policy. 
 
There is nothing in the SPD which is 
considered to disproportionately impact 

Not applicable.  

35



on any particular individual or group in 
terms of age. 

Disability 
 

There is nothing within the SPD which is 
considered to disproportionately impact or 
discriminate against a person with a 
disability. 

Not applicable.  

Sex 
 

There is nothing within the SPD which is 
considered to disproportionately impact or 
discriminate against a person on the basis 
of their sex.  

Not applicable.  

Race, ethnicity and 
religion 
 

There is nothing within the SPD which is 
considered to disproportionately impact or 
discriminate against a person on the basis 
of their race, ethnicity or religion. 

Not applicable.  

Sexual orientation and 
gender reassignment 
 

There is nothing within the SPD which is 
considered to disproportionately impact or 
discriminate against a person on the basis 
of their sexual orientation or gender. 

Not applicable.  

Pregnancy and 
maternity 

There is nothing within the SPD which is 
considered to disproportionately impact or 
discriminate against a person who is 
pregnant or a mother.  

Not applicable.  

Marriage and civil 
partnership 

There is nothing within the SPD which is 
considered to disproportionately impact or 
discriminate against a person on the basis 
of their marital status. 

Not applicable.  

Armed forces 
community 

There is nothing within the SPD which is 
considered to disproportionately impact or 
discriminate against a person who is in 
the armed forces community. 

Not applicable.  

Socio-economic 
considerations e.g. low 
income, poverty 

There is nothing within the SPD which is 
considered to disproportionately impact or 
discriminate against a person on the basis 
of their socio-economic situation.  

Not applicable.  

Children in care/Care 
leavers 

There is nothing within the SPD which is 
considered to disproportionately impact or 
discriminate against a person who is in 
care or a care leaver.  

Not applicable.  

 

 

5. Impact Assessment and Monitoring  
If you have not identified any disproportionate impacts and the questions below are not 
applicable, leave them blank and proceed to Sign Off. 

What measures have been taken to ensure that groups with protected characteristics 
are able to benefit from this change, or are not disadvantaged by it?  
For example, adjustments needed to accommodate the needs of a particular group 
This Report recommends a 4-week public consultation including engagement events with 
Local Stakeholders and the members of the community. The results of this consultation and 
engagement will be incorporated into the final version of the SPD where appropriate. 

Where a potential negative impact cannot be avoided, what measures have been put in 
place to mitigate or minimise this? 

36



• For planned future actions, provide the name of the responsible individual and the 
target date for implementation. 

Where persons with protected characteristics are adversely affected, this would increase the 
likelihood of the consultation not picking up all issues within the local area. However, several 
engagement events will be held on various platforms, so it is considered that this potential 
problem will be mitigated. 

How will the equality impacts identified here be monitored and reviewed in the future? 
See guidance document for examples of appropriate stages to review an EQIA. 
If the SPD is adopted, residents will have further opportunity to comment on future planning 
applications as part of the normal planning application determination process. 

 

 

6. Sign Off 

 
Completed by: Garry Thornton 
 

Date: 31/07/2023 

Approved by:  
  

Date:  

 

 

If this version of the EQIA has been reviewed and/or updated: 

Reviewed by: Ellen McManus-Fry 
 

Date:17/08/2023 

 

37



This page is intentionally left blank



 

1 
 

QUICK LINKS WITHIN 
THIS DOCUMENT: 

Combined checklist Energy and carbon Climate adaptation Sustainable construction Biodiversity Sustainable transport 

 

 

  

Royal Borough of Windsor & 
Maidenhead 

Sustainability SPD 

 

Consultation Version 

 

September 2023 

Bioregional & Edgars on behalf of Royal Borough of Windsor & Maidenhead  

 

39



 

2 
 

QUICK LINKS WITHIN 
THIS DOCUMENT: 

Combined checklist Energy and carbon Climate adaptation Sustainable construction Biodiversity Sustainable transport 

 

Executive Summary ...................................................................................................................... 3 

Overview of Sustainability Requirements ...................................................................................... 4 
1. Introduction ............................................................................................................................ 7 

1.1. Purpose of this SPD ........................................................................................................ 7 

1.2. Scope and Status of this SPD ......................................................................................... 7 

1.3. Structure of the SPD and how to use it ........................................................................... 7 

2. Policy Context ........................................................................................................................ 8 

2.1. National Policy ................................................................................................................ 8 

2.2. Local Plan ....................................................................................................................... 8 

2.3. SPD Relationship to RBWM Environment & Climate Strategy ........................................ 9 

Environment and Climate Strategy Adopted 17 December 2020: ............................................ 10 

Themes and objectives ............................................................................................................ 10 

3. Energy & Carbon .................................................................................................................. 10 
3.1. Energy & Carbon Context ............................................................................................. 10 

3.1.1 National ..................................................................................................................... 10 

3.1.2 RBWM ....................................................................................................................... 11 

3.2. Energy Hierarchy .......................................................................................................... 13 

3.3 Reduce Energy Demand (Be Lean) .............................................................................. 15 

3.4 Supplying Energy Efficiently and Using Energy Networks (Be Clean) .......................... 18 

3.5 Renewable Energy (Be Green) ..................................................................................... 19 

3.6 Towards Net Zero Carbon ............................................................................................. 21 

3.7 Post Occupancy Evaluation (POE) ............................................................................... 21 

3.8 Useful External Guidance on Energy and Carbon ......................................................... 22 

4. Climate Adaptation ............................................................................................................... 23 
4.1. Climate Adaptation Context........................................................................................... 23 

4.2. Overheating and the Cooling Hierarchy ........................................................................ 25 

4.3. Green and Blue Infrastructure ....................................................................................... 27 

4.4. Flood Risk Reduction, Blue Infrastructure and Sustainable Drainage Systems ............ 28 

4.5. Water Efficiency ............................................................................................................ 29 

4.6. Useful External Guidance on Climate Adaptation ......................................................... 30 

5. Sustainable Materials and Construction ............................................................................... 31 
5.1. Sustainable Construction Context ................................................................................. 31 

5.2. Reuse And Recycling of Materials, And Keeping Existing Buildings in Use Via Retrofit 32 

 ................................................................................................................................................. 34 

5.3. Sustainable Material Selection and Sourcing ................................................................ 35 

5.4. Embodied Carbon and Life Cycle Analysis .................................................................... 36 

5.5. Useful External Guidance on Sustainable Materials and Construction .......................... 38 

6. Biodiversity ........................................................................................................................... 39 

6.1. Biodiversity Context ....................................................................................................... 39 

6.2. Biodiversity Net Gain and Building-Level Considerations .............................................. 42 

6.3. Useful Guidance on Biodiversity and Relevant Measures ............................................. 51 

7. Sustainable Transport ........................................................................................................... 52 

7.1. Sustainable Transport Context ...................................................................................... 52 

7.2. General Requirements Around Sustainable Transport .................................................. 54 

7.3. Provision for Electric Vehicle Charging .......................................................................... 55 

7.4. Creating an Ideal Environment for Cycling, Walking and Other Active Travel ............... 57 

7.5. Useful External Guidance on Sustainable Transport ..................................................... 60 

Appendix 1: Sustainability Checklist to be Completed and Submitted with All Applications ......... 61 
Appendix 2: Glossary and Acronyms ........................................................................................... 66 

Appendix 3: Overheating Risk Mitigation Guidance ..................................................................... 68 
Toolkits and methods for reducing overheating risk, denoting which is appropriate by size and 

type of development: ................................................................................................................ 68 

Appendix 4: Water Efficiency Technical Guidance ...................................................................... 69 
Appendix 5: Guidance on Circular Economy In Development ..................................................... 69 

Pre-demolition/pre-redevelopment audits ................................................................................. 69 

Appendix 6: Responsible and Local Sourcing Guidance ............................................................. 70 
Appendix 7: Technical Embodied Carbon Assessment Guidance ............................................... 70 

Industry Benchmarks for Embodied Carbon Targets ................................................................ 71 

Appendix 8: Summary of RBWM Biodiversity Action Plan and Other Local Habitat Mapping ...... 73 
RBWM Biodiversity Action Plan ............................................................................................... 73 

Biodiversity Opportunity Areas (TVERC) .................................................................................. 76 

Wild Maidenhead Phase 1 Habitat Survey ............................................................................... 77 

Appendix 9: Using the DEFRA Metric for Biodiversity Net Gain................................................... 78 

Appendix 10: Applying Local and National Electric Vehicle Charging Requirements ................... 79 
Summary of Building Regulations Part S ................................................................................. 79 

How Do I Balance National Part S Requirements Against Local Standards? ........................... 79 

Appendix 11: Summary of National Guidance on Active Travel Infrastructure Provision ............. 81 
END OF DOCUMENT.................................................................................................................. 84 

Bibliography and References ....................................................................................................... 85 

 

40



 

3 
 

QUICK LINKS WITHIN 
THIS DOCUMENT: 

Combined checklist Energy and carbon Climate adaptation Sustainable construction Biodiversity Sustainable transport 

Executive Summary  

 

In June 2019, the Royal Borough of Windsor & Maidenhead (RBWM) declared an 

environment and climate emergency. This declaration enshrined the target of net zero 

carbon emissions in the borough by 2050, in line with the Government policy.  

Following this declaration, the Council researched and prepared the Environment and 

Climate Strategy 2020-2025. This strategy sets out the Council’s vision and five-year action 

plan for embarking on meeting the challenge of climate change. The strategy focuses on 

how we as a borough can significantly reduce our carbon emissions and key themes 

including Circular Economy, Energy, Natural Environment and Transport.  

Actions to address climate change and reduce carbon emissions need to be taken across 

every sector.  This planning guidance is one of the key actions identified in the strategy and 

is required to help shape development in the direction of net zero carbon, protect and 

enhance the natural environment, drive carbon reductions in the borough and deliver wider 

climate change mitigation and adaptation.  

 

Applicants and developers, planning officers, planning committees and other decision 

makers will be expected to take the SPD into account when designing or making decisions 

on any form of new development in the borough.  

The SPD adds value to the Borough Local Plan (BLP) by:  

• Providing transparent, holistic guidance for applicants with more detail about policy 

requirements and expectations.  

• Requiring applicants to consistently submit information to demonstrate compliance with 

policy.  

• Helping officers and Councillors assess the environmental credentials of developments 

and make decisions.  

• Encouraging developers to go further than current policy to demonstrate excellence in 

sustainable development, and providing guidance on how this could be done.  

This SPD is being prepared by the Council in collaboration with industry experts, 

Councillors, and the local community and draws on industry expertise, examples of best 

practice and case studies to shape the content of the SPD.  

In formulating the SPD, a process of scoping engagement has taken place through 

consultations with Council Officers, Councillors and the community.  

This SPD will undergo a four-week consultation in Autumn 2023 before the Council makes 

a decision on its adoption. It is expected that the SPD will be adopted in early 2024. 

 

 

 

 

 

41



 

4 
 

QUICK LINKS WITHIN 
THIS DOCUMENT: 

Combined checklist Energy and carbon Climate adaptation Sustainable construction Biodiversity Sustainable transport 

Overview of Sustainability Requirements 

Energy and Carbon   

 

Apply the Energy Hierarchy to any new development and adopt a fabric 
first approach (See Section 3.2) 
   

 

 

Apply retrofit measures to improve existing buildings including improved 
windows, draughtproofing and a more efficient and preferably low 
carbon heat source 

 

Maximise passive design measures such as building form, orientation, 
passive solar design, natural ventilation, increased insulation, and air 
tightness. (See Section 3.3). 

 

 

New development is expected to be able meet a minimum of 12% of 
total energy supply through on-site renewables. 

 

All new buildings to have a zero or low carbon heat supply e.g. no fossil 
fuel boilers wherever possible. 

 

 

Consider grid capacity and site wide approaches for energy sharing and 
storage (e.g. heat networks battery storage, demand-side-response-
strategies) (see sections 3.5.2 and 3.5.3) 
 

 

New development is expected to be able to exceed Building Regulations 
and achieve a minimum 35% reduction in carbon emissions over Part L 
2021 and aim for 50% reduction.  
 

 

 

Provide new development with a three-phase power supply to make it 
easier to install heat pumps, photovoltaic panels and electric car-
charging systems 

 

Consider the opportunities for different types of on-site renewable energy 
(See Section 3.5.1) 

 

 

Offset residual carbon where feasible and viable by calculating and 
making provision for carbon offset payments (see Section 3.6.1) 

 

Describe how the design has incorporated measures to reduce carbon 
emissions and provide calculations in a Sustainability and Energy 
Statement. 
 

 

 

Implement a recognised quality regime such as such as Passivhaus, 
NEF/GHA Assured Performance Process, or Home Quality Mark for 
dwellings or BREEAM Excellent or Outstanding for non-residential to 
ensure the as-built performance for energy use and carbon emissions, 
and meets the as-designed performance 

     

42

https://www.passivhaustrust.org.uk/certification.php
https://kb.goodhomes.org.uk/tool/assured-performance-process/
https://www.homequalitymark.com/


  
 

 

5 
 

QUICK LINKS WITHIN 
THIS DOCUMENT: 

Combined checklist Energy and carbon Climate adaptation Sustainable construction Biodiversity Sustainable transport 

       

Climate Adaptation                                                                                                Sustainable Materials and Construction 

 

Apply the cooling hierarchy to minimise overheating risk (See Section 
4.2.1)   

 

 

Apply the waste hierarchy and reduce the number of new resources 
used in construction and operation where possible (See Section 5.2.1) 

 

Undertake an overheating assessment using Building Regulations 
Approved Document Part O for dwellings, CIBSE TM52 (non-residential) 
or TM59 (residential) (See Section 4.2)   

 

 

Undertake a pre-demolition audit to assess existing buildings and their 
potential for reuse or adaptation (See Section 5.2) 

 

Integrate green and blue infrastructure into the development to provide 
multiple benefits, including counteracting heat gain (See Section 4.3) 

 

 

Applications for large scale (major) development to provide 
Construction Environmental Management Plans including Site Waste 
Management Plans 

 

Apply the Sustainable Drainage System hierarchy (See Section 4.4) and 
prepare a drainage strategy for new buildings and hardstandings which 
reduce permeable areas 

 

 

Achieve a waste recovery rate of least 70% (See Section 5.2) 

 

Design to be resilient to flood risk including all sources of flooding and 
allowance for climate change (See Section 4.4) 

 

 

Select sustainable, responsibly sourced materials with Low Global 
Warming Potential (GWP), low embodied carbon and avoid volatile 
organic compounds (VOCs) and forever chemicals where possible (See 
Section 5.4) 

 

Undertake a Flood Risk Assessment where the development lies within 
Flood zones 2 & 3 or is of 1 hectare or more.   

 

 

Applications for large scale (major) development to provide an 
embodied carbon assessment (RIBA Stages A1-A5 or similar 
methodology) (See Section 5.5) 

 

Design in water saving measures (See Section 4.5) Achieve a minimum 
water efficiency of 110 litres/person/day for residential dwellings.   

 

 

Integrate into the design suitable and appropriate facilities for the 
storage, segregation and removal of waste and recyclable material in 
accordance with the Council’s Waste Management Planning Advice 
Note. 

43



  
 

 

6 
 

QUICK LINKS WITHIN 
THIS DOCUMENT: 

Combined checklist Energy and carbon Climate adaptation Sustainable construction Biodiversity Sustainable transport 

       

Biodiversity  Sustainable Transport 

 

Consider whether the site includes or is near to any habitats, species or 
protected sites (See Section 6.2.2).  Existing buildings, ponds, rivers and 
streams, trees, hedges and grassland can be important habitats for 
protected species. 

 

 

Design to prioritise walking, cycling and public transport and provide 
coherent, direct, safe and attractive connections to existing or planned 
infrastructure (See Section 7.4) 

 

Undertake an ecological survey to assess the development’s impact on 
habitats and species and identify opportunities for biodiversity 
enhancement (See Section 6.2) 

 

 

Provide attractive, accessible, safe and secure cycle parking in 
accordance with local standards (See Section 7.5) 

 

Undertake a Biodiversity Net Gain (BNG) Assessment using the DEFRA 
Metric and submit this with your planning application.  Achieve a minimum 
10% net gain and aim to exceed this.  (See Section 6.2) 

 

 

Major development and those which will have significant transport 
implications will be required to conduct a Transport Assessment and 
provide a Travel Plan to promote sustainable active travel (See Section 
7.2) 
 

 

Larger developments which include new green space should provide 
details of long-term management and maintenance (See Section 6.2.2) 

 

 

Provide development with high-speed internet (such as fibre to the 
premises) to facilitate future adaptation and home working. 
 

 

Include opportunities for food growing, such as food gardens and edible 
landscaping in smaller developments and orchard, community garden 
and allotment provision on larger sites and allocations (See Section 6.2.3) 

 

 

Provide EV charging facilities equivalent to 1 charging space per home 
(or 1 per parking space if lesser) and at least 20% of parking spaces for 
other development (See Section 7.3) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

44



  
 

 

7 
 

QUICK LINKS WITHIN 
THIS DOCUMENT: 

Combined checklist Energy and carbon Climate adaptation Sustainable construction Biodiversity Sustainable transport 

       

1. Introduction 

1.1.  Purpose of this SPD 

1 The purpose of the SPD is to provide more detailed advice and guidance on the 

implementation of Local Plan policies by providing technical guidance on sustainable design 

and construction, biodiversity enhancement and sustainable transport.   

2 The SPD supports local and national commitments to mitigate and adapt to climate change, 

and policies within the adopted BLP 2013-2033 (adopted 2022). It will replace and update 

the Sustainable Design and Construction SPD 2009. 

3 The BLP was in its later stages of preparation when the borough declared a climate 

emergency in June 2019.  The plan evolved and was strengthened to focus on the role of 

placemaking and tackling climate change before adoption in February 2022. This SPD has 

been prepared in support of these objectives and strategic policies and provides further 

guidance on the detailed policies contained with the BLP. 

4 A glossary of terms and acronyms is provided in Appendix 2. 

1.2. Scope and Status of this SPD 

5 This SPD sets out measures to design and construct new development to improve its 

environmental performance and reduce its environmental impact, including mitigating and 

adapting to climate change. The SPD aims to contribute towards attaining the Council’s 

commitment to delivering carbon reduction and improving biodiversity. The true benefits of 

sustainable design and construction go well beyond simply cutting carbon emissions as 

there are also wide reaching social and economic benefits associated with sustainable 

design and construction.  

6 This SPD relates to new development in the borough including: 

• All residential development encompassing new housing units, residential institutions 

and buildings, conversions, redevelopment and intensifications of existing buildings 

and householder improvements (e.g. extensions & curtilage developments);   

• Non-residential development encompassing new commercial buildings, employment 

and/or retail development; and also education, recreation, infrastructure and other 

forms of non-residential development.  

 

7 This document is borough wide guidance that is being prepared as a supplementary 

planning document (SPD) under Regulation 14 of the Town & Country Planning 

Regulations (Local Plan) 2012, as amended.  

8 Applicants and developers, planning officers, planning committees and other decision 

makers will be expected to take the SPD into account when designing or making decisions 

on any form of new development in the borough.  

 

 

1.3. Structure of the SPD and how to use it 

9 This SPD is divided into the following chapters:   

• Chapter 2: Policy Context 

• Chapter 3: Energy and Carbon  

• Chapter 4: Climate Adaptation  

• Chapter 5: Sustainable materials and construction 

• Chapter 6: Biodiversity 

• Chapter 7: Transport  

• Appendices – provide further detailed topic-based guidance and a more detailed 

Sustainability and Energy Statement Checklist; to assist applicants in demonstrating 

how proposals comply with planning policies and guidance.  

10 Each topic-based chapter provides a summary of relevant national and local planning policy, 

before outlining how applicants can integrate sustainable principles or measures into the 

proposed development and provides examples of what new development needs to achieve.  

• Purple boxes denote what the Council’s requirements are and correlate to the Energy 

and Sustainability checklist. This checklist should be used for all applications in the 

preparation of planning applications, and to demonstrate where in the applications’ 

documents this information is contained.  

• Gold boxes denote recommended standards or measures that would strengthen 

proposals by demonstrating good or exemplary performance. 

Please note this colour-coding does not apply to tables, where the borough's brand colours 

are used simply to denote the different levels of information present in different columns. 

At the end of each chapter a list of external resources that are thought to be useful in the 

preparation of compliant proposals are provided.  

 

45



  
 

 

8 
 

QUICK LINKS WITHIN 
THIS DOCUMENT: 

Combined checklist Energy and carbon Climate adaptation Sustainable construction Biodiversity Sustainable transport 

       

 

2. Policy Context  

2.1. National Policy 

11 The Climate Change Act 2008 (2050 Target Amendment) contains a statutory target of 

securing a reduction in carbon dioxide levels of 100% below 1990 levels by 2050. 

Furthermore, this legislation requires Government to set legally binding carbon budgets 

for each five-year period to 2050, of which those legislated to date run until 2037 through 

the sixth carbon budget.  

12 Section 182 of the Planning Act 2008 introduced a duty on local planning authorities to 

include policies that make a contribution to both climate change mitigation and adaptation 

in their plans.  This sets a clear legal framework for the role of planning and local planning 

policy in responding to climate change.  

13 The Planning and Energy Act 2008 allows local authorities to set energy efficiency 

standards that exceed the energy efficiency requirements of Buildings Regulations, 

providing that they are consistent with national policies and technical standards.  

14 The Environment Act 2021 introduces the requirement that development proposals will 

need to achieve a 10% net gain in biodiversity through on site measures, or through the 

purchase of biodiversity credits to contribute to the recovery and ongoing conservation of 

the natural environment. This will come into force from November 2023 for larger 

developments requiring planning permission under the Town and Country Planning Act 

1990 and on smaller sites from April 2024.  

15 The National Planning Policy Framework 2023 (NPPF) sets out the Government’s 

planning policies for England and enshrines the overarching presumption in favour of 

sustainable development. which includes making effective use of land, helping to improve 

biodiversity, using natural resources prudently, minimising waste and pollution and 

mitigating and adapting to climate change. 

16 The NPPF makes it clear that planning must address climate change. New development 

should be planned for in ways that minimise vulnerability and improve resilience, help the 

reduction of greenhouse gas emissions and support renewable and low carbon energy 

and associated infrastructure. 

17 Planning Practice Guidance (PPG) also provides clarity on the interpretation of the NPPF. 

The PPG supports integrated solutions for adaptation and mitigation measures that 

support sustainable development.  

18 The National Design Guide 2021 states that well-designed places integrate existing and 

incorporate new natural features into a multifunctional network that supports quality of 

place, biodiversity and water management, and addresses climate change mitigation and 

resilience.  

19 Through the emerging Levelling Up and Regeneration Bill the Government has indicated 

support to Local Authorities who innovate and lead in mitigating and adapting to climate 

change. An update to the NPPF is expected to further strengthen national policy to 

mitigate for climate change. 

2.2. Local Plan  

20 The Borough Local Plan (BLP) 2013-2033 was adopted in February 2022. The BLP sets 

out the vision and objectives that will underpin development in the borough and manage 

development and infrastructure to meet the environmental, social and economic 

opportunities and challenges facing the area to 2033.  

21 The BLP contains relevant overarching objectives including Sustainable Transport 

(Objective 7), Environmental Protection (Objective 9) and Climate Change and 

Biodiversity (Objective 11).  

22 A key strategic policy, which this SPD supports, is SP2 ‘Climate Change’, which 

requires that all development proposals demonstrate how they have been designed to 

incorporate measures to adapt and mitigate climate change. This includes factors such 

as: building orientation, solar shading, thermal mass, heating and ventilation, green and 

blue infrastructure and sustainable drainage.  

23 These topics are expanded upon within this SPD, and supporting information is also 

provided to further assist implementation of the following BLP Policies:  

• QP1 ‘Sustainability and Placemaking’ – contributing to the provision of social, 

natural, transport and utility infrastructure to support sustainable, healthy and 

active communities.  

• QP2 ‘Green and Blue Infrastructure’ – securing enhancement and 

enlargement of the borough’s existing green and blue infrastructure network to 

secure a multitude of benefits ranging from environmental to recreation, health 

and wellbeing.  

• QP3 ‘Character and Design of New Development’ – achieving sustainable 

high-quality design through measures including sustainable design and 

construction, promoting sustainable travel, maximising blue and green 

infrastructure, adaptability and promoting waste and recycling.  

• NR1 ‘Managing Flood Risk and Waterways’ – ensuring that the impacts of 

climate change over the lifetime of the development is included and future flood 

risk is taken into account through the design of sustainable drainage systems 

and flood prevention measures.  

46



  
 

 

9 
 

QUICK LINKS WITHIN 
THIS DOCUMENT: 

Combined checklist Energy and carbon Climate adaptation Sustainable construction Biodiversity Sustainable transport 

       

• NR2 ‘Nature Conservation and Biodiversity’ – achieving enhancement and 

protection of natural habitats and species.  

• NR3 ‘Trees, Woodlands and Hedgerows’ – ensuring trees, woodlands 

(including Ancient Woodlands sites and wood pasture) and hedgerows will be 

maintained, protected and enhanced. 

• NR5 ‘Renewable Energy’ – supporting the production of renewable energy and 

minimising the adverse impact of schemes on the local social and natural 

environment.  

• IF1 ‘Infrastructure and Developer Contributions’ – the provision of, and/or 

financial contributions to, supporting infrastructure that delivers against the 

objectives of the Local Plan.  

 

• IF2 ‘Sustainable Transport’ – ensuring sustainable locations of development 

and an assessment of sustainable transport criteria.  

• IF4 ‘Open Space’ – supporting the provision of open space and leisure 

opportunities, including allotments.  

24 Throughout the chapters in this SPD, the relevant Local Plan policies are identified and 

expanded upon to guide the reader in demonstrating compliance with the policy criteria.  

25 This SPD should be read alongside other relevant SPDs and guidance in the borough, 

which at the time of writing includes: 

 

• Borough Wide Design Guide Adopted 2020 – includes brief guidance on 

solar design, climate change and cycle storage. This will be expanded where 

needed by this Sustainability SPD. 

 

• Planning obligations and developer contributions SPD Adopted 2014 -

includes guidance on provision of or contributions towards biodiversity, 

transport, open space/allotments, landscaping, air quality.  This guidance will 

be expanded by this Sustainability SPD in relation to achieving biodiversity 

10% net gain, and reductions in buildings’ carbon emissions. 

 

• Allocated Site and specific area SPDs - includes: Cookham Village Design 

Statement, Datchet Design Guide, Thames Basin Heaths SPA, West Street 

Opportunity Area and South West Maidenhead Development Framework. This 

SPD sits alongside these other SPDs.  

 

• RBWM Parking Strategy 2004 - This guidance includes lifestyle standards 

which to be read alongside this SPD.  

 

 

 

2.3. SPD Relationship to RBWM Environment & Climate Strategy 

 

26 Following the declaration of a climate emergency, RBWM adopted the Environment and 

Climate Strategy 2020-2025 which sets out the vision and five-year action plan to embark 

on mitigating against climate change.  The key themes and objectives of Climate Strategy, 

how they relate to BLP policies and how they are address by the SPD is shown in the 

table opposite. 

 

 

 

 

 

47



  
 

 

10 
 

QUICK LINKS WITHIN 
THIS DOCUMENT: 

Combined checklist Energy and carbon Climate adaptation Sustainable construction Biodiversity Sustainable transport 

       

 

3.  Energy & Carbon 

3.1. Energy & Carbon Context 

3.1.1 National and International Carbon Commitments 

 

27 The Climate Change Act 2008 (as amended) sets the national target for net zero carbon 

emissions by 2050 with legally binding carbon budgets every five years (the most 

recently set of which limits national emissions to 965MtCO2e in the period 2032-2037).   

28 The reduction of carbon emissions from buildings is a key strand to the Climate Change 

Committee’s (CCC) strategy in driving emission reductions. To meet these targets, it is 

necessary to improve energy efficiency in existing buildings, switch to low carbon 

heating in existing and new buildings, implement stringent energy efficiency standards 

for new buildings and ensure that buildings are designed for a changing climate.  

29 To date, national improvements to energy efficiency in buildings continue to fall behind 

the necessary level, hence the importance of driving emission reductions at a local level 

through local planning policies to drive carbon reductions ahead of national regulation.  

30 The Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 (Section 19) mandates that a local 

authority’s local development plan (as a whole) includes policies that contribute to the 

mitigation of and adaptation to climate change, whilst the Planning and Energy Act 

(2008) allows local authorities to set their own energy efficiency targets above national 

standards.  

31 The NPPF requires local authorities to prepare planning policies and plans which 

address climate change mitigation and adaptation. Chapter 14 of the NPPF states that 

the planning system should contribute to radical reductions in greenhouse gas 

emissions, minimise vulnerability and improve resilience, encourage the reuse of 

existing resources and support renewable and low carbon energy and infrastructure.  

32 The UK Government’s Heat and Buildings Strategy (2021) aimed to set out the 

transition to low carbon buildings, starting with ensuring high efficiency levels and 

updating guidance throughout the next decade. The guidance included: 

• Future Homes Standard which will introduce a 75-80% reduction in carbon 

emissions (above current standards) from new homes achieved by high building 

fabric standards and low carbon heating from 2025; 

• Future Building Standard applies the guidance to non-residential buildings; 

• Consultation on halting any new gas connections to homes from 2025, in favour 

of low carbon heat strategies; 

• The Heat and Buildings Strategy also sets out how energy performance 

standards should be achieved using the Building Regulations Part L update 

(now in force). 

 

Environment and Climate 
Strategy Adopted 17 
December 2020:  
Themes and objectives 

How does the SPD help deliver the 

Climate Strategy?    

Borough Local Plan 

Policies relevant  

Circular Economy:  

More sustainable resource 
use, increasing domestic 
recycling rates and 
supporting less resource-
intensive lifestyles. 

Increase recycling rate 
from 44% to 50% by 2025. 

 

Provides guidance on Sustainable 
Construction including the use of more 
sustainable and recycled construction 
materials and the reuse and retrofit of 
existing buildings.  

Provides guidance on providing 
opportunities to for local food 
production and allotments on larger 
development sites.  

 

SP2 Climate Change 

QP2 Green and Blue 
Infrastructure 

QP3 Character and Design of 
New Development  

IF4 Open Space 

Energy:  

Reducing consumption 
and decarbonising our 
supply of energy. 
Increase renewable 
capacity ten-fold by 2025.  

 

Provides guidance to incentivise 
building and refurbishment to provide 
net zero carbon emission buildings and 
reduce water demand in line with 
Thames Water recommendations. 

Provides guidance on renewable 
energy requirements for new builds.  

 

SP2 Climate Change  

QP3 Character and Design of 
New Development  

 

Natural Environment:  

Supporting biodiversity, 
health and wellbeing 
Minimum 10% biodiversity 
net gain for land 
designated for 
development. 

 

Provides guidance to deliver a 
minimum 10% biodiversity net gain 
through the planning system. 

Provide guidance on sustainable 
drainage within the Green Blue 
Infrastructure network. 

 

QP1 Sustainability and 
Placemaking 

QP2 Green and Blue 
Infrastructure 

NR2 Nature Conservation 
and Biodiversity 

Transport:  

Reduce the need for 
carbon intensive travel by 
encouraging walking and 
cycling, as well as 
investing in zero emission 
vehicle infrastructure. 

 

Provides guidance on the requirements 
for Electric Vehicle (EV) Charging 
points within new developments.  

 

 

QP3 Character and Design of 
New Development  

IF2 Sustainable Transport 

48



  
 

 

11 
 

QUICK LINKS WITHIN 
THIS DOCUMENT: 

Combined checklist Energy and carbon Climate adaptation Sustainable construction Biodiversity Sustainable transport 

       

33 It should be noted that this section relates to operational carbon emissions; embodied 

carbon emissions are covered in Section 5 of the document. 

 

3.1.2 RBWM Carbon Commitments 

34 In recognition that 67% of the borough’s emissions are as a result of energy 

consumption in buildings, one of the four key themes of the RBWM Environment and 

Climate Strategy 2020-2025 is energy. Analysis supporting the RBWM Environment 

and Climate Strategy states that the district’s net zero carbon commitments will not be 

met unless energy consumption is reduced, energy supplies are decarbonised, and 

levels of local renewable energy generation are increased. 

35 Therefore, the Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead’s Environment and Climate 

Strategy action plan sets a requirement for this SPD to outline low carbon measures 

that applicants can implement into development to drive the number of zero carbon 

developments in the borough.  

36 Applicants are requested to the follow the energy hierarchy in preparation of their 

Sustainability and Energy Statement (as required by RBWM’s Local Validation 

checklist) which accompanies planning applications for new residential dwellings, or 

non-residential floorspace over 100sqm.  

37 Proposals’ Sustainability and Energy Statement should include: 

• Detailed energy assessment. 

• Details of how potential overheating and reliance on air conditioning will be 

reduced. 

• Confirmation of three phase power supply provision. 

• Details of Electric Vehicle charging provision. 

• Confirmation of high-speed internet connection. 

• Details of how use of mains water will be minimised.

49



 

12 
 

QUICK LINKS WITHIN 
THIS DOCUMENT: 

Combined checklist Energy and carbon Climate adaptation Sustainable construction Biodiversity Sustainable transport 

Local Plan Policy Links 

(This section outlines local planning policy which relates to Energy and Carbon to assist applicants with complying with the relevant policies)  

Local Plan Policy Applicable to: Relevant Requirements: 

SP2 Climate Change  All scales of development  
 

Demonstration that the development has been designed to:  

• maximise opportunities for natural heating and ventilation 

• maximise resistance and resilience to climate change 
 Outline, Full, Reserved Matters, Householder, Section 73, and Listed 

Building Consent 

QP3 Character and Design of 
New Development 

All new build development Demonstration that the development is climate resilient through:  

• Minimising energy demand 

• Maximising energy efficiency 

• Minimises waste Full, Reserved Matters, Householder, Section 73, and Listed Building 
Consent 
 

NR5 Renewable Energy  All development Demonstration that renewable energy generation schemes will:  

• Minimise adverse impacts to landscape, wildlife, heritage assets 
and amenity  

• Be of an appropriate scale to its location  

• Integrate with existing or proposed developments 

• Be the Best Practical Environment Option (BPEO) 
 
 

Outline, Full, Reserved Matters, Householder, Section 73  

Listed Building Consent (where applicable) 

IF1 Infrastructure and 
Developer Contributions 

All development  

Except: householder and development >100sqm 

Applications must:  
 

• Deliver infrastructure that supports the overall spatial strategy of 
the borough through financial contributions or on-site provision.  

Outline, Full, Reserved Matters and Section 73  
 

Supplementary Planning Guidance:  
 

 
This SPD supplements the Borough Wide Design Guide Principle 7.4 Solar Design and Climate Change.  
 

50



 

13 
 

QUICK LINKS WITHIN 
THIS DOCUMENT: 

Combined checklist Energy and carbon Climate adaptation Sustainable construction Biodiversity Sustainable transport 

3.2. Energy Hierarchy 

38 Applicants should submit a Sustainability and Energy Statement (as required by RBWM’s 

Local Validation checklist for new residential dwellings, and non-residential floorspace over 

100sqm) which responds to the following guidance and provides a justification for their proposed 

approach, appropriate to the size and scope of the development.  

39 Applicants should follow the energy hierarchy in preparation of their Sustainability and Energy 

Statement. The energy hierarchy is a sequence of steps that should be used to demonstrate 

how energy consumption has been minimised using the most effective and long-lasting 

measures before resorting to less effective or less long-lived measures. This is measured using 

modelling of the building’s energy use and carbon emissions at each step, and reductions are 

based on regulated energy use. The steps of the energy hierarchy, often referred to as the Be 

Lean, Be Clean and Be Green stages, are as follows (and shown in Figure 1):  

1. Reduce energy demand and use energy efficiently (Be Lean) 

Including energy efficient building fabric and building services, thereby reducing 

energy demand. 

2. Supply energy efficiently and energy networks (Be Clean)  

Including connection to existing heat and energy networks in the vicinity; providing a 

single point of connection and space / capability for future connection to local planned 

networks; and creation of site-wide networks and communal energy strategies with 

centralised generation of energy. 

3. Renewable energy (Be Green) 

Including: on-site generation of renewable energy; on-site storage of renewable 

energy and/or heat generated, thereby reducing the amount of electricity and/or gas 

that must be bought from the grid; and procurement of electricity from suppliers who 

have certified renewable sources for generation of energy. 

40 The above stages of the energy hierarchy are provided in further detail in the next sections (3.3 

to 3.5). 

41 To achieve net zero regulated carbon, residential regulated carbon emissions that cannot be 

mitigated on site (having exhausted all viable opportunities to mitigate regulated carbon 

emissions on-site by following the energy hierarchy) are offset via a financial contribution to 

RBWM Council’s carbon offset fund. As set out in Section 3.6.1., unregulated emissions are 

also to be calculated and offset. 

42 Applicants are generally expected to demonstrate meaningful percentage reductions over 

the Part L baseline. Applicants are encouraged to apply the Greater London Authority Energy 

Assessment.   

This guidance targets a minimum 35% on-site improvement over Part L 2021, and applicants 

are strongly encouraged to go beyond this to achieve the benchmark improvement of 50% on-

site improvement over the Part L 2021 baseline. Where these targets are used, applicants can 

demonstrate that the application goes beyond standard practice minima. 

STAGE 1 Be Lean: Reduce 

energy demand 

 

 

 

STAGE 2 Be Clean: Supply 

energy efficiently 

 

 

 

STAGE 3 Be Green: 

Renewable energy 

Figure 1: The energy hierarchy 

51



  
 

 

14 
 

QUICK LINKS WITHIN 
THIS DOCUMENT: 

Combined checklist Energy and carbon Climate adaptation Sustainable construction Biodiversity Sustainable transport 

       

43 Applicants are also encouraged to apply the Greater London Authority energy efficiency 

targets for the Be Lean stage: a 10% improvement on Building Regulations Part L baseline for 

residential developments, and a 15% improvement for non-residential. 

44 Applicants are also encouraged to use the Energy Use Intensity (EUI) metric to set targets for 

energy consumption, to demonstrate how through design measures this has been reduced, and 

to show a real commitment to reducing the energy consumption of buildings users. Energy Use 

Intensity is the total annual energy consumption of a building, with no distinction made 

between ‘regulated’ and ‘unregulated’ energy (unlike Building Regulations metrics). As it is 

measured in kWh/m2/year, it can be estimated at design stage and is displayed on energy bills 

so building users will be able to easily verify how the building is performing. It relies only on how 

the building performs, rather than taking into account the carbon factor of the grid. LETIi argues 

that it should be the metric used across planning and design decisions because of this. Please 

also refer to LETI’s Climate Emergency Design Guide for further guidance on energy efficiency 

measures and reducing carbon emissions. 

 

 

REQUIREMENT:  

Application evidence for energy and carbon calculations 

for new residential dwellings, and non-residential floorspace over 100sqm  

✓ The Council requires that applicants submit a Sustainability and Energy 

Statement containing, as a minimum: 

a. calculation of the energy demand and carbon dioxide emissions covered by 

Building Regulations using the energy hierarchy;  

b. Calculation of the energy demand and carbon dioxide emissions from any 

other part of the development, including plant or equipment, that are not 

covered by the Building Regulations (see paragraph 5.22) at each stage of 

the energy hierarchy; 

c. calculation of the estimated annual energy costs to the occupants of the 

development; 

d. proposals to reduce carbon dioxide emissions through the energy efficient 

design of the site, buildings and services (including heat recovery solutions); 

e. proposals to further reduce carbon dioxide emissions through the use of on-

site renewable energy technologies. There is an expectation that 

developments maximise renewable energy generation regardless of whether 

minimum standards are met through other measures, as such there is an 

expectation that 12% of the total energy demand will be met by on-site 

renewables, unless this is demonstrated to be unfeasible; 

f. proposals for the storage and use or export of excess energy arising from 

renewable energy technologies; and 

g. once on-site reductions have been maximised, the remainder of carbon 

emissions (i.e.: the carbon shortfall) should be met via a carbon offset 

payment where viable in order to meet net zero carbon. The Council 

requires all applicants to demonstrate how net zero carbon will be achieved 

by the proposed development. 

 

 

GOOD PRACTICE 

Benchmarks for on-site energy and carbon improvements vs Part L 2021 

• 35% regulated carbon reduction on TER (general expectation) 

• 50% regulated carbon reduction on TER (good practice) 

• 63% regulated carbon reduction on TER (Future Homes Standard) 

• Regulated carbon reduction on TER through efficiency measures 

o 10% (new residential) 

o 15% (new non-residential). 

BEST PRACTICE 

Exemplary energy benchmarks and calculation methods  

• Calculate ‘Energy Use Intensity’ (EUI) using CIBSE TM54 or Passivhaus PHPP 

• Aim to hit LETI/RIBA targets using those calculations 

o 35kWh/m2/year EUI (residential) 

o 60-70kWh/m2/year EUI (schools) 

o 55-75kWh/m2/year EUI (offices) 

52

https://www.leti.uk/one-pager
https://www.architecture.com/about/policy/climate-action/2030-climate-challenge/sign-up


  
 

 

15 
 

QUICK LINKS WITHIN 
THIS DOCUMENT: 

Combined checklist Energy and carbon Climate adaptation Sustainable construction Biodiversity Sustainable transport 

       

Proposals that adopt this EUI approach and demonstrate achievement at or close to optimal 

targets laid out by LETI or RIBA will be looked upon favourably and this climate benefit will be 

given weight in planning decisions.  

3.3 Reduce Energy Demand (Be Lean) 

45 Applicants should firstly consider passive heat demand reduction before looking at the 

active systems used to deliver the heat. Passive measures include improving the building 

envelope, minimising infiltration of outdoor air, using a simple building form and optimising solar 

gain. 

46 Proven standards such as Passivhaus demonstrate how passive measures are incorporated 

into building design and provide a tested and implementable pathway to achieving good passive 

design. Applicants are encouraged to consider such standards. 

47 The Council recommends that applicants consider implementing a recognised quality regime 

(such as Passivhaus, NEF/GHA Assured Performance Process, or Home Quality Mark) that 

ensures the finished building performs similarly to what the designs had aimed for (with regards 

to energy use, carbon emissions, indoor air quality, overheating risk). Applications using such 

quality assurance regimes will be looked on favourably, and where measures are proposed, 

compliance may be secured by condition. 

48 Applicants could consider undertaking a BREEAM assessment for non-residential new build or 

refurbishment applications and are encouraged to target a rating of Excellent or Outstanding. 

3.3.1 Building Form and Orientation 

49 The orientation of a building can impact its thermal performance due to the amount of 

sunlight entering the building. The space heating demand of a building can increase purely 

based on the orientation of the building, where a flat with most of the glazing on a north-facing 

facade requiring significantly more space heating over an annual period than a flat with most of 

the glazing facing South, due to reduced levels of sunlight. 

50 Therefore, building orientation can also impact the thermal comfort of occupants, overheating 

risk and internal light levels. 

51 A building’s form factor is the ratio of internal floor area to external surface area; therefore 

a detached house would have a higher form factor than a mid-floor flat in an apartment block. 

The higher the form factor the less efficient the dwelling would be due to exposure to outdoor 

conditions affecting the energy efficiency of the dwelling, requiring higher levels of energy 

consumption and increased fabric efficiency to meet required thermal performance. 

52 Applicants should provide information on the proposed passive design measures and 

building form and orientation in their Sustainability and Energy Statement. 

3.3.2 Passive Solar Design 

53 Passive solar design is working with the sun’s energy for the heating and cooling of 

dwellings and non-residential spaces by utilizing exposure to the sun in winter and protection 

from the sun in summer. This includes glazing on South facades with external shading 

devices installed as an obstacle to the angle of the summer sun while allowing low-angle winter 

sun to pass. The aim is to get the best balance by reducing the need for space heating in winter, 

while avoiding the need for active cooling and fans in the summer so that that the winter 

efficiency gains are not cancelled out.   

54 Applicants should demonstrate that the balance between achieving sufficient internal 

daylight levels and mitigating overheating have been achieved by glazing size and 

location. The optimum wall-to-(external) window ratio is approximately 1:5 for South, East and 

West orientations and 1:5 - 2:5 for North facing glazing.  

55 Demonstration of daylight and sunlight levels can be achieved using the BRE Right to Light 

Guidance and showing that the recommendations will be achieved in all dwellings and occupied 

spaces. 

Figure 2:  

• Top: Diagram of how a home's energy use for heating gets worse, the further the window is 
oriented away from south. Please note the yellow bars represent energy use for space 
heating, not sunlight coverage. Credit: LETI Climate Emergency Design Guide. 

• Bottom: Diagram illustrating how buildings with simpler shapes (and adjoining walls with 
neighbouring homes) are inherently more thermally efficient than standalone buildings or 
ones with complex shapes. Credit: LETI Climate Emergency Design Guide. 

53

https://www.passivhaustrust.org.uk/certification.php
https://kb.goodhomes.org.uk/tool/assured-performance-process/
https://www.homequalitymark.com/
https://bregroup.com/products/breeam/
https://bregroup.com/services/testing-certification-verification/lighting/natural-light/#:~:text=The%20BRE%20Report%2C%20Site%20layout,the%20impacts%20of%20new%20developments.
https://bregroup.com/services/testing-certification-verification/lighting/natural-light/#:~:text=The%20BRE%20Report%2C%20Site%20layout,the%20impacts%20of%20new%20developments.


  
 

 

16 
 

QUICK LINKS WITHIN 
THIS DOCUMENT: 

Combined checklist Energy and carbon Climate adaptation Sustainable construction Biodiversity Sustainable transport 

       

56 The g-value of glazing is the solar heat energy that can pass through the window. A lower 

G-value number indicates that less energy is allowed to pass through. Lower G-values of 

glazing can help facades that could benefit from reduced levels of solar gain and should also be 

appropriate to the building type (e.g.: residential glazing could be 0.5 and glazing for a school 

could target 0.4). The proposed g-value should be confirmed by the applicant. 

57 Internal shading can include the installation of blinds at a base build level for commercial 

spaces and dwellings (especially high-rise dwellings exposed to long periods of sunlight, without 

shading from buildings or trees). Applicants should confirm where internal shading is required 

and how this will be indicated to future tenants. 

58 Principle 7.4 of the Borough Wide Design Guide includes further guidance on passive solar 

design.  

59 For information on external shading, please also see Climate Adaptation section. 

Passive Solar Design 

 

3.3.3 Natural Ventilation 

60 Applicants should demonstrate that a natural ventilation strategy has been followed where 

appropriate. Windows should be openable to allow for purge ventilation, with noise and air 

pollution concerns considered during ventilation strategy design. Single aspect homes 

should be avoided. 

61 Ventilation design should also consider the unwanted accumulation of moisture in order to 

prevent damp and mould, especially in kitchen and bathroom spaces where extract ventilation 

should be adequately sized and appropriately located. The proposed natural ventilation 

strategies can be demonstrated to the Council as part of an overheating analysis. 

3.3.4 'Fabric first’ Approaches 

62 A fabric first approach is maximising the performance of the building fabric during design, before 

building services are considered, in order to reduce carbon emissions, ongoing maintenance 

and operational energy efficiency. ‘Fabric first’ could include improving the thermal mass, 

insulation, airtightness, incorporating both natural ventilation and mechanical ventilation with 

heat recovery, whilst considering solar gain, glazing ratio and shading devices. In a fabric first 

approach, these are pursued before looking at heating/cooling systems and renewable energy.  

63 Within the Sustainability and Energy Statement, applicants should demonstrate how the 

fabric first approach has been followed. 

64 Energy modelling should be carried out using adopted modelling software: SAP for residential 

models; and SBEM for non-residential. For residential, the total Part L Fabric Energy Efficiency 

Standard (FEES) should be calculated and reported. However, the use of more accurate energy 

modelling methodologies such as TM54 or PHPP will be looked on favourably. 

65 Regardless of energy modelling method, applicants should demonstrate appropriate insulation 

(U-values of all elements) and airtightness. The proposed values should be laid out alongside 

those of the Building Regulations notional building, showing where improvements are made.  

BEST PRACTICE 

Fabric energy efficiency benchmarks  

Good practice: 

• Demonstrate a 10% reduction on the Building Regulations Part L TFEE (residential) 

• Demonstrate a Part L FEE of ≤20kWh/m2/year (residential only) 

• Demonstrate a carbon emissions saving of ≥15% from fabric improvements compared to 

Part L 2021 Target Emission Rate for the building (non-residential) 

Exemplary: 

• Calculate space heat demand using TM54 or PHPP 

• Aim to hit targets using those calculations, such as: 

• 15kWh/m2/year space heat demand (LETI target, all building types) 

• Other kWh/m2/year space heat demand targets by building type, to be developed via the 

industry-let UK Net Zero Carbon Buildings Standard.  

54

https://www.leti.uk/one-pager
https://www.nzcbuildings.co.uk/


  
 

 

17 
 

QUICK LINKS WITHIN 
THIS DOCUMENT: 

Combined checklist Energy and carbon Climate adaptation Sustainable construction Biodiversity Sustainable transport 

       

66 Building Regulations Part L 2021 mandates the maximum u-values for building components 

for dwellings (Volume 1), including existing and new dwellings, and Buildings Other Than 

Dwellings (Volume 2). Guidance within Part L 2021 is a useful starting point to consider the 

properties of buildings’ components, insulation and thermal bridging. 

67 Insulation continuity must be achieved across elements of the building to ensure gaps do not 

lead to heat loss and potentially condensation and mould.  

68 Thermal bridging occurs when areas of a building have significantly higher heat transfer than 

adjacent/surrounding areas (e.g. due to the conductivity of materials or reduced levels of 

insulation). Building fabric should be designed and installed to minimise thermal bridging.   

3.3.5 Thermal Mass  

69 Materials that absorb heat when surrounding temperatures are higher and then give this heat 

back when the surroundings are cooler, are said to have higher levels of thermal mass. This 

property enables the material to store heat. 

70 Materials such as concrete, bricks, tiles and stone have high thermal mass. Using these in the 

right amount in the right location can help maintain comfortable year-round indoor temperatures, 

absorbing the sun’s heat and releasing it in the evenings when air temperature falls. Stabilising 

internal environments this way can reduce usage of heating and cooling systems; however, 

the materials must be exposed within the space to efficiently function. 

71 Applicants should demonstrate how thermal mass has been considered within their proposals. 

3.3.6 Air Tightness 

72 Air permeability tests should be carried out on all new dwellings and non-domestic 

buildings, this helps to identify and reduce unwanted heat loss that occurs through air 

infiltration into a building. 

73 The Building Regulations Part F 2021 (as per Future Homes Standard guidance) defines 

highly airtight dwellings as those with either: 

• A designed air permeability of <5 m3/hr/m2@50Pa 

• An as-built air permeability of <3 m3/hr/m2@50Pa 

74 More ambitiously, Passivhaus certification requires air tightness of <1 m3/hr/m2@50Pa.  

75 Applicants must provide the targeted design air permeability within their Sustainability and 

Energy Statement. 

3.3.7 Guidance on Retrofit, Including in Heritage Situations 

76 RBWM planning policy applies to both retrofit applications and new building proposals in the 

same way. 

77 The RBWM Climate and Environment Strategy action plan for 2020-2025 includes an action 

to incentivise developers to refurbish existing buildings to zero carbon homes standard and 

reduce water demand in line with Thames Water recommendations. Therefore, applicants 

should demonstrate how retrofit proposals are targeting zero carbon in their Sustainability and 

Energy Statement. 

78 Retrofit can be broken down into the level of intervention, including; very low cost or free quick 

wins; low cost and technically easy measures, high cost and technically difficult measures and 

deep retrofit requiring technical expertise. Therefore, the measures can range between:  

• energy and water saving measures during operation including reducing wasted 

energy and water leaks. 

• building fabric interventions including glazing replacement, installation of secondary 

glazing, improved levels of insulation (cavity wall/ceiling insulation/raft roof/loft/floor), 

chimney improvements and increased levels of draughtproofing 

• building services upgrades such as replacement gas boilers, radiator replacements, 

heat pumps, underfloor heating, installation of solar thermal or a PV array, mechanical 

ventilation with heat recovery and wastewater heat recovery systems. 

79 Please also see the Passivhaus Trust’s retrofit guidance and Retrofit Primer (2022) for 

detailed guidance on retrofit strategies. 

80 Full planning permission or listed building consent may be required from the local planning 

authority for these works to take place.  

BEST PRACTICE 

Air tightness benchmarks  

Basic expected limit:  

• <5 m3/hr/m2@50Pa 

Good practice: 

• <3 m3/hr/m2@50Pa 

Exemplary: 

• <1 m3/hr/m2@50Pa 

The above benchmarks are primarily set in relation to residential development, but many other types 

of development will also be able to achieve these e.g. offices and schools. Performance towards the 

exemplary level will trigger a need for mechanical ventilation to ensure air quality.   

55

https://www.passivhaustrust.org.uk/competitions_and_campaigns/passivhaus-retrofit/


  
 

 

18 
 

QUICK LINKS WITHIN 
THIS DOCUMENT: 

Combined checklist Energy and carbon Climate adaptation Sustainable construction Biodiversity Sustainable transport 

       

3.3.8 Reducing Reliance on Fossil Fuels and Gas Boilers 

81 The trajectory to zero carbon buildings is based on the future of heat being delivered with all 

new buildings being built fossil-fuel free. LETI argues that in order to achieve this, the timeline 

for this shift should be 2020-2025. This same view has been expressed by the Committee on 

Climate Change with regards to the role that new buildings will need to play in order to be 

compatible with the UK’s legislated net zero carbon targets.  

82 Therefore, for all new development proposals with an expected completion date from 

2025, the Council will generally not consider any proposals with fossil gas boilers to be 

acceptable as this would constitute insufficient mitigation of climate change.  

3.3.9 Efficient Low Carbon Electric Space Heating 

83 Heat pumps can provide space heating, cooling and domestic hot water. 

84 Air source heat pumps (ASHP) use refrigerant fluid to absorb heat from the outside air, and as 

the refrigerant liquid boils, the gas is then compressed and condenses onto heat exchanger 

coils. ASHPs typically have an efficiency of 250-400% (dependent on system set up, size and 

application), but can be up to 500% for the most efficient available on the market at the time of 

writing this SPD. This is far higher than an efficient gas boiler (typically 80-90% efficient). Heat 

pumps also rely on electricity and therefore provide flexibility for the future, should systems need 

to be changed out, and also fit into decarbonisation strategies as the national grid continues to 

decarbonise. 

85 Water source heat pumps (WSHP) and ground source heat pumps (GSHP) operate in a 

similar way, taking heat from surrounding land and bodies of water. The efficiency of the 

available systems is less variable than those for the currently available ASHP.  

86 Please note, direct electric space heating strategies are preferably avoided, due to 

potential for higher energy bill costs to occupants (especially for hot water), and lower 

efficiencies of these systems, in addition to reduced flexibility for future adaptation of systems 

without deep retrofit which is costly and disruptive to occupants. 

3.3.10 Domestic Hot Water 

87 Applicants should demonstrate how domestic hot water will be generated and distributed 

around the buildings. Following the energy hierarchy, communal systems should be considered 

as part of the Be Clean stage, for example where a communal energy centre with heat pumps is 

proposed, this system could also supply domestic hot water via a low temperature water 

distribution loop, with hot water boosted at the dwelling/building. Heat sharing loops like this also 

provide opportunities to recycle heat that is rejected from any part of the building that has active 

cooling.  

88 Where other options are not feasible, applicants may propose direct electric hot water heaters in 

commercial buildings where the hot water demand may be very low (for example, in an office 

where it may be required for a single hand washing basin tap). 

89 In accordance with the UK Health and Safety Executive, domestic hot water must be heated to 

and stored at a temperature of >60 degrees (amongst other storage and control measures) in 

order to prevent risk of exposure to Legionnaire’s disease in residential and non-residential 

buildings. Where hot water is not stored, this requirement does not apply. 

3.3.11 Heat Recovery 

90 Mechanical ventilation with heat recovery (MVHR) uses a heat exchanger to recover heat 

from ‘used’ or extract air to pre-heat ‘fresh’ air to be supplied to the dwelling. MVHR is more 

heat-efficient than natural ventilation and should be considered where noise, air pollution or 

security concerns may prevent occupants from open windows. It should also be used in 

buildings where the proposed airtightness triggers a need for mechanical ventilation. Applicants 

should demonstrate that where mechanical ventilation proposed it is adequate for the building. 

Where MVHR is proposed, it should be designed into new buildings from the beginning, as the 

system should be present in every room in order to balance the ventilation requirements. 

91 LETI recommends a 90% ventilation heat recovery may be needed in order to achieve the 

domestic hot water and space heating performance recommended in its Climate Emergency 

Design Guide ii. 

92 Wastewater heat recovery operates in a similar way to mechanical ventilation heat recovery, 

with heat from wastewater (e.g.: used shower or bath water) being used to pre-heat water 

entering a boiler/water tank in order to reduce demand to heat water to a set temperature. 

Installation could reduce the energy required per shower use by up to 55% i. Recognised to be a 

simple and effective way to reduce energy demand for domestic hot water, Applicants should 

consider this option, especially in buildings predicted to have high hot water demands (for 

example: hotels).  

3.4 Supplying Energy Efficiently and Using Energy Networks (Be Clean) 

93 Step 2 of the energy hierarchy is the connection to existing and proposed future heat networks. 

Connecting to heat networks and the creation of networks within buildings on site should be 

reviewed before the options for renewable energy technologies are considered. 

3.4.1 Heat Networks 

94 District heat networks enable development of a sustainable and flexible supply of energy on a 

city-wide or regional scale, allowing for efficient use of local waste heat and opening up 

opportunities for reducing primary energy demand. In urban areas with high heat demand, 

sharing heat demands and strategies can increase energy efficiency and balance demand with 

mixed-use developments. Heat networks can offer a solution to decarbonisation as they are 

technology agnostic and can be replaced with lower carbon technologies in the future. This 

switches the heat source for all connected buildings rapidly, rather than individual retrofit.   

56



  
 

 

19 
 

QUICK LINKS WITHIN 
THIS DOCUMENT: 

Combined checklist Energy and carbon Climate adaptation Sustainable construction Biodiversity Sustainable transport 

       

95 Applicants should demonstrate if there are any local existing or planned heat networks 

within 500m of the proposed site and provide commentary on the feasibility of 

connection (with supporting evidence from network operators where appropriate). Local 

sources of waste heat should also be considered. Where future connection is feasible, the ability 

to connect should be provided for developments. 

Figure 3: Borough heat demand map 

3.5 Renewable Energy (Be Green) 

96 Step 3 of the energy hierarchy is the incorporation of low carbon and renewable energy 

technologies. 

97 The Council expects that a minimum of 12% of the total energy demand of a building is 

provided through on-site renewable energy generation but encourages applicants to 

maximise the generation according to the site’s capability.  

98 On larger developments, where centralised generation of renewable energy is proposed, the 

applicant is required to demonstrate what proportion of the site’s total energy demand is 

generated from on-site renewable and low-carbon sources, and where this energy is proposed 

to be used.  

99 Applicants are encouraged to demonstrate a higher percentage of the total demand is met by 

renewable energy.  

3.5.1 Feasibility and Suitability of Technologies 

100 Within the Sustainability and Energy Statement, the Council require that applicants 

undertake a feasibility assessment of renewable energy technologies to demonstrate 

which technologies are suitable for the type, form, use and context of the proposed 

development.  

101 It is widely accepted that heat pumps (including ASHP/GSHP/WSHPs) are renewable, due to 

the fact that they produce more units of heat than they consume in electricity to run. Also, as the 

grid continues to decarbonise, the carbon of the electricity used by the heat pumps will also 

fallviii. 

102 Opportunities for incorporating photovoltaic panels (PV) should be maximised including 

horizontal and vertical arrays. Applicants should provide details of the proposed array including 

the area (m2) of the PV array, the number of panels, the panel wattage and efficiency, estimated 

energy generation per annum (kWh per annum), and an estimation of the carbon emissions that 

could be offset with the introduction of this technology. The optimum installation would be East-

West facing at a 0-30 degree angle of inclination (or horizontal to the roof). This allows the 

maximum density of solar panel area to be fit in the available roof area, in order to capture 

maximum solar energy. 

 

PV panels on Braywick Nature Centre 

103 Bio-solar roofs (where PV panels are installed on top of green roofs) are welcomed as they 

incorporate the biodiversity benefits of a green roof combined with the generation of energy. In 

addition, the green roofs can reduce the temperature of flat roofs and therefore improve the 

 

 

 

 

57



  
 

 

20 
 

QUICK LINKS WITHIN 
THIS DOCUMENT: 

Combined checklist Energy and carbon Climate adaptation Sustainable construction Biodiversity Sustainable transport 

       

efficiency of the PV array (since PV panels have an optimum operating temperature and can 

overheat during the summer). Designs must ensure the planting does not shade the panels.  

 

Bio-solar roof on Braywick Nature Centre 

104 A solar thermal collector gathers energy from sunlight (similarly PV panels), however rather 

than generating electricity it generates heat. This heat is used to contribute to meeting domestic 

hot water demand but can also contribute a small amount to space heat via central heating.  

105 Creating heat from direct combustion of biomass may be appropriate in some locations, usually 

where there are local sources of agricultural, forestry or industrial biomass waste suitable for 

burning. The carbon impact of transporting the biomass fuel must be taken into account when 

specifying this technology, as must the localised impact on air quality from transport and 

combustion. Applicants proposing such systems must demonstrate that the impacts are 

acceptable. 

106 Following selection of the low/zero carbon technology, applicants should provide details of the 

proposed systems including the proposed set-up and efficiencies. 

3.5.2 Grid Capacity Constraints 

107 Early discussion with the District Network Operator may need to take place, as in some 

locations the local electrical grid may have limited capacity for exports (excess energy 

exported to grid when you aren’t using the energy you’re producing).  

108 The need to export energy generated on site can be solved with local energy storage. This 

could include battery storage for electrical energy, or in the case of surplus heat energy, thermal 

stores could be used. Using energy storage can allow consumers to meet peak demand with 

stored energy or could reduce operational energy costs during times of the day when energy 

costs peak.  

109 To facilitate this, the Council requires that new buildings will be supplied via a three-phase 

power supply unless this is not viable.  

110 A three-phase system makes it more straightforward to install heat pumps, photovoltaic panels 

and electric car-charging systems, as the electrical demand is spread across the three-phases. 

Installing a three-phase supply allows homes to be future-proofed and supports future 

adaptability of buildings. 

58



  
 

 

21 
 

QUICK LINKS WITHIN 
THIS DOCUMENT: 

Combined checklist Energy and carbon Climate adaptation Sustainable construction Biodiversity Sustainable transport 

       

3.5.3 Site-Wide Energy Approaches 

111 Applicants are encouraged to consider energy sharing strategies (including local grids; heat 

recycling; energy clubs via smart meters and Time of Use tariffs) to further reduce operational 

energy demand and carbon emissions. 

112 As above, a site-wide strategy could incorporate forms of energy storage such as electrical 

batteries or heat batteries. Also as previously noted, heat sharing loops across larger sites or 

neighbourhoods can present opportunities for heat recycling from waste heat sources in or near 

the site. 

113 Applicants are also encouraged to consider demand side response, which is the flexibility of 

the energy system to reduce or increase energy consumption during a period of time to 

respond to energy price changes or energy availability on the grid. Buildings or sites that can 

modify their energy use in real time through the use of demand response (including storage 

systems) will be able to reduce occupants’ energy bills and LETI argues that in the future it 

would be expected that these systems are incorporated in every new building. Please see figure 

4. 

3.6 Towards Net Zero Carbon 

114 Consideration of net zero carbon ambitions must be the responsibility of all members of the 

design team throughout the design and construction process in order to work towards the net 

zero target.  Applicants are also encouraged to consider procuring electricity from providers 

using renewable energy sources. 

115 Full maximisation of all energy hierarchy improvements would result in a net zero carbon 

development. All residential development applications (excluding residential extensions) and 

non-residential development over 100sqm should therefore be net zero carbon, unless it is 

demonstrated it is not feasible or not viable. After the energy hierarchy has been applied to the 

fullest feasible extent, this is to be achieved via carbon offsetting, the approach for which is 

described as follows. 

3.6.1 Carbon Offsetting 

116 Achieving net zero carbon for new developments typically involves (after applying the energy 

hierarchy) a need for developers to contribute a cash-in-lieu payment to the local planning 

authority’s carbon offset fund. This payment is based on the carbon price set by the local 

planning authority, multiplied by the carbon emissions of the development.  

117 Applicants are required to contribute to the Council’s carbon offset fund where they have 

demonstrated that net zero carbon cannot be achieved through the proposed design of the 

development, unless it is demonstrated that this would undermine the viability of the 

development. 

118 The Council has initially set the price of carbon offsets at £252 per tonne over a 30-year 

lifetime of the development (however, this price is subject to change). The Council requires 

applicants to calculate their expected carbon emissions, and can contribute to the carbon offset 

fund accordingly:  

a. Residential: Total contribution = Building Emissions Contribution) 

1. Building Emissions Contribution is the offset of both regulated and unregulated 

emissions from the use of the building, which should be calculated with the latest 

available version of SAP. Using the Tonnes CO2 savings offset on the summary tab of 

the Greater London Authority Carbon Reporting Spreadsheet x £252 per tonne x 30 

years. 

b. Non-residential: Tonnes CO2 savings offset on the summary tab of the Greater London 

Authority Carbon Reporting Spreadsheet x £252 per tonne x 30 years. This calculation 

should be made with the carbon factors of the latest version of SBEM. 

119 The carbon offset contribution is collected through the Section 106 process, and these funds are 

ring-fenced to be spent on carbon-reduction projects. 

3.7 Post Occupancy Evaluation (POE) 

120 POE Is the process of collecting data on energy consumption, building usage, maintenance 

requirements and costs, and feedback from building occupants, on the performance of the 

building in use. Together these can be used to inform future improvements. 

Figure 4: Demand side response at the local and national level (Credit: LETI, Climate Emergency Design Guide) 

59



  
 

 

22 
 

QUICK LINKS WITHIN 
THIS DOCUMENT: 

Combined checklist Energy and carbon Climate adaptation Sustainable construction Biodiversity Sustainable transport 

       

121 The BSRIA Soft Landings process is for a gradual handover of a new or refurbished building, 

with a period of professional aftercare by the project team and client. Based on 6 phases, the 

process should be carried out from inception through to aftercare, which includes POE.  

122 Applicants are encouraged to consider a post occupancy evaluation and major developments 

are encouraged to consider a soft landings approach. 

3.8 Useful External Guidance on Energy and Carbon 

• BSRIA Soft Landings process https://www.bsria.com/uk/consultancy/project-improvement/soft-

landings/  

• Building Regulations Approved Document Part L: Conservation of fuel and power (2021) ii 

• LETI Climate Emergency Design Guide 

• LETI One-pager on Net Zero Carbon iii 

• LETI Climate Emergency Retrofit Guide iv 

• RIBA 2030 Climate Challenge v 

• Greater London Authority Energy Assessment Guidance vi 

• Greater London Authority (GLA) Carbon Offset Funds Guidance (July 2022) vii 

• Greater London Authority Carbon Emissions Reporting Spreadsheet viii 

• UKGBC Net Zero Carbon Buildings: A Framework Definition (April 2019)  

• UKGBC Unlocking the Delivery of Net Zero Carbon Buildings (November 2020) ix 

• UKGBC Renewable Energy Procurement & Carbon Offsetting Guidance for Net Zero Carbon 

Buildings (March 2021) x 

• UKGBC Whole Life Carbon Roadmap: A Pathway to Net Zero (November 2021) xi 

• Historic England guidance on retrofit (energy efficiency and renewable energy) xii  xiii 

• CIBSE TM54 method for accurately modelling operational energy performance xiv 

• PHPP (Passivhaus energy modelling method) Technical Guidance xv/ Passivhaus Rules of 

Thumb xvi/ other Passivhaus resources xvii 

60

https://www.bsria.com/uk/consultancy/project-improvement/soft-landings/
https://www.bsria.com/uk/consultancy/project-improvement/soft-landings/
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/conservation-of-fuel-and-power-approved-document-l
https://www.leti.uk/cedg
https://www.leti.uk/one-pager
https://www.leti.uk/retrofit
https://www.architecture.com/about/policy/climate-action/2030-climate-challenge
https://www.london.gov.uk/programmes-strategies/planning/planning-applications-and-decisions/pre-planning-application-meeting-service/energy-planning-guidance
https://www.london.gov.uk/programmes-strategies/planning/planning-applications-and-decisions/pre-planning-application-meeting-service/energy-planning-guidance
https://ukgbc.org/resources/net-zero-carbon-buildings-framework/
https://ukgbc.org/resources/unlocking-the-delivery-of-net-zero-carbon-buildings/
https://ukgbc.org/resources/renewable-energy-procurement-carbon-offsetting-guidance-for-net-zero-carbon-buildings/
https://ukgbc.org/resources/renewable-energy-procurement-carbon-offsetting-guidance-for-net-zero-carbon-buildings/
https://ukgbc.org/our-work/topics/whole-life-carbon-roadmap/
https://historicengland.org.uk/advice/your-home/energy-efficiency/making-changes-to-save-energy/
https://historicengland.org.uk/advice/your-home/energy-efficiency/generating-energy/
https://www.cibse.org/knowledge-research/knowledge-portal/tm54-evaluating-operational-energy-use-at-the-design-stage-2022
https://www.passivhaustrust.org.uk/guidance_detail.php?gId=36
https://www.passivhaustrust.org.uk/guidance_detail.php?gId=29
https://www.passivhaustrust.org.uk/guidance_detail.php?gId=29
https://www.passivhaustrust.org.uk/guidance.php


 

23 
 

QUICK LINKS WITHIN 
THIS DOCUMENT: 

Combined checklist Energy and carbon Climate adaptation Sustainable construction Biodiversity Sustainable transport 

4. Climate Adaptation 

4.1. Climate Adaptation Context 

123 A rapid increase in climate adaptation measures will be required to ensure communities become 

resilient to increasingly severe impacts from shifting weather patterns. It is highly likely that the 

UK will experience increased overheating and flood risk, alongside heightened unpredictability 

and intensity of extreme weather events, which therefore requires careful planning to mitigate the 

effects of such occurrences. Widespread preparedness and resilience will reduce negative 

social, environmental and economic consequences.  

124 The UK Climate Projections (2018), published by the Met Office, are the latest projections of 

changes to the UK climate in the future. The projections primarily find that winters will become 

warmer and wetter, summers will become hotter and drier, whilst the frequency of extreme 

weather events will rise.    

125 Housing development is a key area of growth that climate adaptation must be at the heart of, 

particularly in reducing overheating risk and the risk of flooding.  A large proportion of the UK’s 

housing stock was built before 1950, and as such poses a significant challenge for adaptation 

measures to ensure that the risks of a changing climate do not adversely affect the populations 

of those living in older homes. Furthermore, the changing climate is having a significant effect on 

the natural environment, and adaptation measures are now crucial to create resilience in our 

ecosystem.  

4.1.1 national Climate Adaptation Commitments/Goals 

126 Under the Climate Change Act 2008, National Adaptation Programmes are required to drive 

adaptive approaches to building resilience to climate change and are based on national Climate 

Change Risk Assessments (latest version in 2022). The acknowledged risks which actions 

should mitigate for are flooding risk to communities, business and infrastructure; risk to health 

and well-being from high temperatures; shortage of public water supply; risks to natural 

ecosystems; and risk to food production.  

127 The CCC acknowledges the benefits of thinking holistically about buildings, land use and the 

natural environmental and how they can contribute towards reducing carbon emissions whilst 

ensuring improved resilience to the UK’s changing climate.  

128 As noted in the previous section, The Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 (Section 

19) mandates that a local authority local development plan (as a whole) includes policies that 

contribute to the mitigation of and adaptation to climate change.  

129 The National Planning Policy Framework 2023 (NPPF) requires local authorities to prepare 

planning policies and plans which address climate change mitigation and adaptation. Chapter 14 

of the NPPF states that the planning system should minimise vulnerability and improve 

resilience, taking full account for long-term flood risk, water supply, biodiversity and landscapes 

and the risk over overheating from rising temperatures. The NPPF also includes a framework for 

mitigating and adapting to flood risk by taking into account all sources of flood risk and the 

current and future impacts of climate change.  

130 The Environment Act will strengthen the protection of existing environments and drive the 

delivery of multifaceted environmental benefits which will help to mitigate for the effects of 

climate change. The provision of green infrastructure is seen as a focus to deliver pleasant 

environments, improved biodiversity, improve health and well-being, assist with water 

management and contribute to cooling and overheating.  

4.1.2 RBWM Climate Adaptation Commitments  

131 RBWM’s Environment and Climate Strategy 2020-2025 aims primarily to mitigate climate 

change rather than solely focusing on adaption to its effects, but nonetheless acknowledges that 

adaptation is required. Through the action plan, adaptation measures cover reducing water 

demand and conserving and enhancing the borough’s biodiversity.  

132 The Borough Local Plan Policy SP2 Climate Change requires development to maximise 

resistance and resilience to climate change.  

 

 

61



 

24 
 

QUICK LINKS WITHIN 
THIS DOCUMENT: 

Combined checklist Energy and carbon Climate adaptation Sustainable construction Biodiversity Sustainable transport 

Local Plan Policy Links 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Local plan policy links (this section outlines local planning policy which relates to Climate Adaption to assist applicants with complying with the relevant policies.) 

 

Local Plan 
Policy 

Applicable to Relevant Requirements  

SP2 Climate 
Change  

All scales of development.  
 

Applications should demonstrate that the development has been designed to:  

 
• Incorporate measures to adapt to and mitigate climate change 

• Maximise opportunities for natural heating and ventilation 

• Maximise resistance and resilience to climate change  

• Utilise and include green and blue infrastructure 

• Minimise impact of surface water runoff and incorporate mitigation and resilience measures from flooding 
 

Full, Reserved Matters, 
Householder, Section 73, 
Householder and Listed 
Building Consent 

QP2 Green and 
Blue Infrastructure  

All new build development  Applications should demonstrate:  

• Incorporation of green and blue infrastructure on ground and upper levels 

• Provision of, or improvement of blue infrastructure 

 
 

Outline, Full, Reserved 
Matters and Section 73 

QP3 Character and 

Design of New 
Development 

All new build development Demonstration that the development is climate resilient through the incorporation of green and blue infrastructure  

Full, Reserved Matters, 
Householder, Section 73, 
Householder and Listed 
Building Consent 
 

NR1 Managing 
Flood Risk and 
Waterways   

All development Applications should:  
 

• Include an assessment on the impact of climate change using appropriate climate change allowances over the lifetime of the development  

• Incorporate Sustainable Drainage Systems  

• Reduce flood risk within and beyond the site  

• Be constructed with adequate flood resilience measures suitable for the lifetime of the development  
 

Outline, Full, Reserved 
Matters, and Section 73  

 

IF1 Infrastructure 
and Developer 
Contributions 

All development  

Except: householder and 
development >100sqm 

Applications should:  
 

• Deliver infrastructure that supports the overall spatial strategy of the borough through financial contributions or on site provision.  

Outline, Full, Reserved 
Matters and Section 73  
 

62



 

25 
 

QUICK LINKS WITHIN 
THIS DOCUMENT: 

Combined checklist Energy and carbon Climate adaptation Sustainable construction Biodiversity Sustainable transport 

4.2. Overheating and the Cooling Hierarchy 

133 As new buildings become increasingly energy efficient, it is crucial that the risk of overheating is 

simultaneously considered to ensure that such new buildings are not susceptible to overheating 

nor reliant on active cooling measures (such as air conditioning). Mitigating this risk is a key 

element in fulfilling the Policy SP2 requirement for resistance and resilience to climate change. 

134 An overheating strategy that follows the cooling hierarchy, as set out below, should be utilised 

so that future buildings can both be operational net zero and fully resilient to current and future 

climate risks. Within the Sustainability and Energy Statement, applicants should 

demonstrate how the cooling hierarchy has been followed. 

 

 

 

4.2.1 Applying the Cooling Hierarchy 

135 The overheating strategy should be considered and implemented at the earliest possible stage. 

Overheating should be addressed holistically with the operational energy approach since some 

measures have multiple purposes, such as mechanical ventilation heat recovery units. The 

hierarchy, in six stages, is outlined as follows.  

Cooling hierarchy element Application 

1. Minimise internal heat 
generation through energy 

efficient design 

• An operationally energy efficient building will have low 
energy demand and subsequently will generate less active 
heat internally. This results in less internal temperature 
fluctuation and increased comfort. 

• A building with an airtight envelope is less prone to 
external heat influences and can therefore maintain 
internal temperatures more efficiently without active 
cooling measures. 

2. Reduce the amount of heat 
entering a building in 

summer through 
orientation, shading, 
albedo (reflection), 
fenestration, and 

insulation 

• Brise-soleils or awnings are useful measures for external 
protection from solar gain – most suited to South facing 
surfaces. 

• Vertical shading is suitable for East or West facing 
windows.  

• External shutters give maximum protection for windows 
but restrict daylight intake.   

• Energy efficient thermal insulation – primarily to walls and 
lofts/roofs – assist solar gain reduction through the 
building structure.  

• Light-coloured roofs will reflect more sunlight away from 
the buildings. Green roofs and solar PV panels will also 
provide sunlight protection. 

• Trees provide natural shading whilst also increasing the 
biodiversity of the site. External roof overhang shading can 
protect upper floors from excessive solar gain where they 
exceed the height of trees.   

REQUIREMENT 

Application evidence for overheating within Sustainability and 

Energy Statement  

for new residential dwellings, and non-residential floorspace over 100sqm  

✓ Complete an overheating strategy to demonstrate how:  

• the cooling hierarchy has been implemented; 

• there is no excessive reliance on active cooling measures; 

and 

• green infrastructure measures are holistically integrated to 

mitigate overheating risk. 

 

 

BEST PRACTICE 

Overheating evidence 

• Complete either a CIBSE TM52 (non-residential) or TM59 

(residential) overheating assessment using TM49 weather files; and 

• Demonstrate that a recognised quality regime will be used to ensure 

the as-built performance indoor air quality and overheating risk 

meets the as-designed performance (e.g. Home Quality Mark). 

 

 

  

63



  
 

 

26 
 

QUICK LINKS WITHIN 
THIS DOCUMENT: 

Combined checklist Energy and carbon Climate adaptation Sustainable construction Biodiversity Sustainable transport 

       

3. Manage the heat within the 
building through exposed 
internal thermal mass and 

high ceilings 

• Thermal mass typically consists of concrete, stone or 
masonry in floors and walls.  

• The inclusion of solid thermal mass creates a buffer zone 
by taking up heat during the day and releasing it as the air 
cools; this levels out peaks and troughs throughout the 
heating cycle.  

• It is important to include an appropriate amount of thermal 
mass. Excessive thermal mass will reduce a building’s 
heating reaction time and result in slow heating, whereas 
too little results in the opposite. 

• For lightweight timber-frame construction, traditional 
thermal mass options are less suitable. Phase change 
materials provide an option for thermal mass in such 
lightweight buildings. Wax in the materials melts and 
solidifies as they heat and cool, absorbing and releasing 
heat as necessary. Such materials can be an alternative to 
plasterboard for walls.  

• During summer months, thermal mass should not 
receive direct sunlight for the entire day to avoid 
excessive internal heat retention throughout the evening.  

4. Passive ventilation 

• Passive ventilation measures should be prioritised 
since they do not require electricity generation. 

• Window opening and purge ventilation are the key 
measures here, which should be supported by careful 
design that provides multiple cross-ventilation 
opportunities where possible.  

• It is important to note that daytime ventilation is only 
beneficial if the outdoor air temperature is less than 
the internal building temperature. Clearly, this is more 
common at night, during which external cool air is able to 
replace internal warm air.  

5. Mechanical ventilation 

• Where security and noise are issues for window opening, 
mechanical ventilation units may be required to 
appropriately reduce overheating risks.  

• Mechanical ventilation is able to feed fresh air into 
internal spaces and remove latent heat. Units can 
however be costly and increase energy demand.  

• A key consideration is to achieve high levels of air change 
rate sufficient for purge ventilation, whilst having minimal 
or no impact on the residents in terms of noise and size 
of unit.  

• Mechanical ventilation units with heat recovery can 
address overheating risk and energy efficiency 
simultaneously – see more. 

6. Active cooling systems 
(ensuring they are the 
lowest carbon options) 

• As a last resort, once all other options in the hierarchy 
have been maximised, active cooling systems may be 
necessary to create a comfortable internal environment for 
occupants.  

• Active cooling is more likely to be acceptable in the case 
of tall flat blocks where natural and urban shading 
measures are not able influence mid-upper floors and with 
fewer exposed facades for heat loss. 

• Noise impacts should be mitigated for residents and 
heat exhaustion from the involved unit should be carefully 
considered so that adjacent units are not adversely 
impacted– heat output from one unit will increase local 
air temperature albeit at a small scale.  

• Ongoing maintenance costs should not be ignored. 

• Refrigerants used in active cooling systems are able to 
make notable contributions to climate change impacts. 
The global warming potential (GWP) of most 
refrigerants are higher than that of CO2 by multiple 
factors – the GWP of R32 is 675 times that of CO2. 
Refrigerants with the lowest feasible GWP should 
therefore be prioritised.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

64



  
 

 

27 
 

QUICK LINKS WITHIN 
THIS DOCUMENT: 

Combined checklist Energy and carbon Climate adaptation Sustainable construction Biodiversity Sustainable transport 

       

4.3. Green and Blue Infrastructure 

 

4.3.1 Urban Heat Island Effect 

136 The urban heat island effect (UHI) occurs due to the removal of natural vegetation surfaces and 

construction of high-density pavements, roads and buildings. The subsequent large increase in 

thermal mass and darker-coloured surfaces results in significant heat absorption and retention, 

leading to higher temperatures in urban areas than less dense, more vegetated areas – the 

difference can be up to 9°C in some cases. 

137 Applicants should demonstrate how they have incorporated measures to combat UHI 

(whether by reducing UHI in existing urban fabric, or by avoiding the creation of UHI). This is 

part of fulfilling the Policy SP2 requirement for resistance and resilience to climate change and 

can be a key function of the green and blue infrastructure required by Policies QP2 and QP3.  

138 Mitigation measures to combat UHI consist of:  

• Increased abundance of foliage and vegetation 

• More bodies of open water for enhanced evaporative cooling  

• Use of more reflective materials on hard surfaces 

 

139 The role of materials in minimising the UHI effect can be significant, as roofs and pavements 

account for ~60% of urban surfaces and absorb in excess of 80% of the solar radiation received.  

140 ‘Cool materials’ can reduce this effect due to increased albedo, meaning that the surface can 

better reflect sunlight and emit heat from the building. Cool materials will therefore reduce 

overheating risks within the building and the wider urban area. For example: 

• White and reflective roofs are up to 4 times more effective than dark roofs.  

• It is helpful to avoid dark, low reflectance surfaces adjacent to glazing.   

141 New development in high-density urban areas has an opportunity to significantly reduce the 

level of heat absorbed and retained on-site, and importantly ensure it does not worsen existing 

urban heat island areas. Reducing the urban heat island effect should be addressed alongside 

biodiversity and ecology policy requirements, due to the role that increased vegetation can play. 

4.3.2 Green Roofs to Mitigate Heat Gain 

142 Green roofs containing vegetation, and sometimes water features, provide multiple benefits to a 

development. Water runoff reduction, evaporative cooling, increased biodiversity and reduced 

solar gain on the building surface are all key features.  

143 Similar to a rooftop garden, green roofs can reduce heat islands through the provision of shade, 

removing heat from surrounding air and reducing roof surface temperature. Compared to 

standard roofs, green roofs can be over 4°C cooler at the surface, whilst modelling 

simulations have shown indoor temperature reductions from green roofs of up to 3°C. 

144 Green roofs can be combined with solar panels to make ‘biosolar roofs’. Although green 

roofs may reduce roof space for solar panels, this may be outweighed by efficacy gains of the 

panels due to the green roofs’ mitigation of extreme temperatures. Panel efficiency is highest at 

a set operating temperature, and thus increases when paired with green roofs, as the panels are 

less likely to exceed this temperature. Panels should be placed at least 75cm above vegetation.  

145 As policy requirements become more stringent for operational energy, overheating and 

biodiversity, a crucial balance on new development will need to be struck between: 

• Installing sufficient on-site rooftop solar PV for a net zero energy/carbon balance  

• Mitigating overheating risk with reflective, white roofs 

• Integrating green roofs with other requirements   

4.3.3 Trees for Shading 

146 Increased abundance of trees is a measure to address both climate adaptation and biodiversity, 

resulting in co-benefits. Shading from trees provides enhanced thermal comfort at street level 

and helps reduce health impacts of increased temperatures, which are exacerbated in urban 

areas. This is supplemented by the evapotranspiration ability of trees, providing a cooling effect.  

147 Studies have found street air temperature with higher tree cover density to be 1.3°C lower than 

streets with lower densities. This benefit is even greater during summer months, where average 

air temperature under street trees can be up to 3.3°C cooler than open pavement streets.  

148 Where trees are planted, it is vital that the underlying soil is appropriately assessed to determine 

that the quality and volume of soil is sufficient for predicted tree growth. Without soil 

assessments, trees are at risk of inhibited growth, impeding pavement surfaces and can die 

prematurely.  

REQUIREMENT 

Application evidence for green infrastructure  

for new residential dwellings, and non-residential floorspace over 100sqm  

✓ In a Sustainability and Energy Statement, applicants are expected 

to demonstrate how the following have been achieved:  

a. Appropriate material selection to mitigate urban heat island 

impacts  

b. Innovative design to enable green roofs and solar PV  

c. Integration of trees and green spaces into development to: 

o increase biodiversity; 

o reduce overheating; and  

o promote outdoor recreation. 

 

65

https://www.researchgate.net/publication/347575888_The_effect_of_green_roofs_on_the_reduction_of_mortality_due_to_heatwaves_Results_from_the_application_of_a_spatial_microsimulation_model_to_four_European_cities
https://www.researchgate.net/publication/347575888_The_effect_of_green_roofs_on_the_reduction_of_mortality_due_to_heatwaves_Results_from_the_application_of_a_spatial_microsimulation_model_to_four_European_cities
https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S2212095522002061#s0130
https://www.mdpi.com/1999-4907/13/7/1086/html


  
 

 

28 
 

QUICK LINKS WITHIN 
THIS DOCUMENT: 

Combined checklist Energy and carbon Climate adaptation Sustainable construction Biodiversity Sustainable transport 

       

4.3.4 Green Spaces for Residents to Use 

149 The further important benefit of green spaces in developments is the widespread improvement 

to various elements of health and wellbeing: 

• Physical and mental health 

• Reduce morbidity and mortality in urban areas 

• Improved relaxation and reduced stress levels 

• Increased social activity  

• Lower air pollution and exposure to excessive heat and noise 

 

150 With 82.9% of residents in England living in urban areas, access to green space is a key issue 

for the majority of the population. As the previous section outlines, measures to increase trees 

and vegetation within urban and rural environments delivers significant benefits to the climate, 

biodiversity and society. Green areas provided for natural drainage (see ‘SuDS) can double up 

as green open space for public or communal recreation and relaxation in drier periods.  

4.4. Flood Risk Reduction, Blue Infrastructure and Sustainable Drainage Systems 
 

4.4.1 Suds Hierarchy  

151 Applicants should demonstrate that they have implemented a sustainable drainage 

regime in their development. Sustainable Drainage Systems (SuDS) promote the prioritisation 

of natural drainage solutions to control rainwater run-off, which is particularly important in urban 

areas where impermeable surfaces dominate landscapes.  

152 The Sustainable Drainage System hierarchy varies between sources, but generally consists 

of the following stages that should be prioritised in order: 

1. Rainwater storage for later use 

2. Infiltration through porous surfaces  

3. Rainwater attenuation in ponds or open water (gradual release) 

4. Rainwater attenuation in storage tanks (gradual release) 

5. Rainwater discharge to watercourse 

6. Rainwater discharge to surface water sewer or drain 

7. Rainwater discharge to combined sewer 

153 Implementing SuDS provides opportunities to combine drainage solutions with provision for 

recreation and amenity. Rain gardens and swales can be integrated with walking routes, 

gardens and seating areas, whilst permeable paving can be used for sporting activities and 

integrated into children’s play spaces to reduce waterlogging risks.  

154 SuDS measures are inherently holistic by improving additional elements of new development 

beyond drainage: 

• Improved water quality and reduced flow of pollutants in rivers 

• Enhanced wildlife habitat provision 

• Assists urban heat island effect mitigation. 

155 A range of measures can be integrated into the surrounding landscape to address the SuDS 

hierarchy ambitiously: 

• Green roofs: planted vegetation on rooftops to limit rainwater runoff to the ground due 

to increased absorption from plants.  

• Permeable paving: enables rainwater to infiltrate through pavements, subsequently 

reducing rainwater build-up at ground level.  

• Rain gardens: shallow depressions with plants to increase water absorption and 

reduce or slow runoff. 

• Swales: planted vegetation placed in shallow channels to slow down rainwater runoff.  

• Retention ponds: store and gradually release rainwater to mitigate downstream flood 

risk. 

• Attenuation tanks: water collection saved for re-use. 

4.4.2 Flood Resilience Measures in Buildings 

156 Although SuDS (as above) will reduce flood risk at a local level, flood events are inevitable in 

some cases – especially with heavier rainfall due to climate change in coming decades - and 

should be appropriately prepared for. Therefore, to fulfil Policy SP2 requirements for 

REQUIREMENT 

Application evidence for flood risk and SuDS  

The Council requires that applicants:  

✓ Check and submit the appropriate level of Flood Risk Assessment 

if the development site falls within Flood Zones 2 and 3 (and also in 

Flood Zone 1 on sites of 1 hectare or more in size and in other 

circumstances as set out in the NPPF).  

• To find out information on flood zones applicants can visit: 

https://check-long-term-flood-risk.service.gov.uk/map   

 

✓ Submit a surface water drainage scheme, which complies with the 

SuDS hierarchy, when there is a reduction of the permeable areas 

on a site through building footprints, or hardstanding. 

66

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/trend-deck-2021-urbanisation/trend-deck-2021-urbanisation#englands-urban-population-is-growing-faster-than-the-rural-population


  
 

 

29 
 

QUICK LINKS WITHIN 
THIS DOCUMENT: 

Combined checklist Energy and carbon Climate adaptation Sustainable construction Biodiversity Sustainable transport 

       

maximisation of climate change resilience and incorporation of flood resilience, applicants 

should integrate additional design measures to increase resilience against such risks: 

• Elevation: raise the foundation of the building above the flood level. 

• Waterproofing: waterproof sealants and membranes help prevent water infiltration to 

inside the building   

• Building materials: use low permeability, flood-resistant materials to reduce damages 

but this must be balanced with embodied carbon implications.  

• Electrical systems: ensure that electrical systems are placed above the anticipated 

flood line.  

• No increase to impermeable areas as a result of development 

4.5. Water Efficiency 
 

4.5.1 Mains Water Usage Target Benchmarks by Building Typology 

 

 

157 At a national policy scale, Building Regulations Part G limits water consumption to 125 

litres/person/day. However, the relevant planning body holds powers to limit water 

consumption to 110 litres/person/day (including a 5 litres/person/day external water use 

allowance). The South-East is categorised as being in serious water stress1 therefore measures 

to reduce water usage and conserve existing water resources are essential. Applicants are 

expected to demonstrate this.  

158 A water-efficient development is likely to: 

• Install and operate a water management system to closely monitor water usage 

throughout the building. 

 
1 Environment Agency Water Stressed Areas Final Classification 2021  

• Install a leak detection system to ensure no water is wasted. 

• Install technology to assess efficiencies. 

• Use rainwater and greywater harvesting techniques for the reuse of water. 

 

159 External water usage in garden spaces can account for 50% of overall site water usage, 

particularly in hot and dry weather during summer months, which strongly suggests that outdoor 

water usage reductions should also be pursued. The key measure here is to reduce water 

demand and create water-efficient outdoor spaces. This can be achieved by using healthy 

composted soil consisting of mulch and bark, which can reduce evaporation rates by 75%. 

Selecting drought-resistant species will also assist reductions in outdoor water usage and 

increase resilience to future local climates. Outdoor spaces can also be a suitable use for 

greywater reused from the building.  

160 The wider point when considering reduced water usage, indoors and outdoors, is that it 

mitigates local drought risks and subsequent water restrictions. Therefore, any reduced water 

usage not only reduces bill costs but also increases local resilience to climate risks, such as 

overheating, supply outages, and over-abstraction from local water sources which has 

subsequent impacts on wildlife. 

161 Throughout the occupancy of the building, guidance from Thames Water for householders can 

be utilised to ensure water usage targets are achieved in practice. 

4.5.2 Metering, Leak Detection/Avoidance and Solenoid Valves to Reduce Water Waste 

162 Applicants should include sub-metering to all separate residence and/or separate users in a 

building. Water metering is essential to ensure that usage is accurately monitored, for the 

purposes of billing and to identify usage reduction solutions. Meter devices are typically placed 

at the connection point between the supply network and end-use location.  

163 Metering can form part of strategies for leak detection and avoidance. These are of utmost 

importance as a large proportion of mains water is lost to leaks and much of this happens on-

plot. Detection helps avoid water wastage and excessive operational costs for water utilities, 

whilst mitigating damage risks to the property. Reliable leak detection and avoidance should 

be part of applicants’ water efficiency efforts, especially at major developments.  

164 The recent development of smart water metering systems has increased the ease of metering 

system operations, through real-time consumption data and automatic leak detection. This helps 

consumers better understand what water they are using and thus identify ways to reduce this. 

Solenoid valves are a useful method to control water flow as they can open and close rapidly in 

response to electrical signals and can be easily integrated into smart systems to avoid wastage.   

4.5.3 Rainwater and Greywater Recycling 

165 Applicants are strongly encouraged to show that they have considered water recycling 

and where possible incorporated these into their development as part of their efforts towards 

exemplary water efficiency targets beyond the required minimum.  

REQUIREMENT 

Application evidence for water efficiency  

✓ The Council requires that for new development, development 

should minimise the use of mains water by: 

• Incorporating water saving measures and equipment 

Designing residential development to meet a target of no more 

than 110 litres/person/day (105L internal + 5L external) 

67

https://www.thameswater.co.uk/help/water-saving/water-saving-tips


  
 

 

30 
 

QUICK LINKS WITHIN 
THIS DOCUMENT: 

Combined checklist Energy and carbon Climate adaptation Sustainable construction Biodiversity Sustainable transport 

       

166 Rainwater harvesting is the collection of runoff water from impermeable surfaces of the building. 

This is primarily used for non-drinking purposes such as toilet flushing, irrigation and laundry.  

167 Payback time to install rainwater harvesting measures on existing buildings is likely to be 

between 10 – 15 years. Additional filters can be installed to provide drinking water, yet this 

comes at an added cost and increased payback period.  

168 Greywater recycling is the reuse of wastewater from internal building water usage but excluding 

sewage and kitchen sink water. Approximately 1/3 of water usage becomes greywater and 

can subsequently be recycled to be reused for toilet flushing, which itself accounts for 30% of 

building water usage.  

169 Greywater reuse can therefore represent a tool for a step change in water efficiency enabling 

the development to reach towards more ambitious water targets compatible with future climate 

as laid out by the RIBA Climate Challenge.  

170 Wastewater heat recovery (WWHR) is a useful technology to further improve the circularity of 

the whole-building efficiency. Water used for baths, showers and sinks is often significantly 

hotter than incoming water supply, which represents a major heat supply opportunity that should 

not be wasted. A heat exchanger can extract heat from the outgoing greywater and transfer the 

heat for space heating and domestic hot water usage, which will reduce hot water energy 

consumption. It is noted that this however is an energy efficiency measure rather than a water 

efficiency measure.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

4.6. Useful External Guidance on Climate Adaptation 

• HM Govt long term flood risk checker for flood risk from all sources – option to search by 

postcode or view a full map  

• LETI Climate Emergency Design Guide 

• LETI Climate Emergency Retrofit Guide 

• RIBA Climate Challenge  

• Good Homes Alliance Overheating Risk Tool 

• Part O Building Regulations (Overheating assessment – new part of building regulations 

implemented from June 2022) 

• CIBSE TM52 The limits of thermal comfort: avoiding overheating (2013) [for use in non-

residential buildings] 

• CIBSE TM59 Design methodology for the assessment of overheating risk in homes (2017) 

• Thames Water Developer Services 

• Met Office UK Climate Projections 2018 User Interface 

• National Trust Climate Adaptation Guidance  

• National Trust Climate Hazard Map 

• Historic England Overheating and Historic Buildings 

• Historic England Climate Change Adaptation Report 

 

BEST PRACTICE 

Recommended water efficiency measures 

• Adoption of RIBA Climate Challenge 2030 water usage targets 

• Leak detection and avoidance systems 

• Rainwater and Greywater reuse systems 

 

68

https://www.architecture.com/about/policy/climate-action/2030-climate-challenge/sign-up
https://www.gov.uk/check-long-term-flood-risk
https://www.leti.uk/cedg
https://www.leti.uk/retrofit
https://www.architecture.com/about/policy/climate-action/2030-climate-challenge
https://goodhomes.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/07/GHA-Overheating-in-New-Homes-Tool-and-Guidance-Tool-only.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/overheating-approved-document-o
https://www.cibse.org/knowledge-research/knowledge-portal/tm52-the-limits-of-thermal-comfort-avoiding-overheating-in-european-buildings
https://www.cibse.org/knowledge-research/knowledge-portal/technical-memorandum-59-design-methodology-for-the-assessment-of-overheating-risk-in-homes
https://www.thameswater.co.uk/developers
https://ukclimateprojections-ui.metoffice.gov.uk/ui/home
https://www.into.org/app/uploads/2022/10/0-People-Visitor-Activity-How-to-use-this-Guidance.pdf
https://national-trust.maps.arcgis.com/apps/webappviewer/index.html?id=a44672bb34c4491a909034d0eed76583
https://historicengland.org.uk/whats-new/research/back-issues/overheating-and-historic-buildings/
https://historicengland.org.uk/research/results/reports/8614/ClimateChangeAdaptationReport


 

31 
 

QUICK LINKS WITHIN 
THIS DOCUMENT: 

Combined checklist Energy and carbon Climate adaptation Sustainable construction Biodiversity Sustainable transport 

5. Sustainable Materials and Construction  

5.1. Sustainable Construction Context 

171 It is estimated that the built environment is directly responsible for 25% of UK carbon 

emissions, and of that 25% approximately a quarter is embodied emissions of buildings 

and other infrastructure. The built environment sector must urgently address its responsibility 

in countering the climate emergency and collaboratively work to accelerate decarbonisation in 

the design, construction and operation of our homes and buildings.  

5.1.1 National Relevant Commitments/Goals 

172 The Climate Change Act 2008 (as amended) sets the national target for net zero carbon 

emissions by 2050. The 2050 target implicitly requires that sustainable materials and embodied 

carbon are accounted for, including carbon emissions attributed from the manufacture, 

distribution and installation of products and materials. A full definition of the term embodied 

carbon is provided in Section 5.4.1 below. 

173 The CCC recommends the substitution of high-embodied carbon materials with low embodied 

carbon materials, in addition to the use of recycled materials, and for the introduction of a 

mandatory whole-life carbon standard for buildings and infrastructure.  

174 The value of embodied carbon within existing buildings is also recognised through statutory 

bodies such as Historic England, who acknowledge that the reuse of existing buildings can 

radically reduce the overall carbon emissions compared with a new building. Additionally, 

retrofitting to address energy efficiency should also make use of sustainable materials and 

construction methods to limit embodied carbon.  

175 The purpose of the planning system is to achieve sustainable development through meeting the 

needs of the present without compromising the ability of future generations to meet their own 

needs. This also extends to the use of mineral resources.  

176 The NPPF 2023 through Chapter 14 states that the planning system should support the 

transition to a low carbon future through encouragement of the reuse of existing resources, 

including the conversion of existing buildings, and through Chapter 17 supports the use of 

secondary or recycled materials.  

177 Furthermore, recent industry-led Part Z proposals have the intention of amending Building 

Regulations to introduce new requirements on whole-life carbon reporting by 2023 and minimum 

standards by 2027. Whilst not yet national policy, this demonstrates the direction of travel in 

respect of quantifying and managing embodied carbon in the near future. 

178 Historic England’s research report ‘Heritage Counts Re-use and Recycle to Reduce Carbon 

research’ identifies the role of existing buildings to ensure sustainable materials and 

construction are pursued, rather than a sole focus on new builds. The UK will not be able to 

achieve the 2050 net zero target without appropriate policies in place for existing 

buildings, which primarily must include retention over demolition of existing buildings due to the 

high amount of embodied carbon that would result from a building replacement.  

5.1.2 RBWM Sustainable Construction/Materials Commitments  

179 One of the four strategic themes of the RBWM Environment and Climate Strategy 2020-2025 

is the circular economy, recognising that significant carbon reductions are possible when 

consumption and waste is reduced, and materials are recycled.   

180 Through the Environment and Climate Strategy 2020-2025 and actions leading from it, the 

borough has set the target of being net zero carbon by 2050. 

Local Plan policy links  

This section outlines local planning policy which relates to Sustainable Materials and 
Construction to assist applicants with complying with the relevant policies. 
 

Local Plan 
Policy 

Applicable to Relevant Requirements  

SP2 Climate 

Change 

All development Adaptation measures need to be 

built into developments to ensure the 
sustainable development of housing, 
businesses and the economy of the 
Royal Borough.  

Full, Reserved Matters, 
Householder, Section 73, 
Householder and Listed Building 
Consent 

 

QP3 Character and 

Design of New 
Development 

All new build development Demonstration that the development 

is climate resilient through:  

• Minimising energy demand 

• Maximising energy efficiency 

• Minimises waste  
Outline, Full, Reserved Matters, 
Householder, Section 73, 

Householder and Listed Building 
Consent 
 

69

https://www.ukgbc.org/wp-content/uploads/2021/11/UKGBC-Whole-Life-Carbon-Roadmap-A-Pathway-to-Net-Zero.pdf
https://www.ukgbc.org/wp-content/uploads/2021/11/UKGBC-Whole-Life-Carbon-Roadmap-A-Pathway-to-Net-Zero.pdf
https://www.ukgbc.org/wp-content/uploads/2021/11/UKGBC-Whole-Life-Carbon-Roadmap-A-Pathway-to-Net-Zero.pdf
https://part-z.uk/proposal
https://historicengland.org.uk/content/heritage-counts/pub/2019/hc2019-re-use-recycle-to-reduce-carbon/%22%20/l%20%22:~:text=The%20Heritage%20Counts%20research%20shows,for%20reuse%20of%20heritage%20assets.
https://historicengland.org.uk/content/heritage-counts/pub/2019/hc2019-re-use-recycle-to-reduce-carbon/%22%20/l%20%22:~:text=The%20Heritage%20Counts%20research%20shows,for%20reuse%20of%20heritage%20assets.


 

32 
 

QUICK LINKS WITHIN 
THIS DOCUMENT: 

Combined checklist Energy and carbon Climate adaptation Sustainable construction Biodiversity Sustainable transport 

5.2. Reuse And Recycling of Materials, And Keeping Existing Buildings in Use Via 

Retrofit 

  
5.2.1 Waste Hierarchy  

181 As per policy Local Plan Policy QP3, the minimisation of waste is an integral criterion of the high-

quality sustainable design that is expected of all new development. To inform decision-making on 

waste and re-use of materials, the waste hierarchy is a useful tool, set out below in order of 

preference. Applicants should demonstrate that they have used materials in line with the 

waste hierarchy, as follows. 

1. Reduce: minimise the use of virgin raw materials and associated generation of waste  

2. Re-use (on-site first): re-use materials wherever suitable on-site and prepare materials 

for future re-use. 

3. Recycle (on-site first): although recycling uses additional energy, it is preferable to 

other forms of disposal as it enables the content of the material to be re-used. 

4. Recover: where re-using or recycling materials is not possible, energy can be recovered 

from materials through processes such as incineration, anaerobic digestion, gasification 

and pyrolysis.  

5. Disposal: as a last resort, where no opportunities for the above stages remain, materials 

are to be disposed of in landfill resulting in the end of a material’s lifecycle.  

182 In summary, all opportunities should be maximised to mitigate materials usage and wastage, 

followed by re-use and recycling of materials wherever possible. If your site contains existing 

structures, the waste hierarchy implies that designs should firstly seek to retain these to reduce 

waste generation and the need for new materials. See ‘circular economy’ section below and 

Appendix 5 for technical guidance on pre-demolition audits. 

5.2.2 Circular Economy and Potential for Recycling/Reuse on Site 

183 ‘Circular economy’ means keeping resources in use for as long as possible in their most valuable 

form. This is not just about ‘recycling’ but ensuring that every step from design to ‘end of life’ has 

the goal in mind to keep resources circulating in a valuable form for as long as possible. For 

example, at the design and construction stage for a new building, this may include constructing in a 

way that enables it to eventually be disassembled and its components directly reused 

economically, instead of having to be demolished into mixed fragments that cannot (physically, 

technically or financially) be separated into useful resources.  

184 For a site involving existing buildings, it would involve making every effort to: 

i. Preferably keep the existing building in use in the redesign  

ii. Next, pursue partial retention of functioning parts in situ or in their original form,  

iii. If that is not possible then reusing their materials in another form.  

185 Direct reuse in a ‘high value’ form is preferable to ‘downcycling’. For example, if an existing building 

has marble slabs, these are a ‘higher value form’, whereas crushing them for aggregate infill would 

count as ‘downcycling’.  

186 To appropriately follow circular economy principles, the re-use of materials from any necessary 

demolition on-site must be entirely maximised. The recovery and re-use of such materials mitigates 

the need for new materials to be produced, whilst reducing material build-up in landfill. The following 

materials in particular should be salvaged as far as possible: 

• Bricks  

• Wood  

• Asphalt  

• Metals  

• Glass 

• Plastics 

REQUIREMENT 

Application evidence for construction waste and circular economy 

✓ All applicants are required to follow the waste hierarchy for design 

and construction decisions. 

✓ Major development to submit: 

o Circular Economy Statement that follows UKGBC guidance  

o Pre-demolition/pre-development audit  

o Site Waste Management Plan 

o Construction Environmental Management Plan 

o Evidence that a waste recovery rate of ≥70% is achieved 

 

REQUIREMENT 

Application evidence for operational waste management 

The Council requires that applicants will: 

✓ Demonstrate that the development is designed for in-use waste 

management according to the RBWM Waste Management 

Planning Advice Note.  

70



  
 

 

33 
 

QUICK LINKS WITHIN 
THIS DOCUMENT: 

Combined checklist Energy and carbon Climate adaptation Sustainable construction Biodiversity Sustainable transport 

       

 

187 Various guides are available to assist developers enhance the circularity of a development, such as 

Construction Industry Research and Information Association (CIRIA) Reclaimed and Recycled 

Materials Handbook and the Institution of Civil Engineers Demolition Protocol.  

188 The UK Green Building Council guidance on the circular economy of construction sets out some 

useful principles to be addressed throughout various phases: 

1. Maximise re-use:  

a. Re-use the existing asset 

b. Recover materials and products on-site or from another site 

c. Share materials for onward re-use  

 

 

2. Design buildings for optimisation 

a. Longevity  

b. Flexibility 

c. Adaptability 

d. Assembly, disassembly and recoverability  

 

3. Use standardisation 

a. Standardised, modular elements in buildings are created with less waste and are 

easier to re-use 

 

4. Products as a service 

a. Create payment systems where materials are treated as a service 

 

5. Minimise impact and waste 

a. Use low impact materials 

b. Use recycled content or secondary materials 

c. Design out waste 

d. Reduce construction impacts 

5.2.3 Sustainable Waste Management in Construction and Operation 

189 Construction environmental management plans and site waste management plans are 

required for major development and for BREEAM assessments. Collectively, the plans should 

ensure that negative impacts to the environment from construction and the use of materials within 

the site are avoided as far as possible. 

190 Waste management throughout the construction phase is likely to have a larger impact than during 

the operation of the development, however operational waste management for occupiers should 

remain a primary consideration. The RBWM Waste Management Planning Advice Note sets out 

existing expectations and requirements that new development is subject to in order to address 

operational waste management.  

191 Particularly for development sites where demolition is deemed necessary, it is expected that the 

developer will set out how waste recovery (minimum 70%) is achieved. 

 

Figure 5: Building Revolutions (Dave Cheshire, 2016) 

71

https://www.ciria.org/ItemDetail?iProductCode=C513&Category=BOOK&WebsiteKey=3f18c87a-d62b-4eca-8ef4-9b09309c1c91
https://www.ciria.org/ItemDetail?iProductCode=C513&Category=BOOK&WebsiteKey=3f18c87a-d62b-4eca-8ef4-9b09309c1c91
https://ukgbc.org/our-work/topics/circular-economy/
https://www.rbwm.gov.uk/media/1541/download/


  
 

 

34 
 

QUICK LINKS WITHIN 
THIS DOCUMENT: 

Combined checklist Energy and carbon Climate adaptation Sustainable construction Biodiversity Sustainable transport 

       

 

  

BEST PRACTICE 

Best practice material wastage rates 

Similarly to setting targets for recycled content % targets, all 

development should set targets to limit material wastage. According to 

WRAP guidance, best practice targets should be: 

• Waste generation (tonnes/£100k) 

a. Residential new build: 6 

b. Other new build: 5 

c. Residential refurbishment: 4 

d. Other refurbishment: 3 

• Waste recovery (%) 

a. Construction: 70-80% 

b. Refurbishment/strip-out: 70-80% 

c. Demolition: 80-90% 

d. Excavation (non-hazardous): 100%. 

 

 

  

 

BEST PRACTICE 

Waste diversion recommended targets 

Greater London Authority Circular Economy Guidance contains 5 

key targets to demonstrate the extent to which circular economy has 

been pursued. In London, only major projects referable to the Mayor are 

required to respond to these targets, but the guidance has also been 

applied to proposals below that threshold.  The targets are as follows: 

• Demolition waste: Minimum of 95% diverted from landfill for reuse, 

recycling or recovery. 

• Excavation waste: Minimum of 95% diverted from landfill for reuse. 

• Construction waste: Minimum of 95% diverted from landfill for reuse, 

recycling or recovery. 

• Municipal waste: Minimum 65% recycling rate by 2030. 

• Recycled content of materials: Minimum 20% of the building material 

elements to be comprised of recycled or reused content.  

 

72

https://www.sustainabilityexchange.ac.uk/files/wrap_benchmarks_for_target_setting.pdf
https://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/circular_economy_statements_lpg_0.pdf


  
 

 

35 
 

QUICK LINKS WITHIN 
THIS DOCUMENT: 

Combined checklist Energy and carbon Climate adaptation Sustainable construction Biodiversity Sustainable transport 

       

5.3. Sustainable Material Selection and Sourcing 

192 The selection of sustainable materials should take place as early as possible to ensure that 

decisions made are integral to building design. Generally, sustainable products such as timber 

should be prioritised over traditional building materials such as metals and cement, which emit large 

amounts of greenhouse gases throughout their extraction, manufacturing and processing. 

193 There is a wide range of environmental impacts associated with material production, use and waste 

including, but not exclusively: greenhouse gas emissions, air pollution, habitat loss and 

deforestation, minerals extraction and water wastage and pollution. When selecting construction 

materials, developers should consider how they will reduce environmental impacts and limit carbon 

emissions. 

194 Where an organisation does not have a company-wide procurement plan, a sustainable 

procurement plan can be created and implemented for refurbishment and new development 

projects. This can be applied to all involved in specification and procurement during the project and 

provide a framework for responsible and local sourcing of products and materials. 

5.3.1 Local Sourcing 

195 Local sourcing, particularly of re-used materials, can provide multiple social, environmental and 

economic benefits. Within the UK, where material production is not prominent, there is a gap in the 

market for re-usable materials to be the focus of construction materials. Supporting such business 

locally addresses both circularity of materials and reduces associated impacts from sourcing 

materials out of the local area.  

196 However, the relationship between sustainability and sourcing is not simply a matter of distance 

from the source. The operational ability, adaptability to future conditions, durability and longevity of a 

material are all important elements to consider alongside sourcing locally. For example, if comparing 

a stronger Scandinavian timber against a weaker UK timber, the negative impact of additional travel 

distance of the Scandinavian timber may be outweighed by requiring less of the material to form a 

building foundation, or a greater durability allowing the building to delay the need for replacement. If 

one material can be re-used following the lifespan of the existing building, then that is also an 

additional benefit over a locally sourced material that may not be re-usable.  

197 The Council urges applicants to check and consider the Environmental Product Declarations (if 

available) to make informed decisions on the choice of construction materials as part of the design 

process.   

5.3.2 Responsible Sourcing  

198 Responsible sourcing is procurement/sourcing materials where it can be proven with third-party 

auditable certification that the raw material has been legally harvested and traded, taking into 

account the supply chain impacts that have occurred before the material is used on site. 

199 In the UK, it is not always easy to locally source all building materials, and this has led to the 

argument that responsible sourcing should be prioritised over locally sourcing materials in certain 

cases, where there are recognised certifications for products.  

200 Although the sustainable selection of a material should always be the primary decision, these 

sustainable sourcing frameworks and certifications can be of great use to reduce the carbon impact 

if more unsustainable materials are selected. Guidance and frameworks on local and responsible 

sourcing are found in Appendix 4. 

5.3.3 Recycled Content Of Total Construction Material 

201 A straightforward way to determine sustainable material selection is to achieve a certain percentage 

of recycled content. Best practice should achieve at least 25% and aim for 50%. The Council 

strongly encourages applicants to demonstrate their ambition for recycled content in line with this 

best practice.  

5.3.4 Global Warming Potential (GWP) of Materials 

202 The Global Warming Potential (GWP) of materials is an important consideration, particularly with 

operational materials such as insulation and refrigerants. GWP was developed to allow the different 

global warming impacts of different gases to be compared. 

203 The GWP of insulation in particular should be carefully considered, as benefits from insulation 

properties relating to energy efficiency could be outweighed by high embodied carbon impacts due 

to high GWP in some cases. 

204 The majority of closed-cell spray foams and rigid foam products have high GWPs (up to 3,400), 

particularly when compared to cellulose, sheep’s wool and straw-based materials (which can have 

negative GWP as some of these natural materials also sequester carbon as they are growing). 

REQUIREMENT:  

Application evidence for sustainable material selection 

for new residential dwellings, and non-residential floorspace over 100sqm  

In a Sustainability and Energy Statement, the Council requires that 

applicants will: 

✓ Demonstrate how the balance between local and responsible 

material sourcing has been addressed  

 

✓ Obtain certification for products where available (e.g. Aluminium 

Stewardship Initiative) 

 

✓ Ensure recycled content is at least 25% and aim for 50%  

73

https://www.sustainabilityexchange.ac.uk/files/wrap_benchmarks_for_target_setting.pdf


  
 

 

36 
 

QUICK LINKS WITHIN 
THIS DOCUMENT: 

Combined checklist Energy and carbon Climate adaptation Sustainable construction Biodiversity Sustainable transport 

       

5.3.5 Reducing Material Waste Through Efficient Procurement 

205 The construction industry is the leading contributor to the UK’s total waste, with construction, 

demolition and excavation accounting for 62% in 2018, according to DEFRA. This represents the 

significant impact the industry has and reveals the need for materials circularity to be improved. 

206 Construction waste involves the waste that arises during the construction of a development and 

surplus materials due to inaccurate estimations or over-ordering.  

207 Wastage rates from construction materials can be reduced where suppliers offer buyback schemes, 

which means that any excess materials or wastage can be taken back by the supplier. The supplier 

is then able to resell the product or efficiently recycle it, instead of the developer sending the 

material for waste disposal in landfill. This means that the resource is not lost, which can also result 

in financial savings for the developer if there are excess materials that would otherwise cost more 

due to disposal fees.  

208 Material efficiency plays an important role in reducing material wastage, as material 

mismanagement (e.g. purchasing more materials than required) will inevitably cause increased 

construction waste. An effective materials efficiency strategy must appropriately consider the impact 

of each material and ensure that exact amounts are specified, whilst specifying efficient designs to 

reduce the amount of material required in the first instance. 

5.3.6 Healthy Materials Selection 

209 Material selection is also highly relevant throughout the operation of the building to ensure the 

health of occupants is not heavily influenced by poor material selection.  

210 Volatile organic compounds (VOCs) are typically present from building materials, furnishings and 

paints. VOCs often have negative effects on occupant health, for example due to eye and 

respiratory irritation, and nausea. ‘Forever chemicals’ can also pose a danger to occupant health, 

which are commonly found in non-stick crockery, food packaging and waterproof clothing.  

211 All development should consider material selection to ensure the content of VOCs within buildings 

will be mitigated. The exception to this would be development rarely expected to be occupied by 

people or animals, such as certain infrastructure-related buildings. Special attention should be paid 

to this topic for development likely to have particularly sensitive occupants such as children, the 

elderly or those with pre-existing health conditions. 

5.4. Embodied Carbon and Life Cycle Analysis  
 

5.4.1 What is Embodied Carbon? 

212 Embodied carbon means emissions associated with the materials and construction process of a 

development, measured in kgCO2e. For example, carbon emissions associated with the energy use 

or manufacturing process of extracting and producing a product, transporting it to the site, 

assembling it into a building, both when the new building is created and when it is refurbished or 

maintained. Embodied carbon is usually measured against Gross Internal Area (GIA) 

(kilogrammes of carbon per m2), as defined under NRM 2 produced by RICS. In the RICS Code of 

Measuring Practice, the GIA is the area of a building measured to the internal face of the perimeter 

walls at each floor level.  

213 The industry standard method to account for a building’s embodied carbon is the RICS Whole Life 

Carbon Assessment for the Built Environment. This is based on the relevant British Standard 

BS/EN 15978. The RICS method defines the various different parts of the building that should be 

assessed, and divides the stages of a building’s life into several stages or ‘modules’: 

• A1 – A5: All stages up to completion of the building. This is also known as ‘upfront 

carbon’.  

• B1 – B5: The building’s in-use lifespan. (Sometimes also includes B6 and B7, which relate 

to operational energy use and operational water use respectively).  

• C1 – C4: End of life of the building and disposal of its waste materials.  

214 The largest contributor to embodied energy is through stages A1-A5. Carbon emitted through these 

stages occurs ‘today’ and therefore will certainly affect the local and national carbon budgets as 

previously noted in relation to the Climate Change Act and Paris Agreement.  

215 Heavy embodied carbon impacts tend to arise from: 

REQUIREMENT 

Application evidence for embodied carbon 

for new residential dwellings, and non-residential floorspace over 100sqm  

The Council requires that: 

✓ Applicants will demonstrate that embodied carbon of construction 

has been considered and reduced where possible in an Energy 

and Sustainability Statement 

The Council expects that: 

✓ Major development will complete an embodied carbon 

assessment for RICS stages A1 – A5 (or similar methodology)  

BEST PRACTICE 

• Aim for LETI or RIBA Climate Challenge embodied carbon targets 

• Follow guidance in the LETI Embodied Carbon Primer  

74

https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/uk-waste-data/uk-statistics-on-waste
https://www.rics.org/content/dam/ricsglobal/documents/standards/nrm_2_detailed_measurement_for_building_works_1st_edition_rics.pdf
https://www.rics.org/content/dam/ricsglobal/documents/standards/May_2015_Code_Of_Measuring_Practice_6th_Edition.pdf
https://www.rics.org/content/dam/ricsglobal/documents/standards/May_2015_Code_Of_Measuring_Practice_6th_Edition.pdf
https://www.rics.org/profession-standards/rics-standards-and-guidance/sector-standards/building-surveying-standards/whole-life-carbon-assessment-for-the-built-environment
https://www.rics.org/profession-standards/rics-standards-and-guidance/sector-standards/building-surveying-standards/whole-life-carbon-assessment-for-the-built-environment


  
 

 

37 
 

QUICK LINKS WITHIN 
THIS DOCUMENT: 

Combined checklist Energy and carbon Climate adaptation Sustainable construction Biodiversity Sustainable transport 

       

• Concrete and cement production 

• Steel production 

• Metal extraction and refinement (e.g. aluminium and copper) 

• Plastic and glass production 

• Transportation with long distances between source and site 

216 Material selection is of the utmost importance to reduce embodied carbon and should be considered 

at the earliest possible stage to ensure supply chain availability and integration into building design. 

Resources such as the Materials Pyramid can be particularly useful to understand the embodied 

carbon impact of particular materials and ensure sustainable material selection. All proposals should 

consider the use of such resources to appropriately account for embodied carbon, even if a full 

embodied carbon assessment is not required.  

5.4.2 Guidance on Embodied Carbon Assessments 

217 Throughout the design process, principles should be set and retained to address operational and 

embodied carbon emissions simultaneously. Such principles could consist of those set out in the 

Greater London Authority Whole Life-Cycle Carbon Assessments guidance (likely to be most 

relevant to major developments), which are noted below: 

• Reusing and retrofitting existing built structures  

• Utilising repurposed or recycled materials  

• Choosing low-carbon materials (e.g. timber, lime or low-carbon production) 

• Fabric first approach to holistically reduce embodied and operational carbon  

• Low-carbon operational water use  

• Design for future deconstruction and reuse   

• Design an efficient building shape and form  

• Incorporate carbon sequestering materials  

• Design for durability and flexibility  

• Address embodied and operational carbon reductions together  

• Determine expected building lifespan  

• Source materials locally 

• Minimise waste  

• Efficient and lightweight construction  

• Follow circular economy principles 

 

Embodied Carbon Process Emissions Source 

Raw material extraction 
Extraction of raw materials uses energy and commonly result in 
carbon dioxide emissions, particularly for timber, metals and 
minerals. Mining and refinement add to emissions. 

Manufacturing and processing 
CO2 produced during this process often requires heavy 
machinery that operates at high temperatures and subsequently 
emit large quantities of CO2. 

Transportation 
Material transportation from source to construction sites can 
often involve long distances, which is often through carbon 
intensive transport methods. 

Construction and assembly 
The majority of these emissions arise from on-site energy use 
from machinery to assemble the building. 

Maintenance and operation 
In-use maintenance of structures and systems, involving 
consumption for heating, lighting and cooling. 

Demolition and disposal 

Embodied carbon emissions are heightened throughout this 
process if building materials are simply demolished, incinerated, 
or placed in landfill to decompose. Reuse of materials should be 
prioritised. 

 

218 To achieve ‘high quality and sustainable design’, schemes should demonstrate how embodied 

carbon reductions have been pursued at the design stage. Reduction measures should be 

specifically considered according to the setting and type of development, but the principles and 

measures in the list above should be used as a starting point to develop a detailed strategy. 

219 Applicants are encouraged to communicate with the Council at the pre-application stage to discuss 

how embodied carbon reductions are being addressed. An initial embodied carbon assessment at 

an early stage would be useful to undertake to gain an initial understanding of where embodied 

carbon reductions could be made, prior to increased certainty at the detailed design stage. 

Figure 6: The Construction Materials Pyramid. CINARK,. https://www.materialepyramiden.dk/ 

75

https://www.materialepyramiden.dk/
https://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/lpg_-_wlca_guidance.pdf


  
 

 

38 
 

QUICK LINKS WITHIN 
THIS DOCUMENT: 

Combined checklist Energy and carbon Climate adaptation Sustainable construction Biodiversity Sustainable transport 

       

Procurement strategies should be set at an early stage alongside the initial identification of 

reduction opportunities.  

220 Technical guidance on how to complete embodied carbon assessments, and a range of 

benchmarks figures to aim for within this assessment, are found in Appendix 7: Technical .  

5.4.3 What if I Can’t Do Calculations? 

221 It is acceptable that at a smaller scale or where not enough detail is available on designs, that 

assumptions are used for calculations or ‘typical’ estimations used instead. For example, LETI 

small housing ‘Architype’ contains a suggested embodied carbon target of <500 kgCO2/m2 or 

a 40% reduction in embodied carbon (see image on the right for LETI’s typical ‘small scale 

housing’ embodied carbon breakdown).  

222 LETI also provides targets for offices, schools and medium-large scale housing (in the Embodied 

Carbon Primer), however it is recommended that applicants refer to above guidance for these 

building archetypes. 

223 Please also refer to Appendix 3: ‘How to measure embodied carbon’ and Appendix 4: ‘LCA Tools’ 

from the LETI Embodied Carbon Primer. Appendix 6 ‘Rules of thumb’ provides further useful 

guidance for key building components (e.g. how to use fewer materials, how to reduce waste, 

adaptability, disassembly, and case studies), these being substructure, superstructure, façade, 

building services, internal finishes, fixtures & fittings, the site, and external works. 

224 As an alternative to embodied carbon calculations (for example this could be acceptable in non-

major developments), basic actions and narrative that could be demonstrated are:  

• Reused materials 

• Cement replacement, cement products with clinker replacement, or less cement 

• Using recycled aggregate 

• Using renewable materials e.g. certified sustainably sourced timber or other plant-

based materials 

• Sourcing steel from producers that use electric arc furnaces rather than coal-fired  

• Replacing high-carbon materials with lower-carbon ones (see Materials Pyramid) 

• Using products with EPD or from the BRE Green Guide to Specification 

225 Following existing established processes and the principles set out in BREEAM and HQM credits for 

materials and waste, even if formal certification is not sought, can help project teams and Planning 

Officers/Councillors to recognise efforts that have been made and where progress has been made. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

5.5. Useful External Guidance on Sustainable Materials and Construction 

• LETI Embodied Carbon Primer (December 2020) 

(Please note that the Embodied Carbon Primer includes some very useful guidance within the 

Appendices, including how to define the design and construction team scopes for a whole life 

carbon assessment; how to measure embodied carbon; LCA tools; guidance for low carbon 

procurement priorities; rules of thumb; designing for manufacture and assembly. 

• LETI Climate Emergency Design Guide (2020) 

• LETI Retrofit Guide 

• RICS Whole Life Carbon Assessment for the Built Environment (2017) 

• CINARK Construction Materials Pyramid 

• BRE Green Guide to Specification 

• BRE Green Book Live 

• BRE Pre-Redevelopment Audit Code of Practice  

• IStruct - How to calculate embodied carbon / IStruct - The Structural Carbon Tool Version 2 

• RBWM Waste Management Advice Note 

Figure 7: Embodied carbon elemental breakdown (LETI Embodied Carbon Primer) 

76

http://www.aed.consulting/public/climate/LETI%20Embodied%20Carbon%20Primer.pdf
http://www.aed.consulting/public/climate/LETI%20Embodied%20Carbon%20Primer.pdf
http://www.aed.consulting/public/climate/LETI%20Embodied%20Carbon%20Primer.pdf
https://www.materialepyramiden.dk/
https://tools.bregroup.com/greenguide/podpage.jsp?id=2126
http://www.aed.consulting/public/climate/LETI%20Embodied%20Carbon%20Primer.pdf
https://www.leti.uk/_files/ugd/252d09_3b0f2acf2bb24c019f5ed9173fc5d9f4.pdf
https://www.leti.uk/_files/ugd/252d09_c71428bafc3d42fbac34f9ad0cd6262b.pdf
https://www.rics.org/content/dam/ricsglobal/documents/standards/whole_life_carbon_assessment_for_the_built_environment_1st_edition_rics.pdf
https://vandkunsten.com/en/news/material-pyramid
https://tools.bregroup.com/greenguide/podpage.jsp?id=2126
https://tools.bregroup.com/greenguide/podpage.jsp?id=2126
https://www.greenbooklive.com/
https://condemwaste.org/wp-content/uploads/2018/10/Code-of-Practice-Pre-redevelopment-audit-July-17-V1.pdf
https://www.istructe.org/resources/guidance/how-to-calculate-embodied-carbon/
https://www.istructe.org/resources/guidance/the-structural-carbon-tool/?gclid=CjwKCAjwu4WoBhBkEiwAojNdXkQECllSDbvAjnUoIgmUuTSk5pyFWbfCNm_o3RWfBS98HEb7XIgB9RoC4IcQAvD_BwE
https://www.rbwm.gov.uk/media/1541/download/
http://www.aed.consulting/public/climate/LETI%20Embodied%20Carbon%20Primer.pdf


 

39 
 

QUICK LINKS WITHIN 
THIS DOCUMENT: 

Combined checklist Energy and carbon Climate adaptation Sustainable construction Biodiversity Sustainable transport 

6. Biodiversity 

6.1. Biodiversity Context 

226 Biodiversity means the diversity of all life: animals, plants, fungi, microbes and genetic 

variety. Species richness (number of different species) and abundance (amount of each 

type of species) are both key to the biodiversity value of a place.  

227 Biodiversity is vital to sustainability, as varied species and habitats fill a wide range of 

essential roles and niches which enable each other to thrive. The more varied species 

present, the wider the range of resources they can use and strengths they bring. A less 

biodiverse ecosystem tends to be less resilient against shocks such as drought, heat, 

disease, or pests – risks that are growing with climate change. Biodiversity thus 

represents the ‘toolkit’ our ecosystem has to adapt to climate change and other shocks.  

228 This makes biodiversity crucial not just for the intrinsic value of nature, but also for the 

functioning of human systems. For example, if a disease wipes out a certain species of 

insect that normally pollinates our food crops, we will need other species to step in and 

play that role. Or if birds protect our crops from pests, we must ensure their survival.  

229 The variety of life on earth and in the local area provides a wide range of ecosystem 

services ranging from food, biofuels and oxygen to carbon sequestration, microclimate 

regulation via shade and humidity, managing flood and erosion, creating soil from 

waste, and providing the green spaces we need for recreation and mental health. These 

functions depend on many different species acting in symbiosis.  

230 Yet, across the world and the UK, humanity has been altering ecosystems, reducing the 

diversity of our crops and livestock, and reducing the area where wildlife can thrive. 

75% of the world’s land has now been significantly altered by human activityxviii and 75% 

of food comes from only 12 plants and 5 animal speciesxix.  

231 In the UKxx, 41% of monitored species are in decline (since 1970, species underwent an 

average 13% decline in abundance and 5% decline in distribution). Key causes are 

intensified agriculture, climate change, and increasing built use of land. Planning 

proposals and decisions clearly have a role to play in reversing this decline.  

 

6.1.1 National Biodiversity Commitments  

232 The Climate Change Act 2008 (amended 2019) requires the Government to enact 

legislation to limit carbon emissions to net zero by 2050. This requires both mitigation 

through the reduction of carbon emissions as discussed earlier, and through adaptation 

measures which includes reference to nature recovery and biodiversity.  

233 The Environment Act 2021 is the national legislative framework for environmental 

protection and covers the protection of nature and biodiversity, water and air quality and 

waste. The Act mandates a general duty to conserve and enhance biodiversity.  

234 The Environment Act 2021 requires that developments deliver a 10% biodiversity net 

gain, which would be secured for a minimum of 30 years. Alongside the mandated 10% 

biodiversity net gain enshrined in the Act, further measures are included to protect and 

enhance the natural environment including Local Nature Recovery Strategies.   

235 The Environmental Targets (Biodiversity) (England) Regulations 2023 and The 

Environmental Targets (Woodland and Trees Outside Woodland) (England) Regulations 

2023 set targets to halt the decline in species populations and boost nature recovery by 

increasing tree cover and woodlands. Furthermore, the Government’s Environmental 

Implementation Plan (January 2023) also provides interim targets for the creation of 

habitats outside of protected sites and for tree canopy and woodland cover.  

236 The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) Chapter 15 requires planning policy 

and decisions to conserve and enhance the natural environment and protect statutory 

designated habitats (e.g. Sites of Special Scientific Interest). This duty will be 

strengthened via implementation of the Environment Act 2021 and future versions of 

national planning policy.  

6.1.2 Local Biodiversity Context and Commitments 

237 The Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead is home to a range of different types of 

habitats and species. Over 80% of the borough is designated Green Beltxxi, and nearly 

10% of the borough is covered by an ecological designationxxii. 

238 The Local Plan (2022) was supported by RBWM’s Green and Blue Infrastructure Study 

(2019) which provides useful baseline mapping of key landscape features, many of 

which have importance for biodiversity such as hydrology, woodland, parks and 

gardens, and sites designated for biodiversity protection.  

239 RBWM Environment and Climate Strategy 2020-25xxiii also prioritises biodiversity. 

One of four strategic themes, the ‘natural environment’ theme’s aim is to achieve 

“Cleaner air, higher water quality and increased biodiversity”. It has three objectives: 

• “Protect and enhance our natural environment”, 

• “Green our towns and urban areas”, and 

• “Increase awareness of biodiversity”. 

240 To deliver these objectives, the RBWM Environment and Climate Strategy commits the 

Council to make supplementary planning guidance to support delivery of biodiversity net 

gain, and extension and enhancement of green and blue infrastructure to support Local 

Plan policies. This SPD is part of that commitment. Also, as per the Environment Act the 

Council will develop a Local Nature Recovery Strategy and Nature Recovery Network, 

and via the Biodiversity Action Plan will target habitats for conservation / enhancement.  

241 The Environment and Climate Strategy also confirms other ways the Council will pursue 

its goals, of which the most relevant to biodiversity in development are:   

• Use planning policy and decisions to bring forward urban green infrastructure 

• Seek to realise the natural environment’s ability to sequester carbon dioxide 

through tree planting, tree management and soil preservation 

77



  
 

 

40 
 

QUICK LINKS WITHIN 
THIS DOCUMENT: 

Combined checklist Energy and carbon Climate adaptation Sustainable construction Biodiversity Sustainable transport 

       

• Use the knowledge and passion in local community nature organisations to help 

raise awareness and tackle biodiversity loss 

• Fund the Strategy’s implementation partly by developer contributions to be secured 

through planning (Section 106 and Community Infrastructure Levy).  

242 RBWM Biodiversity Action Plan (BAP)xxiv has been developed to help deliver on 

commitments made in the Environment & Climate Strategy. Adopted in December 2022, 

the BAP was developed by the Council in 2022 in collaboration with the regional Wildlife 

Trust, other local conservation groups, and the Council’s Rural Forum.  

243 The BAP establishes priorities for protecting and enhancing biodiversity within the 

borough. It sets a baseline, objectives and targets within a five-year period. It covers the 

period 2022 – 2026, but also shares longer-term targets with other bodies, e.g. “30% of 

land for nature by 2030” (set by central government and endorsed by BBOWT).  

244 The BAP also echoes RBWM’s aforementioned Environment & Climate Strategy with its 

intent to increase carbon sequestration via major projects affecting the natural 

environment, noting that funding will be sought for this, which may include payments 

from developers via Section 106 (S106) or the Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL).  

245 The BAP provides the following key information, which should be taken into account in 

applicants’ response to the requirements of Policy NR2: 

• List the designated nature conservation sites in the local area including Ramsar 

sites, SACs, SPAs, SSSIs, LNRs and LWS. No maps are contained within the BAP 

itself, but one has been created for this SPD (see map at Appendix 8: Summary of 

RBWM Biodiversity Action Plan ). 

• Baselines for the habitat types most important within the borough: Woodland, 

grassland, cultivated or disturbed land, and water. For each, this baseline notes the 

prevalence, subtypes, condition, species, threats, and conservation priorities.  

• A set of six ‘Habitat Action Plans’ (HAPs): Woodland, Grassland, Waterways, 

Standing Water, Urban, and Farmland. Each of these contains actions structured 

by the three strands that run throughout the BAP: 1. Data collection, 2. Actions for 

direct benefit to biodiversity, and 3. actions on engagement or partnerships. 

• Case studies for each type of identified key habitat exemplifying the type of 

interventions that can make positive change. 

• Notes that ‘Biodiversity Opportunity Areas’ (BOA) have been mapped 

separately. These are not designations that constrain activities but denote where 

conservation efforts can be most effective. 

• A set of quantitative and qualitative objectives with specific target years, 

some of which have relevance to development applications.  

246 The Biodiversity Opportunity Areas referred to by the BAP are mapped by the 

Thames Valley Environmental Records Centre on a Berkshire-wide level. The BAP itself 

does not provide these maps but they are available from the TVERC website. See also 

Appendix 8: Summary of RBWM Biodiversity Action Plan  of this SPD. 

247 Local habitat mapping by conservation volunteer groups is also available and may be 

helpful for developers to refer to.  

• For example, the Wild Maidenhead Phase 1 Habitat Survey provides more 

granular detail on specific sites and species in Maidenhead. This survey is useful to 

understand specific wildlife species that are present and need interventions, some 

of which could be delivered with development. The full report comes with helpful 

mapping, reproduced at Appendix 8: Summary of RBWM Biodiversity Action Plan  

of this SPD.  

• Other ‘wilds’ groups are also producing mapping; see ‘external guidance’ at the end 

of this chapter. 

248 PLEASE NOTE: All of the above are outlined more fully in Appendix 8: Summary of 

RBWM Biodiversity Action Plan  of this SPD. This Appendix is designed to help 

developers navigate the content of the BAP, BOA mapping, other relevant local habitat 

mapping and local conservation priorities that should be taken into account in the 

preparation of development proposals. It does this by giving a more detailed snapshot 

of the key priorities for different types of habitat and location, including with visual maps 

that are not provided within the BAP itself.   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

78

https://rbwmtogether.rbwm.gov.uk/22166/widgets/63702/documents/38455
https://rbwmtogether.rbwm.gov.uk/22166/widgets/63702/documents/38456
https://rbwmtogether.rbwm.gov.uk/22166/widgets/63702/documents/38460
https://rbwmtogether.rbwm.gov.uk/22166/widgets/63702/documents/38459
https://rbwmtogether.rbwm.gov.uk/22166/widgets/63702/documents/38461


 

41 
 

QUICK LINKS WITHIN 
THIS DOCUMENT: 

Combined checklist Energy and carbon Climate adaptation Sustainable construction Biodiversity Sustainable transport 

This section outlines local planning policy which relates to Biodiversity to assist applicants with complying with the relevant policies. 

Local Plan Policy Applicable to Relevant Requirements  

SP2 Climate Change  All scales of development.  Applications should demonstrate that the development has been designed to:  

• Utilise and include green and blue infrastructure to maximise resistance and resilience to climate change 

Outline, Full, Reserved Matters, Householder, Section 73, Householder 
and Listed Building Consent 

QP1 Sustainability and 
Placemaking Change 

Larger developments: 10 or more residential units or 1,000 sq. m of floorspace 
or 1 ha in area) 

Large developments are expected to:  

• Provide attractive public spaces 

• Create places that foster healthy lifestyles  

• Foster biodiversity and enhancement of green infrastructure  Outline, Full, Reserved Matters and Section 73 

QP2 Green and Blue 
Infrastructure  

All new build development  Applications should demonstrate that their proposals fulfil the following:  

• Green and blue infrastructure to maintain, enhance and enlarge the borough’s existing green and blue infrastructure 

• Incorporation of green and blue infrastructure on ground and upper levels 

• Provision of, or improvement of blue infrastructure 
Outline, Full, Reserved Matters and Section 73 

QP3 Character and Design 
of New Development 

All new build development Applications should demonstrate:  

• Protection of trees and vegetation 

• Integration of comprehensive blue and green infrastructure  Full, Reserved Matters, Householder, Section 73, Householder and 
Listed Building Consent 

NR2 Nature Conservation 
and Biodiversity  

All developments Applications should demonstrate that:  

• Proposals result in a net gain for biodiversity (using the appropriate metric) 

• Designated sites of international and national importance, will be maintained, protected and enhanced. 

• Protected species and habitats will be safeguarded from harm or loss and should be enhanced where possible. 

• Proposals maintain, protect and enhance existing biodiversity 

• Proposals avoid impacts on habitats and species of principle importance 

• Proposals either individually or cumulatively do not have a detrimental impact on sites of local importance,  

• Proposals do not compromise the implementation of national, regional or local biodiversity action plans  

• The mitigation hierarchy has been employed to avoid, mitigate and as the last report compensate for adverse biodiversity 
impacts  

• Proposals take the opportunity to enhance connectivity to other habitats. Applications should be accompanied by an appropriate 
level of ecological reporting  

Full, Outline, Reserved Matters, Householder, Section 73, Householder 
and Listed Building Consent 

NR3 Trees, Woodlands and 
Hedgerows 

All developments Applications should demonstrate:  

• Protection of trees 
 Full, Outline, Reserved Matters, Householder, Section 73 

IF1 Infrastructure and 
Developer Contributions 

All development  
Except: householder and development >100sqm 

Applications should:   

• Deliver infrastructure that supports the overall spatial strategy of the borough through financial contributions or on site provision.  

Outline, Full, Reserved Matters and Section 73  

IF4 Open Space Large residential development of 10 or more dwellings Applications should:  

• Provide new open space in accordance with Local Plan standards 

Outline, Full, Reserved Matters and Section 73 

EP3 Artificial Light Pollution All developments Applications should:  

• seek to avoid generating artificial light pollution where possible and development proposals for new outdoor lighting schemes 
that are likely to have a detrimental impact on biodiversity 

 
Full, Outline, Reserved Matters, Householder, Section 73 

79



  
 

 

42 
 

QUICK LINKS WITHIN 
THIS DOCUMENT: 

Combined checklist Energy and carbon Climate adaptation Sustainable construction Biodiversity Sustainable transport 

       

REQUIREMENT 

Applicability for different applications: Biodiversity net gain ≥10% 

 

  New development (excluding exemptions) 

  Proposed use: all 

  Application types: All (Full, outline, reserved matters, S73, 

Householder) 

 Proposal size threshold: All 

REQUIREMENT 

Application evidence for Biodiversity Net Gain 

✓ Biodiversity net gain percentage as per DEFRA metric (conducted 

by ‘competent person’), with calculations attached (with transparent 

separate treatment of ‘irreplaceable habitat’) and evidence of how 

this is secured for 30 years 

✓ Designs showing on-site habitat (area, type and condition) pre-

development and proposed post-development  

✓ Narrative demonstrating unavoidability of any losses or offsetting, 

where proposed. Offsetting should be within the borough.  

 Local plan policy links 

6.2. Biodiversity Net Gain and Building-Level Considerations  
 

6.2.1 Biodiversity Net Gain (BNG)  

249 Biodiversity net gain expresses the balance between habitat loss and habitat creation before and 

after development. A minimum 10% net gain is required in all development (excluding 

exemptions) by the Environment Act 2021. This supports net gain required by plan Policy NR2.   

250 The DEFRA Biodiversity Metric is the nationally recognised tool by which the minimum 10% 

biodiversity net gain requirement of the Environment Act 2021 will be measured. Applicants should 

use the current version available at the time of making a planning application. For more detail on 

how it works, please see SPD Appendix 9: Using the DEFRA Metric for Biodiversity Net Gain. 

251 The DEFRA metric compares the pre-development and post-development presence of different 

types of planted habitat area and their condition. Net gain is achieved on site by expanding habitat 

area, creating more valuable habitat types, or improving the condition of existing habitat.  

252 The amount, type and quality of habitat using the DEFRA metric must be assessed by a 

‘competent person’. Non-planted features (e.g. bird boxes) do not count in the DEFRA 4.0 

metric.  

253 As per the national approach, negative impacts to ‘irreplaceable habitats’ cannot be compensated 

with offsetting. Proposals should be designed not to harm them. Any such harm must be treated 

separately from the main BNG metric, but enhancements to them can count towards the net gain.  

• Until Government legislates to define irreplaceable habitat, the Council will use the NPPF 

definition. As of the NPPF 2023 these are: ancient woodland, ancient and veteran trees, 

blanket bog, limestone pavement, sand dunes, salt marsh and lowland fen.  

254 RBWM will afford positive weight to proposals that exceed the minimum 10% on site, taking 

into account the scope for improvement from the pre-development site. Sites with very little pre-

existing greenery will be able to achieve a much higher net gain, potentially several hundred %.   

255 Applicants must offset any deficit as a last resort where the minimum 10% net gain cannot be 

achieved on site. Biodiversity offset credits are created for sale by land managers by creating or 

enhancing habitat on other land. These are expected to become regulated and mediated via 

Government schemes (Natural England), but meanwhile can be accessed via brokers.   

• Any offsetting should always be within the borough and as close to site as possible.  

• The Council is in the process of setting up a scheme to make this easier. 

Supplementary Planning Guidance:  

This SPD supplements the Borough Planning Obligations and Development Contributions SPD 

80



  
 

 

43 
 

QUICK LINKS WITHIN 
THIS DOCUMENT: 

Combined checklist Energy and carbon Climate adaptation Sustainable construction Biodiversity Sustainable transport 

       

256 The BNG metric can be used for full and reserved matters applications and also for outline 

applications on an indicative and precautionary basis. Government confirms that for outline 

applications or development permitted in phases, there will be a requirement to show how BNG 

will be achieved across the whole site on a phase-by-phase basis and it should be subject to a 

condition for approval of a biodiversity gain plan prior to each phase commencementxxv.  

257 Applicants for all types and sizes of development, through their application documents, will be 

required to provide: 

• The baseline ecological conditions of the site, as demonstrated through an ecological 

report (Preliminary Ecological Appraisal)  

• Illustrate the type and condition of habitat being delivered or enhanced by the 

development, via sufficiently labelled site or landscape plans 

• Biodiversity net gain calculation showing that at least 10% net gain will be met for the 

proposed development firstly through on-site measures, calculated through the most up to 

date version of DEFRA’s Biodiversity Metric with confirmation that this was performed by a 

suitably competent person as per the User Guide to the DEFRA Biodiversity Metric  

• Measures of how the proposed habitats will be secured for 30 years or more (detailed 

management measures may be subject to a planning condition) 

• Where there are on-site losses and/or where biodiversity offsetting is required to meet 

the 10% net gain, the applicant is required to confirm that the offsetting will be delivered 

within the borough and demonstrate why this was necessary with reference to the 

specific characteristics of the development site (for an indication of the explanation expected, 

see commentary alongside Error! Reference source not found.) and confirm that offsetting 

credits have not been used to ‘compensate’ any loss of irreplaceable habitat. 

6.2.2 Habitat Protection and Creation  

258 Retention of existing habitat is usually more beneficial than destroying and recreating it, due to the 

time lag in re-establishing the habitat and its community of species. As per Policy NR2, proposals 

should include ecological reports (per BS42020), alternative sites considered, and mitigation.  

259 The Council expects applicants to identify how their site relates to habitats and habitat 

enhancement opportunities designated in the BAP, or any other ecological designation applicable 

to the site to ensure that appropriate measures for the conservation and enhancements of the 

borough’s habitats may best be best achieved in a holistic manner.  

260 Steps that applicants should take in the pursuit of habitat protection should include: 

• Check if the site overlaps with or is near any protected sites or Biodiversity Opportunity 

Areas (see Appendix 8: Summary of RBWM Biodiversity Action Plan  and resource links). 

Development on protected sites will not generally be considered appropriate.  

i. Development near protected sites may affect the protected site even without overlap. 

For example, consider increased footfall (people or dogs), light pollution, changes to 

water flows, air pollution, severance from wildlife corridors, predation of wildlife 

(domestic cats) or fertiliser/pesticide runoff.  

Enhance/expand 
habitat

Avoid losses

Minimise loss, and 
restore lost habitat 
or compensate on-

site

Offset 

the deficit

The biodiversity mitigation hierarchy 

 
Most 

preferable 

Least 

preferable 

If your scheme involves loss and/or offsetting, for this to be accepted you should demonstrate 

how you have striven to firstly pursue on-site mitigation, for example by:   

• Showing how you iterated your design to arrange your built features in ways to avoid loss 

and make room for more habitat  

• Demonstrating any constraints that prevented the inclusion of more high-value habitat 

creation on site and explain how you have considered and ruled out space-saving 

measures such as green roofs, green walls, hedges, and so on.  

• This information should be given in your design statement and signposted in the relevant 

part of this SPD’s checklist. 

Central Government has committed to produce further guidance on how to demonstrate the 

need for biodiversity offset credits.  Please refer to this when it becomes available.  

Figure 8: The Biodiversity Mitigation Hierarchy. 

81

https://knowledge.bsigroup.com/products/biodiversity-code-of-practice-for-planning-and-development/standard


  
 

 

44 
 

QUICK LINKS WITHIN 
THIS DOCUMENT: 

Combined checklist Energy and carbon Climate adaptation Sustainable construction Biodiversity Sustainable transport 

       

ii. Development within a certain distance of a protected site is required to conduct special 

assessments and may need to take special mitigation measures – e.g. providing 

alternative green space to reduce the likelihood of increased footfall to the protected 

site (‘Suitable Accessible Natural Greenspace’). Requirements vary by the distance 

from the protected site (‘impact risk zones’) and the size and type of development. 

Guidance on impact risk zones is available from DEFRA. Zones can be viewed by: 

1. Using GIS software to view DEFRA shapefiles alongside that guidance, or  

2. DEFRA Magic Map (no special software needed) – select ‘Designations’ > 

‘Land-based’ > ‘Statutory’ > ‘SSSI Impact Risk Zones’ and zoom to 1km scale.   

• Establish whether your site contains any other valuable habitats that are not yet 

protected by a designation, or any notable species in need of protection, considering: 

i. ‘Irreplaceable habitats’ as per NPPF or emerging government definition. The Council 

expects development to be laid out to avoid any loss or harm to these habitats.  

ii. ‘Priority Habitats’: Habitat types defined by the Natural Environment and Rural 

Communities Act (2006) Section 41. The Council expects development to be located to 

minimise the loss or impact to priority habitats. Indicative priority habitat maps can be 

seen at DEFRA Magic Map but must be verified by on-site ecologist surveys.  

iii. Threats to key habitats or species noted in BAP baseline or objectives (as 

outlined in Appendix 8: Summary of RBWM Biodiversity Action Plan ) 

iv. Applicants must check for any Tree Preservation Orders (TPO) in place. Works to 

TPO trees without prior permission is illegal, similarly for tress protected under 

Conservation Area controls. The Council expects that development will be laid out to 

avoid removal of any TPO trees, important trees, Ancient Trees or Veteran Trees, 

unless adequate justification and mitigation is provided. An arboriculturist can identify 

these. 

1. Existing mature trees and hedgerows support far more wildlife than young 

replacements. Mature trees and hedgerows can strongly support the identity, 

heritage, character and thus the desirability of a development, so should be 

treated as an opportunity rather than a constraint (e.g. retained hedgerows can 

form a framework for spatial layout). Where existing trees may be impacted by 

construction, they should be assessed by an arboriculturist as per BS 5837. 

2. Where important trees are retained, applicants are encouraged to outline 

protection measures against damage in construction (including roots). An 

arboriculturist can devise suitable actions. Best practice is laid out in BS 5837. If 

the site has significant or extensive trees, it may be appropriate to provide a full 

arboricultural method statement following BS5837.  

v. The most recent records of notable or vulnerable species presence in specific 

locations are available from TVERC. Ecological reports should include such 

information. If such species are present on site or nearby, or if the site contains types 

of habitat likely to host these (especially bats and birds), then the applicant should 

demonstrate that surveys have been conducted at the appropriate times of day/year 

REQUIREMENT 

Applicability for different applications: Checking for impacts to any 

designated protected site (SSSI, SPI, SAC, Ramsar, NNR, LNR), TPO 

tree or irreplaceable habitat, and demonstrating mitigation of impact 

  New development and refurbishment of existing 

  Proposed use: all 

   Type: All (Full, outline, reserved matters, phased) 

  Proposal size threshold: All 

82

https://www.data.gov.uk/dataset/5ae2af0c-1363-4d40-9d1a-e5a1381449f8/sssi-impact-risk-zones-england
https://magic.defra.gov.uk/magicmap.aspx
https://knowledge.bsigroup.com/products/trees-in-relation-to-design-demolition-and-construction-recommendations/standard
https://knowledge.bsigroup.com/products/trees-in-relation-to-design-demolition-and-construction-recommendations/standard
https://www.tverc.org/cms/content/tverc-data


  
 

 

45 
 

QUICK LINKS WITHIN 
THIS DOCUMENT: 

Combined checklist Energy and carbon Climate adaptation Sustainable construction Biodiversity Sustainable transport 

       

and mitigation measures proposed. As well as designs, these measures may need to 

include a construction schedule timed to avoid disturbance to nesting birds and bats.   

83



  
 

 

46 
 

QUICK LINKS WITHIN 
THIS DOCUMENT: 

Combined checklist Energy and carbon Climate adaptation Sustainable construction Biodiversity Sustainable transport 

       

BEST PRACTICE 

Recommended contextual landscape design measures for biodiversity 

   20% Biodiversity Net Gain 

  

Fill the missing link between existing nearby habitats and 

Biodiversity Opportunity Areas 

    

A diverse patchwork of complementary habitats and edges 

  

Planting that provides nectar, pollen or fruit across the year 

 

   Access to water for wildlife 

 

  

Maintain dark skies 

 

 

 

 

 

261 Applicants will need to enhance or create new habitats as part of efforts to achieve the required 

≥10% Biodiversity Net Gain, as well as protecting existing habitat. Applications should deliver 

where possible the following best practices, and positive weight will be afforded where more of 

the practices are fulfilled: 

• Creating wildlife corridors between existing habitats on or off site. Your proposal should 

show how you have considered where your site sits in relation to the wider network of 

protected sites and Biodiversity Opportunity Areas (see mapping, Appendix 8: Summary of 

RBWM Biodiversity Action Plan ) and design your proposal to extend these or create 

stepping stones to help wildlife move between those safe havens. Larger sites are likely to 

have more scope for beneficial impact in this respect.  

• Creating a diversity of habitat on sites to support a diversity of species: a patchwork of 

diverse and complementary habitats often support a wider array of species by providing a 

wider array of niches that species can occupy. ‘Edge’ areas such as woodland edge, pond 

edge or river margin often exemplify this pattern. Certain different habitats can complement 

each-others’ habitat value, such as grass meadows alongside woodland or hedgerowxxvi, or 

trees alongside waterwaysxxvii,xxviii.  

• Planting and management measures specifically chosen to support local wildlife 

species or habitats, especially those known to be present in or near your site: TVERC’s 

data search service contains the most up to date records of species present, and the RBWM 

Biodiversity Action Plan describes measures desirable for specific habitat types including 

woodland, grassland, waterways, standing water, and (in future) farmland and particularly 

notable species associated with them. Where it is not known what species may be able to 

benefit your site, it is generally beneficial to include a range of landscape features that 

provide:  

i. Nectar, pollen or fruit across as wide a period of the year as possible;  

ii. Planting that can be maintained with minimal disturbance, especially wildflower 

meadows which only need to be cut once or twice a year (thus also saving 

maintenance costs as well as being nectar-rich)  

iii. Wildlife access to water  

iv. Maintenance of ‘dark’ areas at night time, i.e. avoiding light pollution to habitats.  

• Optimal tree and plant selection: It is important that applicants consider the most 

appropriate planting in recognition of the site’s characteristics and conditions, taking into 

consideration access to water, sunlight, other environmental factors, and the selected plant’s 

anticipated size and shape at maturity and its maintenance needs. Please note that although 

woodland creation is generally positive, it is not always appropriate: trees should not be 

planted on peaty soils over 50cm deep or on organic soils under 50cmxxix. 

• Well-designed green roofs or walls: These can provide precious habitat on sites where 

space is tight. Applicants may use these to fulfil Policy QP2(2) requirement for all forms of 

development in intensifying urban areas to provide “green and blue infrastructure at both 

ground floor and upper levels”, as well as towards the required 10% biodiversity net gain.   

84

https://www.tverc.org/cms/content/tverc-data
https://www.tverc.org/cms/content/tverc-data
https://rbwmtogether.rbwm.gov.uk/biodiversity-action-plan-2
https://rbwmtogether.rbwm.gov.uk/biodiversity-action-plan-2


  
 

 

47 
 

QUICK LINKS WITHIN 
THIS DOCUMENT: 

Combined checklist Energy and carbon Climate adaptation Sustainable construction Biodiversity Sustainable transport 

       

BEST PRACTICE 

Recommended measures for exemplary green space design to 

balance benefits between people and wildlife  

   Design green roofs with enough substrate to support 

invertebrates and ground-nesting birds 

 Design green walls & roofs to avoid maintenance challenges, 

e.g. ensure climbers won’t grow into ventilation exhausts 

 Native planting to feed native wildlife – or non-natives that 

also do this or offer resistance to disease or drought 

 Low maintenance for reduced wildlife disturbance and cost 

 Some wildlife refuges that gently deter disturbance by people 

and pets, e.g. brambles, permeable fences, wet ditches 

 

  

i. Green roofs can be designed for low maintenance and can also be carefully combined 

with solar panels (‘biosolar roofs’xxx) helping you to meet expectations for both 

Biodiversity Net Gain and carbon reductions.  

ii. Where green walls are proposed, the applicant is expected to demonstrate how these 

have been designed to avoid maintenance challenges.  

iii. Poorly designed green roofs may not provide wildlife benefits; some studies find they 

attract ground-nesting birds but can fail to provide water and food for chick survival. 

Applicants should provide sufficient detail on planting species and build-up. 

iv. Links to several free resources on optimal green roof design (for biodiversity and other 

considerations) are given at the end of this chapter.  

• Use of native species wherever possible: Native plant species are more likely to have 

symbiotic relationships with our native wildlife and therefore support biodiversity recovery. 

Sourcing plants grown in the UK also reduces the risk of bringing in invasive pests and 

pathogens. Proposals are encouraged to allow natural dynamics, such as natural 

regeneration to occur, particularly where there is an appropriate native seed source nearby 

(e.g. ancient woodland or important hedgerows). However, there are some non-native 

species that can provide benefits such as drought tolerance, resistance to invasive diseases 

such as Dutch Elm disease, or filling a seasonal gap where native plants may not provide 

food for wildlife. Where any non-native planting species are proposed, proposals are 

encouraged to include narrative on the unique biodiversity or climate adaptation benefits of 

these.  

262 High-quality green and blue infrastructure (as sought by Policies QP1, QP2 and QP3) ideally 

means multi-functional: providing a range of benefits to people and wildlife. See Chapter 4 

(Climate Adaptation) for guidance on designing for benefits such as mitigation of flood or heat. 

Green features can also aid mental wellbeing (a phenomenon named ‘biophilia’). Views onto green 

space help, but the effect is greater if people can engage fully e.g. via exercise, play, or gardening.  

263 Wildlife benefits from refuges free from disturbance by people or pets. Larger sites could enclose 

some areas with wildlife-permeable barriers. The Council will apply positive weight to applications 

that demonstrate green space design that optimises multiple benefits for people and wildlife.  

264 Proposals could demonstrate generosity of green space provision by including in the 

application a disclosure of performance against well-established benchmarks, such as: 

• Urban Greening Factor – while developed for London, this tool is useful in any urban setting. 

It accounts for vertical green space (walls; hedges) as well as ground- and roof-level plants. 

The guidance comes with a score calculator. A score of 40% is very good in urban settings. 

• Garden Cities Design Guidance – stipulates that green infrastructure forms 50% of total site 

area, of which at least half should be public. Although this guidance is aimed at 

developments aiming to achieve Garden City status, this target for green area provision is 

still a positive benchmark for any development to aim for.  

85

https://www.london.gov.uk/programmes-strategies/planning/implementing-london-plan/london-plan-guidance/urban-greening-factor-ugf-guidance
https://www.tcpa.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2021/11/TCPA_GC_PG_Guide_3_Design_and_Masterplanning_Dec_2017.pdf


  
 

 

48 
 

QUICK LINKS WITHIN 
THIS DOCUMENT: 

Combined checklist Energy and carbon Climate adaptation Sustainable construction Biodiversity Sustainable transport 

       

BEST PRACTICE 

Benchmarks for exemplary green space provision 

 

UGF   score 0.4 or more (Urban Greening Factor) 

ANGSt Accessible Natural Greenspace Standard (capped 

walking distances to various sizes of natural space) 

50%  green space across site area, of which half to be public 

 70%  planting or tree canopy across accessible outdoor space 

See also Natural England Green Infrastructure Standards Framework for 

more potential benchmarks.  

  

• WELL Buildings Standard – stipulates that 70% of accessible outdoor space (as viewed from 

above) to be planting or tree canopy cover. This is one target within the much wider WELL 

framework, a certification for design and operation of buildings for human wellbeing. 

• Natural England Green Infrastructure Standards Framework may help you navigate the 

range of standards against which your scheme could aim for excellence.   

265 Various accreditations may be beneficial to your scheme both in terms of demonstrating 

planning acceptability and in terms of community acceptability and marketing benefits to end 

users. For example:  

• BREEAM certification is well-recognised and sought-after, especially in the commercial 

market. One of its many themes is Land Use and Ecology. Even if not aiming for a BREEAM 

rating, applicants may choose to demonstrate good practice in designing for biodiversity by 

fulfilling the criteria for BREEAM credits in the Land Use and Ecology theme. The credits 

vary by type of development project. In non-residential new construction, the relevant credits 

include LE01 (site selection), LE02 (early ecologist involvement), LE03 (use of ecological 

insights to mitigate impacts), and LE04 (measurable ecological improvement).  

• Building with Nature standard. This provides guidance and benchmarks, which if fulfilled 

make the development eligible for a Building with Nature award.   

266 Proposals should demonstrate provision for long-term maintenance of green space. Given 

the financial and administrative burden on pressured local government finances, the applicant 

should not expect that the Council will adopt any private public green space provided at their 

development. Where public green space is included in a proposal, the application should include 

plans for the expected maintenance requirements and how this will be administrated and funded 

permanently. See the RBWM Green and Blue Infrastructure Study section ‘Management and 

maintenance of green space’ for an outline of several potential arrangements for management and 

funding, including their implications and potential pitfalls.  

• From a biodiversity perspective, RBWM expects the proposal’s narrative to include 

explanation of how the maintenance schedule will deliver ecological benefits, such as by 

minimising or eliminating the application of pesticides and fertilisers and wildlife disturbance 

through trimming or mowing, especially during bird nesting seasons.    

86

https://designatedsites.naturalengland.org.uk/GreenInfrastructure/GIStandards.aspx
https://v2.wellcertified.com/en/wellv2/mind/feature/9
https://designatedsites.naturalengland.org.uk/GreenInfrastructure/GIStandards.aspx
https://files.bregroup.com/breeam/technicalmanuals/NC2018/#11_landuse/le02a.htm%3FTocPath%3D11.0%2520Land%2520Use%2520and%2520Ecology%7C_____2
https://www.buildingwithnature.org.uk/
https://rbwm.objective.co.uk/file/5512067


  
 

 

49 
 

QUICK LINKS WITHIN 
THIS DOCUMENT: 

Combined checklist Energy and carbon Climate adaptation Sustainable construction Biodiversity Sustainable transport 

       

• The level of detail required in the proposal’s plans for long-term green space management 

and maintenance should be commensurate with the scale of the development and the type 

of application (full, outline, reserved matters).  

• Outline applications that propose public green space may include less detail on the exact 

maintenance measures that will be conducted but should demonstrate that funding 

arrangements have been provisionally well considered and that initial thought has occurred 

how the probable types of green space could be managed for wildlife benefits (e.g. general 

good practice for grassland, stream/river/pond borders, light pollution, etc).  

6.2.3 Local Food Production 

267 Green space for food production is an opportunity to deliver biodiversity enhancement as well as 

social benefits via community food production. The Local Plan (paragraph 6.10.2) definition of 

green infrastructure includes allotments, community gardens, orchards and urban farms, thus 

these contribute to the blue and green infrastructure provision required by Policy QP2 and QP3.  

268 The provision of allotments and other food growing provision is to be supported through 

developers’ direct provision on site, and/or through developer contributions as stipulated through 

the Local Plan and Developer Contributions SPD.  

• Local Plan Appendix F lays out the open space standards that should be achieved, which 

include allotments of 0.2ha per 1,000 population, within a 400m walk from dwellings   

• Local Plan Appendix C also sets out requirements for food growing space provision at 

specified allocated sites. These requirements variously include allotments, community 

gardens, orchards, or a general capability for food production within green infrastructure. For 

some sites it is specified that this provision should make use existing high-quality farmland.  

• The Council has also set an intent to produce a Green and Blue Infrastructure SPD. When 

published, applicants should refer any further expectations around the provision of food 

growing space defined in that SPD.    

269 Food gardens and less formal ‘edible landscaping’ can support biodiversity via food crop diversity, 

and by planting that supports wildlife without harming the crop for people. A good example is 

flowering herbs such as thyme, mint, rosemary or lavender, as insects feed on the pollen and 

nectar while people usually consume the leaves. Fruit trees or bushes can provide similar benefits.  

270 Where proposals include food gardens or other edible landscape, detail will be welcomed on the 

type of plants proposed, and the management of the spaces to avoid harmful impacts on wildlife.  

271 Food gardens can also contribute to recreation, reducing food miles (thus traffic and carbon 

emissions), and create opportunities to compost food waste. The UK’s food waste is responsible 

for a significant amount of carbon emissions, potentially up to 5% of the UK’s total emissionsxxxi. 

Composting will not fully solve this (as CO2 is emitted from compost) but the act of composting 

brings food waste into people’s awareness and produces a valuable resource for further growing.   

• Where gardens and kitchens are provided, RBWM encourages demonstration that provision 

is made for safe and convenient composting of garden waste and kitchen scraps. As a 

minimum, proposals must include suitable space for food waste storage to enable occupants 

REQUIREMENT 

Provision for long-term maintenance of green space 

All applications are expected to demonstrate the following in relation to 

any proposed public or shared green space: 

• Management arrangements for long-term maintenance 

• Funding mechanisms for long-term maintenance 

• How the maintenance schedule will deliver ecological benefits 

In outline applications, a reduced level of detail is acceptable but full 

detail will need to be provided at the reserved matters stage.   

87

https://www.rbwm.gov.uk/home/planning/planning-policy/planning-guidance/adopted-supplementary-planning-documents-spd/planning-obligation-and-developer-contributions-spd


  
 

 

50 
 

QUICK LINKS WITHIN 
THIS DOCUMENT: 

Combined checklist Energy and carbon Climate adaptation Sustainable construction Biodiversity Sustainable transport 

       

BEST PRACTICE 

  Reuse of high-grade agricultural land for community growing 

  Locate growing areas in the sunniest spots on site  

 Flowering herbs or flowering fruit trees, to support pollinators  

   Management plans that minimise fertiliser and pesticide 

  Provide space and management for food composting  

 

to easily and conveniently make use of the borough’s food waste collection. The Council’s 

waste management advice for new developments denotes the minimum required volume for 

food waste storage (23L caddy for houses or individual flats; or for communal flats the 

requirement comprises 5% of the total anticipated waste volume, in bins of 140L).  

• Where communal compost facilities are proposed, please include them in the narrative to be 

provided on long-term management and maintenance of shared space as previously laid out.  

272 At sites that contain high quality farmland (grades 1, 2 and 3a), RBWM will look positively on 

proposals whose layout strives to keep the high-grade land free from built development in favour of 

creating community gardens, orchards or allotments so that the qualities of these soils continue to 

benefit people. This is a requirement for some specified allocated sites; see BLP Appendix C.  

88

https://www.rbwm.gov.uk/home/environment-and-waste/recycling-and-rubbish/waste-management-advice-new-developments
https://www.rbwm.gov.uk/home/environment-and-waste/recycling-and-rubbish/waste-management-advice-new-developments


 

51 
 

QUICK LINKS WITHIN 
THIS DOCUMENT: 

Combined checklist Energy and carbon Climate adaptation Sustainable construction Biodiversity Sustainable transport 

6.3. Useful Guidance on Biodiversity and Relevant Measures 

• BBOWT Nature Recovery Network map. Please note this is not a county-level Nature 

Recovery Network or Strategy as required via the Environment Act 2021 but is useful 

mapping by a leading conservation body that could inform decision-making until the 

formal NRN/NRS is developed. https://www.bbowt.org.uk/nature-recovery-map  

• British Standard BS42020. Defines best practice for how to inform your development 

with appropriate ecological information to inform the actions you take for biodiversity.  

https://knowledge.bsigroup.com/products/biodiversity-code-of-practice-for-planning-and-

development/standard  

• British Standard BS5837. Defines best practice process to protect and work around 

trees in design, demolition and construction phases of development. 

https://knowledge.bsigroup.com/products/trees-in-relation-to-design-demolition-and-

construction-recommendations/standard  

• Building With Nature accreditation scheme https://www.buildingwithnature.org.uk/  

• Defra Biodiversity Metric 4.0 – The most recent version of the Defra BNG metric at the 

time of writing. Please check for more recent versions when producing your application. 

https://nepubprod.appspot.com/publication/6049804846366720  

• Defra Biodiversity Metric for Small Sites – A simplified version of the Defra BNG metric 

for use on sites of ≤9 homes on a site of ≤1ha, or <5,000sqm of development, or sites 

<0.5ha. Please also check for more recent versions as this metric is periodically updated.  

https://nepubprod.appspot.com/publication/6047259574927360  

• Defra Magic Map. An interactive map where you can check for designations such as 

SPAs, SSSIs, SACs, Ramsar sites, and Local Nature Reserves. See menu: Designations 

> Land-based. It also maps estimated habitat types (layer: Habitats & Species > Habitats) 

but these habitat maps are not always accurate at fine scale and will need to be verified 

via site visits or local records.  https://magic.defra.gov.uk/magicmap.aspx  

• Green roof design guidance: See https://www.greenroofguide.co.uk/design/, 

https://www.greenspec.co.uk/building-design/green-roofs-2/ and https://livingroofs.org/ .  

• Natural England database of designated sites (LNRs, NNRs, Ramsar, SSSIs, SACs, 

SPAs), recording what state the habitat is in and conservation priorities. This could inform 

your design choices to be a good neighbour or actively steward any parts of the 

designated site within your redline. https://designatedsites.naturalengland.org.uk/  

• RBWM Biodiversity Action Plan and attached Habitat Action Plans: 

https://rbwmtogether.rbwm.gov.uk/biodiversity-action-plan-2  

• Natural England protected site Impact Risk Zones. The guidance document explains 

required assessment and mitigation depending on proximity to protected sites. Shapefiles 

are provided for use with GIS software or see also Defra Magic Map (linked above). 

https://www.data.gov.uk/dataset/5ae2af0c-1363-4d40-9d1a-e5a1381449f8/sssi-impact-

risk-zones-england.   

• RBWM Community Infrastructure Levy  https://www.rbwm.gov.uk/home/planning-and-

building-control/planning-policy/community-infrastructure-levy/cil-charging-schedule  

• RBWM Green and Blue Infrastructure Study 2019. 

https://rbwm.objective.co.uk/file/5512067  

• RBWM Local Nature Recovery Strategy and Berkshire Nature Recovery Network – 

These are in development as of early 2023. Please check the websites of the Council and 

Berkshire Local Nature Partnership when developing your planning application. 

• RBWM Planning Obligation and Developer Contributions SPD 

https://www.rbwm.gov.uk/home/planning/planning-policy/planning-guidance/adopted-

supplementary-planning-documents-spd/planning-obligation-and-developer-contributions-

spd  

• Rivers Trust (2020) riparian shade map. Indicates water bodies that could benefit from 

more shade. https://data.catchmentbasedapproach.org/maps/theriverstrust::riparian-

shade-england/explore?location=51.499779%2C-0.614951%2C14.06  

• Wild Maidenhead Phase 1 Habitat Survey https://www.wildmaidenhead.org.uk/phase-1-

habitat-surveyWilds groups (Cookham, Windsor, Ascot, Eton Wick, Datchet, SL6) – like 

Wild Maidenhead, some of these groups are collecting records of wildlife in their 

respective areas https://rbwmtogether.rbwm.gov.uk/the-wilds-of-the-royal-borough-of-

windsor-and-maidenhead  

• Thames Valley Environmental Records Centre. A useful source of data for species, 

habitats, wildlife & geological sites and ecological networks.  

a. A dedicated page is given as a gateway to information for landowners and land 

managers https://www.tverc.org/cms/content/landowners-and-land-managers  

b. TVERC’s Data Search Service can be used to formally confirm whether your site 

overlaps with any Biodiversity Opportunity Areas and access the latest Protected 

Species and Habitats and Designated Site information to help you devise 

evidence-based positive actions for biodiversity at your proposed development. 

TVERC Data | Thames Valley Environmental Records Centre 

• Urban Greening Factor - guidance on calculation and benchmarks. 

https://www.london.gov.uk/programmes-strategies/planning/implementing-london-

plan/london-plan-guidance/urban-greening-factor-ugf-guidance 

  

89

https://www.bbowt.org.uk/nature-recovery-map
https://knowledge.bsigroup.com/products/biodiversity-code-of-practice-for-planning-and-development/standard
https://knowledge.bsigroup.com/products/biodiversity-code-of-practice-for-planning-and-development/standard
https://knowledge.bsigroup.com/products/trees-in-relation-to-design-demolition-and-construction-recommendations/standard
https://knowledge.bsigroup.com/products/trees-in-relation-to-design-demolition-and-construction-recommendations/standard
https://www.buildingwithnature.org.uk/
https://nepubprod.appspot.com/publication/6049804846366720
https://nepubprod.appspot.com/publication/6047259574927360
https://magic.defra.gov.uk/magicmap.aspx
https://www.greenroofguide.co.uk/design/
https://www.greenspec.co.uk/building-design/green-roofs-2/
https://livingroofs.org/
https://designatedsites.naturalengland.org.uk/
https://rbwmtogether.rbwm.gov.uk/biodiversity-action-plan-2
https://www.data.gov.uk/dataset/5ae2af0c-1363-4d40-9d1a-e5a1381449f8/sssi-impact-risk-zones-england
https://www.data.gov.uk/dataset/5ae2af0c-1363-4d40-9d1a-e5a1381449f8/sssi-impact-risk-zones-england
https://www.rbwm.gov.uk/home/planning-and-building-control/planning-policy/community-infrastructure-levy/cil-charging-schedule
https://www.rbwm.gov.uk/home/planning-and-building-control/planning-policy/community-infrastructure-levy/cil-charging-schedule
https://rbwm.objective.co.uk/file/5512067
https://berkshirelnp.org/what-we-do/a-nature-recovery-network-for-berkshire
https://www.rbwm.gov.uk/home/planning/planning-policy/planning-guidance/adopted-supplementary-planning-documents-spd/planning-obligation-and-developer-contributions-spd
https://www.rbwm.gov.uk/home/planning/planning-policy/planning-guidance/adopted-supplementary-planning-documents-spd/planning-obligation-and-developer-contributions-spd
https://www.rbwm.gov.uk/home/planning/planning-policy/planning-guidance/adopted-supplementary-planning-documents-spd/planning-obligation-and-developer-contributions-spd
https://data.catchmentbasedapproach.org/maps/theriverstrust::riparian-shade-england/explore?location=51.499779%2C-0.614951%2C14.06
https://data.catchmentbasedapproach.org/maps/theriverstrust::riparian-shade-england/explore?location=51.499779%2C-0.614951%2C14.06
https://www.wildmaidenhead.org.uk/phase-1-habitat-survey
https://www.wildmaidenhead.org.uk/phase-1-habitat-survey
https://rbwmtogether.rbwm.gov.uk/the-wilds-of-the-royal-borough-of-windsor-and-maidenhead
https://rbwmtogether.rbwm.gov.uk/the-wilds-of-the-royal-borough-of-windsor-and-maidenhead
https://www.tverc.org/cms/content/landowners-and-land-managers
https://www.tverc.org/cms/content/tverc-data
https://www.london.gov.uk/programmes-strategies/planning/implementing-london-plan/london-plan-guidance/urban-greening-factor-ugf-guidance
https://www.london.gov.uk/programmes-strategies/planning/implementing-london-plan/london-plan-guidance/urban-greening-factor-ugf-guidance


  
 
 

52 
 

QUICK LINKS WITHIN 
THIS DOCUMENT: 

Combined checklist Energy and carbon Climate adaptation Sustainable construction Biodiversity Sustainable transport 

       

7. Sustainable Transport 

7.1. Sustainable Transport Context 

273 Transport is now the sector responsible for the largest share of the UK’s carbon 

emissions, even despite the sharp drop in 2020xxxii. Of transport emissions, the vast 

majority are from cars (~60%), followed by vans (~17%) and HGVs (~17%). Buses and 

rail together account for only 5%. Unlike other sectors such as manufacturing and 

electricity supply, the transport sector had not been achieving much of a downward 

trend in emissions in the decade prior to 2020. After the short sharp drop during the 

2020 pandemic, transport emissions in 2021 already began to rebound; the Committee 

on Climate Change states that without further intervention it is “likely that overall road 

traffic will [be] close to pre pandemic levels from 2022”.  

274 It is therefore vital that development proposals and planning decisions work actively to 

mitigate these trends both in terms of reducing the amount of driving, and increasing the 

proportion of vehicles that have zero emissions, in order to support the national 

transition to net zero carbon. This is an essential element of design to mitigate climate 

change as required by local plan policy SP2.  

 

7.1.1 National Transport Commitments/Goals Relevant to Planning  

275 The Climate Change Act 2008 (as amended) sets the national target for net zero 

carbon emissions by 2050, and five-yearly carbon budgets of which those up to 2037 

have so far been legislated. Steep reductions to carbon emissions from surface 

transport are a key necessary contributor to meeting these targets, as shown in the 

CCC analysis attached to the carbon budgets. From the 101 megatonnes in 2021, it 

must drop to 32 megatonnes by 2035.  

276 The CCC’s analysis reveals a range of necessary changes to achieve the required 

carbon reductions in the transport sector, relating to the take up of low carbon 

technologies, and a behavioural shift to reduce travel demand and shift journeys to non-

car modes of transport. In this sector, the pathway to achieve the UK’s carbon targets 

includes:   

• Reducing transport carbon to near-zero at source rather than offsetting  

• Electric vehicles to make up 35% of cars and vans on the road by 2030, rising to 

65% in 2035 and 87% by 2040 

• On-street public EV charge points to reach 140,000-270,000 by 2030 and 

250,000- 480,000 by 2040 (up from 18,000 as of 2022) 

• Rapid EV charge points to reach 8-15,000 by 2030 (up from 3,000 as of 2022) 

• Grid reinforcement so EV charging can reach 92tWh by 2040 (up from ~1tWh in 

2022) 

• Reduce car distance driven by 6% by 2030 and 17% by 2050 

• Van mileage to be reduced by 3% from 2030 onwards 

• To enable the reduction in car and van mileage, a range of other changes are 

needed to support other modes’ popularity in comparison to private vehicles, 

including: 

o More remote work (as 36% of car miles are currently commuting/business 

trips) 

o Walking & cycling to take >5% of modal share away from driving, by 2030 

o Public transport to take 2-4% of modal share away from driving, by 2030  

o Road investment decisions to be contingent on analysis showing how this 

contributes to the UK’s net zero carbon transitionxxxiii.  

277 The transition to electrified vehicles has been reflected in updated Building 

Regulations Part S in June 2022 which now requires development that provides car 

parking to meet the new minimum requirements for EV charging provision. This lays out 

requirements for near-universal provision of electric vehicle charging at residential 

developments where there is parking provided and sets a parking threshold above 

which new non-residential development must provide electric vehicle charging. A brief 

summary of the requirements of the new Part S is given in Appendix 10 of this SPD. 

278 Sustainable transport is a central tenet of the NPPF 2023, and through Chapter 9 of 

the framework, promotes sustainable locations and opportunities for sustainable modes 

of transport through plan making and planning decisions.  

7.1.2 RBWM Transport Context and Commitments 

279 One of the four strategic themes of the RBWM Environment and Climate Strategy 

2020-2025 is transport, recognising that significant carbon reductions are possible when 

carbon intensive travel is minimised, active travel is encouraged and the infrastructure 

for low carbon vehicles is provided.  

280 Paragraph 2.9 of the Council’s Environment and Climate Strategy 2020-2025 

states that 33% of total emissions in the borough come from transport. Using the same 

BEIS dataset, this would suggest that the residents of the borough are more reliant on 

cars than in other LPAs within Berkshire. The only Council area in Berkshire with a 

higher percentage of total emissions coming from transport is West Berkshire at 38%. 

281 The borough’s Local Transport Plan (2012) which is currently being updated and the 

borough’s Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Action Plan (2022) will help to deliver 

the Environment and Climate Strategy 2020-2025, in addition to this supplementary 

planning document. 

282 To support home-working and flexibility for future adaptation of homes, the 

Council expects applicants to demonstrate that all new homes are supplied with 

high-speed internet connection to facilitate home working.

90



 

53 
 

QUICK LINKS WITHIN 
THIS DOCUMENT: 

Combined checklist Energy and carbon Climate adaptation Sustainable construction Biodiversity Sustainable transport 

Local Plan Policy Links 

This section outlines local planning policy which relates to Transport, to assist applicants with identifying and complying with the relevant policies. 

Local Plan Policy Applicable to Relevant Requirements [paraphrased] 

SP2 Climate 
Change  

All scales of development.  

✓ Applications will demonstrate that mitigation and adaptation measures have been built into all new development to ensure sustainable 
development. The following measures shall be incorporated [of which relevant to transport]: 

✓ Use of planting to provide street shading 
✓ Minimise the impact of surface water runoff in the design of drainage, where possible incorporate mitigation and resilience measures for any 

increases in river flooding levels due to climate change Full, Reserved Matters, Householder, Section 73, 
Householder and Listed Building Consent 

QP1 Sustainability 
and Placemaking 

Larger developments: 10 or more residential units 
or 1,000 sq. m of floorspace or 1 ha in area) 

Larger developments are expected to demonstrate that:  

• The provision of social, natural, transport and utility infrastructure to support communities  

• Promote walkable neighbourhoods 

• Attractive public spaces that encourage walking and cycling  

• Foster healthy lifestyles  
Outline, Full, Reserved Matters and Section 73 

QP3 Character and 
Design of New 
Development 

All new build development 

Applications should demonstrate that:  

• Proposal provides a layout that is well connected, permeable and legible and encourages walking and cycling 

• Proposal delivers easy and safe access and movement for pedestrians, cyclists, cars and service vehicles maximising the use of sustainable 
transport where possible  

• Proposal creates a safe, accessible place where crime and disorder do not undermine quality of life; meeting the expectation for attractive 
legible places with strong active frontages 

• Proposal incorporates interesting frontages and design details to provide visual interest at pedestrian level 

• Proposal is designed to designed to minimise the visual impact of traffic and parking 

• Is accessible to all and is capable of adapting to future needs 

Full, Reserved Matters, Householder, Section 73, 
Householder and Listed Building Consent 

IF1 Infrastructure 
and Developer 
Contributions 

All development  

Except: householder and development >100sqm 

Applications must:  

• Deliver infrastructure that supports the overall spatial strategy of the borough through financial contributions or on site provision.  

Outline, Full, Reserved Matters and Section 73  

IF2 Sustainable 
Transport 

All new development  

Proposals that create a safe and comfortable environment for pedestrians and cyclists, and improve access by public transport, will be supported. 
Applications should demonstrate that:  

• Proposals support the policies and objectives of the Transport Strategy set out in the Local Transport Plan or successor document 

• Proposals are located to minimise and manage travel demand, especially to minimise number/ distance of vehicle trips and parking demand 

• Proposals improve access by foot, cycle and public transport 

• Proposals facilitate better integration and interchange between transport modes  

• Flows are optimised to reduce congestion, pollution and noise 

• Parking provision (cycle and vehicle) is as per the 2004 Parking strategy or Parking SPD when adopted, or relevant Neighbourhood Plans 
Transport Assessments and Statements and Travel Plans will be required to be prepared and submitted alongside development proposals, including 
residential schemes, in accordance with Department for Transport guidance and local authority requirements. 

Outline, Full, Reserved Matters and Section 73 

Supplementary Planning Guidance:  

This SPD supplements the Borough Parking SPD  

91



 

54 
 

QUICK LINKS WITHIN 
THIS DOCUMENT: 

Combined checklist Energy and carbon Climate adaptation Sustainable construction Biodiversity Sustainable transport 

7.2. General Requirements Around Sustainable Transport 

283 As a unitary authority, the Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead has responsibility for all 

local authority functions within its area, including transport planning. This differs from most 

other local authorities, which have a two-tier system with transport a county-level matter.   

284 The key document that forms a framework for all of the Council’s sustainable transport goals 

is the Local Transport Plan (LTP). The Local Transport Plan extant at the time of writing this 

SPD is the LTP 2012-2026, but this is expected to be replaced imminently as there has been 

a recent early consultation on an update to this.  

285 The Council requires that where a development will have significant transport implications, a 

proportionate Transport Assessment is submitted. The Transport Assessment should 

demonstrate how the development will connect to a wider range of public transport as well as 

active travel modes, including how it will support measures and targets contained in the Bus 

Service Improvement Strategyxxxiv as well as the borough’s Local Transport Strategy/Local 

Transport Plan.  This should include sustainable transport promotion measures during 

occupant handover and operation, as well as design measures. 

286 In accordance with the NPPF, the Council will secure Travel Plans through the planning 

process from all developments that generate significant amounts of movement. In 

particular, the Local Transport Plan 2012-26 notes that major residential development will 

be required to develop and implement travel plans for sustainable travel patterns.  

287 National guidance notes that the threshold for ‘significant amounts of movement’ depends on 

context; e.g. the presence of local roads close to capacity, and public transport accessibility. In 

the borough, the Developer Contributions SPD states the development size thresholds that 

require a Travel Plan. For the Transport Assessment requirement, the local plan (Policy IF2) 

does not set any specific minimum thresholds or limit this to specific types of development.    

288 Transport Assessments, Transport Statements and Travel Plans should be prepared in line 

with the relevant guidance from the Department for Transport or other relevant ministry. The 

relevant guidance at the time of composing this SPD is from the Department for Levelling Up, 

Housing and Communities in concert with the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local 

Governmentxxxv. This explains the type of information to be included in each type of transport 

document and explains the logic by which local transport authorities like the Council should 

determine the threshold for when such documents are needed in a development proposal.  

289 For major new developments, applicants will be required to make use of the Council’s traffic 

model to show the impacts on the highway network.  

290 New development is expected to mitigate its impacts on transport networks. Developer-led 

transport improvements, including to public transport services, must be in accordance with the 

Council’s transport strategies. Where development has a wider impact on transport networks, 

contributions to the relevant strategy area and implementation programme will be sought. 

291 Note that it should not be assumed that the Council will adopt any public space 

including transport infrastructure created by development. Applicants should provide 

information about how any provided transport infrastructure and operational measures will be 

maintained in the long term, such as how this will be funded and who will administer this. 

REQUIREMENT: Travel Plans  

✓ A package of measures that seek to reduce the number of car 

journeys to / from a particular development or organisation and 

encourage people to adopt more sustainable travel patterns.  

✓ Can include ‘hard’ and ‘soft’ measures, usually operational.   

✓ Can be personalised to reflect the specific needs of your actual or 

anticipated residents or non-residential occupant organisations. 

✓ Should be prepared in line with relevant national guidance.   

Applicability by application type, as per Local Transport Plan 2012 

All developments that generate significant amounts of movement,  

including but not limited to major residential development. For 

thresholds, see Developer Contributions SPD.  

 

REQUIREMENT: Transport Assessments / Statements 

✓ Assesses the potential transport impacts of developments and 

proposes mitigation measures, usually through design measures and 

developer contributions, rather than management measures.  

✓ Transport Assessments are more thorough; Transport Statements are 

lighter-touch and are used where the development’s impact is lower.   

✓ Should be prepared in line with relevant national guidance.  

Applicability by application type 

All development proposals with significant transport implications.   

 

 

92

https://www.rbwm.gov.uk/sites/default/files/2021-11/rbwm_bus_service_improvement_strategy_november_2021.pdf
https://www.rbwm.gov.uk/sites/default/files/2021-11/rbwm_bus_service_improvement_strategy_november_2021.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/travel-plans-transport-assessments-and-statements
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/travel-plans-transport-assessments-and-statements
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/travel-plans-transport-assessments-and-statements


  
 
 

55 
 

QUICK LINKS WITHIN 
THIS DOCUMENT: 

Combined checklist Energy and carbon Climate adaptation Sustainable construction Biodiversity Sustainable transport 

       

7.3. Provision for Electric Vehicle Charging 

292 As noted in ‘National context’, the widespread rollout of convenient electric vehicle charging is 

a completely essential component to support the UK’s legally binding carbon targets. In 

addition to local plan expectations on this topic, recent national regulation has also been 

introduced in relation to this vital topic and is therefore summarised in this SPD.  

 

7.3.1 EV Charging Requirements in Building Regulations 

293 In 2022, Building Regulations introduced a new Part S which sets requirements for provision 

of electric vehicle charging at all residential development that has associated parking, and at 

all non-residential development whose parking provision meets a certain threshold. Part S 

sets requirements not only for new development but also for major renovations (residential 

or non-residential) and dwellings created by change of use.  

294 Through Part S, there is a legal requirement to provide electric vehicle charging at all 

residential development that has associated parking spaces, and all non-residential that has 

more than 10 associated parking spaces, subject to certain caveats and conditions around the 

type of parking, heritage settings and cost constraints. 

295 Appendix 10:  of provides a brief summary of the new Part S requirements (the full Part S 

document is available here). 

7.3.2 Going Beyond the Building Regulations Minima for EV Charging 

296 The Council’s existing position is that EV charging provision should be part of any new 

development that provides parking spaces (residential or non-residential) as follows: 

• Provision of EV charging points on at least 20% of the parking spaces (whether new spaces, 

or spaces re-provided in the case of major refurbishment and change of use).  

• Provision of ducting, cabling, and capacity within the Mechanical and Engineering Services for 

the remaining 80% of spaces (to enable future installation of charge points in those spaces).  

297 This local standard described above does not differ by use classes or type of parking, unlike 

Building Regulations Part S which has lower requirements for covered car parking, non-

residential parking, and excludes on-street parking. As a result, there are some cases where the 

local standard is higher than Part S requirements, and other cases where the reverse is true.  

298 Where the local minimum standard described above differs from that of Part S due to the type of 

development or the type of parking, the Council expects the development proposal to apply 

whichever standard is higher for that type of parking or development. This expectation applies to 

all developments that have associated parking or create on-street parking.  

• In mixed-use development, Part S must firstly be met and then the provision should be 

extended to meet the local standard across any parts of the parking for which Part S provision 

did not fulfil the local standard, in proportion to the amount of parking per use class.  

• Some worked examples to illustrate the above are given in Appendix 10: Applying Local and 

National Electric Vehicle Charging Requirements. 

REQUIREMENT 

RBWM expected minimum EV charging provision at new parking  

 20% new parking spaces to have charge points 

 80% remainder new spaces: cabling, ducting, MEP capacity  

Applicability by application type 

 All development that creates or re-provides parking  

  Proposed use: All.  

✓ Where there is a difference between RBWM local standard 

and Part S requirement (due to the type of development or 

type of parking), apply whichever is the higher standard  

✓ In mixed use, where there is a difference between RBWM 

standard and Part S requirements for different uses, apply 

the higher standards proportionally to the amount of 

parking provided for each use type 

 Application types: All (Full, outline, reserved matters, phased) 

 Proposal size threshold: All 

93

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1057375/AD_S.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1057375/AD_S.pdf


  
 
 

56 
 

QUICK LINKS WITHIN 
THIS DOCUMENT: 

Combined checklist Energy and carbon Climate adaptation Sustainable construction Biodiversity Sustainable transport 

       

BEST PRACTICE 

Enhanced electric vehicle provision: Ways to impress and excel  

   Rapid chargers (≥43kW supply) at short-stay parking  

 On-street chargers if proposal effects on-street parking 

  Chargers to spaces ratio higher than the minimum  

 Provision of electric car clubs with rapid charge points  

299 Percentage provisions should be rounded up to the nearest whole number; e.g. if the local 

20% / 80% standard is applied, ≥1 charge point is required even if there are fewer than 5 spaces.  

300 Where proposals affect existing on-street parking, the Council may seek developer 

contributions to enable rollout of on-street electric vehicle chargers towards the local standard.  

301 While the new national regulation (Part S) sets certain required standards for type and extent of 

electric vehicle charging to be delivered through development, this provision can now be 

considered the ‘new minimum’ rather than exemplar. Part S also does not set any requirements 

for on street or rapid EV charging, which can deliver a key boost to EV use in the right locations.  

302 RBWM therefore considers that exemplary sustainable development would include EV 

charging provision that goes beyond the minimum requirements set by Part S. Such 

provision demonstrated in proposals would be afforded material weight in favour of the proposal. 

Potential enhanced provision could include the following standards: 

• Rapid charge points: inclusion of charge points that are rapid (≥43kW) or ultra-rapid 

(≥100kWh) at strategic locations, such as short-stay parking or communal parking areas.  

• On-street parking charge points: provision for electric charging in public streets for 

developments affecting or creating on-street parking arrangements (ideally with effort 

made to improve the current price disparity compared to at-home chargingxxxvi).  

• Provision of active charge points within covered car parking, rather than falling back 

on the ‘cabling-only’ standard permitted for covered car parking by Part S.  

• Provision of a greater ratio of charge points to parking spaces, especially in non-

residential parking (as Part S only requires one charge point if there more than 10 non-

residential spaces, without increasing this in proportion to a higher number of spaces). As 

noted above, compliance with the local 20% provision already supports this principle.  

• Provision of electric car club vehicles with allocated charge points. Car club 

provision is generally encouraged as a way to reduce the total number of cars that need 

to be manufactured and make efficient use of land by enabling occupants to make 

necessary car journeys without needing separate parking space for every home. An 

electric car club can also acclimatise users to electric vehicles thus addressing concerns 

such as range anxiety through a positive experience of the car club vehicle, thus 

potentially emboldening those people to choose an electric car sooner than they 

otherwise might have.   

303 Please note, however, that while enhanced provision of electric vehicle charging is encouraged 

as part of the approach to fulfilling local plan policy expectations around high quality sustainable 

design that is adaptable to future use, it should not be considered a way to bypass the 

equally important need to design to reduce the need to drive and to provide for longer 

journeys by non-car modes, such as public transport and cycling. Provision of electric vehicle 

charging (whether basic or enhanced) should not be seen as a justification to provide more 

than the minimum necessary amount of parking, as this would undermine the convenience of 

non-car modes of transport in comparison to cars.   

94



 

57 
 

QUICK LINKS WITHIN 
THIS DOCUMENT: 

Combined checklist Energy and carbon Climate adaptation Sustainable construction Biodiversity Sustainable transport 

7.4. Creating an Ideal Environment for Cycling, Walking and Other Active Travel 

304 As noted above, it is important for applicants and officers to remember that non-car 

models are inherently more sustainable than either conventional or electric 

vehicle use. This is because non-car modes use less material and energy for both 

vehicles and infrastructure, per person-mile travelled, in addition to the other benefits of 

active travel such as exercise and air quality improvements.  

305 Beyond these environmental and physical health benefits, the use of walking, cycling 

and public transport comes with psychological and social benefits. They bring an 

increased likelihood of chance social interactions on a daily basis that can help reduce 

the risk of social isolation and later-life loneliness which is thought to be an elevated risk 

in many neighbourhoods of the boroughxxxvii. They may also support independence for 

those members of our ageing population who no longer feel confident to drive. 

Furthermore, good connection to public transport helps with saleability of homes and 

commercial premises (noting that development that provides more spaces to 

pedestrians and cycles and less space to cars can see greater success, contrary to 

common anxietiesxxxviii).  

306 Reducing the need to drive is key. As a first step, the Council require that all new 

homes have a high-speed internet connection to facilitate home working. 

307 Density, mixes, and design of streets and layouts: An essential element of truly high 

quality sustainable design is to create suitable densities, layouts and mix of uses that 

enables the vast majority of needs to be met without a car and instead within a short 

walk, cycle or public transport trip – ideally more conveniently than by accessing these 

by car. It is also important to design walking and cycling routes to be not only safe and 

convenient, but also attractive and comfortable.  Some helpful concepts and guidance 

to refer to in devising and explaining proposals is as follows: 

• 15-minute neighbourhoods: this concept refers to the practice of ensuring that 

urban development is suitably located, sufficiently dense and contains a sufficient 

mix of uses to meet people’s daily needs by foot or bike. This is key to the definition 

of a sustainable location, as beyond this distance it is most likely that people will 

drive instead. The concept has 4 pillars: Proximity, diversity, density and ubiquityxxxix. 

Guidance is available from the TCPAxl among others.   

o Residential proposals could contribute towards this context by choosing a 

site ≤15 minutes’ walk/cycle to a key set of neighbourhood facilities. Major 

residential proposals should include such facilities on-site unless it is 

shown that these are already present nearby and will be directly connected 

by foot/bike. 

o Non-residential proposals may demonstrate that the proposed use 

improves the mix of daily facilities and services needed by local 

households within the 15-minute radius. Non-residential development that 

will draw commuters or visitors overwhelmingly by car will generally be 

discouraged unless demonstrated that the proposed use is necessary and 

is not compatible with being sited closer to residential areas or public 

transport. 

o Generally, lower densities are an obstacle because they fit fewer homes in 

the 15-minute radius to facilities and extend the distance that must be 

travelled between plots.  

o If you cannot achieve a 15-minute neighbourhood, it will still be beneficial 

to demonstrate a 20-minute neighbourhood and/or connection to the key 

‘bundle of facilities’ by regular, frequent public transport instead. When 

considering 15-minute neighbourhoods, designs should take into account 

the actual walking or cycling time by the proposed routes, not just the 

distance as the crow flies. Free online ‘isochrone’ toolsxli can map the area 

walkable/cyclable from a specific point.  

• Borough Wide Design Guide 2020 should be used to guide all development. 

Section 6: explains how layouts should be designed to encourage walking, cycling 

and public transport in preference to the private car for local journeys.  

308 For development affecting public realm or highways in in heritage settings, please 

refer to Historic England “Streets for All” guidance (as referenced in the Borough Wide 

Design Guide). To demonstrate high quality sustainable design, the Council strongly 

encourages proposals in such settings to include narrative and visual aids to show how 

they work towards the goals set out in that Historic England guidance (summarised in). 

Proposals in such settings can be strengthened by adding narrative showing how it has 

taken inspiration from this advice to deliver reduced car use and increased active travel. 

309 Connecting to wider sustainable transport networks for onward travel is key. All 

development proposals are expected to show what measures are being taken to 

connect to existing or planned walking and cycling networks, and public transport 

through reference to the following Council documents:  

• Active travel routes, and their planned extensions or improvements identified in the 

Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Planxlii. Protection and improvement to 

rights of way as laid out in the Public Rights of Way Management and 

Improvement Planxliii.   

• Maps of the bus routes, stops, and a range of targets relating to infrastructure and 

other provision around buses within the Bus Service Improvement Strategy 

2021xliv. 

 

 

 

 

95

https://www.tcpa.org.uk/collection/the-20-minute-neighbourhood/
https://app.traveltime.com/
https://historicengland.org.uk/images-books/publications/streets-for-all/heag149-sfa-national/#:~:text=The%20aim%20of%20Streets%20for,safety%20and%20accessibility%20for%20all.
https://www.rbwm.gov.uk/sites/default/files/2022-09/transport_local_cycling_and_walking_infrastructure_plan_0.pdf
https://www.rbwm.gov.uk/sites/default/files/2020-04/prow_rowmip_2016_2026.pdf
https://www.rbwm.gov.uk/sites/default/files/2020-04/prow_rowmip_2016_2026.pdf
https://www.rbwm.gov.uk/sites/default/files/2021-11/rbwm_bus_service_improvement_strategy_november_2021.pdf
https://www.rbwm.gov.uk/sites/default/files/2021-11/rbwm_bus_service_improvement_strategy_november_2021.pdf


  
 
 

58 
 

QUICK LINKS WITHIN 
THIS DOCUMENT: 

Combined checklist Energy and carbon Climate adaptation Sustainable construction Biodiversity Sustainable transport 

       

• The Local Transport Plan 2012-26 (LTP) contains a detailed range of information 

on active and public transport networks and factors affecting their success. It sets 

priorities for the maintenance and improvement to these networks, and a range of 

objectives to achieve. Note the 2012 LTP will soon be replaced by an updated LTP 

that had a recent consultation. A summary of key points include: 

i. The Council will seek to ensure that new development is in sustainable 

locations within urban areas that are well serviced by public transport, 

cycling and walking networks to provide realistic alternatives to the private 

car; improvements to existing transport networks will be sought through the 

planning process to mitigate the impacts of any new development  

a. For major new developments, applicants will be required to make 

use of the Council’s traffic model to show what the impacts will be on 

the highway network.  

b. New development will be expected to mitigate its impacts on 

transport networks. Developer-led transport improvements, including 

public transport service improvements, must be in accordance with 

the Council’s transport strategies. Where development has a wider 

impact on transport networks, contributions toward the relevant 

strategy area and implementation programme will be sought. 

ii. Developer contributions will be sought to support bus services and active 

travel infrastructure where appropriate.  

iii. Improved interchange between transport modes is a priority, particularly 

within town centre locations and at rail stations 

iv. Improved timely and accessible information is a priority for public transport 

and walking/cycling. This may range from wayfinding maps and signs, 

through to printed leaflets, or new technologies where this aids the user 

(such as real-time information displays at bus stops, online interactive maps 

and journey planners).  

v. Climate-resilient design and location of transport infrastructure is a priority; 

the Council will keep criteria under review in line with national guidance 

vi. The reduction of vehicle crime and cycle theft is a priority; the Council will 

seek to ‘design out crime’ with appropriate improvements via new 

developments 

310 Where it is relevant, the Council requires that applicants identify how the proposal 

reserves the necessary space for planned extensions or improvements to walking, 

cycling or public transport infrastructure. Relevance will be determined by the site’s 

adjacency to or overlap with a proposed or existing route. The level of detail expected in 

proposals will be proportionate to the scale of development proposed.  

311 To evidence that cycling route provision is well designed to inclusively suit a range of 

users and contribute to an environment that could attract modal shift away from cars, 

Figure 9: Future cycle network map. From RBWM Local Cycling & Walking Infrastructure Plan (2022). 

Figure 10: All bus services in RBWM area. From Bus Service Improvement Plan (2021). 

96

https://www.rbwm.gov.uk/sites/default/files/2020-04/transport_local_transport_plan_part1_2012_07_24.pdf
https://www.rbwm.gov.uk/sites/default/files/2022-09/transport_local_cycling_and_walking_infrastructure_plan_0.pdf


  
 
 

59 
 

QUICK LINKS WITHIN 
THIS DOCUMENT: 

Combined checklist Energy and carbon Climate adaptation Sustainable construction Biodiversity Sustainable transport 

       

developments should include plans and narrative (in your design and access statement 

and/or transport assessment/statement) explaining how the designs have followed the 

principles and/or standards set out by the following national guidance including Gear 

Change, LTN 1/20,Manual for Streets and Active Travel England Standing Advice Note: 

Active Travel and Sustainable Development (2023). These are summarised in Appendix 

11: Summary of national guidance on active travel infrastructure provision. 

312 Details of development layout or street design that provides “priority to pedestrians and 

cyclists” should be accompanied by visuals and narrative to explain how it does this with 

reference to the guidance points noted above. Some potential features could include, 

where appropriate: 

• ‘Low traffic neighbourhoods’ created by filtered permeability features at their 

entrance and exits that allows foot and cycle travellers to pass but limits car traffic to 

one entrance/exit or even keeps car traffic and parking to the outside of the 

neighbourhood. This prevents rat-running and makes streets safe for neighbourly 

activities such as children’s informal outdoor play.  

• Cycle routes and foot pavements that continue on a level table across side roads 

without having to give way to the side roads; this may be supported by give-way 

markings on the side road and a continuous foot/cycle lane surface colour making it 

clear that the traffic exiting the side road is a ‘guest’ in the foot-and-cycle users’ area 

rather than vice versa 

• Traffic calming measures such as speed bumps or raised tables, ideally with slim 

gaps allowing cycles to pass without hindrance  

• Avoiding roundabouts, offering foot/cycle traffic an alternative more direct route 

away from roundabouts, or using Dutch-style roundabouts that allow cyclists a 

separate and protected route  

• Where underpasses or overpasses are needed, aim to keep foot/cycle routes at 

grade and have the motor traffic follow the raised or lowered route 

• Designing any on-street car parking at an angle to avoid the risk of ‘dooring’ cyclists 

or wheelchair users.  

 

 

 

 

 

Figure 11: Public rights 
of way. From RBWM 
Green & Blue 
Infrastructure Study . 

Figure 12: Principles in 
design of effective active 
travel. From Dft,, Gear 
Change. 

97

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/904146/gear-change-a-bold-vision-for-cycling-and-walking.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/904146/gear-change-a-bold-vision-for-cycling-and-walking.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/cycle-infrastructure-design-ltn-120
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1072722/Essex_Manual_for_Streets_Redacted.pdf
https://rbwm.objective.co.uk/file/5512067
https://rbwm.objective.co.uk/file/5512067
https://rbwm.objective.co.uk/file/5512067
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/904146/gear-change-a-bold-vision-for-cycling-and-walking.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/904146/gear-change-a-bold-vision-for-cycling-and-walking.pdf


 

60 
 

QUICK LINKS WITHIN 
THIS DOCUMENT: 

Combined checklist Energy and carbon Climate adaptation Sustainable construction Biodiversity Sustainable transport 

7.5. Useful External Guidance on Sustainable Transport 

• Local Transport Plan 2012 – 2026 https://www.rbwm.gov.uk/sites/default/files/2020-

04/transport_local_transport_plan_part1_2012_07_24.pdf  

• Borough-wide Design Guide SPD 2020 – outlines key measures that should be taken 

to improve quality of place and within that, measures for walking and cycling. Includes 

some visual examples of good practice. 

https://www.rbwm.gov.uk/home/planning/planning-policy/planning-guidance/adopted-

supplementary-planning-documents-spds/borough-wide-design-guide-spd  

• Local Walking & Cycling Infrastructure Plan 2022 – contains maps of walking and 

cycling routes (existing and planned) and proposed improvements and extensions to 

these. https://www.rbwm.gov.uk/sites/default/files/2022-

09/transport_local_cycling_and_walking_infrastructure_plan_0.pdf  

• Bus Service Improvement Strategy 2021 

https://www.rbwm.gov.uk/sites/default/files/2021-

11/rbwm_bus_service_improvement_strategy_november_2021.pdf  

• Planning obligation and Developer Contributions SPD - lays out the contributions to 

sustainable transport (among other topics) and the thresholds (differentiated by 

development type) above which a travel plan is required. 

https://www.rbwm.gov.uk/home/planning/planning-policy/planning-guidance/adopted-

supplementary-planning-documents-spd/planning-obligation-and-developer-

contributions-spd  

• RBWM Parking Strategy 2004. Lays out expected standards and principles for 

provision of car parking and cycle parking. Note: this is expected to be replaced soon by 

the Parking SPD. https://www.rbwm.gov.uk/home/planning/planning-policy/non-

development-plan/design/parking-strategy  

• RBWM Parking SPD: Not yet available, but when adopted this is expected to replace 

the Parking Strategy 2004 noted above.  

• National guidance on Travel Plans, Transport Assessments and Statements. 

Explains what kind of information should be provided in each of these documents, and 

when each type of document is likely to be required as part of a development proposal.  

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/travel-plans-transport-assessments-and-statements  

• Department for Transport “Gear Change: A bold vision for cycling and walking”. 

Sets out the case, vision and action principles for design and decision-making to enable 

more walking and cycling. 

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachmen

t_data/file/904146/gear-change-a-bold-vision-for-cycling-and-walking.pdf   

• Department for Transport LTN 1/20 – national design guidance for routing and 

detailing of cycle infrastructure. 

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachmen

t_data/file/951074/cycle-infrastructure-design-ltn-1-20.pdf   

• Manual for Streets – a publication by two government departments offering guidance 

on how and why to design streets to achieve better quality places. 

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/manual-for-streets  

• National Cycle Network map by Sustrans and Ordnance Survey. 

https://www.sustrans.org.uk/national-cycle-network and 

https://explore.osmaps.com/?lat=51.500044&lon=-

0.776445&zoom=10.3443&style=Standard&type=2d&overlays=os-ncn-layer  

• Town and Country Planning Association – Collection of guidance on why and how to 

create 15-20 minute neighbourhoods. https://www.tcpa.org.uk/collection/the-20-minute-

neighbourhood/  

• Living Streets (2022) Walking for Everyone. The sections ‘Creating better places for 

everyone to walk and wheel’ and ‘Supporting everyone to walk and wheel’ include 

guidance on how to make development layouts and street design more truly inclusive 

for all abilities, including by noting the obstacles that tend to arise in existing streets and 

current development practice without intervention. 

https://www.livingstreets.org.uk/media/7085/walking-for-everyone-web-version.pdf  

• Living Streets (2018) The Pedestrian Pound. This piece of research demonstrated 

how areas can benefit economically by giving more space to pedestrians and cyclists 

and less to cars, contrary to retailers’ common anxieties. 

https://www.livingstreets.org.uk/media/3890/pedestrian-pound-2018.pdf  

• Secured by Design and accompanying manuals – Design manuals that support 

pursuit of the national police-led initiative and certification system ‘Secured by Design’. 

This guidance is applicable to an entire development but may prove particularly useful 

in enhancing the security of cycle parking and storage. Separate manuals are available 

for different uses including residential, schools, commercial developments, hospitals 

and self-build.  Secured by Design initiative also offers a database of approved products 

to enhance security. https://www.securedbydesign.com/guidance/design-guides  

• Design and Masterplanning Guide, Garden City Standards for the 21st Century: 

Town and Country Planning Association.  This notes a target of 50-60% of trips to be 

made by non-car means, in any settlement aiming for Garden Community status.  

https://www.tcpa.org.uk/wp-

content/uploads/2021/11/TCPA_GC_PG_Guide_3_Design_and_Masterplanning_Dec_

2017.pdf 

• TravelTime isochrone generator (map of area that can be walked or cycled within a 

certain time from a specified map point). https://app.traveltime.com/

98

https://www.rbwm.gov.uk/sites/default/files/2020-04/transport_local_transport_plan_part1_2012_07_24.pdf
https://www.rbwm.gov.uk/sites/default/files/2020-04/transport_local_transport_plan_part1_2012_07_24.pdf
https://www.rbwm.gov.uk/home/planning/planning-policy/planning-guidance/adopted-supplementary-planning-documents-spds/borough-wide-design-guide-spd
https://www.rbwm.gov.uk/home/planning/planning-policy/planning-guidance/adopted-supplementary-planning-documents-spds/borough-wide-design-guide-spd
https://www.rbwm.gov.uk/sites/default/files/2022-09/transport_local_cycling_and_walking_infrastructure_plan_0.pdf
https://www.rbwm.gov.uk/sites/default/files/2022-09/transport_local_cycling_and_walking_infrastructure_plan_0.pdf
https://www.rbwm.gov.uk/sites/default/files/2021-11/rbwm_bus_service_improvement_strategy_november_2021.pdf
https://www.rbwm.gov.uk/sites/default/files/2021-11/rbwm_bus_service_improvement_strategy_november_2021.pdf
https://www.rbwm.gov.uk/home/planning/planning-policy/planning-guidance/adopted-supplementary-planning-documents-spd/planning-obligation-and-developer-contributions-spd
https://www.rbwm.gov.uk/home/planning/planning-policy/planning-guidance/adopted-supplementary-planning-documents-spd/planning-obligation-and-developer-contributions-spd
https://www.rbwm.gov.uk/home/planning/planning-policy/planning-guidance/adopted-supplementary-planning-documents-spd/planning-obligation-and-developer-contributions-spd
https://www.rbwm.gov.uk/home/planning/planning-policy/non-development-plan/design/parking-strategy
https://www.rbwm.gov.uk/home/planning/planning-policy/non-development-plan/design/parking-strategy
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/travel-plans-transport-assessments-and-statements
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/904146/gear-change-a-bold-vision-for-cycling-and-walking.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/904146/gear-change-a-bold-vision-for-cycling-and-walking.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/951074/cycle-infrastructure-design-ltn-1-20.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/951074/cycle-infrastructure-design-ltn-1-20.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/manual-for-streets
https://www.sustrans.org.uk/national-cycle-network
https://explore.osmaps.com/?lat=51.500044&lon=-0.776445&zoom=10.3443&style=Standard&type=2d&overlays=os-ncn-layer
https://explore.osmaps.com/?lat=51.500044&lon=-0.776445&zoom=10.3443&style=Standard&type=2d&overlays=os-ncn-layer
https://www.tcpa.org.uk/collection/the-20-minute-neighbourhood/
https://www.tcpa.org.uk/collection/the-20-minute-neighbourhood/
https://www.livingstreets.org.uk/media/7085/walking-for-everyone-web-version.pdf
https://www.livingstreets.org.uk/media/3890/pedestrian-pound-2018.pdf
https://www.securedbydesign.com/guidance/design-guides
https://www.tcpa.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2021/11/TCPA_GC_PG_Guide_3_Design_and_Masterplanning_Dec_2017.pdf
https://www.tcpa.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2021/11/TCPA_GC_PG_Guide_3_Design_and_Masterplanning_Dec_2017.pdf
https://www.tcpa.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2021/11/TCPA_GC_PG_Guide_3_Design_and_Masterplanning_Dec_2017.pdf
https://app.traveltime.com/


 

61 
 

QUICK LINKS WITHIN 
THIS DOCUMENT: 

Combined checklist Energy and carbon Climate adaptation Sustainable construction Biodiversity Sustainable transport 

Appendix 1: Sustainability Checklist to be Completed and Submitted with All Applications 

Theme Checklist question  Relevant to development 
type  

Relevant to 
scale  

Relevant to 
application type  

Application 
validation 
document checklist 
item  

How and where in your application pack is the 
evidence that this item has been fulfilled? 
(Document name, page number, brief narrative 
on how fulfilled or how/why not fulfilled)  

Energy & 
carbon  

Have you demonstrated that the energy 
hierarchy has been followed and the 
carbon emissions have been reported for 
each stage of the hierarchy through the 
Sustainability and Energy Statement?   
 

Have you targeted a minimum of 35% 
reduction of carbon emissions against 
Building Regulations Part L 2021?  

All new residential 
development, and non-
residential development  
Excludes householder 
applications, and applications 
for non-residential floorspace 
under 100sqm.   

Minor and 
Major   

Outline, Full, 
Reserved Matters, 
S73  

Sustainability and 
Energy Statement  
and   
Carbon Reporting 
Spreadsheet   

  

Energy & 
carbon  

Have you demonstrated a fabric-first 
approach and passive design measures 
have been incorporated?  

All new residential 
development, and non-
residential development  
Excludes householder 
applications, and applications 
for non-residential floorspace 
under 100sqm.   

Minor and 
Major   

Outline, Full, 
Reserved Matters 
and S73  

Sustainability and 
Energy Statement   
and   
Carbon Reporting 
Spreadsheet   

  

Energy & 
carbon  

Have you demonstrated that zero or low 
carbon heat supply has been incorporated? 

All new residential 
development, and non-
residential development  
Excludes householder 
applications, and applications 
for non-residential floorspace 
under 100sqm.  

Minor and 
Major  

Outline, Full, 
Reserved Matters 
and S73  

Sustainability and 
Energy Statement   
  

  

Energy & 
carbon  

Have you demonstrated that at least 12% 
of a building’s energy demand can be 
delivered through on-site renewable energy 
generation?   

All new residential 
development, and non-
residential development  
Excludes householder 
applications, and applications 
for non-residential floorspace 
under 100sqm.  

Minor and 
Major  

Full, Reserved 
Matters and S73  

Sustainability and 
Energy Statement   
and   
Carbon Reporting 
Spreadsheet   

  

Energy & 
carbon  

Have you calculated any carbon offset 
payments that are required, using the 
Council’s carbon offset price?  

All new residential 
development, and non-
residential development  
Excludes householder 
applications, and applications 
for non-residential floorspace 
under 100sqm.  

Minor and 
Major  

Full, Reserved 
Matters and S73  

Sustainability and 
Energy Statement   
and   
Carbon Reporting 
Spreadsheet   

  

Energy & 
carbon  
  

Where developments include refurbishment 
of existing buildings, have you 
demonstrated how retrofitting proposals 
have targeted net zero carbon?  

All  All  Outline, Full, 
Reserved Matters, 
S73, Householder 
and LBC  
  

Sustainability and 
Energy Statement  
Or Design and 
Access Statement  
  

  

99



  
 
 

62 
 

QUICK LINKS WITHIN 
THIS DOCUMENT: 

Combined checklist Energy and carbon Climate adaptation Sustainable construction Biodiversity Sustainable transport 

       

Theme Checklist question  Relevant to development 
type  

Relevant to 
scale  

Relevant to 
application type  

Application 
validation 
document checklist 
item  

How and where in your application pack is the 
evidence that this item has been fulfilled? 
(Document name, page number, brief narrative 
on how fulfilled or how/why not fulfilled)  

Energy & 
carbon  

Have you demonstrated that the 
development will be supplied with a three-
phase power supply?   

All new residential 
development, and non-
residential development  
Excludes householder 
applications, and applications 
for non-residential floorspace 
under 100sqm.  

Minor and 
Major  

Outline, Full, 
Reserved Matters 
and S73  

Sustainability and 
Energy Statement   
  
  

  

Energy & 
Carbon  

Have you demonstrated that the 
development will be supplied with high-
speed internet?   

All new residential 
development, and non-
residential development  
Excludes householder 
applications, and applications 
for non-residential floorspace 
under 100sqm.  

Minor and 
Major  

Outline, Full, 
Reserved Matters 
and S73  

Sustainability and 
Energy Statement   
  
  

  

Energy & 
carbon  

Has the proposed development been 
designed to achieve the adequate air 
tightness?    

All new residential 
development, and non-
residential development  
Excludes householder 
applications, and applications 
for non-residential floorspace 
under 100sqm.  

Minor and 
Major  

Full, Reserved 
Matters and S73  

Sustainability and 
Energy Statement   
  

  

Energy & 
carbon  

Have you demonstrated that innovative 
solutions for energy sharing and storage 
including site-wide approaches (e.g. battery 
storage, demand-side-response-strategies) 
are proposed?  
  

All new residential 
development, and non-
residential development  
Excludes householder 
applications, and applications 
for non-residential floorspace 
under 100sqm.  

Minor and 
Major  

Outline, Full, 
Reserved Matters 
and S73  

Sustainability and 
Energy Statement   
  

  

Energy & 
Carbon  

Have you demonstrated that a recognised 
quality regime will be used to ensure the 
as-built performance for energy use and 
carbon emissions, and meets the as-
designed performance?   
  
Note: compliance testing will be required 
via conditions. Applicants are requested to 
outline which quality assurance regime they 
seek to use, dependent on the modelling 
conducted at design stage.   

All new residential 
development, and non-
residential development  
Excludes householder 
applications, and applications 
for non-residential floorspace 
under 100sqm.  

Minor and 
Major  

Outline, Full, 
Reserved Matters 
and S73  

Sustainability and 
Energy Statement   
  

  

Climate 
adaptation  

Have you demonstrated how the proposal 
is resilient to overheating risks (current and 
future?)  

All  All  Outline, Full, 
Reserved Matters, 
S73, Householder 
and LBC  

Design and Access 
Statement  

  

100



  
 
 

63 
 

QUICK LINKS WITHIN 
THIS DOCUMENT: 

Combined checklist Energy and carbon Climate adaptation Sustainable construction Biodiversity Sustainable transport 

       

Theme Checklist question  Relevant to development 
type  

Relevant to 
scale  

Relevant to 
application type  

Application 
validation 
document checklist 
item  

How and where in your application pack is the 
evidence that this item has been fulfilled? 
(Document name, page number, brief narrative 
on how fulfilled or how/why not fulfilled)  

Climate 
adaptation  

Can you demonstrate that the cooling 
hierarchy has been implemented through 
the design of the development?   
  

All new residential 
development, and non-
residential development  
Excludes householder 
applications, and applications 
for non-residential floorspace 
under 100sqm.  

Minor and 
Major  

Outline, Full, 
Reserved Matters 
and S73  

Design and Access 
Statement  

  

Climate 
adaptation  

Have you incorporated green and blue 
infrastructure into the development, 
including green roofs?   

All  All  Outline, Full, 
Reserved Matters, 
S73 and 
Householder  

Proposed site plan   
and   
Design and Access 
Statement  

  

Climate 
adaptation   

Where the development lies within Flood 
zones 2 & 3, or is Flood Zone 1 on sites of 
1 hectare, have you prepared a Flood Risk 
Assessment?   

All  All  Outline, Full, 
Reserved Matters, 
S73 and 
Householder   

Flood Risk 
Assessment   

  

Climate 
Adaptation   

Where you are proposing a reduction on 
permeable areas, or hardstanding in the 
development, have you demonstrated that 
the SuDS hierarchy has been employed?  

All  All  Full, Reserved 
Matters, S73 and 
Householder  

Design and Access 
Statement   
or   
Drainage Strategy   

  

Climate 
Adaptation  

Have you demonstrated that water saving 
measures and equipment have been 
incorporated into the design of the 
development?   

All  All  Full, Reserved 
Matters, S73 and 
Householder  

Design and Access 
Statement  

  

Climate 
Adaptation   

Have you demonstrated that water usage is 
targeted to 110 litres per person/per day?   

All new residential dwellings   
  
  

All  Full, Reserved 
Matters and S73  

Design and Access 
Statement  

  

Sustainable 
construction  

Where your development involves 
demolition, have you prepared a pre-
demolition audit?   

All  All  Outline, Full, 
Reserved Matters, 
S73, Householder 
and LBC  

Design Statement    

Sustainable 
construction  

Have you demonstrated that the waste 
hierarchy has been followed and that waste 
has been minimised in construction and 
operation where possible?   

All  All  Outline, Full, 
Reserved Matters, 
S73, Householder 
and LBC  

Design Statement    

Sustainable 
construction  

Have you provided: circular economy 
statement, pre-development audit, site 
waste plan and construction environmental 
waste management plan?    

Larger developments: 10 or 
more residential units or 1,000 
sq. m of floorspace or 1 ha in 
area)  

Major  Full, Reserved 
Matters and S73  

Construction 
Environmental 
Management Plan   
and, or including   
site waste 
management plan   

  

Sustainable 
construction  

Have you demonstrated that local, 
responsible and lower carbon material 
sourcing have been considered a priority?  

All new residential 
development, and non-
residential development  
Excludes householder 
applications, and applications 

Minor and 
Major  

Outline, Full, 
Reserved Matters 
and S73  

Energy and 
Sustainability 
Statement   

  

101



  
 
 

64 
 

QUICK LINKS WITHIN 
THIS DOCUMENT: 

Combined checklist Energy and carbon Climate adaptation Sustainable construction Biodiversity Sustainable transport 

       

Theme Checklist question  Relevant to development 
type  

Relevant to 
scale  

Relevant to 
application type  

Application 
validation 
document checklist 
item  

How and where in your application pack is the 
evidence that this item has been fulfilled? 
(Document name, page number, brief narrative 
on how fulfilled or how/why not fulfilled)  

for non-residential floorspace 
under 100sqm.  

Sustainable 
construction  

Have you demonstrated that the recycled 
content of materials has been considered 
(minimum 25% with target of 50%)?   

All new residential 
development, and non-
residential development  
  
Excludes householder 
applications, and applications 
for non-residential floorspace 
under 100sqm.  

Minor and 
Major  

Full, Reserved 
Matters, S73  

Energy and 
Sustainability 
Statement  

  

Sustainable 
construction  

Have you demonstrated that embodied 
carbon has been considered and reduced 
where possible?  

All new residential 
development, and non-
residential development  
  
Excludes householder 
applications, and applications 
for non-residential floorspace 
under 100sqm.  

Minor and 
Major 

Full, Reserved 
Matters, S73  

Energy and 
Sustainability 
Statement  

 

Sustainable 
construction  

Have you included an embodied carbon 
assessment? 
  

Larger developments: 10 or 
more residential units or 1,000 
sq. m of floorspace or 1 ha in 
area)  

Major  Full, Reserved 
Matters and S73  

Embodied Carbon 
Assessment  

  

Biodiversity  Have you provided a compliant ecological 
assessment?   

All  All  Outline, Full, 
Reserved Matters, 
S73 and 
Householder   

Ecological Appraisal     

Biodiversity  Have you demonstrated that the 
development achieves a minimum of 10% 
biodiversity net gain through the provision 
of green and blue infrastructure?    

All  All*  Outline, Full, 
Reserved Matters, 
S73 and 
Householder  

*DEFRA Biodiversity 
Metric*   
based upon existing 
and proposed site 
plans   

  

Biodiversity  Does the development site contain or lie 
close to any irreplaceable habitat, statutory 
designated areas, protected species or 
within 500m of a watercourse? Or within a 
designated area under the local 
Biodiversity Action Plan?   
  
If yes:   
Have you demonstrated that the 
development has maintained, protected 
and enhanced protected species and 
valued habitats?   

All  All  Outline, Full, 
Reserved Matters, 
S73 and 
Householder  

Ecological Survey    

102



  
 
 

65 
 

QUICK LINKS WITHIN 
THIS DOCUMENT: 

Combined checklist Energy and carbon Climate adaptation Sustainable construction Biodiversity Sustainable transport 

       

Theme Checklist question  Relevant to development 
type  

Relevant to 
scale  

Relevant to 
application type  

Application 
validation 
document checklist 
item  

How and where in your application pack is the 
evidence that this item has been fulfilled? 
(Document name, page number, brief narrative 
on how fulfilled or how/why not fulfilled)  

Biodiversity  Does the development provide publicly 
available green space?   
  
If yes: Have you shown how the long-term 
maintenance of this green space will be 
funded and delivered without Council 
adoption?  

All new residential 
development, and non-
residential development  
  
Excludes householder 
applications, and applications 
for non-residential floorspace 
under 100sqm.  

Minor and 
Major  

Outline, Full, 
Reserved Matters 
and S73  

Design and Access 
Statement  

  

Biodiversity  Where new dwellings are being provided, 
have you calculated the requirement of 
food growing space provision, and or 
developer contributions?   

All new residential dwellings.   
Excludes householder 
applications, and applications 
for non-residential floorspace   

Minor and 
Major   

Outline, Full, 
Reserved Matters 
and S73  

Design and Access 
Statement   
Or for financial 
contribution: Section 
106   

  

Sustainable 
Transport  

Where development will have significant 
transport implications, have you prepared a 
Transport Assessment and subsequently a 
Travel Plan (if required)?   
  
  

All new residential 
development, and non-
residential development  
Excludes householder 
applications, and applications 
for non-residential floorspace 
under 100sqm.  

Minor and 
major  

Outline, Full, 
Reserved Matters 
and S73  

Transport Statement 
or Assessment  

  

Sustainable 
transport  

Have you demonstrated that EV charging 
facilities are provided to satisfy local and 
national requirements (whichever is 
greater)?   

All new residential 
development and non-
residential development, that 
creates or re-provides 
parking.  
Excludes householder 
applications.   

Minor and 
Major  

Outline, Full, 
Reserved Matters 
and S73  

Proposed Site Plans   
and  
Design and Access 
Statement  

  

Sustainable 
transport  

Have you demonstrated how the design of 
the development supports and encourages 
active travel through the provision of 
walking, cycling and wheeling networks, 
and or connections to public transport?   

Larger developments: 10 or 
more residential units or 1,000 
sq. m of floorspace or 1 ha in 
area)  

Major  Outline, Full, 
Reserved Matters 
and S73  

Design and Access 
Statement  
And/or   
Transport Statement  

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

103



  
 
 

66 
 

QUICK LINKS WITHIN 
THIS DOCUMENT: 

Combined checklist Energy and carbon Climate adaptation Sustainable construction Biodiversity Sustainable transport 

       

Appendix 2: Glossary and Acronyms 

Air tightness A measure of how much (or how little) air leakage a building experiences, due to its fabric. Measured in air changes per hour at a pressure of 50 pascals, 
sometimes abbreviated to ‘ACH@50PA’.  

BAP Biodiversity Action Plan 

BBOWT Berkshire, Buckinghamshire and Oxfordshire Wildlife Trust 

BNG Biodiversity net gain. Refers to the measure of the habitat value of a site before and after development.   

BREEAM Building Research Establishment Environmental Assessment Method. A rating system reflecting the extent to which a building exceeds basic 
performance in a range of sustainability criteria.  

Brise-soleil A shading solution that reduces heat gain from direct sunlight, usually protruding out from the outer surface of a building.  

Building Regulations Approved Document Part L Conservation of fuel and power: Approved Document L is the part of Building Regulations that sets minimum standards for energy-related carbon 
emissions and efficiency of buildings.  

CCC Climate Change Committee  

CCRA Climate Change Risk Assessment 

CIBSE Chartered Institute of Building Services Engineers 

Circular economy An economy in which resources are kept in use for as long as possible in a ‘higher value’ state.  

Embodied carbon Carbon that was emitted in the production, transport and assembly of materials that make up a building or product.  

Energy Use Intensity (EUI) A measure of how much energy a building uses per square metre of internal floor space. Measured in kWh/m2/year.  
Refers to total energy use, not divided into ‘regulated’ or ‘unregulated’ (see other glossary items here) unless otherwise stated.  

Energy modelling Methodologies to assess the energy performance of a building based on its characteristics. Various methodologies are available, but these vary in 
accuracy. See ‘PHPP’, ‘SAP’, ‘SBEM’ and ‘TM54’ in this glossary.  

GDP Gross Domestic Product 

GIA Gross Internal Area. A measure of total floor space in a building. 

GLA Greater London Authority. A public body (and overarching planning authority for the 32 no. London Boroughs) which developed carbon-related planning 
policy for London, and guidance on how to report against those policies on energy use, operational carbon and embodied carbon. This guidance has 
been adopted by some local authorities outside London.   

HAP Habitat Action Plan. A plan relating to a specific type of habitat, which sits within the wider BAP (Biodiversity Action Plan, as above).  

Home Quality Mark (HQM) A rating system and environmental certification framework devised by the BRE (see BREEAM, above) to assess the quality of homes across a range of 
criteria thought important to occupants.  

Irreplaceable habitat As defined by the NPPF: Ancient woodland, ancient and veteran trees, blanket bog, limestone pavement, sand dunes, salt marsh and lowland fen. 

 LETI Low Energy Transformation Initiative, formerly ‘London Energy Transformation Initiative’ but has branched out to the rest of the UK Established in 2017, 
this is a voluntary group of over 1,000 built environment professionals working to transition the built environment to net zero carbon by creating guidance 
and targets.  

Low carbon energy Energy generated from low carbon sources. This includes renewable energy*, nuclear energy, and recycled heat. It does not include conventional gas.  
*Biomass is sometimes excluded due to concerns over the carbon emissions of deforestation. 

MVHR Mechanical Ventilation with Heat Recovery. This recovers heat from outgoing air, to warm up the fresh incoming air.  

104



  
 
 

67 
 

QUICK LINKS WITHIN 
THIS DOCUMENT: 

Combined checklist Energy and carbon Climate adaptation Sustainable construction Biodiversity Sustainable transport 

       

NABERS National Australian Built Environment Rating System. An approach developed in Australia to assess building energy performance, which is starting to be 
voluntarily adopted in the UK (currently only for offices) thanks to its effectiveness in delivering improved energy efficiency.  

NAP National Adaptation Plan 

NIA Net Internal Area. A measure of useable floor space in a building. NIA excludes floor areas occupied by internal walls, skirting boards, permanent 
plant/equipment, lifts, stairwells, and similar. 

NPPF National Planning Policy Framework. 

Operational carbon & energy Energy use and carbon emissions caused by the operation of a building. Operational carbon is almost entirely due to energy use, but can have other 
smaller causes, such as leaked refrigerant gases from air conditioning.  

PHPP Passivhaus Planning Package. A methodology to accurately predict the energy demands of a building. This is used in the process of designing and 
delivering buildings that can satisfy the standards required for Passivhaus certification but can be used for any building without pursuing certification.  

Performance gap The difference between the predicted operational energy use of a building, and the actual amount of energy that it uses.  

Primary energy A measure of a building’s energy use that takes into account the inefficiencies and losses involved in generating and distributing that energy before it 
gets to the building, as well as the efficiency rating of the building’s equipment.  

RBWM E&CS Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead Energy and Climate Strategy (December 2020). 

RBWM ISPS Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead Interim Sustainability Position Statement (March 2021). 

Ramsar site A conservation designation afforded to certain wetlands of international importance. Over 170 countries are signatories to the Ramsar convention.  

REGO Renewable Energy Guarantees of Origin. The regulators (Ofgem’s) term for electricity that has been generated by renewable sources.  

Regulated energy Energy uses in a building that are covered by Building Regulations (see above). Includes only ‘fixed’ energy uses, such as space heat, hot water, fixed 
lighting, fans and pumps. 

Renewable energy 
 

Any energy that is generated from rapidly renewable sources. Including wind, solar, hydro, tidal, geothermal, ambient heat in the air, and some forms of 
biomass. 

RIBA Royal Institute of British Architects 

RIBA Climate Challenge Targets for buildings to support climate change adaptation (water efficiency) and mitigation (reduction of embodied carbon and operational energy use). 
Set by RIBA (above). 

 

 

 

  

105



 

68 
 

QUICK LINKS WITHIN 
THIS DOCUMENT: 

Combined checklist Energy and carbon Climate adaptation Sustainable construction Biodiversity Sustainable transport 

Appendix 3: Overheating Risk Mitigation Guidance  

Toolkits and methods for reducing overheating risk, denoting which is 

appropriate by size and type of development: 

i. The publication of Approved Document Part O: Overheating now means that 

overheating measures are required under Building Regulations. Implementation of Part O 

began in June 2022 and applies to residential dwellings.  

ii. The newly introduced regulations intend to reduce excess solar gain in internal spaces 

and ensure that measures are implemented to easily remove excess indoor heat. Under 

Part O, spaces will now be assessed individually, which will help identify specific areas 

and rooms at enhanced risk of overheating. 

iii. Part O offers two options: 

• The Simplified Method  

• Dynamic Thermal Modelling 

 

iv. The Simplified Method aims to limit solar gains and maximise opportunities for natural 

ventilation, primarily through selecting appropriate sizes and designs of windows. Under 

this approach, the methodology restricts glazing on south, west and east walls and 

ensures that there is an appropriate amount of openable window area to remove excess 

heat.  

v. The alternative compliance approach is to use dynamic thermal modelling, which is 

based on the CIBSE TM59 methodology. Using inputs from TM59 and CIBSE 2020s 

Design Summer Year climate modelling, compliance can be demonstrated by showing 

that the internal temperature of a space does not surpass a set temperature limit 

throughout a specified number of hours. This approach benefits developers and 

occupants since it allows specific solutions to be identified in individual spaces, instead 

of adopting whole-house solutions.  

vi. Under Part O, as set out in the cooling hierarchy above, passive overheating measures 

must be prioritised and maximised prior to the consideration and potential 

implementation of mechanical ventilation and/or active cooling systems.  

vii. For non-residential buildings, adaptive thermal modelling through CIBSE TM52 should 

be used. The guidance determines accepted levels of internal temperature: 

• Hours of exceedance: the limit of hours where the operative temperature 

exceeds the threshold comfort temperature by 1K or more whilst the building is 

occupied and during a season that does not require heating (May – 

September). 

• Daily weighted exceedance: this refers to the level of overheating severity 

throughout one day, which is determined by overheating duration and rate of 

temperature increase. 

• Upper limit temperature: this is the absolute maximum daily temperature of a 

room. 

 

viii. For both TM52 and TM59, the rural and semi-urban TM49 weather files (Gatwick 

Airport data) would be most appropriate as this best represents the conditions found in 

RBWM. TM49 (Design Summer Years for London) is a useful guidance tool as it allows 

developers to account for difficulties building within an urban heat island context, whilst 

mitigating risks that will arise from an increasingly uncertain climatic future.  

ix. Passivhaus standards set a summer overheating criterion, requiring that internal 

temperatures do not exceed 25°C for more than 10% of the year. This is assessed 

using a plug-in for Passive House Planning Package, the Passivhaus software to 

model building energy performance. Passivhaus is however aware of the high 

dependency on modelling assumptions, which are particularly apparent with the 

uncertainty of future climate scenarios. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

106

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/overheating-approved-document-o
https://www.passivhaustrust.org.uk/guidance_detail.php?gId=49


  
 
 

69 
 

QUICK LINKS WITHIN 
THIS DOCUMENT: 

Combined checklist Energy and carbon Climate adaptation Sustainable construction Biodiversity Sustainable transport 

       

Appendix 4: Water Efficiency Technical Guidance 

i. The evidence-based industry framework, RIBA Climate Challenge, gives an indication 

of what exemplary practice would be. Under the 2030 targets, water usage should be 

limited to: 

• 10 litres/person/day for new build offices 

• 75 litres/person/day for domestic/residential  

• 0.5m3/pupil/year for new build schools 

 

ii. Water efficiency benchmarks for different types of scheme are also available as part of 

the wider BREEAM environmental scoring system, under the BREEAM Wat 01 credit. 

These represent a percentage reduction on the baseline water use for the respective 

building type. They are calculated using the BREEAM Wat 01 calculator which is a 

free-to-use online tool based on the litre usage or other water efficiency rating of your 

water fittings and appliances. This calculator and associated benchmarks are a useful 

means to benchmark and demonstrate the extent to which a development's water 

efficiency is exemplary, even if the development itself is not pursuing a BREEAM 

certification. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Appendix 5: Guidance on Circular Economy In Development   

Pre-demolition/pre-redevelopment audits  

i. Any proposals for demolition of existing structures should, to be considered acceptable, 

include a strong justification explaining why it was not possible to retain and 

reuse/refurbish the existing structures and narrative on what steps were taken to explore 

scope for retention/refurbishment and avoidance of the need for demolition and disposal. 

Materials should only be passed off to other management/landfill as a last resort where it is 

clear that there is not suitable purpose for the material on-site or on an alternative site. 

ii. One generally expected first key step in this process would be site materials audits: Pre-

demolition or pre-redevelopment.  

iii. Pre-demolition or pre-redevelopment audits are an assessment of your site to understand 

what materials already exist there and identifying the potential for these materials to 

possibly be reused. Where your site contains existing buildings or structures, these audits 

are strongly encouraged as a means to evidence that you have made efforts to fulfil the 

first two steps of the waste hierarchy rather than resorting immediately to demolition and 

disposal. 

iv. Best practice for pre-redevelopment audits (external guidance): 

• A pre-redevelopment audit is a tool to assessing whether existing buildings 

and structures on site can be fully or partially retained and refurbished as part 

of the proposals.  

• The audit should be carried out by an independent third-party as early as 

possible (ideally during RIBA stages 1 or 2) and should provide robust 

justifications for the potential to fully or partially refurbish or demolish the 

existing development. 

• The audit should include a description of existing buildings and structures, 

their age, key materials, and photos of internal and external aspects. 

• The pre-development audit should clearly demonstrate how the proposed 

approach has been based on the embodied carbon and resource decisions of 

the existing site, and robust justification for decisions (demonstrating that they 

are not based on purely economic basis).  

• See BRE Code for Practice: Pre-redevelopment audits (July 2017)  

v. Best practice for pre-demolition audits (external guidance): 

• Once the decision for partial or full demolition has been made, a pre-

demolition audit can be used to provide detail on the materials on site in 

existing buildings and structures (including façade, foundations, etc). If carried 

out at an early RIBA design stage, this audit can help identify where materials 

can be re-used on site and can help towards achieving targets for re-use and 

107

https://byggalliansen.no/wp-content/uploads/2022/02/BREEAM-NOR-v6.0-Wat01-calculator.xlsm
https://condemwaste.org/wp-content/uploads/2018/10/Code-of-Practice-Pre-redevelopment-audit-July-17-V1.pdf


  
 
 

70 
 

QUICK LINKS WITHIN 
THIS DOCUMENT: 

Combined checklist Energy and carbon Climate adaptation Sustainable construction Biodiversity Sustainable transport 

       

recycling both on and offsite (such as targets set in order to achieve credits 

towards a BREEAM certification). 

vi. The Council acknowledges that these audits are a step that can earn BREEAM credits 

for schemes working towards a BREEAM certification, and such will accept information 

on targeted BREEAM credits as demonstration that the applicant has implemented the 

material audit. 

 

Appendix 6: Responsible and Local Sourcing Guidance 

i. LETI Climate Emergency Design Guide focuses on the need to consider low-embodied 

carbon choices for key materials: concrete, timber/wood, bricks, structural steel, aluminium 

and glass. For example, the production of concrete with Ground Granulated Blast-furnace 

Slag over cement can result in 1/5 of the energy used and 1/15 of CO2 emissions.  

ii. 100% of timber and timber-based products used for building materials but also all timber 

used on-site during construction (e.g. hoarding, pallets) should be sourced from 

sustainably managed sources and be legally sourced and harvested. This includes FSC 

and PEFC certified timber. This should also include timber-based products, such as timber 

composite decking. 

iii. Certification schemes are also available for major materials, such as the CARES 

Sustainable Constructional Steel Scheme and Aluminium Stewardship Initiative, 

which can demonstrate sustainable sourcing and processing.  

iv. BES6001 Framework Standard for Responsible Sourcing includes organisational 

management, supply chain management and sustainable development requirements. It 

focuses on individual products, not organisations/companies. 

v. Independently certified Environmental Management Systems (EMS) which assess key 

processes for extracting raw materials such as ISO14001 EMS certifications partially 

comply with BREEAM criteria, based on the extent to which they cover the supply chain 

processes involved BREEAM Guidance Note 18 provides detailed information on which 

EMS have been recognised by BREEAM and given a responsible sourcing weighting level 

by the BRE. 

 

 

 

 

Appendix 7: Technical Embodied Carbon Assessment Guidance 

i. The following construction elements should be examined, as set out under NRM 2 (RICS): 

as part of an embodied carbon assessment:  

• Substructure 

• Superstructure  

• Finishes  

• Fittings, furnishing and equipment 

• MEP services 

• Prefabricated buildings and building units 

• Work to existing building 

• External works 

 

ii. The LETI Embodied Carbon Primer supplementary guidance document provides in depth 

analyses of primary construction materials (Appendix 8), such as timber, aluminium, glass, 

steel and bricks. In practice understanding of the use of these materials in the document 

can help applicants determine appropriate material selection.  

iii. For exemplary development, that aims to achieve net zero embodied carbon, the guidance 

document ‘Passivhaus: a route to net zero embodied carbon’ sets out a high-level 

approach to accomplishing such a goal. This is particularly useful to understand how 

embodied carbon reductions can be employed alongside energy efficiency measures.  

iv. The RICS Whole Life Carbon Assessment (1st edition, 2017), based on RIBA Stages, 

and the PAS 2080 framework (2016 Carbon management in infrastructure) are both well-

respected methodologies that provide a strong basis to undertake an embodied carbon 

assessment. 

v. Well-tested specific approaches to calculate embodied carbon are: 

• Calculation methodology should conform with BS 15978; 2011 

Sustainability of construction works – assessment of environmental 

performance of buildings [Note: the RICS Whole Life Carbon Assessment 

noted below is based on this Standard] 

• RICS Professional Statement: Whole Life Carbon assessment for the built 

environment as the methodology to calculate embodied carbon [noting that this 

is an interpretation of BS15978 mentioned above] 

• ISO 14025: 2010 Environmental labels and declarations. Type III 

environmental declarations. Principles and procedures. 

• Institution of Structural Engineers: How to calculate embodied carbon  

vi. The following sources of data are preferable for reliable embodied carbon estimations due 

to largely reliable embodied carbon factors: 

108

https://www.leti.uk/cedg
https://www.carescertification.com/certification-schemes/sustainable-constructional-steel
https://www.carescertification.com/certification-schemes/sustainable-constructional-steel
https://aluminium-stewardship.org/
https://bregroup.com/services/standards/bes-6001-the-framework-standard-for-responsible-sourcing/
https://files.bregroup.com/breeam/guidancenotes/GN18-BREEAM-Recognised-Responsible-Sourcing-Certification-Schemes.pdf
https://www.rics.org/content/dam/ricsglobal/documents/standards/nrm_2_detailed_measurement_for_building_works_1st_edition_rics.pdf
http://www.aed.consulting/public/climate/LETI%20Embodied%20Carbon%20Primer.pdf
https://www.passivhaustrust.org.uk/UserFiles/File/Primers/2022%20PHT%20Primer%20embodied%20v4.pdf
https://www.rics.org/content/dam/ricsglobal/documents/standards/whole_life_carbon_assessment_for_the_built_environment_1st_edition_rics.pdf


  
 
 

71 
 

QUICK LINKS WITHIN 
THIS DOCUMENT: 

Combined checklist Energy and carbon Climate adaptation Sustainable construction Biodiversity Sustainable transport 

       

• Environmental Product Declarations for specific products you propose to use 

– these are certificates disclosing the embodied carbon (and other 

environmental impact factors) that are based on the specific conditions in which 

an individual product is produced. Not all products on the market have EPDs, 

but many products claiming ‘green’ credentials do have these to evidence their 

claims. You can use embodied carbon data from EPDs in combination with 

generic embodied carbon data for other products or materials from the 

databases noted below. EPDs should be third-party verified and confirm to RICS 

guidance. 

• The University of Bath ICE database – free-to-use; registration required. 

• Built Environment Carbon Database – currently in development (as of the 

time of writing this SPD, early 2023) led by RICS along with several other 

industry bodies.  

vii. Where specific carbon factors are not available, carbon factors can be manually generated 

using the RICS Methodology to Calculate Embodied Carbon of Materials. Associated 

assumptions and principles should also be addressed, which are set out in the Institution of 

Structural Engineers’ How to Calculate Embodied Carbon for Construction Materials 

guidance. 

viii. LETI guidance also lists out the actions for embodied carbon at each stage of the project, 

listing actions for the designer and for the life cycle assessment specialist at each RIBA 

Stage (see Appendix 0.2 of the LETI Climate Emergency Design Guide). 

Industry Benchmarks for Embodied Carbon Targets 

ix. According to the UKGBC, 20% of built environment carbon emissions are due to embodied 

carbon from the construction and refurbishment of buildings. The UKGBC recommends that 

minimum standards or embodied carbon limits are set by 2025 for large buildings 

(>1000m2) in mature sectors (where benchmark level data exists) and that by 2027, these 

minimum standards for embodied carbon are applied to all sectors.  

x. As part of the pursuit of high quality and sustainable design, RBWM strongly encourages 

development proposals, especially major proposals, to show that they have worked towards 

and compared against embodied carbon industry benchmarks relevant to the development 

type and completion date as outlined below (LETI and/or RIBA).  

xi. Developed by building environment professionals and experts, the RIBA 2030 Climate 

Challenge sets voluntary targets for embodied carbon, operational energy and water 

consumption. Version 2 of their targets has been updated so that embodied carbon targets 

align with LETI, GLA and UKGBC guidance. RIBA states that the Climate Challenge 

“presents ambitious but achievable forward-facing performance outcomes that are in line 

with the Future Homes Standard and future regulation, set against business-as-usual 

compliance approaches”. In their guidance, buildings should adopt the 2025 guidance as a 

minimum where buildings are being designed today, since the targets are based upon 

operational performance (as it is likely that buildings designed today will be completed 

closer to 2025). 

xii. LETI Embodied Carbon Primer (January 2020) set out to provide supplementary 

guidance to their Climate Emergency Design Guide, and provide voluntary recommended 

embodied carbon reduction targets, broken down into three building types, which LETI 

states will contribute to whole life net zero carbon design, when combined with achievement 

of energy use intensity (EUI) targets and supplied with 100% renewable energy. 

 

RIBA Climate Challenge Targets 
  Business as 

usual 
(kgCO2e/m2) 

2025 target 
(kgCO2e/m2) 

2030 
target 

(kgCO2e/m2) 

Residential 

 
Embodied carbon 

target 
(life cycle stages 
A1-A5, B1-B5, 
C1-C4, AND 

sequestration) 
 

1200 <800 <625 

Commercial 
office 

 
Embodied carbon 

target 
(life cycle stages 
A1-A5, B1-B5, 
C1-C4, AND 

sequestration) 
 

1400 <970 <750 

School 

 
Embodied carbon 

target 
(life cycle stages 
A1-A5, B1-B5, 
C1-C4, AND 

sequestration) 
 

1000 <675 <540 

 

 

 

 

 

 

109

https://circularecology.com/embodied-carbon-footprint-database.html
https://www.becd.co.uk/
https://www.igbc.ie/wp-content/uploads/2015/02/RICS-Methodology_embodied_carbon_materials_final-1st-edition.pdf
https://www.istructe.org/resources/guidance/how-to-calculate-embodied-carbon/
https://www.levittbernstein.co.uk/site/assets/files/3494/leti-climate-emergency-design-guide.pdf
https://www.architecture.com/-/media/files/Climate-action/RIBA-2030-Climate-Challenge.pdf
https://www.architecture.com/-/media/files/Climate-action/RIBA-2030-Climate-Challenge.pdf
http://www.aed.consulting/public/climate/LETI%20Embodied%20Carbon%20Primer.pdf


  
 
 

72 
 

QUICK LINKS WITHIN 
THIS DOCUMENT: 

Combined checklist Energy and carbon Climate adaptation Sustainable construction Biodiversity Sustainable transport 

       

LETI Embodied Carbon Targets 
 

‘Business as 
usual’ 

(kgCO2e/m2) 

2020 target 
or 40% reduction on baseline 

(kgCO2e/m2) 

2030 target 
or 65% 

reduction on 
baseline 

(kgCO2e/m2) 

Whole life net 
zero target 
(kgCO2e/m2) 

Residential 

 
Embodied 

carbon target 
(life cycle 

stages A1-A5, 
without 

sequestration) 
 

800 500 300 0 

 
Embodied 

carbon target 
(with 

sequestration 
included) 

 

N/A 400 200 -100 

Commercial 
office 

 
Embodied 

carbon target 
(life cycle 

stages A1-A5, 
without 

sequestration) 
 

1000 600 350 0 

 
Embodied 

carbon target 
(with 

sequestration 
included) 

 

N/A 500 250 -100 

School 

 
Embodied 

carbon target 
(life cycle 

stages A1-A5, 
without 

sequestration) 
 

1000 600 350 0 

 
Embodied 

carbon target 
(with 

sequestration 
included) 

 

N/A 500 250 -100 

 

xiii. Targeting ‘business as usual’ or 2020 level targets does not demonstrate an ambitious 

approach to operational and embodied carbon and these targets should be exceeded 

unless clear and robust justification can be provided. 

xiv. It is important to understand the scope of the two targets. Looking the office targets as an 

example, the LETI target figure for 2030 is almost half of the target recommended by RIBA. 

This is because the LETI targets only cover upfront embodied carbon (stages A1-A5, with 

sequestration optionally included) whereas the RIBA targets also cover in-use and end of 

life embodied carbon (B1-B5 and C1-C4) as well as up-front embodied carbon (A1-A5). In 

addition, the RIBA 2030 Climate Challenge targets also include sequestration, whereas the 

LETI targets are set at two levels: with and without sequestration. This means accounting 

for carbon that was captured and stored by trees or other plants, where your building 

includes some timber or other plant-based material.  

xv. Although not set out over an indicative time period, the Greater London Authority has also 

set whole life carbon targets within their Whole Life-Cycle Carbon Assessments London 

Plan Guidance (March 2022). These targets are used as part of determining planning 

permission approval/denial within the GLA for applications that are referred to the Mayor of 

London, but also used across London Boroughs as part of application reviews to 

demonstrate where applicants have seriously considered and have set appropriate 

ambitions for whole life carbon (i.e. they are not given the same weight as policy 

minimums).  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

110

https://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/lpg_-_wlca_guidance.pdf
https://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/lpg_-_wlca_guidance.pdf


  
 
 

73 
 

QUICK LINKS WITHIN 
THIS DOCUMENT: 

Combined checklist Energy and carbon Climate adaptation Sustainable construction Biodiversity Sustainable transport 

       

Appendix 8: Summary of RBWM Biodiversity Action Plan and 

Other Local Habitat Mapping  

i. As outlined in the Biodiversity chapter, Applicants are expected to consider the existing 

and potential biodiversity value that their development could and should support, both in 

terms of: 

a. The existing and potential biodiversity value of land within their site boundary,  

b. How their site sits within the wider surrounding landscape network of existing 

and potential biodiversity assets.  

• In this case by ‘biodiversity value’ and ‘biodiversity assets’ we refer to 

the quantity and quality of habitats, any conservation designation 

status, and the presence of specific wildlife species in need of 

protection or support.  

• Extensive research and mapping has taken place within RBWM and 

Berkshire as a whole to establish what the existing biodiversity assets 

are in the local area (whether or not these have a conservation 

designation), the condition of these, and the range of potential 

opportunities that are possible and desirable to best support biodiversity 

recovery. These prior exercises and documentation include: 

c. District-wide Biodiversity Action Plan (by the Council) 

d. Berkshire Biodiversity Opportunity Areas (by Thames Valley Environmental 

Records Centre, TVERC) 

e. Habitat mapping across Maidenhead (by Wild Maidenhead or other relevant 

local groups).  

ii. We here summarise the key insights from these in order to illustrate the kind of needs, 

issues, objectives and actions whose consideration or implementation would help to 

demonstrate that the applicant has earnestly considered and prioritised biodiversity 

benefits as part of their development proposals.  

RBWM Biodiversity Action Plan 

iii. The BAP outlines that only 39% of RBWM’s Local Wildlife Sites are in positive 

conservation management, which is behind the Berkshire average (64%).  

iv. The BAP lists the designated nature conservation sites in the local area. (see map at 

Figure 13: Statutory nature sites in the borough. Map credit: DEFRA (RBWM boundary 

colour & key added by Bioregional). We here outline the types: 

• Ramsar sites: Sites with statutory protection for their status as wetlands of 

international importance. The borough overlaps with one Ramsar site: South West 

London Waterbodies, which is also an SPA and SSSI.  

• SACs: Special Area of Conservation. Sites with statutory protection for their 

international importance for biodiversity, designated nationally support of a 

European directive. The borough contains or overlaps with three SACs.  

• SPAs: Special Protection Areas. Sites with statutory protection for their international 

importance for the conservation specifically of birds, designated at European level. 

Two SPAs overlap with the borough.  

• SSSIs: Sites of Special Scientific Interest. A statutory protection nationally 

designated for wildlife, geology, or landform interest. RBWM BAP lists 11 SSSIs 

(several of which are part of wider international designations).  

• LNRs: Local nature reserves. A statutory designation made to protect places that 

have local-level wildlife or geological interest. The BAP lists 9 LNRS within the 

borough. Many of the LNRs overlap with SSSIs, SACs, Ramsar or SPAs.  

• LWS: Local Wildlife Sites. A non-statutory site of significant value for wildlife 

conservation. The BAP notes that the borough has 84 Local Wildlife Sites. 

v. The BAP also comes with a set of six ‘Habitat Action Plans’ (HAPs): Woodland, 

Grassland, Waterways, Standing Water, Urban, and Farmland. Each of these contains 

actions structured by the three strands that run throughout the BAP: 

• Data collection actions 

• Actions bringing direct benefit to biodiversity/nature conservation 

• Actions on engagement, relationship-building or partnerships. 

vi. The BAP objectives with most potential relevance to development are:  

• Save 30% of land ‘for nature’ by 2030 

• All new development to have 10% biodiversity net gain secured for ≥30 years 

• Assemble better data on habitat distribution by surveying to identify Priority Habitat 

and ancient or veteran trees 

• Assemble better data on species distribution via surveys (dormice, bats, water vole, 

kingfisher, invertebrates, amphibian, newts, water rail, and toads)  

• By 2025, bring at least 50% of Local Wildlife Sites into positive management  

• By 2025, create 20ha of biodiverse grassland through developments 

• By 2025, increase trees by 15,000, including 5ha of extensions to existing LWS 

woodland and Priority Habitat woodland, and planting by 50 landowners 

• By 2025, increase the length of hedgerow in the borough by 5km 

• Monitor all waterways quality in the borough for phosphate and nitrate 

• Increase carbon sequestration through nature-based projects 

• Manage and reduce invasive species (including removal from 5km of waterways by 

2025, and work with landowners to identify and eradicate these).  

• Support water vole via 3km of improvements to degraded river habitat and 

improving marginal vegetation of 5 lakes or ponds by 2025. 

111

https://rbwmtogether.rbwm.gov.uk/22166/widgets/63702/documents/38455
https://rbwmtogether.rbwm.gov.uk/22166/widgets/63702/documents/38456
https://rbwmtogether.rbwm.gov.uk/22166/widgets/63702/documents/38460
https://rbwmtogether.rbwm.gov.uk/22166/widgets/63702/documents/38459
https://rbwmtogether.rbwm.gov.uk/22166/widgets/63702/documents/38461


  
 
 

74 
 

QUICK LINKS WITHIN 
THIS DOCUMENT: 

Combined checklist Energy and carbon Climate adaptation Sustainable construction Biodiversity Sustainable transport 

       

 

 

 

 

Figure 13: Statutory nature sites in the borough. Map credit: DEFRA (RBWM boundary colour & key added by Bioregional). 

112



 

75 
 

QUICK LINKS WITHIN 
THIS DOCUMENT: 

Combined checklist Energy and carbon Climate adaptation Sustainable construction Biodiversity Sustainable transport 

vii. The baseline set by the Borough’s Biodiversity Action Plan notes that only 39% of 

RBWM’s Local Wildlife Sites are in positive conservation management, which is behind the 

Berkshire average (64%). Further baseline details are summarised in the bullet points below. 

Applicants are encouraged to take these into account when getting to know the context and 

contents of their site, in order to identify the opportunities that exist for delivering habitat 

protection and creation via their landscape designs and management measures: 

• Woodlands cover ~27% of land area in the borough, or 34% including wood pasture and 

scattered trees. This is very high compared to the UK average of 13%. Areas of ancient 

woodland in RBWM account for 6.2% of land in the borough, including in Windsor Forest 

and Great Park, and Bisham Woods among others 

a. Particularly important species for RBWM’s woodlands include: Noctule bat; 

dormouse; lesser spotted woodpecker; stag beetle; various butterflies including 

speckled wood butterfly and silver-washed fritillary; and native bluebell.  

b. Threats to RBWM’s woodland habitats are Fragmentation, poor management (e.g. 

fertiliser or herbicide usage); invasive species (e.g. rhododendron, laurel), 

drainage of wet woodland; deadwood removal; deer proliferation; harmful visitor 

activity (trampling, dog faeces, litter); pests/diseases (e.g. ash dieback, oak 

processionary moth); climate change; loss of traditional practices e.g. coppicing or 

pollarding.  

• Grassland makes up ~33% of the land area in the borough, but the majority of this is 

‘improved’ grassland, a classification meaning it has been managed to produce more 

grass. This usually involves fertiliser, grass seed and soil PH adjustments, resulting in a 

low biodiversity compared to natural grassland that has not had such interventions. 

c. RBWM’s grassland includes some that has Priority Habitat status, including 

coastal/floodplain grazing marsh, lowland meadows and lowland dry acid 

grassland 

d. RBWM’s grassland homes several Priority Species including great crested newt, 

reptiles, small mammals and invertebrate species. Further key species associated 

with grassland types found in RBWM are glow worm, barn owl, adder, slow worm, 

grass snake, common lizard, pennyroyal, wild bees, moths, butterflies and wasps.  

• Threats to RBWM’s grassland are Lack of management (scrub encroachment); over 

mowing; over-fertilising; overgrazing (mainly cattle and horses); development (habitat 

loss or fragmentation); air pollution (nitrogen deposition); and increased recreational use 

(leading to trampling and wildlife disturbance).  

• ‘Cultivated and disturbed’ land (excluding amenity grassland) accounts for ~22% of the 

land area in the borough. Most of this is arable land (cropland). 

e. Important species associated with farmland types present in RBWM are Barn owl, 

skylark, yellowhammer, swallows, wild bees, beetles, butterflies and moths.  

f. Threats to biodiversity in RBWM’s farmland are Reduction of crop rotation (with 

grass leys and fallows), and regular recreation (horse riding).  

• Water (ponds, running water, reed beds) makes up 3.6% of the borough area.  

g. Some of this, including rivers and reedbeds, are classified as Priority Habitat. Of 

particular note is that the borough contains 25 miles of the River Thames (one of 

the country’s largest and most important rivers) as well as various other rivers, 

many of which are Thames tributaries. Also notable is the manmade Jubilee River 

which offers flood alleviation to 3,000 properties in Maidenhead, Windsor and 

Eton.   

h. Key species associated with the waterways present in RBWM include Brown trout, 

water vole, kingfisher, loddon lily, and aquatic invertebrates.  

i. Key species associated with standing water habitats present in RBWM include 

Toads, great crested newt, water rail, and aquatic invertebrates.  

j. Threats to the biodiversity of RBWM’s waterways are Pollution (nutrient runoff, 

leaching, sewerage); poor management (dredging, re-sectioning, neglect of 

banksides); nocturnal wildlife harm due to lighting from development; climate 

change; increased recreational use; inappropriate land drainage; invasive species 

(Himalayan balsam, New Zealand pygmy weed, American mink, signal crayfish); 

and man-made barriers.  

k. Threats to the biodiversity of RBWM’s standing water are Pollution (nutrient runoff, 

leaching), lack of management (siltation, excess vegetation, build up of plant 

material); invasive species; climate change; drainage and agricultural infilling; 

overstocking of fish; and increased recreational use.  

viii. Case studies of positive interventions are given for each type of habitat, which may provide 

inspiration for future actions by the Council, land managers or developers: 

o Woodland corridor creation via planting at Ockwells & Thriftwood Park, 

Maidenhead 

o Grassland conservation grazing at Battlemead Common, Cookham 

o Farmland wildflower field margins at Paley Street Farm, White Waltham 

o Waterways invasive species control at Sutherland Grange, Windsor 

o Standing water – wet woodland pond creation at Allens Field, South Ascot 

o Urban swift nest boxes (“swift corridor”) in Maidenhead, Marlow & Cookham. 

 

113



  
 
 

76 
 

QUICK LINKS WITHIN 
THIS DOCUMENT: 

Combined checklist Energy and carbon Climate adaptation Sustainable construction Biodiversity Sustainable transport 

       

Biodiversity Opportunity Areas (TVERC) 

ix. The BAP notes the existence of Biodiversity Opportunity Areas but does not list or 

mapped them. Therefore we here provide a map of the BOAs created by TVERCxlv at a 

Berkshire level. BOAs are not designated sites that constrain activities but are thought 

to have potential importance for biodiversity. BOA mapping aims to identify where the 

main biodiversity hotspots are and thus where conservation efforts can be most 

effective, such as maintenance, restoration and creation of Priority Habitats.   

 

Figure 14: For full size map, please visit: https://www.wildmaidenhead.org.uk/phase-1-habitat-survey 

114

https://www.wildmaidenhead.org.uk/phase-1-habitat-surve


  
 
 

77 
 

QUICK LINKS WITHIN 
THIS DOCUMENT: 

Combined checklist Energy and carbon Climate adaptation Sustainable construction Biodiversity Sustainable transport 

       

 
TVERC Biodiversity Opportunity Areas in RBWM 

 

Wild Maidenhead Phase 1 Habitat Survey  

x. The Wild Maidenhead Phase 1 Habitat Survey provides more granular detail on specific sites 

and species.in the Maidenhead area. This document is useful to understand specific wildlife 

species that are present, are experiencing threats, and could benefit from interventions some 

of which could be delivered with development (e.g. swift bricks, protection from artificial light, 

and protection from visitor disturbance). The full report comes with helpful mapping, 

reproduced here (Figure 14Error! Reference source not found.).  

115



  
 
 

78 
 

QUICK LINKS WITHIN 
THIS DOCUMENT: 

Combined checklist Energy and carbon Climate adaptation Sustainable construction Biodiversity Sustainable transport 

       

Appendix 9: Using the DEFRA Metric for Biodiversity Net Gain 

xi. The DEFRA metric currently has two versions:  

a. The full tool 

b. The ‘Small Sites’ tool. This is a simplified version which can be usedxlvi for the 

following:  

• Developments of 9 or fewer homes on sites of less than 1ha 

• Sites of 0.5ha where the number of homes is not known 

• Non-residential development on sites of 0.5ha  

• Non-residential development of less than 5,000 square metres. 

• But: the ‘small sites’ tool cannot currently be used where off-site measures will be 

needed, or if the site contains protected species, most Priority Habitat types, or 

certain other types of habitat that the Small Sites tool does not offer.  

xii. The DEFRA metric compares the pre-development and post-development presence of 

different types of planted habitat area and their condition. More valuable types of habitat earn 

more points, as do habitats in better condition. Applicants through the design of their 

development can deliver biodiversity net gain through the creation of larger habitat areas, 

creation of areas of more valuable habitat types, or enhancement of the condition of existing 

habitats.  

• Non-planted measures such as bird boxes, bat bricks, insect hotels, do NOT count in the 

DEFRA 4.0 metric.  

xiii. The amount, type and quality of habitat entered into the DEFRA BNG metric must be 

assessed by a ‘competent person’. Local government guidancexlvii states this is generally 

understood to be a qualified ecologist for the ‘full metric’, but that the ‘Small Sites’ metric may 

not need a qualified ecologist but someone otherwise ‘competent’ in their ability to confidently 

identify the indicator species likely to occur in the location at the time of year the survey is 

undertaken. The DEFRA Metric User Guidexlviii does not specify a qualification required but 

notes that “Competency is aligned with … BS 8683:2021’” and that for a River Condition 

Assessment the assessor must be trained and accredited in the River Condition Assessment 

methodology.   

xiv. The Government has confirmedxlix that it will enact secondary legislation that will exclude 

certain types of ‘irreplaceable habitat’ from the net gain calculation as their loss cannot 

be offset. In accordance with this Government proposal, when calculating the BNG, the 

following rules apply to development applications in RBWM: 

a. any loss of irreplaceable habitats such as ancient woodland, ancient and veteran trees 

must be treated separately from the calculation of biodiversity net gain and cannot be 

compensated by biodiversity credits.   

b. where retention and enhancement of these habits is proposed, these enhancements 

can contribute to an improved biodiversity score.  

xv. Government has committed to legislate to “set out a clear definition of irreplaceable habitat 

and list of habitat types to be considered irreplaceable” and “separate information 

requirements” relating to such habitats in planning proposals and decisions. Until this 

legislation is enacted, the Council will follow the NPPF glossary definition of ‘irreplaceable 

habitat’, which as of the NPPF 2023 is as follows: ancient woodland, ancient and veteran 

trees, blanket bog, limestone pavement, sand dunes, salt marsh and lowland fen.  

xvi. Where the minimum 10% net gain cannot be achieved through the delivery of new or 

improved habitats on site, as a last resort, the applicant will need remedy the deficit through 

biodiversity offsetting. Biodiversity offset credits are created for sale by land owners or 

managers by creating or enhancing habitat on other land. These are expected to become 

regulated and mediated through Government schemes (Natural England), but meanwhile can 

be accessed via brokers.  

a. Where biodiversity offsetting is needed, the Council expects this to be delivered as 

close to the site as possible and always within the borough. 

b. RBWM is in the process of setting up a Biodiversity Offsetting Scheme.  

xvii. The BNG metric can be used not only for full and reserved matters applications, but also for 

outline applications on an indicative and precautionary basis. Government confirms that for 

outline applications or development permitted in phases, there will be a requirement to set out 

how biodiversity gain will be achieved across the whole site on a phase-by-phase basis, and it 

should be subject to a condition requiring approval of a biodiversity gain plan prior to 

commencement of each phasel.  

xviii. Applicants for all types and sizes of development, through their application documents, will be 

required to provide: 

• The baseline ecological conditions of the site, as demonstrated through an ecological 

report (Preliminary Ecological Appraisal)  

• Illustrate through site or landscape plans (which are sufficiently labelled) the type and 

condition of habitat being delivered or enhanced by the development.  

• Biodiversity net gain calculation showing that at least 10% net gain will be met for the 

proposed development firstly through on-site measures, calculated through the most up 

to date version of DEFRA’s Biodiversity Metric with confirmation that this was performed 

by a suitably competent person as per the User Guide to the DEFRA Biodiversity Metric.  

• Measures of how the proposed habitats will be secured for 30 years or more (detailed 

management measures may be subject to a planning condition). 

• Where there are on-site losses and/or where biodiversity offsetting is required to meet 

the 10% net gain, the applicant is required to demonstrate why this was necessary with 

reference to the specific characteristics of the development site (for an indication of the 

explanation expected, see commentary alongside Error! Reference source not found.) 

and confirm that offsetting credits have not been used to ‘compensate’ any loss of 

irreplaceable habitat.  

• Confirmation that any offsetting credits used are from within the borough area.  

116

https://www.local.gov.uk/pas/topics/environment/biodiversity-net-gain-local-authorities/biodiversity-net-gain-faqs


  
 
 

79 
 

QUICK LINKS WITHIN 
THIS DOCUMENT: 

Combined checklist Energy and carbon Climate adaptation Sustainable construction Biodiversity Sustainable transport 

       

 

Appendix 10: Applying Local and National Electric Vehicle Charging Requirements 

Summary of Building Regulations Part S  

i. We provide this summary to help the reader become familiar with the general gist of the 

newly introduced Part S of building regulations. However, please note the Council is not 

liable for any inaccuracies in the below and it is the responsibility of the developer to 

refer to the full Part S document and comply with its requirements.  

ii. Our brief summary of the key requirements of Part S 2022 is as follows: 

a. All residential development (whether new, or through material change of use) 

that has one or more associated parking spaces must provide a number of 

charge points at a rate of at least one charge point per home, or one charge 

point per parking space if the number of parking spaces is less than the number 

of homes. 

b. Major residential renovation that has more than 10 associated parking 

spaces must ensure that at least one parking space for the use of each dwelling 

has access to a charge point, and the remaining spaces must have cabling 

ready to support installation of charge points  

c. Non-residential development that has more than 10 parking spaces 

(whether new development or major renovation) must provide at least one 

charge point and cabling suitable to supply charge points in at least 20% of the 

remaining space. The required number of charge points is not specified to 

increase with greater amounts of parking, unlike the cabling.    

iii. There are some caveats to the above, including but not limited to: 

a. An ‘associated parking space’ does not have to be an allocated one. It 

means any parking space, within the site boundary of the building, that is for the 

use of or available to any occupant of or visitor to the building.  

b. On-street parking on the public highway that does not belong to the owners to 

the building is excluded from the definition of ‘associated parking’, and therefore 

no requirements are set for this kind of parking.  

• However, in the case of on-street parking where the street is a new 

road proposed as part of the development, that street is under the 

ownership or control of the same developer at the point of depositing 

plans and therefore this becomes ‘associated parking’ to which the 

usual Part S requirements will apply in relation to all buildings that are 

associated with these spaces 

c. ‘Covered car parking’ can comply by providing not the charge points but 

instead by providing cable routes to allow a certain proportion of the covered 

parking spaces to be fitted with electric charge points in future. The amount of 

spaces in the covered car parking that must have these cable routes depends 

on the type of project (residential, non-residential, new, refurbishment, change of 

use) and on the proportion of the required provision that has already been met in 

any parking that the project provides in a location other than a covered car park.  

Where there is a mix of covered and non-covered car parking, the development 

must firstly comply with the requirements for the non-covered car parking.  

d. Cost caps and grid constraints: The required provision has some flexibility in 

response to situations where there are electrical grid constraints, or 

developments in which the cost of connection to the grid would exceed 

£3600/charge point or where the cost of installing the charge points would 

represent over 7% of the total capital cost of renovation. The exact degree of 

flexibility varies by type of development (new, renovation, residential, non-

residential) so it is essential to refer to the document to establish the exact 

applicability to your proposal, but the general logic flowing through Part S tends 

to mean that the development must then meet the requirements as far as 

possible within the relevant cost cap (and within the available incoming electrical 

supply at major renovations).  

e. Heritage settings: Flexibility to adjust the level or location of provision, where 

the building or its setting have particular architectural or historic value, in 

collaboration with the local authority’s heritage officer. 

f. Technical requirements are set for the type and quality of charge point (such as 

speed, socket type, display, and relevant British Standard).  

iv. Developers may also find it helpful to refer to the associated FAQ provided with Part S.   

How Do I Balance National Part S Requirements Against Local Standards? 

v. This SPD previously noted that there will be some cases where the Part S requirement 

will be higher than the local standard (20% of parking spaces to be provided with 

charging and the remaining 80% to have cabling) and other cases where the reverse is 

true. It was also stated that applicants should apply whichever standard is the higher in 

relation to the type of development proposed. Some examples are given here to 

illustrate this. 

a. In residential development with 1-5 parking spaces per home, all outdoors and 

within the site boundary of the building, Part S requires 1 charge point per home. 

This fulfils the local charge point standard (20%), but the remaining spaces also 

need cabling to meet the local standard. 

117

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1057375/AD_S.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/approved-document-s-infrastructure-for-charging-electric-vehicles-frequently-asked-questions


  
 
 

80 
 

QUICK LINKS WITHIN 
THIS DOCUMENT: 

Combined checklist Energy and carbon Climate adaptation Sustainable construction Biodiversity Sustainable transport 

       

b. In new covered car parking, Part S only requires cabling, not any charge points. 

This is lower than the local standard, therefore instead the local standard should 

be applied.  

c. In development that creates on-street parking that does not belong to the 

building owners and is not under the control of the same developer at the point 

of depositing plans or is separated from the building by a public road, Part S 

sets no requirement and therefore the local standard applies.  

d. In non-residential new development, the local standard always applies as it 

exceeds Part S.  

vi. In mixed-use development, Part S must firstly be met and then the provision should 

be extended to meet the local standard across any parts of the parking for which Part S 

compliance did not meet or exceed the local standard.  

• For example, if a mixed-use development provides 100 spaces, of which 50 are 

for residential use at a ratio of 1 space per home and the other 50 for non-residential 

use,  

o Part S would require chargers to all 100% of the 50 residential parking spaces. 

This more than fulfils the RBWM local standard across the residential parking.   

o In the 50 non-residential spaces, Part S only requires 1 charger between them 

and cabling to 20% of the rest (10 spaces). Thus in the non-residential share of 

the parking, the RBWM standard is not met by Part S compliance. Therefore the 

non-residential parking should use the local 80%/20% standard, i.e. 10 spaces 

with chargers and 40 with cabling.  

 

118



 

81 
 

QUICK LINKS WITHIN 
THIS DOCUMENT: 

Combined checklist Energy and carbon Climate adaptation Sustainable construction Biodiversity Sustainable transport 

Appendix 11: Summary of National Guidance on Active Travel Infrastructure Provision 

i. As noted in Chapter 7: Sustainable Transport, developers should, when designing 

cycling infrastructure, refer to national guidance on the quality and standards for this 

including LTN 1/20, Gear Change and Manual for Streets.  

a. ‘Gear Change’li, Department for Transport – contents include:  

• ‘Do’ and ‘don’t’ principles in designing for active travel 

• Quashing key myths and negative biases around cycling 

• Setting priorities for development design and planning decisions with 

regards to improving infrastructure quality sufficiently to meaningfully 

boost active travel.  

b. LTN 1/20lii – This gives detailed design guidance on: 

• planning for cycling 

• space for cycling within highways 

• transitions between carriageways, cycle lanes and cycle tracks 

• junctions and crossings 

• cycle parking and other equipment 

• planning and designing for commercial cycling 

• traffic signs and road markings 

• construction and maintenance. 

c. Manual for Streets – this 2007 guidance compiled jointly by several Government 

departments emphasises the following key points: 

 

• Defining the 5 functions of ‘Streets’ distinct from ‘roads’: Place, 

movement, access, parking, and utilities/drainage/lighting). ‘Place’ is the 

most important. 

• Defining 7 key stages for the street design process from policy to 

implementation 

• Setting a ‘movement framework’ for a hierarchy of users starting with 

pedestrians and then cyclists 

• Improving the relationship between dwellings and streets, including 

geometry such as widths, heights and aesthetics 

• Principles to consider the differing needs of different users including 

children and disabled people, as well as cyclists, bus users and 

emergency vehicles. 

• Guidance on traffic signs, markings, street furniture, light, materials, 

maintenance.   

d. Active Travel England Standing Advice Note: Active travel and sustainable 

development, 2023 guidance on: 

• How LPAs should proceed to assess an application where standing 

advice is offered 

• Active travel assessment considerations 

• Transport assessment and travel plans 

• Access to local amenities and public transport 

• Suitability for walking, wheeling and cycling 

• Street design 

• Safety at junctions and crossings 

• Cycle parking and facilities 

 

ii. We here provide a summary of key principles and messages flowing from these, which 

should form the basis for pursuing and assessing good design in provision for active 

travel in proposals:  

a. Routes for active travel should be coherently laid out to allow people to 

reach their day-to-day destinations by active travel easily, along routes that 

connect, and are simple to navigate. Coherency also means being of 

consistently high quality, being laid out to provide active travel routes along 

desire lines between key locations and avoiding excessive variation quality of 

provision (for example, cycle routes should not suddenly disappear abandoning 

the user at busy intersections or roundabouts).  

Figure 15: Principles in design of effective active travel. From Dft,, Gear Change. 

119

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/904146/gear-change-a-bold-vision-for-cycling-and-walking.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/cycle-infrastructure-design-ltn-120
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1072722/Essex_Manual_for_Streets_Redacted.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/active-travel-england-sustainable-development-advice-notes
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/904146/gear-change-a-bold-vision-for-cycling-and-walking.pdf


  
 
 

82 
 

QUICK LINKS WITHIN 
THIS DOCUMENT: 

Combined checklist Energy and carbon Climate adaptation Sustainable construction Biodiversity Sustainable transport 

       

• Coherency in RBWM means the development proposal also shows how 

its walking and cycling routes are connected to wider networks and 

supports network improvements where needed. Please see the Local 

Walking and Cycling Infrastructure Planliii for maps of these existing 

routes, planned route extensions, and some improvements that are 

needed such as barrier removal in specific locations. See also: Public 

Rights of Way Management and Improvement Planliv.  

b. Routes for active travel should be the most direct: They should provide the 

shortest and fastest route from place to place; this includes providing facilities at 

junctions that minimise delay and the need to stop and providing clear 

wayfinding. These routes should be at least as direct – and preferably more 

direct – than those for cars and vans.  

c. Routes for active travel should both be safe and feel safe. Separation of 

modes is important for both pedestrians and cyclists. Pedestrians should always 

be first in the hierarchy of street users. Where foot and cycle traffic must share 

space, this should be clearly signposted and there should be sufficient width and 

visibility for users to avoid each other. Motor traffic volume and speed should be 

reduced wherever possible such as through filtered permeability (ensuring that 

the filtering does not obstruct larger bikes such as cargo bikes or disability-

adapted cycles). Where motor speeds cannot be reduced to levels safe to share 

space, physically protected separate dedicated protected cycle lanes should be 

provided. Painted cycle lanes are insufficient. It should be shown how routes will 

remain usable at all times of day, considering that bike lights and handheld 

torches are not as powerful as car headlights and therefore the route should be 

free of potholes and obstructions and may need additional lighting provision 

compared to car routes.  

• Innovative designs can still achieve high levels of safety; the Manual for 

Streets lays out six principles through which to ensure compliance with 

disabilities legislation when pursuing innovative designs, and notes that 

‘safety-related issues need not dominate the overall assessment of the 

scheme at the expense of other [street quality] considerations’.   

• RBWM’s suggested range of safe infrastructure types is also outlined in 

the Local Walking and Cycling Infrastructure Plan.  

d. Routes for active travel should be comfortable: Surfaces should be smooth 

and wide enough for the volume of users (considering the need to overtake and 

the desire to walk or cycle side by side).  Foot and cycle routes should cater not 

only for proficient users but also to those who have different levels of cycling 

skill, confidence and physical fitness – such as children (who may need space to 

wobble), families (who may need to walk or cycle side by side), older and 

disabled people (who may need space for wider adapted cycles). Steep 

gradients, steep cambers, and proximity to high speed or high-volume traffic 

should be avoided (consider that noise and slipstream from fast-moving motor 

vehicles is at best unpleasant and at worst can unbalance cycles or 

pedestrians). Much of the existing ‘National Cycle Network’ is of poor quality or 

condition and contains obstructions. 

e. Routes for active travel should be attractive: Cycling and walking provide a 

more sensory experience than driving as the traveller is directly exposed to their 

surroundings and the elements. The attractiveness of the environment makes a 

real difference to the daily decision whether to walk, cycle or drive. Routes 

should therefore be stimulating (e.g. with active frontages or attractive views), 

use high-quality materials, planting, and be kept free from litter or broken glass.  

  

iii. The SPD chapter on Sustainable Transport also notes the Heritage England “Streets for 

All” guidance on design to welcome active travel. We here summarise key points from 

the content of that guidance to offer the reader a preview of its relevance to the 

development in question (acknowledging that these are of primary relevance to major 

proposals). The goals laid out in the Historic England guidance are to achieve: 

a. An inclusive environment – including towards both visible and hidden disabilities 

b. Public safety and ease of movement – including recognition that designs should 

be clear about which transport modes they promote, how this will affect the use 

and character of places and significance and appreciation of the historic 

environment, and how they manage any consequent risks that inevitably arise 

when modes share space 

Figure 16: Illustration of the space needs of cyclists to ride side by side or overtake, considering the 
natural 'wobble' inherent in the motion of cycling as well as the width of the person and bike. From 
Department for Transport, LTN 1/20. 

120

https://www.rbwm.gov.uk/sites/default/files/2022-09/transport_local_cycling_and_walking_infrastructure_plan_0.pdf
https://www.rbwm.gov.uk/sites/default/files/2022-09/transport_local_cycling_and_walking_infrastructure_plan_0.pdf
https://www.rbwm.gov.uk/sites/default/files/2020-04/prow_rowmip_2016_2026.pdf
https://www.rbwm.gov.uk/sites/default/files/2020-04/prow_rowmip_2016_2026.pdf
https://www.rbwm.gov.uk/sites/default/files/2022-09/transport_local_cycling_and_walking_infrastructure_plan_0.pdf
https://historicengland.org.uk/images-books/publications/streets-for-all/heag149-sfa-national/#:~:text=The%20aim%20of%20Streets%20for,safety%20and%20accessibility%20for%20all.
https://historicengland.org.uk/images-books/publications/streets-for-all/heag149-sfa-national/#:~:text=The%20aim%20of%20Streets%20for,safety%20and%20accessibility%20for%20all.


  
 
 

83 
 

QUICK LINKS WITHIN 
THIS DOCUMENT: 

Combined checklist Energy and carbon Climate adaptation Sustainable construction Biodiversity Sustainable transport 

       

c. A healthy environment to support wellbeing and cohesion – including air quality 

and stress reduction  

d. A high-quality environment – that is attractive, stimulating, functional and 

durable 

e. Economic benefit – seeking that designers of schemes make it clear what 

economic benefits they aim to achieve and measure performance before and 

after the works.  

iv. The guidance also offers more detailed advice on surfaces, street furniture, traffic 

management/calming, planting, lighting, and new equipment like kiosks, post boxes, 

parking ticket machines, cycle parking, waste bins, CCTV and advertising. Proposals in 

such settings can be strengthened by adding narrative showing how it has taken 

inspiration from this advice to deliver reduced car use and increased active travel.     

121



  
 
 

84 
 

QUICK LINKS WITHIN 
THIS DOCUMENT: 

Combined checklist Energy and carbon Climate adaptation Sustainable construction Biodiversity Sustainable transport 

       

 

 

 

END OF DOCUMENT  

• planning.policy@rbwm.gov.uk  

• Council consultation web page 

• https://www.rbwm.gov.uk/home/planning  

122

mailto:planning.policy@rbwm.gov.uk
https://www.rbwm.gov.uk/home/planning


  
 
 

85 
 

QUICK LINKS WITHIN 
THIS DOCUMENT: 

Combined checklist Energy and carbon Climate adaptation Sustainable construction Biodiversity Sustainable transport 

       

Bibliography and References 

 
i Wastewater heat recovery https://recoup.co.uk/?gclid=EAIaIQobChMI-
ceOvqKM_wIVzMztCh261Q3JEAAYASAAEgJWXfD_BwE). 
 
ii Building Regulations Part L Conservation of Fuel and Power 2021 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/conservation-of-fuel-and-power-approved-document-l 
 
iii LETI One Pager on Net Zero Carbon  
https://www.leti.uk/one-pager 
 
iv LETI Climate Emergency Retrofit Guide 2021 
https://www.leti.uk/retrofit 
 
v RIBA 2030 Climate Challenge https://www.architecture.com/about/policy/climate-action/2030-climate-
challenge 
 
vi Greater London Authority Energy Assessment Guidance  
https://www.london.gov.uk/programmes-strategies/planning/planning-applications-and-decisions/pre-
planning-application-meeting-service/energy-planning-guidance 
 
vii Greater London Authority (GLA) Carbon Offsetting Guidance  
https://www.london.gov.uk/programmes-strategies/planning/planning-applications-and-decisions/pre-
planning-application-meeting-service/energy-planning-guidance 
 
viii Greater London Authority Carbon Emissions Reporting Spreadsheet 
https://www.london.gov.uk/programmes-strategies/planning/planning-applications-and-decisions/pre-

planning-application-meeting-service/energy-planning-guidance 
 
ix UK GBC Unlocking the Delivery of Net Zero Carbon Buildings 
https://ukgbc.org/resources/unlocking-the-delivery-of-net-zero-carbon-buildings/ 
 
x UKGBC Renewable Energy Procurement & Carbon Offsetting Guidance for Net Zero Carbon Buildings 
https://ukgbc.org/resources/renewable-energy-procurement-carbon-offsetting-guidance-for-net-zero-
carbon-buildings/ 
 
xi UKGBC Net Zero Whole Life Carbon Roadmap https://ukgbc.org/our-work/topics/whole-life-carbon-
roadmap/ 
 
xii Historic England Saving Energy and Cutting Carbon in your Home 2022 
https://historicengland.org.uk/advice/your-home/energy-efficiency/making-changes-to-save-energy/ 
 
xiii Historic England Generating Energy in Your Home 2022 https://historicengland.org.uk/advice/your-
home/energy-efficiency/generating-energy/ 
 
xiv CIBSE TM54 Evaluating Operational Energy Use at the Design Stage 2022 
https://www.cibse.org/knowledge-research/knowledge-portal/tm54-evaluating-operational-energy-use-at-
the-design-stage-2022 
 
xv Passivhaus Trust Technical Guidance – Passivhaus Building Certification 
https://www.passivhaustrust.org.uk/guidance_detail.php?gId=36 
 

xvi Passivhaus Trust Technical Guidance Rules of Thumb 
https://www.passivhaustrust.org.uk/guidance_detail.php?gId=29 
 
xvii Passivhaus Trust – Guidance documents https://www.passivhaustrust.org.uk/guidance.php 
 
xviii Intergovernmental Science-Policy Platform on Biodiversity and Ecosystem Services (2019), The Global 
Assessment Report on Biodiversity and Ecosystem Services: Summary for Policymakers. 
https://www.ipbes.net/global-assessment  

xix Food & Agriculture Organisation (2004), What is agrobiodiversity? 
https://www.fao.org/3/y5609e/y5609e00.htm#Contents 

xx National Biodiversity Network (2019), State of Nature Report. https://nbn.org.uk/stateofnature2019/  

xxi Bioregional on behalf of Windsor and Maidenhead Climate Partnership (2022), Needs Analysis & 

Materiality Assessment. Available: 
https://static1.squarespace.com/static/635015a8c280ff71418c79a7/t/63c55955aabb890cbab76020/167387
7865674/RBWM+One+Planet+Living+Needs+analysis+and+materiality+assessment+-+V2+2022+11+25+-
+fixed+embedded+title.pdf  

xxii Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead (2023), Biodiversity Action Plan. 
https://rbwmtogether.rbwm.gov.uk/biodiversity-action-plan-2 

xxiii Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead (2020), Environment and Climate Strategy 2020-25. 
https://www.rbwm.gov.uk/home/environment-and-waste/energy-and-sustainability/environment-and-
climate-strategy  

xxiv Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead (2023), Biodiversity Action Plan. 
https://rbwmtogether.rbwm.gov.uk/biodiversity-action-plan-2  

xxv DEFRA (2023), Consultation on Biodiversity Net Gain regulations and implementation: Government 
response and summary of responses. https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/consultation-on-
biodiversity-net-gain-regulations-and-implementation/outcome/government-response-and-summary-of-
responses  

xxvi Hedgelink UK (2020) summary of Rivers-Moore et al, Wooded Semi-Natural Habitats Complement 
Permanent Grasslands in Supporting Wild Bee Diversity in Agricultural Landscapes.  

https://hedgelink.org.uk/research/wooded-semi-natural-habitats-complement-permanent-grasslands-in-
supporting-wild-bee-diversity-in-agricultural-landscapes/  

xxvii The Rivers Trust (no date), Planting trees for water. https://theriverstrust.org/our-work/trees-for-water  

xxviii Joint Nature Conservation Committee (2021), Keeping Rivers Cool. https://jncc.gov.uk/our-

work/keeping-rivers-cool/  

xxix Woodland Trust (2020), Tackling climate change with the right trees in the right place. 
https://www.woodlandtrust.org.uk/blog/2020/07/tackling-climate-change-right-trees-right-place/ 

xxx Living Roofs.org (no date), Biosolar roofs. https://livingroofs.org/introduction-types-green-roof/biosolar-

green-roofs-solar-green-roofs/  

 

123

https://recoup.co.uk/?gclid=EAIaIQobChMI-ceOvqKM_wIVzMztCh261Q3JEAAYASAAEgJWXfD_BwE
https://recoup.co.uk/?gclid=EAIaIQobChMI-ceOvqKM_wIVzMztCh261Q3JEAAYASAAEgJWXfD_BwE
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/conservation-of-fuel-and-power-approved-document-l
https://www.leti.uk/one-pager
https://www.leti.uk/retrofit
https://www.architecture.com/about/policy/climate-action/2030-climate-challenge
https://www.architecture.com/about/policy/climate-action/2030-climate-challenge
https://www.london.gov.uk/programmes-strategies/planning/planning-applications-and-decisions/pre-planning-application-meeting-service/energy-planning-guidance
https://www.london.gov.uk/programmes-strategies/planning/planning-applications-and-decisions/pre-planning-application-meeting-service/energy-planning-guidance
https://www.london.gov.uk/programmes-strategies/planning/planning-applications-and-decisions/pre-planning-application-meeting-service/energy-planning-guidance
https://www.london.gov.uk/programmes-strategies/planning/planning-applications-and-decisions/pre-planning-application-meeting-service/energy-planning-guidance
https://www.london.gov.uk/programmes-strategies/planning/planning-applications-and-decisions/pre-planning-application-meeting-service/energy-planning-guidance
https://www.london.gov.uk/programmes-strategies/planning/planning-applications-and-decisions/pre-planning-application-meeting-service/energy-planning-guidance
https://ukgbc.org/resources/unlocking-the-delivery-of-net-zero-carbon-buildings/
https://ukgbc.org/resources/renewable-energy-procurement-carbon-offsetting-guidance-for-net-zero-carbon-buildings/
https://ukgbc.org/resources/renewable-energy-procurement-carbon-offsetting-guidance-for-net-zero-carbon-buildings/
https://ukgbc.org/our-work/topics/whole-life-carbon-roadmap/
https://ukgbc.org/our-work/topics/whole-life-carbon-roadmap/
https://historicengland.org.uk/advice/your-home/energy-efficiency/making-changes-to-save-energy/
https://historicengland.org.uk/advice/your-home/energy-efficiency/generating-energy/
https://historicengland.org.uk/advice/your-home/energy-efficiency/generating-energy/
https://www.cibse.org/knowledge-research/knowledge-portal/tm54-evaluating-operational-energy-use-at-the-design-stage-2022
https://www.cibse.org/knowledge-research/knowledge-portal/tm54-evaluating-operational-energy-use-at-the-design-stage-2022
https://www.passivhaustrust.org.uk/guidance_detail.php?gId=36
https://www.passivhaustrust.org.uk/guidance_detail.php?gId=29
https://www.passivhaustrust.org.uk/guidance.php
https://www.ipbes.net/global-assessment
https://nbn.org.uk/stateofnature2019/
https://static1.squarespace.com/static/635015a8c280ff71418c79a7/t/63c55955aabb890cbab76020/1673877865674/RBWM+One+Planet+Living+Needs+analysis+and+materiality+assessment+-+V2+2022+11+25+-+fixed+embedded+title.pdf
https://static1.squarespace.com/static/635015a8c280ff71418c79a7/t/63c55955aabb890cbab76020/1673877865674/RBWM+One+Planet+Living+Needs+analysis+and+materiality+assessment+-+V2+2022+11+25+-+fixed+embedded+title.pdf
https://static1.squarespace.com/static/635015a8c280ff71418c79a7/t/63c55955aabb890cbab76020/1673877865674/RBWM+One+Planet+Living+Needs+analysis+and+materiality+assessment+-+V2+2022+11+25+-+fixed+embedded+title.pdf
https://rbwmtogether.rbwm.gov.uk/biodiversity-action-plan-2
https://www.rbwm.gov.uk/home/environment-and-waste/energy-and-sustainability/environment-and-climate-strategy
https://www.rbwm.gov.uk/home/environment-and-waste/energy-and-sustainability/environment-and-climate-strategy
https://rbwmtogether.rbwm.gov.uk/biodiversity-action-plan-2
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/consultation-on-biodiversity-net-gain-regulations-and-implementation/outcome/government-response-and-summary-of-responses
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/consultation-on-biodiversity-net-gain-regulations-and-implementation/outcome/government-response-and-summary-of-responses
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/consultation-on-biodiversity-net-gain-regulations-and-implementation/outcome/government-response-and-summary-of-responses
https://hedgelink.org.uk/research/wooded-semi-natural-habitats-complement-permanent-grasslands-in-supporting-wild-bee-diversity-in-agricultural-landscapes/
https://hedgelink.org.uk/research/wooded-semi-natural-habitats-complement-permanent-grasslands-in-supporting-wild-bee-diversity-in-agricultural-landscapes/
https://theriverstrust.org/our-work/trees-for-water
https://jncc.gov.uk/our-work/keeping-rivers-cool/
https://jncc.gov.uk/our-work/keeping-rivers-cool/
https://www.woodlandtrust.org.uk/blog/2020/07/tackling-climate-change-right-trees-right-place/
https://livingroofs.org/introduction-types-green-roof/biosolar-green-roofs-solar-green-roofs/
https://livingroofs.org/introduction-types-green-roof/biosolar-green-roofs-solar-green-roofs/


  
 
 

86 
 

QUICK LINKS WITHIN 
THIS DOCUMENT: 

Combined checklist Energy and carbon Climate adaptation Sustainable construction Biodiversity Sustainable transport 

       

 
xxxi Waste and Resources Action Programme (no date), Why we need to take action on food waste. 
https://wrap.org.uk/taking-action/food-drink/actions/action-on-food-waste  
xxxii Committee on Climate Change (2022), Progress in reducing emissions: 2022 report to Parliament. 
https://www.theccc.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2022/06/Progress-in-reducing-emissions-2022-Report-to-
Parliament.pdf  

xxxiii Committee on Climate Change (2021), Joint Recommendations 2021 Report to Parliament. 
https://www.theccc.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2021/06/CCC-Joint-Recommendations-2021-Report-to-
Parliament.pdf  

xxxiv Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead (2021), Bus Service Improvement Strategy. 
https://www.rbwm.gov.uk/sites/default/files/2021-
11/rbwm_bus_service_improvement_strategy_november_2021.pdf  

xxxv Department for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities and Ministry of Housing, Communities and 
Local Government (2014), Guidance: Travel Plans, Transport Assessments and Statements.  
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/travel-plans-transport-assessments-and-statements 

xxxvi At the time of writing this SPD, households without private parking are currently subject to twin 
obstacles against making the leap to EV: Not only is there a lack of on-street chargers and therefore 
difficulty in guaranteeing the ability to charge when needed, but also the cost of on-street EV charging is 
typically two to three times higher than the home electricity price enjoyed by those able to charge at home 
at their private parking. This is partly but not entirely explained by the lower VAT on domestic electricity. 
This is despite the additional inconvenience that on-street charging tends to be slow, and the fact that its 
installation is relatively cheap. See Committee on Climate Change (2022), Progress in reducing emissions: 
2022 report to Parliament. https://www.theccc.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2022/06/Progress-in-reducing-

emissions-2022-Report-to-Parliament.pdf.  

xxxvii Bioregional on behalf of RBWM Climate Partnership (2022), Needs Analysis and Materiality 
Assessment. Available from https://www.theclimatepartnership.co.uk/reports  

xxxviii Living Streets (2018) The Pedestrian Pound. https://www.livingstreets.org.uk/media/3890/pedestrian-
pound-2018.pdf  

xxxix Carlos Moreno (2019), The 15 minutes city: For a new chrono-urbanism!  https://www.moreno-
web.net/the-15-minutes-city-for-a-new-chrono-urbanism-pr-carlos-moreno/ Carlos Moreno coined the 
concept of the 15-minute city and defined the four ‘pillars’ of proximity, density, diversity and ubiquity.  

xl Town and Country Planning Association. Collection: The 20-minute neighbourhood. 

https://www.tcpa.org.uk/collection/the-20-minute-neighbourhood/  

xli TravelTime Map Demo. Travel time isochrone mapping tool online, available free of charge at the time of 
writing this SPD. https://app.traveltime.com/   

xlii Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead (2022), Local Walking and Cycling Infrastructure Plan. 
https://www.rbwm.gov.uk/sites/default/files/2022-
09/transport_local_cycling_and_walking_infrastructure_plan_0.pdf  

xliii Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead (2016) Public Rights of Way Management and 
Improvement Plan. https://www.rbwm.gov.uk/sites/default/files/2020-04/prow_rowmip_2016_2026.pdf  

xliv Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead (2021), Bus Service Improvement Strategy. 
https://www.rbwm.gov.uk/sites/default/files/2021-
11/rbwm_bus_service_improvement_strategy_november_2021.pdf  

xlv Thames Valley Environmental Records Centre (no date). Ecological networks. 
https://www.tverc.org/cms/content/ecological-networks-0  

xlvi DEFRA (2021), The Small Sites Metric (Biodiversity Metric 4.0) (JP040). 
https://nepubprod.appspot.com/publication/6047259574927360  

xlvii Local Government Association Planning Advisory Service (2023) Biodiversity Net Gain FAQs. 
https://www.local.gov.uk/pas/topics/environment/biodiversity-net-gain-local-authorities/biodiversity-net-
gain-faqs  
xlviii Natural England (2023), Biodiversity Metric 4.0 – User Guide. Available from 
https://publications.naturalengland.org.uk/publication/6049804846366720  
xlix DEFRA (2023), Consultation on Biodiversity Net Gain regulations and implementation: Government 
response and summary of responses. https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/consultation-on-
biodiversity-net-gain-regulations-and-implementation/outcome/government-response-and-summary-of-
responses  

l DEFRA (2023), Consultation on Biodiversity Net Gain regulations and implementation: Government 
response and summary of responses. https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/consultation-on-
biodiversity-net-gain-regulations-and-implementation/outcome/government-response-and-summary-of-
responses  

li HM Government Department for Transport (2020), Gear Change: A bold vision for cycling and walking. 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/904146/
gear-change-a-bold-vision-for-cycling-and-walking.pdf  

lii HM Government Department for Transport (2020), Guidance: Cycle Infrastructure Design LTN 1/20. 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/cycle-infrastructure-design-ltn-120  

liii Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead (2022), Local Walking and Cycling Infrastructure Plan. 
https://www.rbwm.gov.uk/sites/default/files/2022-

09/transport_local_cycling_and_walking_infrastructure_plan_0.pdf  

liv Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead (2016) Public Rights of Way Management and Improvement 
Plan. https://www.rbwm.gov.uk/sites/default/files/2020-04/prow_rowmip_2016_2026.pdf  

124

https://wrap.org.uk/taking-action/food-drink/actions/action-on-food-waste
https://www.theccc.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2022/06/Progress-in-reducing-emissions-2022-Report-to-Parliament.pdf
https://www.theccc.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2022/06/Progress-in-reducing-emissions-2022-Report-to-Parliament.pdf
https://www.theccc.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2021/06/CCC-Joint-Recommendations-2021-Report-to-Parliament.pdf
https://www.theccc.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2021/06/CCC-Joint-Recommendations-2021-Report-to-Parliament.pdf
https://www.rbwm.gov.uk/sites/default/files/2021-11/rbwm_bus_service_improvement_strategy_november_2021.pdf
https://www.rbwm.gov.uk/sites/default/files/2021-11/rbwm_bus_service_improvement_strategy_november_2021.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/travel-plans-transport-assessments-and-statements
https://www.theccc.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2022/06/Progress-in-reducing-emissions-2022-Report-to-Parliament.pdf
https://www.theccc.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2022/06/Progress-in-reducing-emissions-2022-Report-to-Parliament.pdf
https://www.theclimatepartnership.co.uk/reports
https://www.livingstreets.org.uk/media/3890/pedestrian-pound-2018.pdf
https://www.livingstreets.org.uk/media/3890/pedestrian-pound-2018.pdf
https://www.moreno-web.net/the-15-minutes-city-for-a-new-chrono-urbanism-pr-carlos-moreno/
https://www.moreno-web.net/the-15-minutes-city-for-a-new-chrono-urbanism-pr-carlos-moreno/
https://www.tcpa.org.uk/collection/the-20-minute-neighbourhood/
https://app.traveltime.com/
https://www.rbwm.gov.uk/sites/default/files/2022-09/transport_local_cycling_and_walking_infrastructure_plan_0.pdf
https://www.rbwm.gov.uk/sites/default/files/2022-09/transport_local_cycling_and_walking_infrastructure_plan_0.pdf
https://www.rbwm.gov.uk/sites/default/files/2020-04/prow_rowmip_2016_2026.pdf
https://www.rbwm.gov.uk/sites/default/files/2021-11/rbwm_bus_service_improvement_strategy_november_2021.pdf
https://www.rbwm.gov.uk/sites/default/files/2021-11/rbwm_bus_service_improvement_strategy_november_2021.pdf
https://www.tverc.org/cms/content/ecological-networks-0
https://nepubprod.appspot.com/publication/6047259574927360
https://www.local.gov.uk/pas/topics/environment/biodiversity-net-gain-local-authorities/biodiversity-net-gain-faqs
https://www.local.gov.uk/pas/topics/environment/biodiversity-net-gain-local-authorities/biodiversity-net-gain-faqs
https://publications.naturalengland.org.uk/publication/6049804846366720
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/consultation-on-biodiversity-net-gain-regulations-and-implementation/outcome/government-response-and-summary-of-responses
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/consultation-on-biodiversity-net-gain-regulations-and-implementation/outcome/government-response-and-summary-of-responses
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/consultation-on-biodiversity-net-gain-regulations-and-implementation/outcome/government-response-and-summary-of-responses
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/consultation-on-biodiversity-net-gain-regulations-and-implementation/outcome/government-response-and-summary-of-responses
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/consultation-on-biodiversity-net-gain-regulations-and-implementation/outcome/government-response-and-summary-of-responses
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/consultation-on-biodiversity-net-gain-regulations-and-implementation/outcome/government-response-and-summary-of-responses
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/904146/gear-change-a-bold-vision-for-cycling-and-walking.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/904146/gear-change-a-bold-vision-for-cycling-and-walking.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/cycle-infrastructure-design-ltn-120
https://www.rbwm.gov.uk/sites/default/files/2022-09/transport_local_cycling_and_walking_infrastructure_plan_0.pdf
https://www.rbwm.gov.uk/sites/default/files/2022-09/transport_local_cycling_and_walking_infrastructure_plan_0.pdf
https://www.rbwm.gov.uk/sites/default/files/2020-04/prow_rowmip_2016_2026.pdf


 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

REPORT SUMMARY 
 
The objectives of this report are to brief Cabinet of work undertaken to secure 
continuation of specialist integrated Sexual and Reproductive Health (SRH) services 
beyond the current contract end of 30th June 2024 and to seek approval for the process 
needed to achieve this. Provision of specialist SRH services is one of a few prescribed 
functions for use of the public health grant. 
 
This is important to the Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead’s (RBWM’s) vision 
“Creating a sustainable borough of opportunity and innovation” and objective’s 1 and 
3 of the Corporate Plan (2021-26) to create thriving communities and to be a Council 
trusted to deliver on its promises.  SRH services are important to offer clinical expertise 
regarding management and reduction of sexually transmitted infections, access to 
contraception and contraceptive advice and other specialist functions such as 
psychosexual services. These services impact people’s life opportunities, particularly 
access to contraception, as well as their mental and physical wellbeing.  

1. DETAILS OF RECOMMENDATION(S) 

RECOMMENDATION: That Cabinet notes the report and: 
i) Approves a two-year direct award to an eligible provider to ensure 

continuity of specialist, integrated SRH service provision beyond the 
30th June 2024 across Berkshire East (RBWM, Bracknell Forest 
Council (BFC) and Slough Borough Council. 

ii) Delegates authority and accountability for the contract award to BFC 
as the Lead Authority for the procurement.  

iii) BFC work with the market and NHS commissioning bodies to 
develop a life course response to sexual and reproductive health 
needs that offers better services for local communities. This process 
will result in initiation of a procurement of the specialist integrated 

Report Title: Procurement of the Specialist Integrated 
Sexual and Reproductive Health Service 

Contains 
Confidential or 
Exempt Information 

Yes  
Part I – Main Report 
 
Part II – Exempt, included as part II paper 
(Appendix A).   Not for publication by virtue of 
paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the 
Local Government Act 1972 

Cabinet Member: Councillor Del Campo, Cabinet Member for  
Adults, Health and Housing Services 

Meeting and Date: Cabinet – 27th September 2023 
Responsible 
Officer(s): 

Tessa Lindfield, Director of Public Health for 
Berkshire East 
Dr Jonas Thompson-McCormick, Deputy 
Director of Public Health 
Rebecca Willans, Consultant in Public Health 
for Berkshire East 

Wards affected:   All  

125

Agenda Item 8

https://www.rbwm.gov.uk/home/council-and-democracy/strategies-and-policies/corporate-plan-2021-2026


SRH service during the lifetime of the 2-year contract to ensure 
longer term provision.  

2. REASON(S) FOR RECOMMENDATON(S) AND OPTIONS CONSIDERED 

Options  
2.1 Background 

2.1.1 The contract for the specialist SRH service for residents in the local authorities 
across Berkshire East (Bracknell Forest Council (BFC); the Royal Borough of 
Windsor and Maidenhead (RBWM) and Slough Borough Council) is due to 
expire on the 30th June 2024. 

2.1.2 The recommended approach agreed by all local authorities was to retender 
under the light touch regime of the Public Contracts Regulations 2015 (the 
Regulations). The maximum financial envelope for BFC and Slough Borough 
Council was also agreed; for RBWM this occurs at award stage so had not yet 
taken place. 

2.1.3 In April 2023, the Head of Service for Public Health gained approval for RBWM 
to go out to tender for the Berkshire East Sexual and Reproductive (SRH) 
Service. This included a recommendation to continue joint commissioning 
arrangements; for RBWM to continue funding 27% of the total contract value; 
that BFC will lead the procurement process; and that to secure this, BFC would 
go out to tender under the light touch regime.  

2.2 Progress on the tender by BFC to June 2023  
2.2.4 Since that time, good progress has been made on the procurement delivery 

plan. The draft Health Needs Assessment has been completed and its findings 
have been used to inform the design of the draft service specification for the 
new specialist integrated SRH service.  

2.2.5 A Prior Information Notice (PIN) was released in March 2023 as part of the 
tender process to test the market interest. These were assessed by the BFC 
officers leading the procurement including the Head of Corporate 
Procurement and the Public Health Strategic Commissioning Manager. 

2.2.6 Based on the information gathered as part of preparation for tender, a new 
options appraisal has been undertaken and this paper informs Cabinet of the 
process most likely to secure good SRH service provision for the public and 
mitigating potential risks to the Berkshire East local authorities.  

2.2.7 The options appraisal is included in the part II paper as this includes 
commercially sensitive information.  

3. KEY IMPLICATIONS 

3.1 The successful outcome intended of the specialist integrated SRH service 
procurement approach is to secure an eligible provider to deliver the specialist 
SRH service on a refreshed service specification and new contract by 1st July 
2024. This must be delivered within the financial envelope approved by Slough 
and BFC Council’s for their proportion of the contract and to secure RBWMs 
continued contribution of 27% of the total contract value.  

3.2 The key implications table is included in the part II paper as this includes 
commercially sensitive information.  
 

126



4. FINANCIAL DETAILS / VALUE FOR MONEY  

4.1 The specialist SRH service will be funded through use of RBWM’s public health 
grant; this is appropriate and necessary since SRH services are one of a few 
prescribed functions for use of the public health grant money. 

4.2 The proposed contract value is forecast based on maintaining the current 
contract value with a maximum uplift of 5% per annum or the Consumer Price 
Index (whichever is the lower of the two values at the time; i.e. 5% will be the 
maximum annual increase if the Consumer Price Index is higher than 5%). 

4.3 The full details of the contract value (including total maximum value and RBWMs’ 
share) are included in Paper II as this includes commercially sensitive 
information.  

5. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS  

5.1 The procurement of Sexual and Reproductive Health Services enables RBWM to 
meet the following Public Health statutory duties under the Health and Social 
Care Act 2013 : The mandatory provision of Open Access Sexual and 
Reproductive Health services by all Local Authorities – Health and Social Care 
Act 2013. 

5.2 All procurement must comply with the Public Contracts Regulations 2015 and 
Bracknell Forest Councils’ contract procedure rules as the host commissioning 
organisation (Lead Authority). For the contract award, the regulations being 
applied are Regulation 72-part 1B and 1C or Regulation 32-part 2 C, whichever is 
most appropriate.  

5.3 The recommended option detailed in Paper II is to allow for the best value 
contract award as well as a compliant one. 

6. RISK MANAGEMENT  

6.1 A full risk assessment is included in Part II of this paper but cannot be included 
here as it contains commercially sensitive information.  

7. POTENTIAL IMPACTS  

7.1 Equalities. An Equality Impact Assessment is available as Appendix B.  
 
7.2 Climate change/sustainability. There are no direct climate change / sustainability 

implications of this service or procurement process.   
 
7.3 Data Protection/GDPR. The provider of the Specialist Integrated SRH service will 

process personal data in their management of health care for service users.   
 

7.4 There are staffing implications, including TUPE. 

7.5 The mobilisation phase will give an incoming provider time to complete TUPE for 
any employees of an outgoing provider wishing to transfer to a new provider.  

127



Where TUPE does not apply, the mobilisation phase allows sufficient time for 
recruiting and training new (or and existing) staff. 

7.6 There is no anticipated impact for staff employed by BFC.  

7.7 In the event an eligible provider does not accept the Direct Award offer, BFC will 
run a procurement.  

8. CONSULTATION 

8.1 Please see paper II since the information in this section is commercially 
sensitive.  

9. TIMETABLE FOR IMPLEMENTATION 

9.1 Implementation date if not called in: September 2023. The full implementation 
stages are set out in paper II as the details contain commercially sensitive 
information.  
 

9.2 The new contract will need to be in place with an eligible specialist integrated 
SRH provider by 1st July 2024.  
 

10. APPENDICES 

10.1 This report is supported by two appendices: 
 
• Appendix A: Paper II  
• Appendix B Equality Impact Assessment  

11. BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS 

11.1 There are no background documents.  

12. CONSULTATION 

 Name of 
consultee 

Post held Date 
sent 

Date 
returned 

Mandatory:  Statutory Officer (or deputy)   
Andrew Vallance Head of Finance/ interim S151 

Officer 
12.07.23 18.07.23 

Elaine Browne Head of Law & Governance/ 
Monitoring Officer 

12.07.23 17.07.23 

Deputies:    
    
    
Mandatory:  Procurement Manager (or deputy) - if 

report requests approval to go to 
tender or award a contract 

  

Lyn Hitchinson Procurement Manager 12.07.23 14.08.23 

128



 
Mandatory:  Data Protection Officer (or deputy) - if 

decision will result in processing of 
personal data; to advise on DPIA 

  

Samantha 
Wootton 

Data Protection Officer n/a n/a 

Mandatory:  Equalities Officer – to advise on 
EQiA, or agree an EQiA is not 
required 

  

Ellen McManus-
Fry 

Equalities & Engagement 
Officer 

12.07.23 15.08.23 

Other consultees:    
Directors (where 
relevant) 

   

Stephen Evans Chief Executive n/a n/a 
Andrew Durrant Executive Director of Place n/a n/a 
Kevin McDaniel Executive Director of Adult 

Social Care & Health 
12.07.23 16.08.23 

Lin Ferguson Executive Director of 
Children’s Services & 
Education 

  

Heads of Service 
(where relevant)  

   

Jonas Thompson-
McCormick 

Head of Public Health 12.07.23  

External (where 
relevant) 

   

N/A    

 
Confirmation 
relevant Cabinet 
Member(s) 
consulted  

Cabinet Member for Adults, 
Health and Housing Services 

Yes 

 

REPORT HISTORY  
 

Decision type: Urgency item? To follow item? 
Cabinet report: Key 
decision. 
 
First entered the 
Cabinet Forward 
Plan: 14th August 
2023 
 

No No  

 
Report Author: Rebecca Willans, Consultant in Public Health, Shared Public 
Health Hub for Berkshire East and Lead on Sexual and Reproductive 
Health. Telephone number:  01344 355355 

 

129



 

Appendix B 

Equality Impact Assessment 

For support in completing this EQIA, please consult the EQIA Guidance 
Document or contact equality@rbwm.gov.uk 

 

1. Background Information 
 

Title of policy/strategy/plan: 
 

Specialist Integrated Sexual Health Service 

Service area: 
 

Public Health 

Directorate: 
 

Adult Social Care and Health 

 

Provide a brief explanation of the proposal: 
• What are its intended outcomes? 
• Who will deliver it? 
• Is it a new proposal or a change to an existing one? 

 
This is a change to the service specification for the Specialist Integrated Sexual 
Reproductive Health Service (SRH), which has been undertaken in response to a SRH 
Health Needs Assessment and in preparation for the procurement of a new SRH contract 
following expiry of the current one on 30th June 2024.  
 

 

 

2. Relevance Check 
Is this proposal likely to directly impact people, communities or RBWM employees?  

• If No, please explain why not, including how you’ve considered equality issues.  
• Will this proposal need a EQIA at a later stage? (for example, for a forthcoming 

action plan) 
Yes, and impact on equality will be managed through ongoing monitoring and a refreshed 
Health Needs Assessment in circa four to five years time that will be used to inform further 
service developments.  

 

If ‘No’, proceed to ‘Sign off’. If unsure, please contact equality@rbwm.gov.uk 

 

 

 

  

130

mailto:equality@rbwm.gov.uk
mailto:equality@rbwm.gov.uk


3. Evidence Gathering and Stakeholder Engagement 
Who will be affected by this proposal?  
For example, users of a particular service, residents of a geographical area, staff 

 
While the whole resident population may access the SRH service, the HNA identified 
areas of improvement particularly impacting children and young people, ethnic minority 
groups, people with a learning disability and asylum seekers. The refreshed service 
specification has been written using evidence based practice guidance to enhance access 
for these groups to promote equity of access overall.  
 
Among those affected by the proposal, are protected characteristics (age, sex, 
disability, race, religion, sexual orientation, gender reassignment, pregnancy/maternity, 
marriage/civil partnership) disproportionately represented?  
For example, compared to the general population do a higher proportion have disabilities?  
 
Yes: 
 
Gender and race: Women of ethnic minority groups (including mainly ‘Black’, ‘Asian’ and 
‘Other’.  
 
Age: children and young people 
 
Disability: people who have a learning disability  
 
What engagement/consultation has been undertaken or planned?  

• How has/will equality considerations be taken into account?   
• Where known, what were the outcomes of this engagement? 

 
For women, including those of ethnic minority groups, the Maternity Voices Partnership 
and BPAS (current Termination of Pregnancy provider) undertook surveys with service 
users to understand their contraceptive access choices, barriers and beliefs as this was a 
theme identified from the data where more information was needed to inform decisions 
about the equity of access to pre-conception care. The outcomes of this engagement are 
included in the HNA, which will be published in 2023 and the service specification for the 
specialist SRH service places more emphasis on the provider undertaking outreach to 
engage with communities among whom contraceptive access is low.  
 
A professional stakeholder’s workshop was held to share the key findings of the HNA and 
to explore opportunities to address some of the inequities identified for the groups listed 
above. The outcome of this engagement includes a recommendation to prepare an 
engagement strategy and provider collaborative including voluntary sector organisations to 
monitor and respond to the needs of priority population groups. Specifically in the short 
term this will include engagement with the population groups listed above but 
acknowledges that in time new inequities may become known and these will also require 
response.  
 
What sources of data and evidence have been used in this assessment?  
Please consult the Equalities Evidence Grid for relevant data. Examples of other possible 
sources of information are in the Guidance document. 
 
National policies and strategies including those published by the Office for Health 
Improvement and Disparities, GP data, SRH service data, service user feedback from the 
MVP, BPAS and the specialist SRH provider.  

131



 

4. Equality Analysis 
Please detail, using supporting evidence: 

• How the protected characteristics below might influence the needs and experiences 
of individuals, in relation to this proposal. 

• How these characteristics might affect the impact of this proposal. 

Tick positive/negative impact as appropriate. If there is no impact, or a neutral impact, state 
‘Not Applicable’ 

More information on each protected characteristic is provided in the Guidance document. 

 Details and supporting evidence Potential 
positive impact 

Potential 
negative 
impact 

Age 
 

See HNA for full analysis; there is limited 
understanding of the effectiveness of local 
sexual health promotion for children and 
young people. Data shows local efforst to 
promote the Safe Sex Berkshire website 
have been effective in directing young 
people to the site but the effectiveness of 
this and how the offer compares to other 
digital SRH interventions is not known. 
Therefore engagemet work is planned for 
2023-2025 to improve the offer for CYP.  

 Improved 
awareness of 
safe sex, 
reproductive 
health and 
safe 
relationships.  

Not acting will 
likely limit the 
effectiveness 
and spread of 
current SRH 
health 
promotion for 
younger 
people.  

Disability 
 

National evidence and feedback from 
local professionals suggests the SRH 
service has a limited accessability offer for 
people with a learning disability. 
Engagement work is needed with this 
population group to understand what 
could be put in place to enhance the 
current offer; also the new service 
specification has been updated inline with 
best practice guidance for enhancing 
access to SRH services for people with 
this protected characteristic and other 
disabilities.  

Improved 
access to the 
service for 
people with a 
learning 
disability  

none 

Sex 
 

The HNA identified for some groups of 
women (based on their ethnicity), there 
were differences in uptake of 
contraception, setting of contraceptive 
service uptake and outcomes associated 
with inadequte contraceptive / 
preconception support. This is detailed 
below under ethnicity as this was the 
variable most influential rather than 
gender itself.  

  

Race, ethnicity and 
religion 
 

The service specification has been 
updated to ensure the specificalist 
provider engages in outreach with ethnic 
minority groups, to promote contraceptive 
choice and engage them in timely 
preconception care.  

Improved 
support for 
ethnic minority 
women in 
preparing for 
pregnancy and 
/ or choosing 
the right 
contraception 
for them.  

 

132



Sexual orientation and 
gender reassignment 
 

The HNA identified that gay and bisexual 
men are over-represented in local STI 
consultations, with 11% of all tests 
attributed to this group compared to the 
various estimations of 2-4% of Berkshire 
East men aged 16 and over being gay or 
bisexual (ONS 2023; ONS 2021). This 
over-representation is to be expected, as 
men who have sex with men are identified 
as a high-risk group for STIs and regular 
testing is recommended.  
 
No other findings were identified in the 
HNA that indicated unmet need; this was 
in part because the population numbers 
are relatively small and although the 2021 
census captured information about 
people’s sexual orientation, this data is 
still experimental as a notable proportion 
of residents did not respond to this 
question. It is therefore not possible to 
provide meaningful rates for many 
indicators of SRH.  
 
A need for more outreach into populations 
where there may be higher demand for 
STI testing, including among gay and 
bisexual men, was identified as a 
recommendation in the HNA and has 
informed the service specification and 
wider commissioning intentions.  

Improved 
insights 
regarding 
effective local 
interventions 
to reduce the 
risk of 
exposure to 
STIs among 
gay, bisexual 
and men who 
have sex with 
men groups.  

 

Pregnancy and 
maternity 

   

Marriage and civil 
partnership 

   

Armed forces 
community 

   

Socio-economic 
considerations e.g. low 
income, poverty 

While socio-economic deprivation is 
usually assocuated with poorer health 
outcomes, the recent SRH HNA did not 
identify many significant differences in 
SRH outcomes for people living in the 
relatively more deprived areas of RBWM 
compared the less deprived areas.  
 
The only outcome where this was the 
case was higher rates of Terminations of 
Pregnancy; however the other data 
associated with effective reprodictive 
health services including contraception 
did not identify a clear association with 
depriovtion. Ethnicity was a stronger 
predictor.   
 
National evidence suggests rates of HIV 
and STIs are generally higher in more 

Neutral impact 
at this time.  

 

133



deprived areas, as well as Terminations of 
Pregnancy.  
 
It will be important during the lifetime of 
the new SRH service to monitor SRH 
outcomes by deprvation to ensure 
inequities are identified and managed.  

Children in care/Care 
leavers 

National evidence indicates that Children 
in Care and Care Leavers are more at risk 
of experiencing or having experienced 
sexual abuse. The Specialist SRH service 
requirements include nationally 
recommended safeguarding protocol to 
identify and respond to children at risk.   

  

 
5. Impact Assessment and Monitoring  
If you have not identified any disproportionate impacts and the questions below are not 
applicable, leave them blank and proceed to Sign Off. 

What measures have been taken to ensure that groups with protected characteristics 
are able to benefit from this change, or are not disadvantaged by it?  
For example, adjustments needed to accommodate the needs of a particular group 
Changes have been made to the specialist SRH service specification and an engagement 
strategy is being produced to support ongoing monitoring and response.  
 

Where a potential negative impact cannot be avoided, what measures have been put in 
place to mitigate or minimise this? 

• For planned future actions, provide the name of the responsible individual and the 
target date for implementation. 

None identified  

How will the equality impacts identified here be monitored and reviewed in the future? 
See guidance document for examples of appropriate stages to review an EQIA. 
Ongoing monitoring within the specialist SRH service specification the SRH engagement 
strategy and a refreshed HNA in 4-5 years time.  

 

6. Sign Off 
Completed by: 
Rebecca Willans 

Date: 05/07/23 

Approved by: Ellen McManus-Fry 
 

Date: 15/08/23 

If this version of the EQIA has been reviewed and/or updated: 

Reviewed by: 
 

Date: 

 

134



 
Report Title: A308 speed reduction from Monkey Island 

Lane to M4 motorway bridge 
Contains 
Confidential or 
Exempt Information 

No  

Cabinet Member: Councillor Hill, Lead member for Transport  
Meeting and Date: Cabinet – 27 September 2023 
Responsible 
Officer(s): 

Andrew Durrant – Executive Director for Place 
and Chris Joyce – Assistant Director for ISEG 

Wards affected:   Bray 
 
REPORT SUMMARY 
 
To amend the speed limit on the A308 between Monkey Island Lane and the M4 
motorway bridge from the current 40 mph to 30 mph. This is in response to requests 
from local residents and members of the Bray parish council. 
 
The reduction is not supported by officers based on evidence gathered in the last two 
years using traffic count surveys. The speed at the 85th percentile is significantly below 
the current speed limit and whilst minor injury-related incidents have been recorded 
by the police, the current limit appears correct of a road of this nature. 
 
Furthermore, the police have issued a formal objection with the proposed changes 
likely to result in a high degree of non-compliance and as this road is part of a diversion 
route on the strategic road network does not believe that the proposed 30 mph limit to 
be acceptable. 

1. DETAILS OF RECOMMENDATION(S) 

RECOMMENDATION: That cabinet meeting on September 27th 2023 notes the 
report and: 

 
i) Decides on whether the reduce the speed limit on this stretch of the 

A308 from 40 mph to 30 mph. 
 

2. REASON(S) FOR RECOMMENDATION(S) AND OPTIONS CONSIDERED 

Options  
 

Table 1: Options arising from this report 

Option Comments 
Retains the current speed limit of 40 mph 
on the stretch of the A308 between Monkey 
Island Lane and the M4 motorway bridge 
 
This is the recommended option 

This recommendation is based on 
both advice from RBWM’s traffic 
safety team and in line with the 
Thames Valley Police view that the 
40 mph limit is the appropriate one 
for this stretch of road. 

135

Agenda Item 9



Option Comments 
Uses the council’s highway authority to 
reduce the speed limit from 40 mph to 30 
mph  
 
 

Going against advice from officers 
and against the formal objection of 
Thames Valley Police. It is likely that 
this will result in a high level of non-
compliance with little change of 
enforcement whilst making a known 
diversion route on the strategic road 
network less accessible. 

  
2.1 Officers have based their recommendation on the speed survey data that 

indicates a high degree of compliance with the current limit.  

2.2 Only reducing the speed limit is unlikely to have a major impact on average 
speeds and this will likely result in a high degree of non-compliance with the 
proposed 30 mph speed limit. 
 

2.3 The police have formally objected to the reduction in the speed limit proposed 
stating that this would result high degree of non-compliance, unduly 
criminalising a lot of people. The road is a main artery between Maidenhead 
and Windsor as well as a diversion route for the M4 and a lower limit is not 
appropriate for such a road. 
 

2.4 The police would also object to introduce any traffic calming measures which, 
whilst not being proposed at this stage, would likely be required to achieve a 
drop in average speed from what is currently observed to below the new speed 
limit of 30 mph. 
 

2.5 Whilst a number of injury related accidents have occurred, and recorded by the 
police, only one of these had speed as an attributing factor, and this was used 
by TVP as a further reason not to support the proposed change. 

3. KEY IMPLICATIONS 

3.1 The recommended option is the maintain the status quo with the speed limit at 
40mph. This will mean that there would be no new implications if that 
recommendation is backed. 
 

3.2 Should the decision be to overrule officer recommendation and police 
objections, the following implications are possible. 
 
Table 2: Key Implications 
Outcome Unmet Met Exceeded Significantly 

Exceeded 
Date of 
delivery 

Increase in 
cars 
exceeding 
the speed 
limit 

   X As soon 
as speed 
limit is 
changed 

      

136



4. FINANCIAL DETAILS / VALUE FOR MONEY  

4.1 There would be no cost to the recommended option as this maintains the 
current speed limit. 
 

4.2 Should the decision be to support the reduction to 30mph, this would require 
the writing of a new Traffic Regulation Order and installation of signage. For a 
road of this length this would usually result in a one-off cost around £5,000. 
 

5. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS  

5.1 There are no legal implications to the recommended option. 
 

5.2 The alternative option to reduce the speed requires a legal consultation which 
may garner formal objections. Once completed, the Traffic Regulation Order 
will reduce the limit to 30mph and enforcement will become the responsibility of 
Thames Valley Police. 

6. RISK MANAGEMENT  

6.1 There are no new risks with the recommended option. 
 

6.2 Reducing the speed limit may result in the following risks: 

Table 3: Impact of risk and mitigation 
Threat or risk Impact 

with no 
mitigations 
in place or 
if all 
mitigations 
fail  

Likelihood 
of risk 
occurring 
with no 
mitigations 
in place. 
 
 

Mitigations 
currently in 
place  
 
 

Mitigations 
proposed 
 
 

Impact of 
risk 
once all 
mitigations 
in place 
and 
working 

Likelihood 
of risk 
occurring 
with all 
mitigations 
in place. 
 
 

There is a risk 
that more 
drivers fail to 
observe the 
new 30 mph 
speed limit 

Moderate 
2 

High Current 
speed limit 
is 
appropriate 
for the road 
and data 
indicates 
this is being 
observed by 
most drivers 

Introduce 
traffic 
calming 
measures 
though this 
are costly 
and would 
result in 
further 
objections 
from the 
police 

Moderate 
2 

High 

More 
complaints to 
the council and 
the police as a 
result of drivers 
not observing 
the new speed 
limit, using up 
limited 
resources 

Low 1  High Current 
speed limit 
is 
appropriate 
for the road 
and data 
indicates 
this is being 
observed by 
most drivers 

No 
mitigations 
and police 
unlikely to 
dedicate 
enforcement 
resources if 
decision is 
against their 
objection 

Low 1 High 

137



Lower speeds 
can lead to 
traffic being 
more closely 
bunched 
together with 
fewer 
opportunities to 
cross the road. 

Moderate 
2  

Low Speed at the 
appropriate 
40mph 
allowing for 
natural gaps 
in the traffic 

If this risk is 
particularly 
bad 
mitigation of 
new traffic 
signals 
would be 
required 
further 
impacting 
the flow of 
traffic. 

Low 1 Low 

 

7. POTENTIAL IMPACTS  

7.1 Equalities. An Equality Impact Assessment is available as Appendix A.  
 
7.2 Climate change/sustainability: There are trials ongoing to determine the impact 

of reduced speeds on local air quality conditions. At this time there is some 
supporting evidence of improvements  at higher speeds but it is unclear whether 
this would be replicated when changing the speed limit from 40 mph to 30 mph, 
especially if there is concern that traffic will actually slow down. 

 
7.3 Data Protection/GDPR. Not required as this paper relates to whether to change 

the speed limit on a stretch of road. Should the decision be taken not to follow 
the recommended option, a consultation will be run to support the new Traffic 
Regulation Order and this would be completed in accordance with data 
protection rules. 
 

8. CONSULTATION 

8.1 Internal discussions to date with formal consultation with Thames Valley Police.  
  

8.2 Should the decision be taken not to go ahead with the recommended option, a 
consultation to support the new Traffic Regulation Order will be required. 

9. TIMETABLE FOR IMPLEMENTATION 

9.1 There will be no implementation if the recommended option is chosen. 
 

9.2 Implementation date if the choice is made to proceed with the speed reduction 
and not called in: Immediately The full implementation stages are set out in 
table 4 
 
Table 4: Implementation timetable 
Date Details 
October 2023 Preparation of Traffic Regulation Order (TRO) 
November 2023 Public consultation on TRO 
December 2023 Advertising of speed limit changes and installation of 

new signage 

138



10. APPENDICES  

10.1 This report is supported by 1 appendix: 
 
• Appendix A – Equality Impact Assessment  

 

11. BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS 

11.1 This report is supported by the following background documents: 
 
• Traffic survey results 

 
 

• Thames Valley Police response 
 

139



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

140



 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

141



 
 
 
 
 
 

142



12. CONSULTATION 

 Name of 
consultee 

Post held Date 
sent 

Date 
returned 

Mandatory:  Statutory Officer (or deputy)   
    
Elaine Browne Head of Law & Governance/ 

Interim Monitoring Officer 
 15/08/23 

Deputies:    
Julian McGowan Stand in S151 Officer  ELT 

23/08/23 
    
Mandatory:  Procurement Manager (or deputy) - if 

report requests approval to go to 
tender or award a contract 

  

Lyn Hitchinson Procurement Manager 
 

  

Mandatory:  Data Protection Officer (or deputy) - if 
decision will result in processing of 
personal data; to advise on DPIA 

  

Samantha 
Wootton 

Data Protection Officer   

Mandatory:  Equalities Officer – to advise on EQiA, 
or agree an EQiA is not required 

  

Ellen McManus-
Fry 

Equalities & Engagement Officer  22/08/23 

Other consultees:    
Directors (where 
relevant) 

   

Andrew Durrant Executive Director of Place  22/08/23 
Kevin McDaniel Executive Director of Adult 

Social Care & Health 
 ELT 

23/08/23 
Lin Ferguson Executive Director of Children’s 

Services & Education 
 ELT 

23/08/23 
Heads of Service 
(where relevant)  

   

Chris Joyce Assistant Director of ISEG  29/08/23 
External (where 
relevant) 

   

 
Confirmation 
relevant Cabinet 
Member(s) 
consulted  

Cabinet Member for Transport Yes 

   

 

REPORT HISTORY  
 

Decision type: Urgency item? To follow item? 
If a Cabinet report: 
Key decision and 

No No 

143



state the date it was 
First entered into the 
Cabinet Forward 
Plan: 1/08/23 

 
Report Author: Tim Golabek, Service lead Transport, 07770934646 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

144



Equality Impact Assessment 

For support in completing this EQIA, please consult the EQIA Guidance 
Document or contact equality@rbwm.gov.uk 

 

1. Background Information 
 

Title of policy/strategy/plan: 
 

A308 Speed limit reduction 

Service area: 
 

ISEG 

Directorate: 
 

Place 

 

Provide a brief explanation of the proposal: 
• What are its intended outcomes? 
• Who will deliver it? 
• Is it a new proposal or a change to an existing one? 

Whilst the recommendation is to retain the 40mph speed limit on the stretch of the A308 
between Monkey Island Lane and the M4 motorway bridge, the second option is to reduce 
this to 30mph. Proponents believe this will result in a safer road however, this would be 
against officer advice and Thames Valley Police objection.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

2. Relevance Check 
Is this proposal likely to directly impact people, communities or RBWM employees?  

• If No, please explain why not, including how you’ve considered equality issues.  
• Will this proposal need a EQIA at a later stage? (for example, for a forthcoming 

action plan) 
Yes, if the second option is selected, in the form of a reduced speed limit with new 
signage on this stretch of road. 

 

If ‘No’, proceed to ‘Sign off’. If unsure, please contact equality@rbwm.gov.uk 

 

  

145

mailto:equality@rbwm.gov.uk
mailto:equality@rbwm.gov.uk


3. Evidence Gathering and Stakeholder Engagement 
Who will be affected by this proposal?  
For example, users of a particular service, residents of a geographical area, staff 

 
All road users in the area whether using it for local movements of as part of the main link 
between Maidenhead and Windsor. 
 
 
Among those affected by the proposal, are protected characteristics (age, sex, 
disability, race, religion, sexual orientation, gender reassignment, pregnancy/maternity, 
marriage/civil partnership) disproportionately represented?  
For example, compared to the general population do a higher proportion have disabilities?  
 
No, all users will be equally affected if the secondary option is approved. There is no 
evidence that this area has a greater proportion of protected characteristics, although 
there is a hospice along this stretch of road. 

What engagement/consultation has been undertaken or planned?  
• How has/will equality considerations be taken into account?   
• Where known, what were the outcomes of this engagement? 

 
Internal engagement and discussions with the police who formally object to the proposed 
changes. The recommendation is to retain the current 40mph speed limit based on this 
being the appropriate speed for the road. 

What sources of data and evidence have been used in this assessment?  
Please consult the Equalities Evidence Grid for relevant data. Examples of other possible 
sources of information are in the Guidance document. 
 
Traffic surveys, AccsMaps collision data collected by the police and checks with national 
guidance on appropriateness of speeds on roads of this nature. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

146



4. Equality Analysis 
Please detail, using supporting evidence: 

• How the protected characteristics below might influence the needs and experiences 
of individuals, in relation to this proposal. 

• How these characteristics might affect the impact of this proposal. 

Tick positive/negative impact as appropriate. If there is no impact, or a neutral impact, state 
‘Not Applicable’ 

More information on each protected characteristic is provided in the Guidance document. 

 

Only applicable if the second option is selected against officer advice and police 
objection. 

 Details and supporting evidence Potential 
positive impact 

Potential 
negative 
impact 

Age 
 

Reduced speed may improve ability to 
cross the road for younger and older 
people 

Yes  

Disability 
 

Reduced speed may improve ability to 
cross the road for people with disabilities 

Yes  

Sex 
 

Not applicable   

Race, ethnicity and 
religion 
 

Not applicable   

Sexual orientation and 
gender reassignment 
 

Not applicable   

Pregnancy and 
maternity 

Reduced speed may improve ability to 
cross the road for pregnant women or 
those on maternity. 

Yes  

Marriage and civil 
partnership 

Not applicable   

Armed forces 
community 

Not applicable   

Socio-economic 
considerations e.g. low 
income, poverty 

Not applicable   

Children in care/Care 
leavers 

Not applicable   

147



 

 

5. Impact Assessment and Monitoring  
If you have not identified any disproportionate impacts and the questions below are not 
applicable, leave them blank and proceed to Sign Off. 

What measures have been taken to ensure that groups with protected characteristics 
are able to benefit from this change, or are not disadvantaged by it?  
For example, adjustments needed to accommodate the needs of a particular group 
Not applicable. The secondary option would impact all users of the road in a similar way. 

Where a potential negative impact cannot be avoided, what measures have been put in 
place to mitigate or minimise this? 

• For planned future actions, provide the name of the responsible individual and the 
target date for implementation. 

Not applicable. The secondary option would impact all users of the road in a similar way. 

How will the equality impacts identified here be monitored and reviewed in the future? 
See guidance document for examples of appropriate stages to review an EQIA. 
Not applicable. The secondary option would impact all users of the road in a similar way. 

 

 

6. Sign Off 

 
Completed by: Tim Golabek 
 

Date: 02.08.2023 

Approved by: 
 

Date: 

 

 

If this version of the EQIA has been reviewed and/or updated: 

Reviewed by: 
 

Date: 

 

148



PLACE OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY PANEL 
 

Thursday 14 September 2023 
 
Present: Councillors Siân Martin (Chair), Gary Reeves, Clive Baskerville, 
Alison Carpenter, Jodie Grove, Asghar Majeed, Gurch Singh, Kashmir Singh and 
Julian Sharpe 
 
Also in attendance: Councillor Suzanne Cross 
 
Also in attendance virtually: Councillor Joshua Reynolds 
 
Officers: Mark Beeley and Andrew Durrant 
 
Officers in attendance virtually: Chris Joyce and Tim Golabek 
 
 
Apologies for Absence 
 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillor Walters and Councillor Blundell. 
  
Councillor Sharpe and Councillor Reeves were attending the meeting as substitutes. 
 
Declarations of Interest 
 
There were no declarations of interest received. 
 
Minutes 
 
AGREED UNANIMOUSLY: That the minutes of the meeting held on 12th June 2023 were 
approved as a true and accurate record. 
 
Resident Scrutiny Suggestion - Bike Thefts at Windsor Leisure Centre 
 
Item removed for the purpose of 27 September 2023’s Cabinet agenda. 
 
A308 speed limit reduction: Monkey Island Lane to M4 motorway bridge 
 
Tim Golabek said that the Cabinet Member for Highways and Transport, Customer Service 
Centre and Employment, had requested that the section of the A308 between Monkey Island 
Lane and the M4 motorway bridge was reviewed and that the speed limit was reduced from 
40mph to 30mph. This had been long requested, the highways team and the police had 
gathered data and recommended that the current 40mph speed limit was retained. The report 
would be considered by Cabinet at the end of the month and a decision would be made. 
  
There were two public speakers on the agenda item. Councillor Cross was the ward Councillor 
for Bray and lived very close to this section of the A308. Police had advised that there was 
generally good speed compliance. Councillor Cross said that this data had been gathered 
towards the end of the pandemic and the way it had been finalised was against government 
regulations. There was an active and effective Speedwatch group and a speed camera on this 
stretch, she felt that compliance was ‘more than likely.’ There were a number of 30mph 
sections on this road already and as this was a diversion off the M4, it would be difficult to 
travel at a quick speed anyway. There had recently been a serious accident as a car was 
leaving Thames Hospice, a 1mph drop in speed could result in a 5% drop-in casualty rate. 
Residents were afraid of leaving their houses, particularly with the narrow footpaths and this 

149



left walkers and cyclists vulnerable. There was strong support from the local community to 
reduce the speed limit. 
  
Andrew Cormie was representing the Holyport Residents Association. He had circulated a 
document to the Panel ahead of the meeting setting out government guidance on setting 
speed limits. In planning, there was strict guidance which needed to be followed. He felt that 
the guidance had not been followed by the council on speed limits. Once light posts had been 
installed on this section of road, the speed limit should have been reduced. Andrew Cormie 
noted that a petition previously submitted to the council had been signed by over 100 
residents on this issue. He urged the Panel to recommend to Cabinet that the speed limit 
should be reduced to 30mph. 
  
Andrew Durrant, Executive Director of Place Services, thanked both speakers for their 
comments. He added that officers had worked with the police to provide a factual report and 
judgement. The discussion should be based around debating the proposal and forming a 
recommendation to be submitted to Cabinet for consideration. 
  
Councillor Grove felt that this was a clear decision to make, considering the spacing of the 
streetlights, the width of the footpath and other street features, there could be similar 
comparisons made to other 30mph roads in the borough. She did not see anything in the 
report which convinced her that the road should be kept at 40mph. The council was supposed 
to look after the best interests of residents, a significant number of residents wanted to see a 
change. 
  
Councillor Baskerville was concerned about consistency, he argued that Cannon Lane in Cox 
Green was 30mph but was more rural than the A308. He felt that reducing the speed limit to 
30pmh would be consistent with other similar roads in the borough. 
  
Councillor G Singh said that the area was becoming more built up and was difficult to justify 
the 40mph limit. He was pleased that the report had been considered by scrutiny before going 
to Cabinet, he welcomed this. Councillor Singh noted that after Monkey Island Lane, the 
speed limit would go back up to 50mph. He suggested that there could be a 40mph section 
added as a buffer. 
  
Councillor Carpenter said that she agreed with the comments made by Councillor Grove. The 
speed camera was a good deterrent, the council needed to be responsible and ensure the 
safety of residents. Present day data could be used to provide a more accurate picture of the 
current speed of users of the road. 
  
Councillor K Singh noted that officers and the police were against reducing the speed limit. He 
suggested that traffic calming measures could be required to enforce a lower limit as it could 
be difficult to enforce if the speed limit was reduced. 
  
Councillor Grove countered that every road was not monitored, the 50mph to 30mph could be 
looked at and the suggestion of a 40mph buffer zone could be explored. However, this was 
not a reason to maintain the speed limit at 40mph for the whole stretch of road. Traffic calming 
measures were not being requested as there was an active Speedwatch group and speed 
camera already in place. 
  
Councillor K Singh felt that the whole A308 needed to be considered holistically, rather than 
just the small stretch as a change in speed limit could affect the dynamics of traffic along the 
full route. 
  
Councillor Sharpe suggested that officers and the police had more experience of managing 
speed limits than Councillors did. Roads often did have natural speed limits, the dual 
carriageway section into Maidenhead was 40mph and this suited the piece of road. Councillor 
Sharpe felt that either traffic calming measures or a speed camera were needed to enforce a 
new limit on the proposed section. 

150



  
Councillor G Singh felt the section of road was narrow and considering the perspective of 
cyclists, it would be safer for this section to be 30mph. 
  
Councillor Grove felt it was ludicrous that this section was the same speed as Braywick Road 
which was a dual carriageway. The traffic calming measures were already in place and could 
be used to enforce a new lower speed limit. 
  
Councillor Grove proposed a recommendation that Cabinet reduced the speed limit on this 
section of the A308 to 30mph. This was seconded by Councillor G Singh. 
  
A named vote was taken. 

  
  
AGREED: That the Place Overview and Scrutiny Panel recommended that Cabinet 
reduce the speed limit on the Monkey Island Lane to M4 motorway bridge section of the 
A308 to 30mph. 
 
 
Work Programme 
 
Item removed for the purpose of 27 September 2023’s Cabinet agenda. 
 
 
The meeting, which began at 7.00 pm, finished at 8.25 pm 
 

Chair.……………………………………. 
 

Date……………………………….......... 
 

Recommendation to Cabinet that the speed limit is reduced to 30mph (Motion) 
Councillor Siân Martin For 
Councillor Gary Reeves For 
Councillor Clive Baskerville For 
Councillor Alison Carpenter For 
Councillor Jodie Grove For 
Councillor Asghar Majeed For 
Councillor Gurch Singh For 
Councillor Kashmir Singh Abstain 
Councillor Julian Sharpe For 
Carried 

151



This page is intentionally left blank



 
Report Title: Supported bus services proposals for 2024 

and beyond 
Contains 
Confidential or 
Exempt Information 

No 

Cabinet Member: Councillor Hill - Cabinet member for Highways 
and Transport, Customer Service Centre and 
Employment 

Meeting and Date: Cabinet 27 September 2023 
Responsible 
Officer(s): 

Chris Joyce - Head of Infrastructure, 
Sustainability and Economic Growth and Tim 
Golabek – Service Lead for Transport 

Wards affected:   All 
 
 
REPORT SUMMARY 
We have decisions to make about how we run supported services from 2024 onwards. 
Multiple factors have impacted our options namely the pandemic, declining passenger 
numbers, inflation and supplier costs, and these are creating substantial challenges to 
contracts that are over 5 years old. 
 
Bus service operators are struggling with running costs. Interim changes have been 
agreed and are in place as a short-term measure, partly funded by temporary DfT 
grants. However, we still need a long-term solution or operators may have to hand 
back contracts if they are unaffordable to run. 
 
In line with the Bus Service Improvement Plan (BSIP) and existing corporate plan 
objectives, we need to look at the options for providing affordable and sustainable 
services to our residents that are well used, well run and value for money. This will 
mean a reduced set of services going forward as proposed below. Passenger usage 
of the current supported services provided by our incumbent operators was also 
factored into the proposal. 
 
Table 1: Supported services bus route proposals 

 
  

153

Agenda Item 10



 

1. DETAILS OF RECOMMENDATION(S) 

RECOMMENDATION: That Cabinet notes the report and: 
 

i) Approves the redesign proposals and authorises a tender process. 
 

2. REASON(S) FOR RECOMMENDATION(S) AND OPTIONS CONSIDERED 

Options  
 

Table 2: Options arising from this report 
Option Comments 
Approves the redesign proposals and 
authorises a tender process. 
 
This is the recommended option. 

Proposals are based on a reduced 
set of services to the level 
deliverable by the current budget -
£870k + £200k approved growth bid. 
There is a medium risk that this will 
result in a challenge to achieve the 
BSIP corporate goal of increased 
journeys per resident, because 
reducing services results in fewer 
choices for people of the borough. 
The BSIP/Corporate plan targets 
were conditional on funding which 
was not received. 

Agree further changes to existing routes in 
partnership with operators around a set 
budget. 
 
This is not recommended. 

There is a high risk that this will 
result in higher costs because it 
requires a waiver process and 
changes will be untested which 
could result in higher costs and 
make this unaffordable for the 
Council. 

Do nothing.  
 
This is not recommended. 

There is a high risk that Operators 
will not want to continue with legacy 
contracts that are 6-7 years old 
because of rising operator costs 
which could result in an 
unsustainable model that is 
unaffordable and does not deliver 
service improvements thus 
impacting overall customer 
experience.  

 
  

154



Context 
1.1 The Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead council is committed to 

supporting local bus services where they cannot run commercially to ensure 
accessibility is provided to all residents. Supported services also help the 
Council to deliver their environmental and sustainability objectives  

1.2 22 bus routes currently operate across the borough – 13 are Council supported 
services and 9 are run commercially by operators 

1.3 As of 2023/24 the Council committed spend for supported services is £1.14m 
per annum, following a successful growth bid  

1.4 The Council budget remains as-is, however, based on previous conversations 
with our incumbent operators their indicative service provider fees look to rise 
to a potential total in the region of £1.4m overall by next year  

1.5 We need to look at the options for providing services to our residents in a more 
affordable and sustainable way going forward while delivering good customer 
experience  

Current services – year on year running costs 
1.6 2023/24 committed spend is 2021/22 budget (£870k for operating a full service) 

plus £270k (includes DfT funding + growth bid) 

1.7 2024/25 forecast indicates an estimated additional stretch of £260k and is 
unaffordable 

1.8 Our goal is to provide well-run and well-used services, and value for money. 
Redesigning routes to extend or discontinue some will facilitate this 

 

  

155



Current services – operators and routes 

 

1.9 Commercial services do not receive funding from the Council  

1.10 Note (i) - route 3/9 is partially funded by RBWM with a contribution of £12k p.a. 
to extend the route and timetable with the remainder of the routes originally 
commercial in nature. However, whilst routes 3/9 and 8 were originally tendered 
as separate packages, the 3/9 routes are struggling commercially and use 
some of the support funding on the 8 to remain viable. Therefore, given their 
intra-funding relationship then all three routes (3,8 and 9) will be tendered as a 
single package going forward 

1.11 Note (ii) - route 53 is a shared service run by Bracknell with a small annual 
contribution from RBWM 

1.12 Note (iii) - concessionary passenger usage is over 50% on most routes. As 
funding is separate and costs £1.07m p.a. it has a net effect of double the cost 
impact to the council to fund bus journeys in many parts of the borough. 
Concessionary passes are a statutory requirement and there is little scope to 
reduce this cost 

2019/20 vs. 2022/23 passenger journeys per head: Thames Valley Buses 

 

156



2019/20 vs. 2022/23 passenger journeys per head:  
Bear Buses (305) and White Bus (01, P1/W1) 

 

1.13 The two graphs above compare total passenger journeys per head for 2019/20 
with 2022/23 for the current set of supported bus service routes. A breakdown 
of concessionary passengers for each route is also shown   

1.14 Interim changes were agreed with the operators in the latter half of 2022. These 
remain in place and could be a contributing factor in changing passenger 
numbers. Overall passenger journeys have declined post pandemic, however, 
there are two exceptions. Increased journeys have been observed on routes: 

1.14.1 Thames Valley Buses (TVB) 53 – data is based on passengers boarding within 
RBWM. From November 2022 onwards this route took additional passengers 
from Holyport after service 16 was withdrawn from there 

1.14.2 Bear Buses 305 – this now includes Datchet which could account for the rise  

1.15 Other routes to note where usage has declined: 

1.15.3 TVB 3 – route was amended in November 2022 to cover the North side of the 
A4 Bath Road. Compared with pre pandemic overall patronage dropped by 18k 
in 2022/23  

1.15.4 TVB 8 – route reduced from two area loops to one, now covering Maidenhead 
Town Centre to North Maidenhead only  

1.15.5 TVB 9 – from November 2022, when service 8 was withdrawn from the Halifax 
Road area, this moved more passengers onto service 9. However, 2022/23 
total was still 10k lower compared with 2019/20 

1.15.6 TVB 15 – route reduced and no longer goes to Maidenhead 

1.15.7 TVB 234/235 – no longer includes Cox Green loop. Route also updated at the 
end of November 2022 to support Altwood School 

1.15.8 White Bus P1 and W1 services operated separate buses pre pandemic. P1 
previously ran 16 trips per day from Home Park car park to Windsor Town 

157



Centre with three journeys to Datchet. Both routes now utilise the same buses 
alternating between route schedules accordingly. P1 now runs 9 trips per day 
and fewer services to Datchet. W1 remains a 5 trip per day service 

Cost per journey – pre and post pandemic 

 

1.16 Cost per journey is based on current contract values and compares actual data 
for the period 2019/20 with 2022/23 

1.17 Based on 2022/23 journeys per head, the most cost efficient routes are 3/9 
(13p) and 53 (52p). Route 15 (£11.42) is the most expensive, almost triple the 
cost in 2019/20 (£4.37) 

Achieving for Children (AfC) school services 
1.18 AfC are responsible for transporting children to school. Most routes are  

closed-door registered public bus services, only available to students 

1.19 Conversations with AfC are ongoing to determine if supported bus services can 
replace some existing school routes 

1.20 Example: Churchmead School (Datchet) is served by Carlone Ltd and Thames 
Valley Buses (TVB), transporting a total of 49 children per day 

• AfC pay TVB £50k p.a. for their part of this service 

• There is a possibility to replace Bear Buses route 305 by amending this 
school route to support a roundtrip from Windsor to Staines and extending 
operational hours. This is under review 

1.21 A summary of AfC services, passenger numbers and alternatives under review 
is shown at Error! Reference source not found. 

3. KEY IMPLICATIONS 

3.1 In 2019/20 the borough was ranked the lowest nationally in terms of bus use, with 
bus trips per head of population at 9.3. Latest post pandemic data shows a 
decline to 4.8 trips per head of population 

158



3.2 Performance levels of neighbouring Berkshire authorities were analysed to 
understand what the patronage levels could look like in areas with a similar 
demographic to ours 

3.3 The BSIP long-term ambition was to be the leading Berkshire authority, excluding 
Reading. They have exceptionally high bus trips per head (137 in 2019/20) as 
they have an advanced bus network with Reading council owning the main 
operator 

3.4 Whilst the BSIP target was to achieve over 30 journeys per head by 2030 
(excluding Reading) this was greatly dependent on significant investment from 
the BSIP funding, which has not materialised 

4. FINANCIAL DETAILS / VALUE FOR MONEY  

4.1 The recommendation of this paper to approve the redesign proposal does not 
commit the Council to any new spending. It enables us to proceed with formal 
Market Engagement and tender to understand the appetite within the wider bus 
service operator community, and their latest views on running services including 
costs.  

4.2 Subsequently, the redesign proposal can be refreshed if required ahead of the 
formal tender beginning, including seeking Cabinet approval to proceed. 
However, extensive delays to the tender process increases the risks of operators 
no longer being willing to run the services and ceasing routes  

4.3 Financial details (i.e. service operation, costs, expected benefits and outcomes) 
will become clearer upon conclusion of the tender process and evaluation. 
Whereupon the Council can present its findings and recommendations to the 
Cabinet 

5. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS  

5.1 The recommendation of this paper does not have direct legal implications 

159



6. RISK MANAGEMENT  

Table 3: Impact of risk and mitigation  
Threat or risk Impact 

with no 
mitigations 
in place or 
if all 
mitigations 
fail  

Likelihood 
of risk 
occurring 
with no 
mitigations 
in place. 
 
 

Mitigations 
currently in 
place  
 
 

Mitigations 
proposed 
 
 

Impact of 
risk 
once all 
mitigations 
in place 
and 
working 

Likelihood 
of risk 
occurring 
with all 
mitigations 
in place. 
 
 

There is a risk 
that 
redesigning 
the current 
supported 
services bus 
routes will 
result in a 
lower 
likelihood to 
achieve the 
BSIP and 
corporate 
goal because 
reducing 
services limits 
the options 
available to 
people of the 
borough 

Moderate 
(2) 

Medium Short-term 
interim bus 
route 
changes 
introduced 
during the 
pandemic 
that remain 
in place 

Consistent, 
regular, and 
frequent 
comms to all 
residents on 
the range of 
public 
services 
available via 
advertising on 
various 
platforms/ 
channels  

Moderate 
(2) 

Medium 

There is a risk 
that making 
further 
changes to 
existing 
routes in 
partnership 
with the 
operators 
around a set 
budget 
will result in 
higher costs 
for the 
Council 
because of 
inflation and 
other service 
cost 
pressures  

Major (3) High Short-term 
interim bus 
route 
changes 
introduced 
during the 
pandemic 
that remain 
in place 

Review 
utilisation of 
routes for 
potential 
efficiencies 
and use 
waiver 
process which 
has already 
been in place 
on one 
contract and 
is not 
recommended 

Moderate 
(2) 

Medium 

160



Threat or risk Impact 
with no 
mitigations 
in place or 
if all 
mitigations 
fail  

Likelihood 
of risk 
occurring 
with no 
mitigations 
in place. 
 
 

Mitigations 
currently in 
place  
 
 

Mitigations 
proposed 
 
 

Impact of 
risk 
once all 
mitigations 
in place 
and 
working 

Likelihood 
of risk 
occurring 
with all 
mitigations 
in place. 
 
 

There is a risk 
that doing 
nothing will 
result in an 
unaffordable 
and 
unsustainable 
service model 
because 
operator 
costs will far 
exceed 
Council 
budget, nor 
will this 
deliver any 
service 
improvements  

Major (3) High Short-term 
interim bus 
route 
changes 
introduced 
during the 
pandemic 
that remain 
in place 

Review 
utilisation of 
routes for 
potential 
efficiencies 
and retender 

Moderate 
(2) 

Medium 

7. POTENTIAL IMPACTS 

7.1 Equalities. An Equality Impact Assessment is available at Appendix A 
 
7.2 Climate change/sustainability. This redesign proposal will contribute to the 

lowering of carbon emissions in the borough from well used public transport bus 
services and is consistent with the borough’s Environment and Climate Strategy 

 
7.3 Data Protection/GDPR. No impact 

8. CONSULTATION 

8.1 The development of the design proposal was informed by: 
• Primary customer research completed in July 2021 to inform the BSIP 
• Passenger usage data from our incumbent supported bus service 

operators and general feedback from them 
• Passenger usage data from Achieving for Children 
• Resident feedback in response to interim changes made during the 

pandemic that have since remained in place 
 

9. TIMETABLE FOR IMPLEMENTATION 

9.1 Implementation date if not called in: Immediately. The full implementation stages 
are set out in table 4 

  

161



Table 4: Implementation timetable  
Date Details  
6 Sep 2023 Cabinet briefing  
27 Sep 2023 Cabinet meeting 
Oct 2023 Public engagement to determine key destination 

points on proposed routes 
Sep to Oct 2023 Market Engagement with incumbent providers and 

other providers in the market  
Dec 2023 Approval to tender obtained  

(HoS in consultation with Head of Service Group 
and relevant Cabinet Member(s))  

Dec 2023 Tender(s) issued  
Feb 2024 Deadline for tender submissions  
Mar 2024 Tender evaluations complete 
Mar 2024 Award Report circulated to Mandatory Consultees  

(for Cabinet)  
Mar 2024 Approval to award (Cabinet)  
Apr 2024 Earliest date that RBWM can award contract(s) 

following Cabinet Call In and PCR Standstill  
Apr 2024 Contract(s) mobilisation / implementation – start  
Jul 2024 Contract(s) mobilisation / implementation – end 
1 Aug 2024 Contract(s) start  

10. APPENDICES  

10.1 This report is supported by five appendices: 
 
• Appendix A – Equality Impact Assessment  
• Appendix B – Achieving for Children school services  
• Appendix C – Bus route start/end points and service frequency 
• Appendix D – Summary of route proposals and actions 
• Appendix E – Bus route maps pre and post pandemic (PowerPoint) 

11. BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS 

11.1 This report is supported by one background documents: 
 
• Bus Service Improvement Plan (BSIP) 

12. CONSULTATION 

 Name of 
consultee 

Post held Date 
sent 

Date 
returned 

Mandatory:  Statutory Officer (or deputy)   
 Executive Director of 

Resources/S151 Officer 
  

 Director of Law, Strategy & 
Public Health/ Monitoring Officer 

  

Deputies:    

162

https://www.rbwm.gov.uk/home/transport-and-streets/public-transport


Julian McGowan Deputy S151 Officer  ELT 
23/08/23 

Elaine Browne Deputy Director of Law & 
Governance and Monitoring 
Officer 

9.08.23 15.08.23 

Mandatory:  Procurement Manager (or deputy) - if 
report requests approval to go to 
tender or award a contract 

  

Lyn Hitchinson Procurement Manager 
 

  

Mandatory:  Data Protection Officer (or deputy) - if 
decision will result in processing of 
personal data; to advise on DPIA 

  

Samantha 
Wootton 

Data Protection Officer   

Mandatory:  Equalities Officer – to advise on EQIA, 
or agree an EQIA is not required 

  

Ellen McManus-
Fry 

Equalities & Engagement Officer  21/08/23 

Other consultees:    
Directors (where 
relevant) 

   

Andrew Durrant Executive Director of Place  22/08/23 
Kevin McDaniel Executive Director of People 

Services 
 ELT 

23/08/23 
Assistant Director 
(where relevant)  

   

Chris Joyce Assistant Director for 
Infrastructure Sustainability and 
Economic Growth 

 29/08/23 

    
External (where 
relevant) 

   

N/A    

 
Confirmation 
relevant Cabinet 
Member(s) 
consulted  

Cabinet Member for Planning, 
Parking, Highways & Transport 

Yes 

 

REPORT HISTORY  
 

Decision type: Urgency item? To follow item? 
Key decision 
 
First entered into 
the Cabinet 
Forward Plan: 15 
August 2023 
 

No 
 

No 

163



Report Author:  
Tim Golabek, 
Service Lead 
Transport, Place, 
Town Hall 

  

APPENDIX A 

Equality Impact Assessment 

For support in completing this EQIA, please consult the EQIA Guidance 
Document or contact equality@rbwm.gov.uk 

 

1. Background Information 

 

Title of policy/strategy/plan: 
 

Supported bus services proposals for 2024 and beyond 

Service area: 
 

Infrastructure, Sustainability and Economic Growth 

Directorate: 
 

Place 

 

Provide a brief explanation of the proposal: 
• What are its intended outcomes? 
• Who will deliver it? 
• Is it a new proposal or a change to an existing one? 

The purpose of the supported bus services redesign proposal is to set out how the Council 
can provide longer term solutions for serving the needs of our residents. This is balanced 
against affordability, contract sustainability for both the Council and suppliers, improving 
passenger utilisation numbers, and having well-managed services overall. 
 
This is a partnership with bus service operators who will be under contract to deliver bus 
routes or service area packages. They may be incumbent or new suppliers. Each service 
area will have a defined start and end point with a minimum level of service frequency 
expected by the Council (e.g. hourly, half hourly) to provide good customer experience. 
 
This is a redesign of the existing supported services bus routes where they may remain 
as-is, are amended, new or removed altogether. The proposal will be delivered by the 
Transport team and through future contract(s) with bus service operator(s). The specifics 
of these contracts will be the subject of future decisions once the tender process has taken 
place. 

 

2. Relevance Check 

Is this proposal likely to directly impact people, communities or RBWM employees?  
• If No, please explain why not, including how you’ve considered equality issues.  
• Will this proposal need a EQIA at a later stage? (for example, for a forthcoming action 

plan) 

164

mailto:equality@rbwm.gov.uk


• Yes 

If ‘No’, proceed to ‘Sign off’. If unsure, please contact equality@rbwm.gov.uk 

  

165

mailto:equality@rbwm.gov.uk


3. Evidence Gathering and Stakeholder Engagement 

Who will be affected by this proposal?  
For example, users of a particular service, residents of a geographical area, staff 

• People using supported bus services within the borough, and potential users of supported 
bus services in the borough 

Among those affected by the proposal, are protected characteristics (age, sex, disability, race, 
religion, sexual orientation, gender reassignment, pregnancy/maternity, marriage/civil 
partnership) disproportionately represented?  
For example, compared to the general population do a higher proportion have disabilities?  
 

• Whilst bus services are accessible to all people of the borough, data in RBWM suggests 
that a high percentage of users are elderly using their free concessionary bus pass. 

What engagement/consultation has been undertaken or planned?  
• How has/will equality considerations be taken into account?   
• Where known, what were the outcomes of this engagement? 

 
• These initial proposals have been developed with input from the incumbent supported 

bus service operators and Achieving for Children’s school transport planning function, and 
in discussion with the lead member. 

• Further engagement is planned through a formal Market Engagement process with 
market operators, public engagement including affected groups, and Councillor and 
Cabinet meetings. This will enable the Council to proceed with a formal tender process. 

 
What sources of data and evidence have been used in this assessment?  
Please consult the Equalities Evidence Grid for relevant data. Examples of other possible sources 
of information are in the Guidance document. 
 

• Inclusive Mobility – A Guide to Best Practice on Access to Pedestrian and Transport 
Infrastructure (Department for Transport 2021) 

 

2. Equality Analysis 

Please detail, using supporting evidence: 

• How the protected characteristics below might influence the needs and experiences of 
individuals, in relation to this proposal. 

• How these characteristics might affect the impact of this proposal. 

Tick positive/negative impact as appropriate. If there is no impact, or a neutral impact, state ‘Not 
Applicable’ 

More information on each protected characteristic is provided in the Guidance document. 

  

166



 Details and supporting evidence Potential 
positive 
impact 

Potential 
negative 
impact 

Age 
 

Data suggests older people with concessionary passes use 
buses more.  
 

Amended 
routes 
may off 
new 
opportuni
ties 

Removed 
routes 
mean 
users 
need to 
seek 
alternativ
es 

Disability 
 

 Not 
applicable 

Not 
applicable 

Sex 
 

 Not 
applicable 

Not 
applicable 

Race, ethnicity 
and religion 
 

 Not 
applicable 

Not 
applicable 

Sexual 
orientation 
and gender 
reassignment 
 

 Not 
applicable 

Not 
applicable 

Pregnancy and 
maternity 

 Not 
applicable 

Not 
applicable 

Marriage and 
civil 
partnership 

 Not 
applicable 

Not 
applicable 

Armed forces 
community 

 Not 
applicable 

Not 
applicable 

Socio-
economic 
considerations 
e.g. low 
income, 
poverty 

Low income households may be more dependent on public bus 
for transport 

Amended 
routes 
may off 
new 
opportuni
ties 

Removed 
routes 
mean 
users 
need to 
seek 
alternativ
es 

Children in 
care/Care 
leavers 

 Not 
applicable 

Not 
applicable 

  

167



5. Impact Assessment and Monitoring  

If you have not identified any disproportionate impacts and the questions below are not applicable, 
leave them blank and proceed to Sign Off. 

What measures have been taken to ensure that groups with protected characteristics are able to 
benefit from this change, or are not disadvantaged by it?  
For example, adjustments needed to accommodate the needs of a particular group 

Given the financial challenges faced in supporting public bus services, there are no affordable 
alternatives that can be provided to those negatively affected. The proposed changes being 
put forward have the minimum possible affect with either short walkable journeys or 
alternative bus routes available. 

Where a potential negative impact cannot be avoided, what measures have been put in place to 
mitigate or minimise this? 

• For planned future actions, provide the name of the responsible individual and the target 
date for implementation. 

As above 

How will the equality impacts identified here be monitored and reviewed in the future? 
See guidance document for examples of appropriate stages to review an EQIA. 
Monitoring can take place through surveys should this prove necessary though without additional 
funding, mitigations are not affordable. 

 

 

6. Sign Off 

 

Completed by: Sharmila Sonahee 
 

Date: 9/08/2023 

Approved by: Tim Golabek 
 

Date: 9/08/2023 

 

If this version of the EQIA has been reviewed and/or updated: 

Reviewed by: 
 

Date: 

 

168



APPENDIX B – Achieving for Children school services  

 

Note 
a) Passenger data is based on 2019/20 information provided by AfC. Awaiting update on latest school passenger numbers 
b) TVB = Thames Valley Buses 

School and no. of children travelling per day Operator Boarding point Alternatives under review

14 Platinum Coach Hire SL6 (Hurley)
8 Thames Valley Buses SL6 (Maidenhead Town Centre)

Bisham CofE Academy 9 Platinum Coach Hire SL6 (Hurley High St) Routes 238/239 (TVB)
Charters School 177 White Bus SL5 (Ascot various) Route 01 (White Bus)

TW18 (Wraysbury Rd)
TW19 (Staines Rd)

Thames Valley Buses TW19 (Windsor Rd, Welley Rd)
8 Platinum Coach Hire SL6 (Hurley High St)
4 Apple Travel SL6  (Windsor Rd/Holyport)

Dedworth Middle School 16 Bucks Minibus Travel SL4 (Eton Wick) Route 15 (TVB)
St Peters CE Middle School (Old Windsor) 39 Platinum Coach Hire SL4 (Eton Wick)
The Piggott School 11 Abba Cars HW Ltd RG10 (Bath Rd)

19 Various mainly Old Windsor
2 Datchet, Eton Wick

23 SL4 (Eton Wick)
21 SL4 (Old Windsor)

Waltham St Lawrence Middle School 16 Fargo Coaches RG10 
SL3 (Ditton Road)
TW19 (Staines)

Wraysbury Primary School 9 Carlone Ltd

49 Carlone Ltd Under review – Bear Buses 
305 replacement

Churchmead School

Windsor Boys School White Bus

Altwood CofE School

Cox Green School

Routes 238/239 (TVB)

Windsor Girls School White Bus

169



APPENDIX C – Bus route start and end points 

 

170



APPENDIX C – Bus route frequencies 

 

Note 
a) Between 10am – 6pm  
b) From Maidenhead Town Centre 

171



APPENDIX D – Summary of route proposals and actions 

 

172



 
Report Title: Self-Build and Custom Housebuilding 

Guidance Note 
Contains 
Confidential or 
Exempt Information 

No - Part I  

Cabinet Member: Councillor Bermange, Cabinet Member for 
Planning, Legal and Asset Management 

Meeting and Date: Cabinet 27th September 2023 
Responsible 
Officer(s): 

Andrew Durrant – Executive Director of Place  

Wards affected:   All 
 
REPORT SUMMARY 
 
The report recommends that the Cabinet adopt the Self-Build and Custom 
Housebuilding Guidance Note to be published as guidance and afforded weight as a 
material consideration in the planning process.  
 
The Self-Build and Custom Housebuilding Guidance Note has been prepared to 
provide detail and clarification on the self-build and custom housebuilding process. 
The Guidance Note provides information on how the Council will support the delivery 
of serviced plots and also includes various other sources of further information and 
advice. 
 
The provision of self and custom build housing will help the Council to provide an 
appropriate mix of dwelling types and sizes. The Guidance Note will therefore help 
the Council to meet one of the main objectives of the Corporate Plan 2023-26 by 
helping to create ladder of housing opportunity, to support better life chances for all. 
 
The Guidance Note could be developed into a Supplementary Planning Document 
(SPD) in future, in the same way as the Council’s Interim Sustainability Position 
Statement is now being developed into the Sustainability SPD. 

1. DETAILS OF RECOMMENDATION(S) 

RECOMMENDATION: That Cabinet notes the report and: 
 

i) Adopts the Self-Build and Custom Housebuilding Guidance Note to 
be published as guidance and afforded weight as a material 
consideration in the planning process; and 
 

ii) Delegates authority to the Assistant Director of Planning in 
consultation with the Cabinet Member for Planning, Legal and Asset 
Management, to approve and publish any minor changes to the Self-
Build and Custom Housebuilding Guidance Note, prior to its 
publication. 

2. REASON(S) FOR RECOMMENDATION(S) AND OPTIONS CONSIDERED 

Options  
 

173

Agenda Item 11



Table 1: Options arising from this report. 

Option Comments 
Adopt the Self-Build and Custom 
Housebuilding Guidance Note  
 
This is the recommended option 

The Guidance Note provides the 
opportunity to providing technical 
guidance on self-build and custom 
housebuilding.  
 
Choosing not to adopt the Guidance 
Note retains the risk that the Council 
is not able to resist some forms of 
poor-quality new development 
because it does not have detailed, 
locally specific guidance relating to 
self and custom housebuilding in the 
Royal Borough.  

Not adopt the Self-Build and Custom 
Housebuilding Guidance Note 

There is a significant risk that this 
would leave the Council without the 
detailed guidance that is appropriate 
across the Royal Borough which 
could result in an undermining of the 
Council’s ability to secure design 
excellence in new development and 
to resist poor quality development.  

Do Nothing This would cause delays to the 
adoption of a Self-Build and Custom 
Housebuilding Guidance Note. 
 
There is a risk that this would leave 
the Council without the detailed 
guidance needed to determine any 
planning applications that were 
submitted before the SPD was 
adopted.  

  
2.1 The National Planning Policy Framework (2021) defines self-build and 

custom-build housing as, ‘housing built by an individual, a group of individuals, 
or persons working with or for them, to be occupied by that individual. Such 
housing can be either market or affordable housing. A legal definition, for the 
purpose of applying the Self-build and Custom Housebuilding Act 2015 (as 
amended), is contained in section 1(A1) and (A2) of that Act.’ 

2.2 The Government is committed to increasing the supply of housing. The Self 
Build and Custom Housebuilding Act 2015 (as amended by the Housing and 
Planning Act 2016) places responsibility on local planning authorities for 
keeping a self-build and custom housebuilding register of individuals and 
associations of individuals, who are seeking to acquire serviced plots of land 
in the authority’s area in order to build houses for those individuals to occupy 
as homes. 

2.3 The Act (2015) does not distinguish between self-build and custom 
housebuilding and provides that both are where an individual, an association 
of individuals, or persons working with or for individuals or associations of 
individuals, build or complete houses to be occupied as homes by those 
individuals. For the purposes of planning policy, self-build and custom build 
dwellings share the same definition and the terms are used interchangeably.  

174



2.4 However, there are various models of self-build and custom housebuilding, 
including:  

Self-build housing generally refers to when a person is directly involved in 
organising the design and construction of their own home. This can cover a 
wide range of projects, from a traditional DIY self-build home to projects 
where the self-builder employs someone to build their home for them. In this 
scenario, the finding and buying of a plot of land would usually be undertaken 
by the individual/self-builder. 

Custom build housing is where a person commissions a specialist 
developer to help deliver their own home. In this scenario, the developer may 
secure the site and manage the build. They may even arrange the finance. 
This is a more ‘hands-off’ approach, but the home would still be tailored to 
match the individual requirements of the customer, who should retain primary 
input into the design of the dwelling.  

Group self/custom build is where a group of people come together to design 
and build a housing development which they then live in. They may do this 
themselves, or with the help of a developer who would manage the project.  

2.5 Policy HO2 (4) in the adopted RBWM Borough Local Plan (BLP) states the 
following: 

Proposals for 100 or more net new dwellings (on greenfield sites) are required 
to provide 5% of the market housing as fully serviced plots for custom and 
self-build housing.  

On other allocated and windfall sites, the Council will encourage the provision 
of custom and self-build plots. Self-build plots will generally be expected to be 
provided in clusters.  

Where developers provide custom and self-build plots, these plots must be 
made available and appropriately marketed for 12 months. Marketing should 
be agreed with the Council before it is commenced. If the plots have not been 
sold in the 12-month period, these plots may be reverted back to the 
developer to build. All self-build plots will need to be provided with a plot 
passport. 

2.6 The Self-Build and Custom Housebuilding Guidance Note has been prepared 
to provide detail and clarification on the self-build and custom housebuilding 
process. The Guidance Note provides information on how the Council will 
support the delivery of serviced plots and also includes various other sources 
of further information and advice. 

2.7 The need for this Guidance Note has increased significantly recently for two 
main reasons. The first is the adoption of the Borough Local Plan and the 
introduction of the policy requirement set out in paragraph 2.5 above. With 
large, allocated housing sites now coming forward for development, it is 
important that the Council has the guidance in place to help inform Officer 
decision making and the application of Policy HO2. It is also important that 
applicants better understand how the Council expects self and custom build 
houses and sites to be delivered. Secondly, a recent appeal was allowed on a 
planning application in the Green Belt (ref. 21/03573, Land Adjoining 

175



Pondview, Sturt Green, Holyport), with the Inspector considering that ‘very 
special circumstances’ existed due to the Council’s historic under delivery of 
self and custom housebuilding. There are several reasons for this under 
delivery, including the previous lack of a policy requirement for delivery of self 
and custom build housing (prior to the adoption of the BLP). Officers 
anticipate that similar planning applications will continue to be submitted in the 
future, and the Guidance Note is considered to strengthen the Council’s 
position at appeal.  

2.8 In addition, even where large greenfield sites that have coming forward since 
the adoption of the BLP do provide self and custom build housing, this has 
tended to be custom build rather than self-build and it has been unclear 
whether this truly meets the legal definition of self and custom build insofar as 
there is primary input from the prospective purchaser.  The guidance note will 
emphasise the need for primary input into its design and layout.  

2.9 In due course, if required, an SPD could be prepared which would have more 
weight than this Guidance Note. However, the preparation of an SPD will take 
time, and, considering the need to have regard to existing material 
considerations such as those mentioned in paragraph 2.7, and the fact that 
large, greenfield sites are coming forward now, it is considered that the 
publication of the Guidance Note is prudent and necessary. 

2.10 The Guidance Note is set out at Appendix B.  

3. KEY IMPLICATIONS 

Table 2: Key Implications 
Outcome Unmet Met Exceeded Significantly 

Exceeded 
Date of 
delivery 

Publication 
of the 
Guidance 
Note and 
supporting 
documents 

Guidance 
Note not 
published 
in October 
2023 

Guidance 
Note 
published 
in October 
2023 

n/a n/a October 
2023 

4. FINANCIAL DETAILS / VALUE FOR MONEY  

4.1 The Guidance Note has been prepared by Council Officers and is therefore 
within existing budgets.  

5. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS  

The Guidance Note will not form part of the statutory development plan. It is 
intended to provide advice on how the Council will seek to address existing 
material considerations within the planning process and would have the weight 
of a material consideration. The document would not be an adopted SPD, which 
would require additional consultation and procedural steps.  

176



6. RISK MANAGEMENT  

Table 3: Impact of risk and mitigation 
Threat or risk Impact 

with no 
mitigation
s in place 
or if all 
mitigation
s fail  

Likelihood 
of risk 
occurring 
with no 
mitigation
s in place. 
 
 

Mitigation
s currently 
in place  
 
 

Mitigations 
proposed. 
 
 

Impact of 
risk 
once all 
mitigation
s in place 
and 
working 

Likelihood 
of risk 
occurring 
with all 
mitigation
s in place. 
 
 

There is a risk 
that the 
Council is not 
able to resist 
some forms 
of poor-
quality new 
development 
because it 
does not have 
detailed, 
locally 
specific 
guidance 
relating to 
Self and 
Custom 
Housebuildin
g in the Royal 
Borough. 

Major   
 

High 
 
 

The 
Council 
currently 
has the 
Policies in 
the 
adopted 
BLP. 

Actions set out 
in 
recommendatio
n 

Minor  
 

Medium 
 

 

7. POTENTIAL IMPACTS  

7.1 Equalities. An Equality Impact Assessment is available as Appendix A.  
 
7.2 Climate change/sustainability. The adoption of the Guidance Note will have a 

positive impact in relation to climate change / sustainability as it will reduce the 
risk of unsustainable developments in the Green Belt being permitted due to 
very special circumstances.   

 
7.3 Data Protection/GDPR. There are not anticipated to be any impacts. 

8. CONSULTATION 

8.1 The Guidance Note has been drafted in collaboration with relevant internal 
Council teams. As the document does not intend to introduce new policy and 
would not form a Supplementary Planning Document, it is not considered that 
consultation is required.  

8.2 It is acknowledged that consultation, and an SPD would have been preferable, 
but there pressing need to provide clarity on the implementation of Policy HO2 
(4) in the BLP.  In these circumstances it is considered appropriate to adopt 
the guidance without further delay. 

177



9. TIMETABLE FOR IMPLEMENTATION 

9.1 Implementation date if not called in: October 2023. The full implementation 
stages are set out in table 4. 
 
Table 4: Implementation timetable 
Date Details 
October 2023 Adoption of Guidance Note following the lapse of the 

call-period 

10. APPENDICES  

10.1 This report is supported by 2 appendices: 
 
• Appendix A – Equality Impact Assessment  
• Appendix B – Self-Build and Custom Housebuilding Guidance Note 

11. BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS 

11.1 This report is supported by 3 background documents: 
 
• Royal Borough Windsor and Maidenhead Borough Local Plan 2013-2033  

Adopted local plan | Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead 
(rbwm.gov.uk) 
 

• National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)  
National Planning Policy Framework - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk) 
 

• The Self Build and Custom Housebuilding Act 2015 (as amended by the 
Housing and Planning Act 2016) 
Self-build and Custom Housebuilding Act 2015 (legislation.gov.uk) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

178

https://www.rbwm.gov.uk/home/planning-and-building-control/planning-policy/development-plan/adopted-local-plan
https://www.rbwm.gov.uk/home/planning-and-building-control/planning-policy/development-plan/adopted-local-plan
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2015/17/contents/enacted/data.htm


12. CONSULTATION 

 Name of 
consultee 

Post held Date 
sent 

Date 
returned 

Mandatory:  Statutory Officer (or deputy)   
Andrew Vallance Head of Finance/ interim S151 

Officer 
15/08  

Elaine Browne Deputy Director of Law & 
Governance and Monitoring 
Officer 

15/08/23 29/8/23 

Deputies:    
Julian McGowan Senior Business Partner 

Finance 
15/08/23 18/08/23 

    
Mandatory:  Data Protection Officer (or deputy) - if 

decision will result in processing of 
personal data; to advise on DPIA 

  

Samantha 
Wootton 

Data Protection Officer 15/08/23  

Mandatory:  Equalities Officer – to advise on EqIA, 
or agree an EqIA is not required 

  

Ellen McManus-
Fry 

Equalities & Engagement Officer 15/08/23 16/08/23 

Other consultees:    
Directors (where 
relevant) 

   

Stephen Evans Chief Executive 15/08  
Andrew Durrant Executive Director of Place 15/08  
Heads of Service 
(where relevant)  

   

Adrien Waite Assistant Director of Planning  15/08 29/08/23 
Chris Joyce Assistant Director of 

Infrastructure, Sustainability and 
Economic Growth 

15/08  

External (where 
relevant) 

   

N/A    

 
Confirmation 
relevant Cabinet 
Member(s) 
consulted  

Cabinet Member for Planning, 
Legal and Asset Management 

Yes 

 

REPORT HISTORY  
 

Decision type: Urgency item? To follow item? 
Key decision  No  No  

 
Report Author: Garry Thornton, Principal Planning Policy Officer 

 
 

179



Equality Impact Assessment 

For support in completing this EQIA, please consult the EQIA Guidance 
Document or contact equality@rbwm.gov.uk 

 

1. Background Information 
 

Title of policy/strategy/plan: 
 

Guidance Note on Self-Build and Custom 
Housebuilding 

Service area: 
 

Place 

Directorate: 
 

Planning Policy 

 

Provide a brief explanation of the proposal: 
• What are its intended outcomes? 
• Who will deliver it? 
• Is it a new proposal or a change to an existing one? 

 
The Self-Build and Custom Housebuilding Guidance Note has been prepared to provide 
detail and clarification on the self-build and custom housebuilding process. The Guidance 
Note provides information on how the Council will support the delivery of serviced plots 
and also includes various other sources of further information and advice. 
 
The Guidance Note will be used by the Council’s Planning Officers to help determine 
relevant planning applications. 
 
This is a new proposal. 
 

 

 

2. Relevance Check 
Is this proposal likely to directly impact people, communities or RBWM employees?  

• If No, please explain why not, including how you’ve considered equality issues.  
• Will this proposal need a EQIA at a later stage? (for example, for a forthcoming 

action plan) 
Yes, the Guidance Note will directly impact people and the local community throughout the 
Borough. The principal purpose of the SPD is to provide details and guidance on the application of 
policy HO2 (4) in the Borough Local Plan. If approved by Cabinet, the document would become a 
material consideration when determining relevant planning applications. 

 

If ‘No’, proceed to ‘Sign off’. If unsure, please contact equality@rbwm.gov.uk 

 

 

 

  

180

mailto:equality@rbwm.gov.uk
mailto:equality@rbwm.gov.uk


3. Evidence Gathering and Stakeholder Engagement 
Who will be affected by this proposal?  
For example, users of a particular service, residents of a geographical area, staff 

 
The Guidance Note is borough wide, therefore, all residents of the borough could be 
affected. 
 
Council Planning Officers will also be affected as they would have to take the Document 
into account during their decision-making process in relation to any planning applications 
received in relation to the site.  
 
 
Among those affected by the proposal, are protected characteristics (age, sex, 
disability, race, religion, sexual orientation, gender reassignment, pregnancy/maternity, 
marriage/civil partnership) disproportionately represented?  
For example, compared to the general population do a higher proportion have disabilities?  
 
The adopted Borough Local Plan was subject to Equality Impact Assessments in 2017 and 
2019, which did not identify any negative impacts for any group with protected 
characteristics.  
 
The Guidance Note provides further details and guidance on the application of policy HO2 
(4) of the Borough Local Plan. It does not create new policy.  
 
The Government is actively supporting the self and custom-build sectors for people who 
wish to design and build their own home. Policy ‘HO2 Housing Mix and Type’ recognises 
that new homes should support the changing needs of individuals and families at different 
stages of life, including via the provision of Self and Custom Housebuilding,  
 
Future planning applications will need to comply with Borough Local Plan policy. There is 
nothing in the SPD which is considered to disproportionately impact on any particular 
individual or group. 
What engagement/consultation has been undertaken or planned?  

• How has/will equality considerations be taken into account?   
• Where known, what were the outcomes of this engagement? 

 
No public engagement or consultation has taken place on the document. However, the 
document has been prepared collaboratively across relevant departments within the 
Council.  

What sources of data and evidence have been used in this assessment?  
Please consult the Equalities Evidence Grid for relevant data. Examples of other possible 
sources of information are in the Guidance document. 
 
The Council’s parish profiles and the Council’s Equalities Evidence Grid. 

 

 

 

181



 

 

4. Equality Analysis 
Please detail, using supporting evidence: 

• How the protected characteristics below might influence the needs and experiences 
of individuals, in relation to this proposal. 

• How these characteristics might affect the impact of this proposal. 

Tick positive/negative impact as appropriate. If there is no impact, or a neutral impact, state 
‘Not Applicable’ 

More information on each protected characteristic is provided in the Guidance document. 

 Details and supporting evidence Potential 
positive impact 

Potential 
negative 
impact 

Age 
 

The Guidance Note develops the policies 
and requirements set out in the Borough 
Local Plan. It does not create new policy. 
 
There is nothing in the Guidance Note 
which is considered to disproportionately 
impact on any particular individual or 
group. 

Not applicable.  

Disability 
 

There is nothing within the Guidance Note 
which is considered to disproportionately 
impact or discriminate against a person 
with a disability. 

Not applicable.  

Sex 
 

There is nothing within the Guidance Note 
which is considered to disproportionately 
impact or discriminate against a person 
on the basis of their sex.  

Not applicable.  

Race, ethnicity and 
religion 
 

There is nothingwithin the Guidance Note 
which is considered to disproportionately 
impact or discriminate against a person 
on the basis of their race, ethnicity or 
religion. 

Not applicable.  

Sexual orientation and 
gender reassignment 
 

There is nothing within the Guidance Note 
which is considered to disproportionately 
impact or discriminate against a person 
on the basis of their sexual orientation or 
gender. 

Not applicable.  

Pregnancy and 
maternity 

There is nothing within the Guidance Note 
which is considered to disproportionately 
impact or discriminate against a person 
who is pregnant or a mother.  

Not applicable.  

Marriage and civil 
partnership 

There is nothing within the Guidance Note 
which is considered to disproportionately 
impact or discriminate against a person 
on the basis of their marital status. 

Not applicable.  

Armed forces 
community 

There is nothing within the Guidance Note 
which is considered to disproportionately 
impact or discriminate against a person 
who is in the armed forces community. 

Not applicable.  

182



Socio-economic 
considerations e.g. low 
income, poverty 

There is nothing within the Guidance Note 
which is considered to disproportionately 
impact or discriminate against a person 
on the basis of their socio-economic 
situation.  

Not applicable.  

Children in care/Care 
leavers 

There is nothing within the Guidance Note 
which is considered to disproportionately 
impact or discriminate against a person 
who is in care or a care leaver.  

Not applicable.  

 

 

5. Impact Assessment and Monitoring  
If you have not identified any disproportionate impacts and the questions below are not 
applicable, leave them blank and proceed to Sign Off. 

What measures have been taken to ensure that groups with protected characteristics 
are able to benefit from this change, or are not disadvantaged by it?  
For example, adjustments needed to accommodate the needs of a particular group 
The document has been prepared collaboratively across relevant departments within the 
Council. The Council’s parish profiles, and the Council’s Equalities Evidence Grid have also 
been consulted. This Guidance Note supports Policy HO2 which, as part of the adopted 
Borough Local Plan was subject to an Equality Impact Assessment in 2017 and again in 
2019, and this did not identify any negative impacts for any group with protected 
characteristics.  
  
Where a potential negative impact cannot be avoided, what measures have been put in 
place to mitigate or minimise this? 

• For planned future actions, provide the name of the responsible individual and the 
target date for implementation. 

The document has been prepared collaboratively across relevant departments within the 
Council. The Council’s parish profiles, and the Council’s Equalities Evidence Grid have also 
been consulted. This Guidance Note supports Policy HO2 which, as part of the adopted 
Borough Local Plan was subject to an Equality Impact Assessment in 2017 and 2019, which 
did not identify any negative impacts for any group with protected characteristics.  
 
How will the equality impacts identified here be monitored and reviewed in the future? 
See guidance document for examples of appropriate stages to review an EQIA. 
Residents will have the opportunity to comment on future planning applications as part of the 
normal planning application determination process.  In the unlikely event that it subsequently 
becomes apparent that groups with protected characteristics are being disadvantaged by the 
application of the guidance note, it would be amended. 

 

6. Sign Off 

 
Completed by: Garry Thornton 
 

Date: 31/07/2023 

Approved by: 
 

Date: 

 

 

183



If this version of the EQIA has been reviewed and/or updated: 

Reviewed by: Ellen McManus-Fry 
 

Date: 16/08/2023 

 

184



Self-Build and Custom 
Housebuilding 
Guidance Note

September 2023

 

 

  

185



 

Contents 
1. Introduction ....................................................................................................................................2 

2. What is Self-Build and Custom Housebuilding? ..............................................................................2 

3. Self-Build and Custom Housebuilding Register ..............................................................................3 

4. How do I register for Self-Build and Custom Housebuilding? .........................................................4 

5. Delivery of Serviced Plots ...............................................................................................................5 

6. Planning Applications .....................................................................................................................6 

7. Design Requirements ......................................................................................................................7 

Design Codes ......................................................................................................................................7 

Plot Passports .....................................................................................................................................7 

8. Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) Exemptions ..........................................................................8 

9. Marketing .......................................................................................................................................8 

10. Affordable Housing .........................................................................................................................9 

11. Monitoring ......................................................................................................................................9 

12. FAQs ..............................................................................................................................................10 

13. Further advice and information ....................................................................................................11 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

186



 

1. Introduction 
 

1.1. This self-build and custom housebuilding guidance note has been prepared to provide detail 
and clarification on the self-build and custom housebuilding process,provide information on 
how the Council will support the delivery of serviced plots and to provide sources of further 
information and advice.  

 
1.2. Policy HO2 (4) in the adopted RBWM Borough Local Plan (BLP) states the following: 

 
Proposals for 100 or more net new dwellings (on greenfield sites) are required to provide 5% 
of the market housing as fully serviced plots for custom and self-build housing.  
 
On other allocated and windfall sites, the Council will encourage the provision of custom and 
self-build plots. Self-build plots will generally be expected to be provided in clusters.  
 
Where developers provide custom and self-build plots, these plots must be made available 
and appropriately marketed for 12 months. Marketing should be agreed with the Council 
before it is commenced. If the plots have not been sold in the 12-month period, these plots 
may be reverted back to the developer to build. All self-build plots will need to be provided 
with a plot passport. 
 

1.3. The supporting text for HO2 (paragraph 7.5.7) states that  
 
A plot passport should be issued to every self/custom build plot available on a self-build site. 
This should set out the rules for design as well as a summary of the main features to be 
delivered. 
 

1.4. The Government is committed to increasing the supply of housing. The Self Build and Custom 
Housebuilding Act 2015 (as amended by the Housing and Planning Act 2016) places 
responsibility on local planning authorities for keeping a self-build and custom housebuilding 
register of individuals and associations of individuals, who are seeking to acquire serviced plots 
of land in the authority’s area in order to build houses for those individuals to occupy as homes. 

 
1.5. The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) (2021) states that the size, type and tenure of 

housing needed for different groups in the community should be assessed and reflected in 
planning policies, including people wishing to commission or build their own homes. 

 

2. What is Self-Build and Custom Housebuilding? 
 

2.1. The Self-Build and Custom Housing building Act 2015 (as amended by the Housing and Planning 
Act 2016) (The Act) provides the legal definition of ‘self-build and custom housebuilding’ as the 
building or completion by:  

 
(a) individuals,  
(b) associations of individuals, or  

187

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2015/17/contents/enacted/data.htm
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2015/17/contents/enacted/data.htm
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-planning-policy-framework--2
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2015/17/section/1
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2015/17/section/1


 

(c) persons working with or for individuals or associations of individuals, of houses to 
be occupied as homes by those individuals.  

 
It does not include the building of a house on a plot acquired from a person who builds the 
house wholly, or mainly to plans or specifications decided or offered by that person. 

 
2.2. The Act does not distinguish between self-build and custom housebuilding and provides that 

both are where an individual, an association of individuals, or persons working with or for 
individuals or associations of individuals, build or complete houses to be occupied as homes by 
those individuals. For the purposes of planning policy, self-build and custom build dwellings 
share the same definition and the terms are used interchangeably.  
 

2.3. There are various models of self-build and custom housebuilding, including: 
 

Self-build housing generally refers to when a person is directly involved in organising the 
design and construction of their own home. This can cover a wide range of projects, from a 
traditional DIY self-build home to projects where the self-builder employs someone to build 
their home for them. In this scenario, the finding and buying of a plot of land would usually 
be undertaken by the individual/self-builder. 

 
Custom build housing is where a person commissions a specialist developer to help deliver 
their own home. In this scenario, the developer may secure the site and manage the build. 
They may even arrange the finance. This is a more ‘hands-off’ approach, but the home 
would still be tailored to match the individual requirements of the customer, who should 
retain primary input into the design of the dwelling.  

 
Group self/custom build is where a group of people come together to design and build a 
housing development which they then live in. They may do this themselves, or with the help 
of a developer who would manage the project.  

 
 

2.4. Government guidance states that in considering whether a home is a self-build or custom build 
home, relevant authorities must be satisfied that the initial owner of the home will have 
primary input into its final design and layout. The Council will not consider self-build and 
custom build homes to include development where a developer delivers speculative units with 
the purchaser choosing the final specification of, for example, the kitchen or bathroom, or one 
floor of the dwelling. Off-plan housing, homes purchased at the plan stage prior to construction 
and without input into the design and layout from the buyer would also be considered to fall 
outside the definition. 

 

3. Self-Build and Custom Housebuilding Register  
 

3.1. The Act states that each relevant authority must keep a register of individuals and associations 
of individuals who are seeking to acquire serviced plots of land in the authority’s area in order 
to build houses for those individuals to occupy as homes. 

 

188

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/self-build-and-custom-housebuilding
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2015/17/section/1


 

3.2. The self-build and custom build register helps us understand the level of demand for this type 
of housing in the Royal Borough and to allow us to support the kinds of self and custom build 
projects that would be most appropriate.   

 
3.3. In preparing this register the Council is not making any commitment to provide self-build or 

custom build plots. Consequently joining the register does not guarantee that a suitable plot 
will be identified or become available, but we will use this information to help plan for future 
needs.   

 

4. How do I register for Self-Build and Custom Housebuilding? 
 

4.1. Applicants must meet all of the eligibility criteria for entry on the register. Government 
regulations state that each individual and every member of an association of individuals that 
applies for entry on the register must be: 

 
• Aged 18 or over; 
• A British citizen, a national of an EEA State other than the United Kingdom, or a 

national of Switzerland; 
• Satisfy any local eligibility conditions; and 
• Be seeking (either alone or with others) to acquire a serviced plot of land in the 

relevant authority’s area for their own self-build and custom housebuilding project. 
 

4.2. If any individual, or association of individuals would like to be added to the Council’s register, 
they should complete the registration form on the Council’s website – Self-build and custom 
housebuilding register | Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead (rbwm.gov.uk) 

 
4.3. As development in the Borough continues to come forward, the Council will undertake regular 

reviews to the registration process and the registration form. The Council will also review 
whether the administrative duties required to maintain the register in future necessitate the 
setting of a fee to join and/or remain on the register. All members of the register will be advised 
of any future changes. 

 
4.4. To keep the register up to date, the Council will periodically contact the individuals and 

associations of individuals on the list to reconfirm their interest. If your contact information 
changes, members join or leave your association, or you would like to be removed from the 
register please notify us in writing. In accordance with The Self-build and Custom Housebuilding 
(Register) Regulations 2016, the Council should remove an entry from the register within 28 
days of receiving a written request.   

 
Please submit written instruction via email to planning.policy@rbwm.gov.uk  
 

4.5. The Council will not publish details of individuals who have signed up to the register. The only 
information which we may publish on a periodic basis is as follows: 

 
• The number of individuals and associations on the register; 
• The number of serviced plots sought; 

189

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/self-build-and-custom-housebuilding
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/self-build-and-custom-housebuilding
https://www.rbwm.gov.uk/home/planning-and-building-control/planning-policy/self-and-custom-house-building/self-build-and-custom-housebuilding-register
https://www.rbwm.gov.uk/home/planning-and-building-control/planning-policy/self-and-custom-house-building/self-build-and-custom-housebuilding-register
mailto:planning.policy@rbwm.gov.uk


 

• A summary of general preferences such as preferred self-build/custom build type, 
preferred location, types and sizes of preferred property. 

 
4.6. Applicant details will be held securely and in accordance with the rules and regulations on data 

protection. Personal details included on the register will not be made public, but anonymised 
data extracted from it may be published. Information as submitted will only be used for land-
use planning and statistical purposes.  We will not pass identifiable information from the 
register onto anyone without your consent. For more information on privacy and how we use 
your data please see our privacy notice.  

5. Delivery of Serviced Plots 
 

5.1. A serviced plot of land is defined as a plot of land that either has access to a public highway and 
has connections for electricity, water and waste water, or, in the opinion of a relevant 
authority, can be provided with access to those things within the duration of a development 
permission granted in relation to that land. 

 
5.2. Policy HO2 of the BLP states that proposals for 100 or more net new dwellings (on greenfield 

sites) are required to provide 5% of the market housing as fully serviced plots for custom and 
self-build housing. On other allocated and windfall sites, the Council will strongly encourage the 
provision of custom and self-build plots.  

 
5.3. Some residential developments of 100 units or more may be entirely for flatted development 

where serviced plots are not feasible. If this is the case, the Council may consider the provision 
of ‘shell home’ or ‘self-finish’ units where the Council considers it appropriate. These are wind 
and water tight homes with no internal fixtures or fittings. In such instances, the purchaser 
could define internal layouts, finishes and fixings as well as any exterior landscaping for flats or 
apartments with private garden space. 

 
5.4. On large sites the Council will expect the early delivery of parcels of self-build plots. The Council 

will work with developers to understand any challenges to the early phasing and release of the 
self-build element of developments. Where clear justification is provided to demonstrate why 
parcels of serviced self-build plots may not be delivered early in the build programme, the 
Council will expect self-build plots to be released when not more than 50% of the total 
dwellings are commenced. The Council accepts that this will vary from site to site.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

190

https://www.rbwm.gov.uk/home/council-and-democracy/strategies-and-policies/data-protection/privacy-notices#:~:text=We%20will%20not%20share%20personal,within%20each%20service's%20privacy%20notice.
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/self-build-and-custom-housebuilding


 

6. Planning Applications 
 

6.1. The Council also accepts that the structure of planning applications will vary from site-to-site, 
but Table 1 below includes the general recommended planning application format for proposed 
self-build development: 

Table 1 

Type of 
development 

Recommended planning application format Community Infrastructure Levy 
(CIL) advice for self-builders 

Single self-
build dwelling 

Full planning permission (valid for 3 years from 
date of approval).  

 
A phasing plan is required if the self-builder 
wishes to begin any works (e.g. access or 
servicing) without triggering the CIL liability for 
the dwelling. 

Any larger 
residential site 
involving 
multiple self-
build plots 

Outline Planning Application: 
 
• Application will need to include the proposed 

number of self-build plots and their 
approximate location within the proposed 
development.  

• Delivery of proposed plots will be secured via 
Section 106 Agreement. 

• A Design Code (see Section 7) and a 
Marketing Strategy (see Section 9) will both 
be required through planning condition and 
should be submitted and approved prior to 
the marketing of any plots.  

• Subsequent separate Reserved Matters, 
including plot passports. 

 
 

Before commencement, all self-
builders must complete the 
relevant CILforms, or they must 
be charged CIL and will lose the 
ability to pay in instalments. See 
also Section 8 below.  

 

 

 

 

 

191



 

7. Design Requirements 
 

Design Codes 
 

7.1. Developers of sites with self-build plots will be encouraged to provide a Design Code1. 
 

7.2. As explained in the Right to Build Toolkit, Design Codes are well established tools to help 
achieve consistently better quality development. They typically consist of written and graphic 
rules that establish, with some precision, the two- and three-dimensional design elements of a 
proposed development. They can also advise on the preferred form and layout of new 
development across a wider area.  

 
7.3. Design Codes vary depending on the site and the amount of development proposed but 

typically will include some or all of the following: 
 
• Plot form – e.g.  plot size and plot width, developable footprint  
• Building form – e.g.  heights, massing, and bulk  
• Building orientation – e.g.  position on plot, overlooking etc.  
• Density – e.g.  plot ratios, site coverage, dwellings per hectare 
• Building types – e.g. detached, semi-detached, terraced etc. 
• Street network – e.g. urban grain – street and building pattern and connectivity 
• Views – e.g. relationship to heritage assets, topography, corridors, and setting 
• Soft landscape – e.g. standards, species, biodiversity etc. 
• Public realm  
• Building frontage – e.g. active frontage, building features, townscape features 
• Cycle provision, car parking and access 
• Waste and recycling provision 
 

7.4. A design code should be submitted through planning condition and approved prior to the 
marketing of any plots.  

Plot Passports 
 

7.5. Policy HO2(4) of the BLP makes clear that all self-build plots will need to be provided with a plot 
passport. The plot passport provides a plot-specific summary of the rules for design as well and 
the main features to be delivered. 

 
7.6. Plot Passports are a simple and succinct summary of the design parameters for a given plot. As 

explained in the Right to Build Toolkit, they act as a key reference point for the purchaser, 
capturing relevant information from the planning permission, Design Code (where relevant), 
design constraints and procedural requirements in an easily understandable and readily 
accessible format.   

 
7.7. The passport should clearly show the plot location, the permissible building lines and side 

spacing requirements, heights, and footprints as well as proximity constraints to neighbouring 
buildings and the part of the site where a new house can be constructed (the developable 

 
1 Planning Practice Guidance: Design Codes - Design: process and tools - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk) 

192

https://righttobuildtoolkit.org.uk/briefing-notes/design-codes-and-plot-passports/
https://righttobuildtoolkit.org.uk/briefing-notes/design-codes-and-plot-passports/
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/design#which-planning-processes-and-tools-can-we-use-to-help-achieve-good-design


 

footprint). The plot passport should also include information on the cost of the plot where 
possible. Plot passports should also be very clear about the number of dwellings that can be 
built on a single plot and any other pertinent details, including car parking and access location. 

 
7.8. As mentioned, a plot passport will include key extracts from any agreed Design Code. Further 

examples of plot passports can be found via several sources including: 

• Graven Hill's Plot Passport Explained - Build It (self-build.co.uk) 

• Custom Build – The Design Takes Shape (facit-homes.com) 

• Custom Build Blog: The Design Code & Plot Passports - Build It (self-build.co.uk) 
 

7.9. For outline applications, plot passports should be provided with subsequent reserved matters 
applications. Plot passports should be submitted with full planning applications.  

 

8. Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) Exemptions 
 

7.1 The Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010 allow for certain development such as 
self-build and custom build housing to apply for an exemption from the levy and guidance 
provides a definition of self-build and custom build housing for that purpose. Self-build and 
custom build multi-unit and communal schemes can also qualify for the exemption where they 
meet the required criteria. See Community Infrastructure Levy exemptions for more 
information. 
 

7.2 Any planning application for a self or custom build house seeking exemption from CIL must be 
supported by the appropriate CIL exemption claim forms. 
 

7.3 Applicants are strongly advised to read the information relating to CIL on both the Planning 
Portal and the National Planning Practice Guidance. There is a set application process that 
needs to be followed in order to gain CIL exemption. Government guidance explains that the 
process requires 4 steps to be undertaken within the required timescales. Failure to follow the 
set procedures within the required timescales will mean that the exemption will not be 
obtained, or will be rescinded if previously obtained, and a full CIL liability will be incurred. 
Failure to submit a commencement notice before building works begin will result in a 
surcharge.  
 

7.4 It is important to note that proposals must fall within the definition of self-build in order to be 
able to claim CIL exemption. Whether any proposed projects may be excluded from this 
definition is at the discretion of the Council. 

 

9. Marketing 
 

8.1 BLP Policy HO2 states that where developers provide custom and self-build plots, these plots 
must be made available and appropriately marketed for 12 months. Marketing should be 

193

https://www.self-build.co.uk/graven-hill-plot-passport-explained/
https://www.facit-homes.com/post/custom-build-the-design-takes-shape
https://www.self-build.co.uk/long-four-acres-plot-passport/
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/community-infrastructure-levy#para082
https://www.planningportal.co.uk/planning/policy-and-legislation/CIL/about-CIL
https://www.planningportal.co.uk/planning/policy-and-legislation/CIL/about-CIL
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/community-infrastructure-levy#para087


 

agreed with the Council before development is commenced (or of any phase of development 
which includes self-build plots).  
 

8.2 The strategy should set out when marketing is to begin, how plots will be marketed to eligible 
purchasers, the method for valuing plots, the proposed terms and conditions for the sale and 
plot passport(s). The strategy should also include the use of a reputable and experienced estate 
agent to value and potentially market the plots. The use of reputable ‘plot finding’ websites is 
also recommended; more information is available on the NaCSBA Self Build Portal. 
 

8.3 In advance of the marketing period beginning, developers must let the Council’s Planning Policy 
team know in writing at planning.policy@rbwm.gov.uk. The Council will then endeavour to alert 
members of our register when marketing periods will begin.  
 

8.4 If the owner/developer has been unable to sell one or more of the self-build plots within the 
12-month period, they should notify the Council and provide sufficient evidence to demonstrate 
that the agreed marketing strategy was complied with. 
 

8.5 It is usually the case that the Council will have the opportunity to make an offer to purchase the 
plot if it remains unsold after the initial 12-month period. If the Council declines the offer, the 
plot may be offered to housing associations to purchase. If the plot(s) remain unsold, the 
developer may be released from the obligation to provide the plot of land for self-build housing. 
The developer would then be responsible for any CIL liability that transpired.  
 

8.6 Whilst self-build housing can contribute to meeting local housing need, it does not 
automatically come under the definition of affordable housing. It can often be low cost but is 
generally considered to be market housing unless meeting the definition of affordable housing 
(BLP Policy HO3). The Council will not normally expect a development to offer its self-build 
element as affordable housing. 

 

10. Affordable Housing 
 

10.1. The Council will endeavour to explore how self-build and custom housebuilding can qualify as 
an affordable housing product and will work with local housing associations and community 
land trusts where possible.  The Council strongly supports the principle of community led 
housing and would also encourage developers of large sites to work in collaboration with 
housing associations, community land trusts and other organisations to facilitate the delivery 
of innovative and more affordable models of self-build housing in the Royal Borough.  
 

11. Monitoring 
 

11.1. In accordance with Monitoring Indicator 3 of the BLP, the Council will monitor the number of 
self and custom build plots made available each year. The Council’s Authority Monitoring 
Report (AMR) will also include the number of individuals and associations of individuals on the 
register, as well as the number of plots secured through planning permissions. The number of 

194

https://selfbuildportal.org.uk/finding-a-plot/
mailto:planning.policy@rbwm.gov.uk


 

serviced plots delivered during the reporting year will also be monitored through CIL 
exemption certificates.  

 

12. FAQs 
 

12.1. Will the Council find me a site? 
 

• Being on the register does not guarantee that a suitable plot will be identified or become 
available to specific individuals or association of individuals. 

• The Council will aim to use the data from our register to inform decision making based on 
the demand profile within the Borough, with the aim of helping deliver the types of self-
build and custom build plots needed to best suit the preferences of our register members.  

• The Council will look into how best to inform the register members when self and custom 
build plots have been granted planning permission. 

• Please also note that the Council does not offer any financial assistance to self or custom 
housebuilders to secure plots. 

 
12.2. I am already on the register; do I need to re-apply? 

 
• If you are already on the Council’s register you do not need to re-apply as we already have 

your interest logged. 
• However, we intend to introduce a new application form which will allow applicants to 

provide us with more up to date and robust data to inform our knowledge of the type of 
demand for self and custom-building housing within the Borough. We would welcome any 
resubmissions of the new application form from our existing register members. We will 
notify our existing members of any changes to the registration form.  

• The Council intends to be in more regular contact with our register members to ensure 
that our register is as up to date as possible. 
 

12.3. How do I find a plot? 
 
• Two good sources of advice on finding a plot are the Self Build Portal and the Planning 

Portal. The Plot Browser website also lists thousands of available self-build plots across the 
UK. 

• A number of sites allocated within the Local Plan should also include self-build and custom 
build plots. Those plots will need to be appropriately marketed, as per Section 9. The 
Council will endeavour to advise members of the register on how to best contact the 
developers of those sites. 

 
12.4. Is there an obligation for the Council to tell people about self-build plots that become 

available? 
 
• No, there is no obligation to do so.   
 

12.5. Should I buy a parcel of land for self-build that doesn’t have a planning permission?  
 

195

https://selfbuildportal.org.uk/finding-a-plot/
https://www.planningportal.co.uk/permission/common-projects/self-build-homes/location-and-acquiring-land
https://www.planningportal.co.uk/permission/common-projects/self-build-homes/location-and-acquiring-land
https://www.plotbrowser.com/


 

• Buying a parcel of land to build a home on that does not benefit from planning permission 
for housing is a very big financial risk.  Purchasing a plot of land with an existing planning 
permission for housing will be more expensive because the price reflects the development 
potential of the land. 

13. Further advice and information 
 

13.1. The following links provide further information on self and custom housebuilding: 
 
• The Self Build Portal (www.selfbuildportal.org.uk) 
 
• National Customer and Self Build Association (NaCSBA) (www.nacsba.org.uk) 
 
• Right to Build Taskforce (www.righttobuild.org.uk)   
 
• Build Store (www.buildstore.co.uk)  
 
• National CLT Network (www.communitylandtrusts.org.uk) 
 
• The Government has also prepared Planning Practice Guidance on Self-build and Custom 

Housebuilding (https://www.gov.uk/guidance/self-build-and-custom-housebuilding) 
 
• Plot Passport Explained | Graven Hill 
 

13.2. The Council offers a pre-application advice service and applicants are encouraged to use this 
service at an early stage of the development process. This service may be particularly helpful 
for sites with significant development constraints such as flooding or land contamination. 
More information can be found via the following link - Planning pre-application advice | Royal 
Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead (rbwm.gov.uk) 

 
13.3. Once planning permission has been secured any self-build or custom housebuilding project 

will be required to be designed and built-in accordance with Building Regulations and 
associated legislation. The Council’s Building Control Team can provide more information on 
what is required at each stage of the design and construction process. 

 
13.4. The construction of new build dwellings is not subject to VAT, so self-builders can reclaim their 

VAT within 3 months of completing the work. Further information should be sought from 
HMRC.  

 
13.5. In addition to the costs involved in acquiring a plot of land, there are a range of other costs 

associated with the design and construction of a new home. Therefore, those seeking to build 
their own home are advised to carefully consider the whole project cost, not just the price of 
acquiring a plot of land. More information can be found online, including the following links: 

 
- NSBRC - The Costs of a Self Build Project | NSBRC 
- www.homebuilding.co.uk   

  

196

http://www.selfbuildportal.org.uk/
http://www.nacsba.org.uk/
http://www.righttobuild.org.uk/
http://www.buildstore.co.uk/
http://www.communitylandtrusts.org.uk/
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/self-build-and-custom-housebuilding
https://www.gravenhill.co.uk/blog/plot-passport-explained/
https://www.rbwm.gov.uk/home/planning/planning-pre-application-advice
https://www.rbwm.gov.uk/home/planning-and-building-control/planning-pre-application-advice
https://www.rbwm.gov.uk/home/planning-and-building-control/planning-pre-application-advice
https://www.rbwm.gov.uk/home/planning-and-building-control/building-control
https://www.nsbrc.co.uk/advice-inspiration/advice-for-your-self-build-journey/self-build-costs/
http://www.homebuilding.co.uk/


 
Report Title: Renewal of lease over land at Cookham 

Bridge and Toll House, Cookham 
Contains 
Confidential or 
Exempt Information 

No - Part I  

Cabinet Member: Councillor Bermange, Cabinet Member for 
Planning, Legal and Asset Management 

Meeting and Date: Cabinet – 27 September 2023 
Responsible 
Officer(s): 

Andrew Durrant, Executive Director of 
Place Services 

Wards affected:   Bisham and Cookham 
 
REPORT SUMMARY 
 
The Council owns a small parcel of land and the former Toll House on the Northern 
end of Cookham Bridge. This land is currently leased toto DB International Limited as 
it forms part of the boatyard and marina. The current lease expired on 16th September 
2023 and the tenant is holding over. The tenant has security of tenure under the 1954 
Landlord and Tenant Act and is therefore entitled to a new lease. 
 
Terms have been agreed for a new 20 year lease at an increased annual rental to the 
Council which will support the Council’s budget and increases during the term of the 
lease. The new lease enables the tenant to invest further in their facilities and aid 
expansion of the boatyard business. 
 
Cookham Bridge is due to be refurbished with phase 1 commencing in October 2023. 
The new lease contains clear provisions for RBWM to re-enter the land to undertake 
works. The tenant and the Council have been working collaboratively to minimise 
disruption to the tenant’s business and to maximise efficiency for the bridge project. 
The Council’s contactors will be able to use some the tenant’s freehold land for the 
duration of the project. An option agreement has also been with the tenant to allow the 
Council to use its land for a contractors’ compound if required for future phases. 
 
  
RECOMMENDATION: That Cabinet notes the report and: 
 

i) Delegates authority to the Executive Director of Place Services in 
consultation with the Cabinet Member for Planning, Legal and Asset 
Management, to conclude the renewal of the lease over land at 
Cookham Bridge and Toll House, Cookham. 

 

1. REASON(S) FOR RECOMMENDATION(S) AND OPTIONS CONSIDERED 

Options  
 

Table 1: Options arising from this report 

Option Comments 
Renew the existing lease to secure an 
increased rental income for the Council 

The tenant is entitled to a new lease 
under the security of tenure 

197

Agenda Item 12



Option Comments 
This is the recommended option provisions of the 1954 Landlord and 

Tenant Act. The annual rent will 
increase by 36.6% 

Do not renew the lease. This is not the 
recommended option 

The Council’s income will cease 
The tenant is entitled to a new lease 
under the security of tenure 
provisions of the 1954 Landlord and 
Tenant Act and would be able to 
serve notice and seek a new lease 
via the Courts 
 

Do Nothing The Council could allow the tenant 
to continue to hold over under the 
existing lease, however the rental 
income would not increase. The 
tenant is able to serve notice for a 
new lease in any event 
 

  
1.1 The land is occupied by DB International Limited (DBIL) under a long term lease 

that expired on 16th September 2023. The tenant has security of tenure under 
the security of tenure provisions of the 1954 Landlord and Tenant Act and is 
entitled to a new lease. 

1.2 DBIL is a long standing business in Cookham and the new lease will enable 
them to invest further in facilities and bring more visitors to Cookham. 

1.3 Cookham Bridge is due to be refurbished with the first phase due to commence 
in October 2023. This is a major project that carries many risk and complexities 
given the structure’s age, nature and location. The land in question sits 
alongside and under the northern end of the bridge. 

1.4 The Council and DBIL have worked collaboratively to minimise the disruption 
to the tenant’s business and achieve efficiencies for the Council contractors and 
minimise the closure of the bridge itself and as such the disruption to residents 
and users of the bridge’ 

1.5 Terms have been agreed for a new 20 year lease that will see the rent increase 
from the current £9,150 pa to £12,500 pa for the first 5 years, £14,500 pa years 
6 to 10, £16,500 for years 11 to 15 and £19,000 for years 16 to 20 

1.6 The new lease contains provisions that allow the Council to re-enter the land to 
undertake works to Cookham Bridge.  

1.7 The Council and DBIL have agreed a method statement to minimise disruption 
to DBIL’s business and also use some of DBIL’s freehold land during the bridge 
refurbishment project to aid efficiency and minimise the project period and 
disruption to residents and bridge users. 

1.8 The Council will enter into an option to use part of DBIL’s freehold land for a 
site compound for future phases of works to the bridge ir necessary 

 

198



2. KEY IMPLICATIONS 

2.1 The rental income received by the Council is secured by entering into the new 
lease and increases by 36.6%. 

2.2 The new lease will assst with the efficient delivery of the Cookham Bridge 
refurbishment project. 
 
Table 2: Key Implications 
Outcom
e 

Unmet Met Exceede
d 

Significantl
y Exceeded 

Date of 
deliver
y 

New 
Lease 
Agreed 

Rental 
income 
ceases, 
delays to 
bridge 
refurbishmen
t project and 
risk of cost 
increases 

New 
lease 
complete
d by 1st 
Decembe
r 2023 

New 
lease 
completed 
by 1st 
November 
2023 

New lease 
completed 
by 15th 
October 
2023  

 

      

 

3. FINANCIAL DETAILS / VALUE FOR MONEY  

3.1 The annual rent increases from £9,150 pa to £12,500 pa. The rent increases at 
the end of each 5 years period 
 

3.2 Remove tables below if there are no financial implications 
 
Table 3: Financial impact of report’s recommendations 
REVENUE COSTS 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 
Additional total £0 £0 £0 
Reduction £3350 £3350 £3350 
Net Impact £3350 £3350 £3350 

 
CAPITAL COSTS 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 
Additional total £0 £0 £0 
Reduction £0 £0 £0 
Net Impact £0 £0 £0 

4. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS  

4.1 The terms of the agreements have been negotiated by the asset management 
surveyors in the property services team and the new lease and option 
agreement will be drafted by the property solicitor in the legal services team, 
 

4.2 The Part 8 Section D – Property Procedures of the Councils’ Constitution 
confirms Cabinet authority to approve lease agreements where the aggregate 
income exceeds £500,000 and the lease terms exceeds 10 years. 

 

199



5. RISK MANAGEMENT  

5.1 The risk to the Council is low. Entering the lease reduces the risk of the rental 
income ceasing and secures an increase. 

5.2 The transaction has been negotiated by the asset management surveyors in 
the property services team and the lease documentation will be drafted and 
finalised by the solicitors in the legal services team. 

Table 4: Impact of risk and mitigation 
Threat or risk Impact 

with no 
mitigations 
in place or 
if all 
mitigations 
fail  

Likelihood 
of risk 
occurring 
with no 
mitigations 
in place. 
 
 

Mitigations 
currently in 
place  
 
 

Mitigations 
proposed 
 
 

Impact of 
risk 
once all 
mitigations 
in place 
and 
working 

Likelihood 
of risk 
occurring 
with all 
mitigations 
in place. 
 
 

There is a 
risk that the 
tenant 
decides not 
renew lease 
and the 
Council 
ceases to 
receive 
rental 
income 

Minor 1  Medium  
 
 
 

Negotiation 
have 
progressed 
in advance 
of the lease 
renewal and 
terms 
agreed. 

Professionally 
qualified 
chartered 
surveyors and 
solicitors are 
managing 
negotiations 
and 
documentation 
process 

Minor 1 
 
 

Low  

 

6. POTENTIAL IMPACTS  

6.1 Equalities. An Equality Impact Assessment is available as Appendix A. The 
lease renewal has no impact on protected groups or characteristics  

 
6.2 Climate change/sustainability. The lease renewal has no impact on climate 

change or bio-diversity 
 
6.3 Data Protection/GDPR. No personal data is being stored or utilised in this 

matter 
 

7. CONSULTATION 

7.1 Internal officer and Cabinet Member consultation only 
 

8. TIMETABLE FOR IMPLEMENTATION 

8.1 Implementation date if not called in: The draft lease will be issued to the tenant’s 
solicitor on 1st October. The full implementation stages are set out in table X. 
 
Table 5: Implementation timetable 
Date Details 

200



1st October 2023 Draft lease issued to tenant 
1st December 
2023 

Lease Completed 

  
  

9. APPENDICES  

9.1 This report is supported by 3 appendices: 
 
• Appendix A – Equality Impact Assessment  
• Appendix B – Title Plan 
• Appendix C – Agreed Heads of Terms – persona; details redacted 
 
  

10. CONSULTATION 

 Name of 
consultee 

Post held Date 
sent 

Date 
returned 

Mandatory:  Statutory Officer (or deputy)   
Andrew Vallance Deputy Director of Finance, 

Deputy 151 Officer 
15th 
Septem
ber 
2023 

15th 
Septemb
er 2023 

Elaine Browne Deputy Director of Law & 
Governance & Monitoring 
Officer 

15th 
Septem
ber 
2023 

15th 
Septemb
er 2023 

Deputies:    
    
    
Mandatory:  Procurement Manager (or deputy) - if 

report requests approval to go to 
tender or award a contract 

  

Lyn Hitchinson Procurement Manager 
 

N/A  

Mandatory:  Data Protection Officer (or deputy) - if 
decision will result in processing of 
personal data; to advise on DPIA 

  

Samantha 
Wootton 

Data Protection Officer 15th 
Septem
ber 
2023 

15th 
Septemb
er 2023 

Mandatory:  Equalities Officer – to advise on EQiA, 
or agree an EQiA is not required 

  

Ellen McManus-
Fry 

Equalities & Engagement Officer 15th 
Septem
ber 
2023 

15th 
Septemb
er 2023 

Other consultees:    

201



Directors (where 
relevant) 

   

Stephen Evans Chief Executive 15th 
Septem
ber 
2023 

15th 
Septemb
er 2023 

Andrew Durrant Executive Director of Place 15th 
Septem
ber 
2023 

15th 
Septemb
er 2023 

Kevin McDaniel Executive Director of Adult 
Social Care & Health 

  

Lin Ferguson Executive Director of Children’s 
Services & Education 

  

Assistant Directors 
(where relevant)  

   

N/A    
    
    
External (where 
relevant) 

   

N/A    

 
Confirmation 
relevant Cabinet 
Member(s) 
consulted  

Cabinet Member for Planning, 
Legal and Asset Management 

Yes 

 

REPORT HISTORY  
 

Decision type: Urgency item? To follow item? 
Non-key decision  
  
 
 
 
 

No  
 

No  

 
Report Author: Chris Pearse, Senior Asset Manager, Property Services 

 
 

 

 

 

202



Equality Impact Assessment 

For support in completing this EQIA, please consult the EQIA Guidance 
Document or contact equality@rbwm.gov.uk 

 

1. Background Information 
 

Title of policy/strategy/plan: 
 

Renewal of lease over land at Cookham Bridge and 
Toll House, Cookham 

Service area: 
 

Property Services 

Directorate: 
 

Place 

 

Provide a brief explanation of the proposal: 
 

 
• What are its intended outcomes? Completion of the lease renewal to an existing 

tenant 
• Who will deliver it? Property Services and Legal Services 
• Is it a new proposal or a change to an existing one? No 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

2. Relevance Check 
Is this proposal likely to directly impact people, communities or RBWM employees?  

 
• No – this is the renewal of an existing lease. No third parties are impacted by the 

transaction 
 

 

If ‘No’, proceed to ‘Sign off’. If unsure, please contact equality@rbwm.gov.uk 

 

 

 

  

203

mailto:equality@rbwm.gov.uk
mailto:equality@rbwm.gov.uk


3. Evidence Gathering and Stakeholder Engagement 
Who will be affected by this proposal?  
For example, users of a particular service, residents of a geographical area, staff 

 
 
 
 
 
Among those affected by the proposal, are protected characteristics (age, sex, 
disability, race, religion, sexual orientation, gender reassignment, pregnancy/maternity, 
marriage/civil partnership) disproportionately represented?  
For example, compared to the general population do a higher proportion have disabilities?  
 
 

What engagement/consultation has been undertaken or planned?  
• How has/will equality considerations be taken into account?   
• Where known, what were the outcomes of this engagement? 

 
 

What sources of data and evidence have been used in this assessment?  
Please consult the Equalities Evidence Grid for relevant data. Examples of other possible 
sources of information are in the Guidance document. 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

204



4. Equality Analysis 
Please detail, using supporting evidence: 

• How the protected characteristics below might influence the needs and experiences 
of individuals, in relation to this proposal. 

• How these characteristics might affect the impact of this proposal. 

Tick positive/negative impact as appropriate. If there is no impact, or a neutral impact, state 
‘Not Applicable’ 

More information on each protected characteristic is provided in the Guidance document. 

 Details and supporting evidence Potential 
positive impact 

Potential 
negative 
impact 

Age 
 

   

Disability 
 

   

Sex 
 

   

Race, ethnicity and 
religion 
 

   

Sexual orientation and 
gender reassignment 
 

   

Pregnancy and 
maternity 

   

Marriage and civil 
partnership 

   

Armed forces 
community 

   

Socio-economic 
considerations e.g. low 
income, poverty 

   

Children in care/Care 
leavers 

   

 

 

205



5. Impact Assessment and Monitoring  
If you have not identified any disproportionate impacts and the questions below are not 
applicable, leave them blank and proceed to Sign Off. 

What measures have been taken to ensure that groups with protected characteristics 
are able to benefit from this change, or are not disadvantaged by it?  
For example, adjustments needed to accommodate the needs of a particular group 
 

Where a potential negative impact cannot be avoided, what measures have been put in 
place to mitigate or minimise this? 

• For planned future actions, provide the name of the responsible individual and the 
target date for implementation. 

 

How will the equality impacts identified here be monitored and reviewed in the future? 
See guidance document for examples of appropriate stages to review an EQIA. 
 

 

 

6. Sign Off 

 
Completed by: Chris Pearse – Senior Asset Manager 
 

Date:13 September 2023 

Approved by: Ian Brazier-Dubber, Managing Director, 
RBWM Property Company 
 

Date: 13 September 2023 

 

 

If this version of the EQIA has been reviewed and/or updated: 

Reviewed by: 
 

Date: 

 

206



207



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

Heads of Terms 
Property 
Land and Premises known as the Toll House and The Boatyard at Cookham Bridge, 
Cookham, SL6 9SN shown on the attached plan 
 
Landlord 
The Royal Borough of Windsor & Maidenhead 
Town Hall 
St Ives Road 
Maidenhead 
SL6 1RF 
Contact Name: Chris Pearse 
E-mail: chris.pearse@RBWM.gov.uk 
Telephone: 07825 430969 
 
Landlord’s Solicitors 
RBWM Legal Services 
Contact Name: Katherine Lamprell 
E-mail: Katherine.lamprell@RBWM.gov.uk  
Telephone: 07583 342535 
 
Tenant 
DB International Limited 
Cookham Bridge 
Cookham 
SL6 9NS 
Contact Name: Dan Barber 
E-mail: dan.barber@dbmarine.co.uk  
Telephone : 07788 863109  
 
Tenant’s Solicitors 
Gordons Solicitors Ltd 
Winter Hill House 
Marlow Reach 
Station Approach 
Marlow 
SL7 1NT 
 
Rent 

• Year 1-5 inclusive £12,500 pa exclusive of VAT 
• Year 6-10 inclusive £14,500 pa exclusive of VAT 
• Year 11-15 inclusive £16,500 pa exclusive of VAT 
• Year 16 to 20 inclusive £19,000 pa exclusive of VAT 

 

209

mailto:chris.pearse@rbwm.gov.uk
mailto:Katherine.lamprell@rbwm.gov.uk
mailto:dan.barber@dbmarine.co.uk


Rent Free Period 
N/A 
 
Lease Term 
20 years from completion of the lease  
 
Break Clause 
N/A 
 
Rent Reviews 
N/A 
 
1954 Landlord and Tenant Act 
The lease is to be outside the security of tenure provisions of the 1954 Landlord and Tenant 
Act 
 
Rent Deposit 
N/A 
 
User 
Same terms as the existing lease 
 
Council entry and use of land to carry out repairs to Cookham Bridge 
the Council will require access and use of land that will be highly disruptive to the tenant. As 
such the new lease will provide for the Council to provide not less than 2 months notice of 
such access and works and that for the duration of the works, the rent will reduce to zero. 
The notice period requirement will be waived by the tenant for the project due to commence 
in October 2022 that has been discussed at length.  

Council option to use part of Marina’s freehold land as a compound 
Separetely the Council and DB International will enter into an option agreement that allows 
the Council and its contractors to use and occupy part of the Marina’s freehold land as a 
Compound at anytime within the next 5 years if required to undertake work on Cookham 
Bridge at £2,500 per month (exc VAT) subject to the Council giving 4 months notice. The 
Council will be responsible for all costs establishing the compound and making good any 
damage caused. This is limited to 1 occurrence for a minimum consistent period of 6 months 
& maximum of 18 months 
 
Outgoing and Taxes 
The tenant is responsible for all property outgoings including taxes, utility supplies and 
maintenance costs 
 
Building Condition 
Repairing obligations carry over from the existing lease 
 
Assignment and subletting 
Alienation provisions carry over from the existing lease 
 
Repairing Obligations 
Repairing obligations carry over from the existing lease 
  
Dilapidations 
The dilapidations obligations carry over from the existing lease 
 
Insurance 

210



The insurance provisions carry over from the existing lease 
 
Alterations 
The Alterations provisions carry over from the existing lease 
 
Tenant’s Initial Works 
N/A 
 
Conditions 

• Council Approval 
• Each party is responsible for its legal and other fees in concluding the transaction 

 
Documentation 
The new lease will commence on the expiry of the existing lease. To ensure continuity a 
tenancy at will be put in place in the event that the documentation is delayed 
 
Council acting as Freehold owner 
The Council is acting as the freehold owner and nothing in this agreement can limit the 
Council’s other activity or approvals in other areas  
 
 
 
 
I confirm agreement to these Heads of Terms 
 
On Behalf of DB International Limited 
 
 
 
 
Signature……………………………………………… 
 
 
On Behalf of The Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead 
 
 
 
 
Signature……………………………………………. 
 

211



This page is intentionally left blank



 
Report Title: Retendering of Library Stock Contract 
Contains 
Confidential or 
Exempt Information 

No – Part I 

Cabinet Member: Councillor Reynolds, Cabinet Member for 
Communities and Leisure 

Meeting and Date: Cabinet – 27 September 2023 
Responsible 
Officer(s): 

Louise Freeth, Assistant Director of Revenues 
Benefits Library and Resident Services 
Angela Huisman, Service Lead: Library and 
Resident Contact (Face to Face)  

Wards affected:   All 
 
REPORT SUMMARY 
 
1. This report deals with the retendering of the Central Buying Consortium (CBC) 

contract, that the Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead (RBWM) has been 
part of since August 2010 for the supply of library stock, for two years from 1 April 
2024 to 31 March 2026 with the option to extend for a further two years. 

2. It recommends that the Council remains a part of the CBC contract for the 
purchase of library stock and notes the tender process undertaken by CBC.  

3. The expected minimum spend would be £200k over two years or £400k over four 
years. This is a reduction from the current spend of £340k over two years and 
£680k over four years in part because of RWBM’s budget saving proposals and 
partly due to the expiry of external funding used to buy stock in previous years.  If 
as part of the current budget drafting further funding for library stock can be found 
this spend could increase under the proposed delegation below to the Executive 
Director of Resources and the Cabinet Member for Communities and Leisure.  It 
should be noted that the proposed reduction in spend is still being negotiated with 
the lead authority for the consortium, so this carries an element of risk that the 
minimum spend proposed is not considered acceptable by them. 

4. These recommendations are being made because the contract represents very 
good value for money for residents whilst offering a comprehensive choice of 
current books. 

5. If renewed, the CBC contract will continue to offer very high discounts for library 
books with individual suppliers, which would not be possible if RBWM were to 
approach booksellers on its own.  

6. The contract also includes all stock processing which means that books 
purchased under the contract are delivered pre-prepared for issue. Prior to being 
part of the consortium, the RBWM library service had an internal stock services 
team consisting of 8 members of staff who undertook the activities necessary to 
prepare books for issue. If RBWM were no longer to be part of the consortium, 
consideration would need to be given to reinstating such a team.   

7. The CBC contract offers a central point of contract negotiation continuing to save 
RBWM the additional staffing resource that would be needed to complete this on 
a local basis within the Council. 

213

Agenda Item 13



RECOMMENDATION: That Cabinet notes the report and: 
 

i) Notes the retender for the supply of library stock by the Central 
Buying Consortium under the compliant procurement process. 

ii) Approves the Council continuing to remain an Associate Member 
of the Central Buying Consortium for the supply of library stock 
until 31 March 2028. 

iii) Delegates authority to the Executive Director of Resources, in 
consultation with the Cabinet Member for Communities and 
Leisure, to award the tender and exercise the optional extension 
until 31 March 2028 if CBC pursues the extension. 

iv) Delegates authority to the Executive Director of Resources, in 
consultation with the Cabinet Member for communities and 
Leisure, to consider increasing the proposed £100k minimum 
spend should the budgetary opportunity arise during the period of 
the contract.  
 

1. REASON(S) FOR RECOMMENDATION(S) AND OPTIONS CONSIDERED 

Options  
 

Table A: Options arising from this report 

Option Comments 
Continue as an Associate member of CBC 
until 31 March 2028, note the re-tender 
exercise and delegate authority to the 
Executive Director of Resources in 
consultation with the Cabinet Member for 
Communities to award the tender and 
exercise the optional extension of the new 
contract for up to two more years, until 31 
March 2028 
This is the recommended option 

This arrangement has secured 
significant discounts for book stock 
for RBWM libraries which is 
excellent value for money.  
This is a compliant means of 
securing the required services, 
benefiting from commercial and 
administrative leverage derived from 
Consortium buying. This option also 
ensures all book processing is done 
by the supplier saving on significant 
staff costs.  

Buy stock independently at local level. 
 
 
 

Tendering for new contracts alone 
would involve significant staff 
resource from the service as well as 
from Legal and Procurement 
services.  
The comparatively very small 
amount of library stock RBWM 
requires is unlikely to lead to 
competitive pricing from suppliers. A 
stock service team, which was 
disbanded over ten years ago would 
need to be re-instated.  

Seek to set up a new consortium with 
members of SELMS (the library 
management system consortium for which 
the Borough is the administrative lead) 

Most of SELMS are already 
members of the CBC consortium. 
There would be costs involved in 
creating a new consortium and 
discounts are unlikely to be higher 

214



Option Comments 
for a smaller number of partners (14 
in SELMS, 55 in CBC) 

Do Nothing The council would not be able to 
fulfil its statutory duty of securing, by 
the keeping of adequate stocks 
sufficient in number, range and 
quality, to meet the general 
requirements and any special 
requirements both of adults and 
children; and of encouraging both 
adults and children to make full use 
of the library service (Public 
Libraries and Museums Act 1964 
7(2) (a) and (b)) 

  
1.1  A robust open tender procurement process in compliance with West Sussex 

County Council’s Procurement rules is due to be undertaken.  

Membership of CBC provides significant discounts on the purchase of library 
stock which would not be possible with the lesser buying power of a single small 
library authority. Membership also reduces the costs associated with 
procurement.  

Cabinet approved joining and continuing membership of the CBC library stock 
contract in 2010. As this offers excellent value for money, the Council has 
continued to approve associate membership of CBC and to take advantage of 
the contracts tendered and negotiated by CBC.  

2. KEY IMPLICATIONS 

2.1 The CBC contract represents excellent value for money as it requires no extra 
budgetary input but will provide continued savings.  
 

2.2 Agreeing to the extension of the existing CBC contract will mean that RBWM 
Libraries can continue to offer the full statutory comprehensive and efficient 
library service to residents at a significantly reduced cost. 
 
Table B: Key Implications 
Outcome Unmet Met Exceeded Date of 

delivery 
     
Discounts 
applied to 
new stock 
purchases 

<20% 
discounts  

20-49% 
discounts 

>50% 
discounts 

31 March 
2024 

     

3. FINANCIAL DETAILS / VALUE FOR MONEY  

3.1 The estimated spend for physical books via the CBC contract is, at present,  
approximately £170,600 per year. This proposal includes a recommendation 
to reduce this to £100,000 per year. The service includes delivery to individual 

215



library locations with the books shelf-ready. The financial administration is 
managed via EDI (Electronic Data Interchange). As a consequence, there is 
no need for the council to employ its own Bibliographic Processing or Finance 
Team. Items are put through return on the self-issue kiosks on receipt and 
they are immediately shelf ready. Invoicing and payment is fully automated.  

3.2 As an Associate Member authority using the CBC Library Book contract, 
RBWM will continue to be charged a 1% fee which is estimated to be £1,000 
each year.  

3.3 The contract is for two years plus an optional extension of a further two years. 
Were the extension to be utilised, the total spend over four years of the 
contract is estimated to be £400,000.  

3.4 This report is to ensure the council secures the best possible discounts.  

3.5 Library loans are estimated to reach over 700,000 for the current financial 
year. 

3.6 Table C below shows how this spend compares with neighbouring authorities. 

Table C.  

Authority  Budget  Population Average cost of 
stock per head 
of population  

Slough 90K (was 220K before 
the S114) 

158k £0.56 

West Berks £171K 158k £1.08 
Reading £85K 174k £0.48 
Wokingham £78K 177k £0.44 
RBWM £100K 150k £0.66 
Bracknell £154K 124k £1.24 

 

4. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS  

4.1 CBC (Central Buying Consortium) was formed in 1991. It is a non-profit  
federation of 55 local authority members and associate members. Collective 
procurement spend is currently in excess of £5,000m with the authorities.  

4.2 West Sussex is the Lead and Contracting Authority for the Library Supply 
contract and manages the contract on behalf of Members. At the point of 
tendering the contract a fully compliant procurement process was 
implemented.  

4.3 The market is a specialist library supplier market with limited suppliers to 
choose from. However, the consortium ensures a robust process is followed 
with a competitive outcome.  

4.4 The Council is enabled, by section 111 of the Local Government Act 1972, to 
do anything which is calculated to facilitate, or is conducive or incidental to, the 
discharge of any of its functions. The Council therefore has a general power to 
enter into contracts for the discharge of any of its functions. The contract will be 

216



let in accordance with the Part 3 of the Council’s Contract Rules and The Public 
Contracts Regulations 2015. Cabinet may delegate approval to award the 
contract to specified officers. 

4.5 Procurement have been consulted and their advice has been followed. 

5. RISK MANAGEMENT  

Table C: Impact of risk and mitigation 
Threat or risk Impact 

with no 
mitigations 
in place or 
if all 
mitigations 
fail  

Likelihood of 
risk occurring 
with no 
mitigations in 
place. 
 
 

Mitigations 
currently in 
place  
 
 

Mitigations 
proposed 
 
 

Impact of 
risk 
once all 
mitigations 
in place 
and 
working 

Likelihood 
of risk 
occurring 
with all 
mitigations 
in place. 
 
 

There is a 
risk that the 
appointed 
supplier’s 
business fails 
which could 
result in no 
further supply 
of books… 

Moderate  
 

Low  
 

No invoices 
are paid 
until after 
the stock is 
supplied 

 Moderate Low  
 

There is a 
risk that if the 
stock budget 
is cut spend 
is reduced 
causing the 
supplier to 
withdraw 
from the 
contract 

Moderate 
 

High 
 

Several 
authorities 
are 
proposing 
spend 
reductions 
this year as 
a result of 
budget 
constraints 
so RBWM is 
not an 
outlier 

Senior 
leaders 
are made 
aware of 
their 
statutory 
obligations 
under the 
Act 

Moderate Medium 
 

There is a 
risk of 
performance 
failure on the 
part of the 
supplier 
resulting in 
books not 
being 
available to 
the public 

Moderate  
 

Medium 
 

Monitor 
performance 
via 
consortium 

 Moderate Low 
 

 

6. POTENTIAL IMPACTS  

6.1 Equalities: An Equality Impact Assessment is available as Appendix A. The 
Equality Act 2010 states that public bodies must have “due regard” to a variety 
of equalities objectives, such as the need to eliminate discrimination and 
advance equality of opportunity and foster good relations between those who 

217



share a “protected characteristic” and those who do not. The PSED should be 
considered by councils at all stages of bringing forward library proposals and 
should be demonstrably embedded in the decision-making process. 

6.2 Climate change/sustainability: Items purchased against the CBC contract 
are purchased for multiple, repeated use by residents and therefore support 
the sustainability agenda.  The library loan service encapsulates a recycling 
ethos, discourages single use approaches and provides residents with the 
opportunity to share resources while ensuring equality of access. 

6.3 Data Protection/GDPR: The levels of discount offered by the contracted 
suppliers are commercially confidential and are not for publication by virtue of 
paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972.  
 

6.4 Budget Reduction: The proposed reduction in stock budget is likely to have 
an impact on the Council’s statutory obligation to secure, by the keeping of 
adequate stocks sufficient in number, range and quality, to meet the general 
requirements and any special requirements both of adults and children; and of 
encouraging both adults and children to make full use of the library service 
(Public Libraries and Museums Act 1964 7(2) (a) and (b)).  

6.5 The Secretary of State for Digital, Culture, Media and Sport has a duty, under 
the Act, to superintend and promote the improvement of the public library 
service provided by councils in England and to secure the proper discharge by 
councils of their functions as library authorities. The Act also provides the 
Secretary of State with the statutory power to intervene and call a local inquiry 
when a library authority fails (or is suspected of failing) to provide the required 
service. What a comprehensive and efficient service means will differ between 
councils, and will depend on the needs of each area which must be 
ascertained by councillors: 

• in consultation with their communities 

• through analysis of evidence around local needs 

• in accordance with their statutory duties 

 
6.6 Library authorities are also required to provide DCMS with such information as 

the Secretary of State may require for carrying out their duties. DCMS expects 
councils considering changing their library service to inform the DCMS 
Libraries team about their proposals before public engagement or 
consultation. Library authorities should be able to demonstrate: 

• plans to consult with local communities alongside an assessment of 
their needs (including any projections of need) 

• consideration of a range of options to sustain library service provision 
in their area 

• a rigorous analysis and assessment of the potential impact of their 
proposals 

218



6.7 If a member of the public believes a council is in breach of its duties under the 
Act they can make an official complaint to the Secretary of State.  

6.8 DCMS will consider each complaint on its own merits following careful 
consideration of a number of factors. These include: 

• if there is any serious doubt or uncertainty that the council is (or may 
cease to be) complying with its legal obligation to provide a 
comprehensive and efficient library service 

• if the council appears to be acting in a careless or unreasonable way 

• if the decision is (or may be outside) the proper bounds of the council’s 
discretion, such as a capricious decision to stop serving a particularly 
vulnerable group in the local community 

• if the council appears to have failed to consult affected individuals or to 
carry out significant research into the effects of its proposals 

• if the council has failed to explain, analyse or properly justify its 
proposals 

• if the local proposals are likely to lead to a breach of national library 
policy 

• if there is any other good reason why a local inquiry should be ordered 

7. CONSULTATION 

7.1 No public consultation has been carried out.  

8. TIMETABLE FOR IMPLEMENTATION 

Implementation date if not called in:  
Table D: Implementation timetable 
Date Details 
1 April 2024 Renewal of CBC contract begins and runs until 31 

March 2026 with optional extension until 31 March 2028 

9. APPENDICES  

9.1 This report is supported by 2 appendices: 
 
• Appendix A – Equality Impact Assessment  
• Appendix B - Implications of Stock Budget Reduction 

 

10. BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS 

10.1 This report is supported by 0 background documents: 
 

219



 

11. CONSULTATION 

 Name of 
consultee 

Post held Date 
sent 

Date 
returned 

Mandatory:  Statutory Officer (or deputy)   
Elizabeth Griffiths  Executive Director of 

Resources (S151) 
18.09.23 19.09.23 

Elaine Browne Head of Law & Governance/ 
Interim Monitoring Officer 

16.08.23 
18.09.23  

29.08.23 
19.09.23 

Deputies:    
Andrew Vallance  Head of Finance/ interim S151 

Officer 
  

Julian McGowan  16.08.23 18.08.23 
Mandatory:  Procurement Manager (or deputy) - if 

report requests approval to go to 
tender or award a contract 

  

Lyn Hitchinson Procurement Manager 
 

16.08.23 
18.09.23 

29.08.23 
19.09.23 

Mandatory:  Data Protection Officer (or deputy) - if 
decision will result in processing of 
personal data; to advise on DPIA 

  

Samantha 
Wootton 

Data Protection Officer N/A   

Mandatory:  Equalities Officer – to advise on 
EQiA, or agree an EQiA is not 
required 

  

Ellen McManus-
Fry 

Equalities & Engagement 
Officer 

16.08.23 16.08.23 

Other consultees:    
Directors (where 
relevant) 

   

Stephen Evans Chief Executive 16.08.23  
Andrew Durrant Executive Director of Place   
Kevin McDaniel Executive Director of Adult 

Social Care & Health 
  

Lin Ferguson Executive Director of 
Children’s Services & 
Education 

  

Heads of Service 
(where relevant)  

   

    
    
    
External (where 
relevant) 

   

N/A    

 
Confirmation 
relevant Cabinet 

Cabinet Member for 
Communities and Leisure 

Yes 

220



Member(s) 
consulted  

REPORT HISTORY  
 

Decision type: Urgency item? To follow item? 
Non-key decision  
  
 
 

No  
 

No  

 
Report Author: Angela Huisman, Service Lead: Libraries and Resident 
Contact (Face to Face) 01628 685641 

 

 
 
 
Appendix A – Equality Impact Assessment  

 

Equality Impact Assessment 

For support in completing this EQIA, please consult the EQIA Guidance 
Document or contact equality@rbwm.gov.uk 

 

1. Background Information 
 

Title of policy/strategy/plan: 
 

Retendering of Library Stock Contract 

Service area: 
 

Libraries 

Directorate: 
 

Resources 

 

Provide a brief explanation of the proposal: 
• What are its intended outcomes? 
• Who will deliver it? 
• Is it a new proposal or a change to an existing one? 

 
CBC is a Consortium of 55 authorities who go out to tender together to secure excellent 
discounts for book stock.  
 
The Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead (RBWM) has been part of CBC since 
August 2010.  
 
West Sussex manages the tender process and the contract which is a significant saving 
on RBWM staff resource. 
 
The proposal is to re-procure the contract but to reduce this element of the library stock 
budget by just over 40% from £170,600 to £100,000pa. 

221

mailto:equality@rbwm.gov.uk


 

 

 

2. Relevance Check 
Is this proposal likely to directly impact people, communities or RBWM employees?  

• If No, please explain why not, including how you’ve considered equality issues.  
• Will this proposal need a EQIA at a later stage? (for example, for a forthcoming 

action plan) 
Yes, because there will be a change in the number of physical items that can be 
purchased for library users to borrow.  

 

If ‘No’, proceed to ‘Sign off’. If unsure, please contact equality@rbwm.gov.uk 

 

3. Evidence Gathering and Stakeholder Engagement 
Who will be affected by this proposal?  
For example, users of a particular service, residents of a geographical area, staff 

The adult fiction, adult non-fiction and children’s stock budgets will each be reduced 
significantly spreading the impact over all sectors of the population who borrow or 
potentially will borrow physical library books.  
 
There is a separate proposal to reduce the digital and special collections (e.g. Large Print) 
stock budget.   
 
Among those affected by the proposal, are protected characteristics (age, sex, 
disability, race, religion, sexual orientation, gender reassignment, pregnancy/maternity, 
marriage/civil partnership) disproportionately represented?  
For example, compared to the general population do a higher proportion have disabilities?  
 
A high proportion of library users are young people and older people. Older people 
who use Large Print books will not be affected by the reduction in the CBC contract. 
Borrowers who use primarily digital services will also not be impacted. Both groups 
will however be impacted by the overall reduction in stock budget. With regard to 
the CBC contract, young people in particular will be impacted. The impact will be 
similar to those who primarily borrow adult fiction and adult non fiction but the 
consequences in terms of literacy levels may be much greater. The impact on health 
and wellbeing as well as feelings of loneliness and isolation will likely be felt across 
all user groups (see Appendix B) 
What engagement/consultation has been undertaken or planned?  

• How has/will equality considerations be taken into account?   
• Where known, what were the outcomes of this engagement? 

 
No engagement or consultation has taken place.  

222

mailto:equality@rbwm.gov.uk


What sources of data and evidence have been used in this assessment?  
Please consult the Equalities Evidence Grid for relevant data. Examples of other possible 
sources of information are in the Guidance document. 
 
Comparisons to the other 5 Berkshire Library Authorities are tabled in the main 
body of the report.  
National reports from CIPFA and DEMOS have been used in Appendix B 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

4. Equality Analysis 
Please detail, using supporting evidence: 

• How the protected characteristics below might influence the needs and experiences 
of individuals, in relation to this proposal. 

• How these characteristics might affect the impact of this proposal. 

Tick positive/negative impact as appropriate. If there is no impact, or a neutral impact, state 
‘Not Applicable’ 

More information on each protected characteristic is provided in the Guidance document. 

 Details and supporting evidence Potential 
positive impact 

Potential 
negative 
impact 

Age 
 

Large numbers of children use the library. 
They are less likely to borrow from the 
digital offer than adults so will be more 
affected by a reduction in physical 
bookstock budget. Programmes targeted 
at children and young people, such as the 
Summer Reading Challenge, are very 
popular, and the demand for participation 
in the Challenge this summer resulted in a 
significant depletion in the stock available 
on shelves. A reduction in budget may 
limit the number of children who can 
meaningfully participate in the Challenge 
in future. 

The large print resources predominantly 
used by older adults will not be affected 
by this particular contract, although adult 
library users who borrow standard fiction 
and non fiction items may experience an 

 √ 

223



impact from the reduction in stock budget. 
There is a significant body of evidence 
that demonstrates the impact of reading 
and library use on health and wellbeing 
and on reducing feelings of loneliness and 
isolation. And overall budget reduction of 
this nature is likely to have a considerable 
impact.  

 
Disability 
 

Large print resources, which may be more 
used by adults with visual impairment or 
learning disability, are not affected by this 
budget reduction, although disabled 
library users will be affected by the 
general budget reduction. 

  

  

Sex 
 

N/A   

Race, ethnicity and 
religion 
 

N/A   

Sexual orientation and 
gender reassignment 
 

N/A   

Pregnancy and 
maternity 

N/A   

Marriage and civil 
partnership 

N/A   

Armed forces 
community 

N/A   

Socio-economic 
considerations e.g. low 
income, poverty 

Free access to books is particularly 
important to those from socio-
economically disadvantaged backgrounds 
who are less likely to have books at 
home. Children from disadvantaged 
backgrounds have also experienced the 
greatest impact to their literacy, school 
readiness and educational achievement 
as a result of the pandemic. There is a 
body of evidence that demonstrates the 
impact of participation of the Summer 
Reading Challenge on maintaining literacy 
levels over the Summer period. See 
Appendix B. A reduction in access to 
library stock, due to budget reductions, 
may have particular impacts on these 
groups.  

 

  

224



Children in care/Care 
leavers 

N/A   

 

 

5. Impact Assessment and Monitoring  
If you have not identified any disproportionate impacts and the questions below are not 
applicable, leave them blank and proceed to Sign Off. 

What measures have been taken to ensure that groups with protected characteristics 
are able to benefit from this change, or are not disadvantaged by it?  
For example, adjustments needed to accommodate the needs of a particular group 
A greater reduction in adult books compared to children’s books was considered but recent 
reductions and adjustments to the budget disproportionately impacted adult fiction so this 
option was rejected to ensure the service continues to meet the requirements of the 
legislation to meet demand.  
Where a potential negative impact cannot be avoided, what measures have been put in 
place to mitigate or minimise this? 

• For planned future actions, provide the name of the responsible individual and the 
target date for implementation. 

Spend against the three area of stock will be closely monitored (Angela Huisman) 

How will the equality impacts identified here be monitored and reviewed in the future? 
See guidance document for examples of appropriate stages to review an EQIA. 
If there is a complaint or challenge to DCMS or the local authority about not meeting 
demand then it may be necessary to move budgets from another source to ensure the 
Council’s statutory obligations are met.  

 

 

6. Sign Off 

 
Completed by: 
Angela Huisman 

Date: 30/08/2023 

Approved by: 
Louise Freeth  

Date: 18.09.23 

 

 

If this version of the EQIA has been reviewed and/or updated: 

Reviewed by: 
 

Date: 

 

225



 

 

Appendix B – Implications of Stock Budget Reduction  
 

The Impact of Libraries and Reading on feelings of loneliness and social 
isolation and on children’s literacy levels 

Research into how libraries help people with loneliness and isolation | CIPFA  

The information was gathered in two ways: Council-led consultation with library 
users, and DCMS consultation with households via a household survey.  

The findings suggest that it is the younger people in the community who experience 
feelings of loneliness rather than elderly people. This is especially true for those 
aged under 35, who are twice as likely as those aged 35 and over to always or often 
feel lonely or isolated.  

The propensity for those with a disability or impairment towards feeling lonely is 
noted, ie they are four to five times more likely to answer always or often compared 
to those without a disability or impairment.  

More than eight in ten respondents, who did state that they often or sometimes have 
feelings of loneliness, reported that the library helps to reduce these feelings. While 
those with a disability or impairment are more inclined to always or often experience 
feelings of loneliness, they are also more inclined to state that the library helps to 
reduce these feelings. Those aged 25-34 are most likely to experience a reduction in 
feelings of loneliness and isolation due to library use.   

 

 Yes No 
No. of 
respondents 

Does the library help to 
reduce your feelings of  
loneliness and isolation 81% 19% 1331 
By Age Group     
16-24 60%   
25-34 90%   
35-49 87%   
50-64 88%   
65-74 89%   
75=+ 83%   

 

A further report undertaken by Demos A Society of Readers | Reading Agency 

1. Many people already use reading to ward off loneliness – and usually quite 
successfully, as studies find that regular readers tend to be less lonely.   
 

2. Research found that 95 per cent of people who are blind or partially sighted 
read (through an audiobook, or another technology) at least once a week to 
alleviate feelings of loneliness and isolation.  

226

https://www.cipfa.org/policy-and-guidance/reports/manchester-libraries-research-into-how-libraries-help-people-with-loneliness-and-isolation
https://readingagency.org.uk/resources/3132/


 
3. The power of bookbased social contact is borne out by evaluations of reading 

programmes. In a national reading befriending programme including isolated 
and vulnerable older people, 88 per cent of participants appreciate the 
increased social contact from reading-inspired conversation. 
 

4. Books have also been shown to be beneficial in supporting mental and 
physical health.  
 

5. Reading significantly improves common symptoms of both depression and 
dementia. 
 

6. Reading keeps the mind active, which may even delay the onset of dementia.  
 

7. In addition, books can help us understand our own and others’ conditions. For 
example, many public libraries and schools have a dedicated, signposted 
section with self-help books, memoirs and fiction to better understand 
conditions such as ADHD, anxiety and depression. 75 per cent of school 
pupils reported a better understanding of mental health after such a dedicated 
book collection on mental health and wellbeing was made available. 
 

8. When it comes to social mobility, reading can work as a powerful boost to life 
chances. Reading for pleasure is one of the most important predictors of test 
scores at age 16, regardless of background. In fact, children from 
disadvantaged backgrounds who read often tend to score better than more 
privileged pupils who do not read at all. Reading and being read to from a 
young age sets some pupils up for a successful school career. Book gifting 
programmes, summer reading programmes and schemes to boost parents’ 
engagement with books can all help. For example, school children on free 
school meals make 3 months’ additional learning progress after receiving a 
summer book pack. 
 

9. In terms of the social, political and financial pressures of current challenges, 
reading is no panacea. But upon review of the evidence, there is strong 
evidence that reading should be part of the solution. 

 

The Summer Reading Challenge 

Parents and carers reported the difference the Summer Reading Challenge made to 
their children who took part:  

• 74% improved their reading skills 
• 72% read more over the school holidays 
• 66% feel more confident reading 
• 61% said they enjoy reading more 
• 73% used the library more as a family 
• 75% agreed reading 'helped them feel better' 

Analysis found statistically significant increases in reading frequency, reading 
enjoyment and reading confidence. Children who took part in the Challenge found 

227



new books they enjoyed, developed their reading confidence, and were inspired to 
read more books over the summer. 

The Reading Agency has undertaken research that shows that: 

• Reading for pleasure is more important for children’s cognitive development 
than their parents’ level of education and is a more powerful factor in life 
achievement than socio-economic background 

• analysis from the Department for Education suggests that if all pupils in 
England read for enjoyment every day or almost every day, the boost to Key 
Stage 2 performance would be the equivalent of a rise of eight percentage 
points in the proportion achieving a level 4b (from its current level of 67% to 
75%) 

• Adults with lower levels of literacy are more likely to experience poor health 
 

 

 

228



Document is Restricted

229

Agenda Item 15
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 Declarations of Interest
	3 Minutes
	5 Forward Plan
	Cab Forward Plan Changes

	7 Draft Sustainability Supplementary Planning Document – Regulation 13 Consultation
	1.	DETAILS OF RECOMMENDATION(S)
	2.	REASON(S) FOR RECOMMENDATION(S) AND OPTIONS CONSIDERED
	Options
	2.1	The National Planning Policy Framework (2021) defines Supplementary Planning Documents (SPDs) as, Documents which add further detail to the policies in the development plan. They can be used to provide further guidance for development on specific sites, or on particular issues, such as design. Supplementary planning documents are capable of being a material consideration in planning decisions but are not part of the development plan.
	They are important documents in helping to deliver the policies and proposals set out in the BLP. However, it should be emphasised that SPDs do not create new policy, and do not replace or amend, existing policy in the BLP.
	2.2	A key commitment of the Council’s Environment and Climate Strategy (2020) is the preparation of a new Supplementary Planning Document to help reduce building carbon emissions and improve the energy efficiency of new builds.
	2.3	A key aim of BLP Policy SP2 is for all development proposals to demonstrate how they have been designed to incorporate measures to adapt to and mitigate climate change. This includes factors such as building orientation, solar shading, thermal mass, heating and ventilation, green and blue infrastructure, and sustainable drainage.
	2.4	Policy SP2 states that applicants should refer to the adopted Sustainable Design and Construction Supplementary Planning Document (SPD), the Borough Wide Design Guide SPD and the Environment and Climate Strategy 2020-2025, or successor documents for further guidance. The draft Sustainability SPD is the successor document to the Sustainable Design and Construction SPD, which was adopted in 2009, which was adopted in 2009, and will also replace the Interim Sustainability Position Statement from March 2021.
	2.5	Supporting information is also provided in the draft Sustainability SPD to further assist the implementation of the following BLP policies:
		QP1 – Sustainability and Placemaking
		QP2 – Green and Blue Infrastructure
		QP3 – Character and Design of New Development
		NR1 – Managing Flood Risk and Waterways
		NR2 – Nature Conservation and Biodiversity
		NR5 – Renewable Energy
		IF1 – Infrastructure and Developer Contributions
		IF2 – Sustainable Transport
		IF4 – Open Space
	2.6	The draft SPD provides detailed guidance on energy and carbon, climate adaptation, sustainable materials and construction, biodiversity and sustainable transport and is set out at Appendix B. It provides transparent guidance for applicants with more detail about policy requirements and expectations, ensures that applicants consistently submit information to demonstrate compliance with policy, helps officers and councillors assess the environmental credentials of developments in their decision making and encourages developers to go further than current policy. The SPD primarily relates to new residential and non-residential buildings but also sets standards for existing buildings. However, it cannot introduce new policy requirements that are not already part of a local plan policy.
	2.7	The draft SPD has been prepared in collaboration with industry experts, Councillors, and the local community and draws on industry expertise, examples of best practice. A process of early scoping engagement took place through sessions with Council Officers, Councillors, developers, and the wider local climate community in late 2022 and early 2023. Three additional presentations were also given to the same stakeholders in August 2023, which gave attendees the opportunity to review the progress that has been made on the draft SPD, and to take part in a question-and-answer session.
	2.8	The next statutory stage in the preparation of an SPD is to publish it for public consultation - it is recommended that the draft SPD is published for consultation in Autumn 2023. If the recommendation is agreed, there will be updates to the formatting and presentation of the draft SPD for the start of the consultation. The minimum period for consultation on a draft SPD is 4 weeks. It is anticipated that there would be “in person” consultation events during the consultation period.
	2.9	Supporting documents that would be published to accompany the consultation draft of the SPD including the Strategic Environmental Assessment Scoping Report and a draft Consultation Statement summarising the early engagement undertaken in the preparation of the SPD.


	3.	KEY IMPLICATIONS
	3.1	Whilst SPDs are not part of the statutory development plan (such as the Borough Local Plan) with its associated planning status and weight in decision making, they are an important material consideration when determining planning applications. As noted above the preparation of this SPD is specifically referred to in BLP Policy SP2.
	Table 2: Key Implications

	4.	FINANCIAL DETAILS / VALUE FOR MONEY
	4.1	The cost of producing the SPD has, to date, been around £45,000. This has funded:
		Early engagement events
		Specialist sustainability, climate change and planning advice and input.
		The drafting of the SPD
		Hosting of presentations on the draft SPD by consultants
	4.2	The preparation of the SPD to date has been undertaken within existing budgets. The public consultation would also be undertaken within existing budgets.
	4.3	The SPD requires planning applications to include detailed energy and carbon life cycle assessments which Development Management officers are not able to assess accurately. Undertaking these assessments would require specialist expertise and add to the work required to process a planning application. Officers estimate that an additional 1 FTE post would be required (at grade 7) to effectively implement the SPD, which would cost approximately £45,000 per annum (including on-costs).
	4.4	The Council plans to meet this funding requirement by re-prioritising its Sustainability & Climate team’s current delivery plan to ensure its resources are focused on the areas that can deliver the greatest positive impact on the environment and climate crisis. Work already being undertaken to improve energy management processes will support this change and subject to proposals that will be taken forward through the council’s normal budget processes additional resource will be focussed on energy and carbon reduction that would have the right expertise to assess the material required for the SPD.
	4.5	These changes are not expected to impact the delivery of the Council’s Environment & Climate Strategy or Biodiversity Action Plan.  In addition, a bid has recently been made to the Government’s Planning Skills Delivery Fund, and if this is successful, it will enable additional staffing resources to be put in place for the short term, pending the reprioritisation exercise set out above.
	4.6	The successful delivery and full adoption of this SPD is therefore subject to successfully securing an alternative funding source and/or reprioritisation to delivery within an existing staffing model. These new arrangements would need to be in place before the SPD could be adopted by the Council.

	5.	LEGAL IMPLICATIONS
	5.1	The SPD will not form part of the statutory development plan but will be an important material consideration.
	5.2	There is a statutory process for preparing an SPD. Regulations 11 to 16 of the Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012 set out these requirements.
	5.3	The Environmental Assessment of Plans and Programmes Regulations 2004 (SEA Regulations) also require the Council to consider whether or not Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA) of the SPD should be undertaken. The Environment Agency, Historic England and Natural England were consulted, and no objection was raised to the Council’s decision that an SEA is not required for this SPD.

	6.	RISK MANAGEMENT
	7.	POTENTIAL IMPACTS
	7.1	Equalities. An Equality Impact Assessment is available as Appendix A.
	7.2	Climate change/sustainability. The adoption of the Sustainability SPD will have a positive impact in relation to climate change / sustainability.
	7.3	Data Protection/GDPR. The consultation on the draft Sustainability SPD will be undertaken by the council in accordance with the Data Protection Act 2018 and the General Data Protection Regulation. There are not anticipated to be any impacts.

	8.	CONSULTATION
	8.1	The draft Sustainability SPD will, if agreed by Cabinet, be published for at least 4 weeks public consultation in Autumn 2023 under Regulation 13 of The Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012, as amended. The Council’s Statement of Community Involvement includes a minimum requirement of 4 weeks for public consultation on draft Supplementary Planning Documents.

	9.	TIMETABLE FOR IMPLEMENTATION
	9.1	Implementation date if not called in: Autumn 2023. The full implementation stages are set out in table 4.
	Table 4: Implementation timetable

	10.	APPENDICES
	10.1	This report is supported by 2 appendices:

	11.	BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS
	11.1	This report is supported by 3 background documents:

	12.	CONSULTATION
	RBWM Sustainability SPD - Consultation Version

	8 Procurement of the Specialist Integrated Sexual and Reproductive Health Service
	1.	DETAILS OF RECOMMENDATION(S)
	2.	REASON(S) FOR RECOMMENDATON(S) AND OPTIONS CONSIDERED
	Options
	2.1	Background
	2.1.1	The contract for the specialist SRH service for residents in the local authorities across Berkshire East (Bracknell Forest Council (BFC); the Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead (RBWM) and Slough Borough Council) is due to expire on the 30th June 2024.
	2.1.2	The recommended approach agreed by all local authorities was to retender under the light touch regime of the Public Contracts Regulations 2015 (the Regulations). The maximum financial envelope for BFC and Slough Borough Council was also agreed; for RBWM this occurs at award stage so had not yet taken place.
	2.1.3	In April 2023, the Head of Service for Public Health gained approval for RBWM to go out to tender for the Berkshire East Sexual and Reproductive (SRH) Service. This included a recommendation to continue joint commissioning arrangements; for RBWM to continue funding 27% of the total contract value; that BFC will lead the procurement process; and that to secure this, BFC would go out to tender under the light touch regime.
	2.2	Progress on the tender by BFC to June 2023
	2.2.4	Since that time, good progress has been made on the procurement delivery plan. The draft Health Needs Assessment has been completed and its findings have been used to inform the design of the draft service specification for the new specialist integrated SRH service.


	3.	KEY IMPLICATIONS
	3.1	The successful outcome intended of the specialist integrated SRH service procurement approach is to secure an eligible provider to deliver the specialist SRH service on a refreshed service specification and new contract by 1st July 2024. This must be delivered within the financial envelope approved by Slough and BFC Council’s for their proportion of the contract and to secure RBWMs continued contribution of 27% of the total contract value.
	3.2	The key implications table is included in the part II paper as this includes commercially sensitive information.

	4.	FINANCIAL DETAILS / VALUE FOR MONEY
	4.1	The specialist SRH service will be funded through use of RBWM’s public health grant; this is appropriate and necessary since SRH services are one of a few prescribed functions for use of the public health grant money.
	4.2	The proposed contract value is forecast based on maintaining the current contract value with a maximum uplift of 5% per annum or the Consumer Price Index (whichever is the lower of the two values at the time; i.e. 5% will be the maximum annual increase if the Consumer Price Index is higher than 5%).
	4.3	The full details of the contract value (including total maximum value and RBWMs’ share) are included in Paper II as this includes commercially sensitive information.

	5.	LEGAL IMPLICATIONS
	5.1	The procurement of Sexual and Reproductive Health Services enables RBWM to meet the following Public Health statutory duties under the Health and Social Care Act 2013 : The mandatory provision of Open Access Sexual and Reproductive Health services by all Local Authorities – Health and Social Care Act 2013.
	5.2	All procurement must comply with the Public Contracts Regulations 2015 and Bracknell Forest Councils’ contract procedure rules as the host commissioning organisation (Lead Authority). For the contract award, the regulations being applied are Regulation 72-part 1B and 1C or Regulation 32-part 2 C, whichever is most appropriate.
	5.3	The recommended option detailed in Paper II is to allow for the best value contract award as well as a compliant one.

	6.	RISK MANAGEMENT
	6.1	A full risk assessment is included in Part II of this paper but cannot be included here as it contains commercially sensitive information.

	7.	POTENTIAL IMPACTS
	7.1	Equalities. An Equality Impact Assessment is available as Appendix B.
	7.2	Climate change/sustainability. There are no direct climate change / sustainability implications of this service or procurement process.
	7.3	Data Protection/GDPR. The provider of the Specialist Integrated SRH service will process personal data in their management of health care for service users.
	7.4	There are staffing implications, including TUPE.
	7.5	The mobilisation phase will give an incoming provider time to complete TUPE for any employees of an outgoing provider wishing to transfer to a new provider.  Where TUPE does not apply, the mobilisation phase allows sufficient time for recruiting and training new (or and existing) staff.
	7.6	There is no anticipated impact for staff employed by BFC.
	7.7	In the event an eligible provider does not accept the Direct Award offer, BFC will run a procurement.

	8.	CONSULTATION
	8.1	Please see paper II since the information in this section is commercially sensitive.

	9.	TIMETABLE FOR IMPLEMENTATION
	9.1	Implementation date if not called in: September 2023. The full implementation stages are set out in paper II as the details contain commercially sensitive information.
	9.2	The new contract will need to be in place with an eligible specialist integrated SRH provider by 1st July 2024.

	10.	APPENDICES
	10.1	This report is supported by two appendices:

	11.	BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS
	11.1	There are no background documents.

	12.	CONSULTATION

	9 A308 speed limit reduction: Monkey Island Lane to M4 motorway bridge
	1.	DETAILS OF RECOMMENDATION(S)
	2.	REASON(S) FOR RECOMMENDATION(S) AND OPTIONS CONSIDERED
	Options
	2.1	Officers have based their recommendation on the speed survey data that indicates a high degree of compliance with the current limit.
	2.2	Only reducing the speed limit is unlikely to have a major impact on average speeds and this will likely result in a high degree of non-compliance with the proposed 30 mph speed limit.
	2.3	The police have formally objected to the reduction in the speed limit proposed stating that this would result high degree of non-compliance, unduly criminalising a lot of people. The road is a main artery between Maidenhead and Windsor as well as a diversion route for the M4 and a lower limit is not appropriate for such a road.
	2.4	The police would also object to introduce any traffic calming measures which, whilst not being proposed at this stage, would likely be required to achieve a drop in average speed from what is currently observed to below the new speed limit of 30 mph.
	2.5	Whilst a number of injury related accidents have occurred, and recorded by the police, only one of these had speed as an attributing factor, and this was used by TVP as a further reason not to support the proposed change.


	3.	KEY IMPLICATIONS
	3.1	The recommended option is the maintain the status quo with the speed limit at 40mph. This will mean that there would be no new implications if that recommendation is backed.
	3.2	Should the decision be to overrule officer recommendation and police objections, the following implications are possible.
	Table 2: Key Implications

	4.	FINANCIAL DETAILS / VALUE FOR MONEY
	4.1	There would be no cost to the recommended option as this maintains the current speed limit.
	4.2	Should the decision be to support the reduction to 30mph, this would require the writing of a new Traffic Regulation Order and installation of signage. For a road of this length this would usually result in a one-off cost around £5,000.

	5.	LEGAL IMPLICATIONS
	5.1	There are no legal implications to the recommended option.
	5.2	The alternative option to reduce the speed requires a legal consultation which may garner formal objections. Once completed, the Traffic Regulation Order will reduce the limit to 30mph and enforcement will become the responsibility of Thames Valley Police.

	6.	RISK MANAGEMENT
	6.1	There are no new risks with the recommended option.
	6.2	Reducing the speed limit may result in the following risks:

	7.	POTENTIAL IMPACTS
	7.1	Equalities. An Equality Impact Assessment is available as Appendix A.
	7.2	Climate change/sustainability: There are trials ongoing to determine the impact of reduced speeds on local air quality conditions. At this time there is some supporting evidence of improvements  at higher speeds but it is unclear whether this would be replicated when changing the speed limit from 40 mph to 30 mph, especially if there is concern that traffic will actually slow down.
	7.3	Data Protection/GDPR. Not required as this paper relates to whether to change the speed limit on a stretch of road. Should the decision be taken not to follow the recommended option, a consultation will be run to support the new Traffic Regulation Order and this would be completed in accordance with data protection rules.

	8.	CONSULTATION
	8.1	Internal discussions to date with formal consultation with Thames Valley Police.
	8.2	Should the decision be taken not to go ahead with the recommended option, a consultation to support the new Traffic Regulation Order will be required.

	9.	TIMETABLE FOR IMPLEMENTATION
	9.1	There will be no implementation if the recommended option is chosen.
	9.2	Implementation date if the choice is made to proceed with the speed reduction and not called in: Immediately The full implementation stages are set out in table 4
	Table 4: Implementation timetable

	10.	APPENDICES
	10.1	This report is supported by 1 appendix:

	11.	BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS
	11.1	This report is supported by the following background documents:

	12.	CONSULTATION
	Place O&S Minutes

	10 Supported bus services tender approval
	1.	DETAILS OF RECOMMENDATION(S)
	2.	REASON(S) FOR RECOMMENDATION(S) AND OPTIONS CONSIDERED
	Options
	Context
	1.1	The Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead council is committed to supporting local bus services where they cannot run commercially to ensure accessibility is provided to all residents. Supported services also help the Council to deliver their environmental and sustainability objectives
	1.2	22 bus routes currently operate across the borough – 13 are Council supported services and 9 are run commercially by operators
	1.3	As of 2023/24 the Council committed spend for supported services is £1.14m per annum, following a successful growth bid
	1.4	The Council budget remains as-is, however, based on previous conversations with our incumbent operators their indicative service provider fees look to rise to a potential total in the region of £1.4m overall by next year
	1.5	We need to look at the options for providing services to our residents in a more affordable and sustainable way going forward while delivering good customer experience

	Current services – year on year running costs
	1.6	2023/24 committed spend is 2021/22 budget (£870k for operating a full service) plus £270k (includes DfT funding + growth bid)
	1.7	2024/25 forecast indicates an estimated additional stretch of £260k and is unaffordable
	1.8	Our goal is to provide well-run and well-used services, and value for money. Redesigning routes to extend or discontinue some will facilitate this

	Current services – operators and routes
	1.9	Commercial services do not receive funding from the Council
	1.10	Note (i) - route 3/9 is partially funded by RBWM with a contribution of £12k p.a. to extend the route and timetable with the remainder of the routes originally commercial in nature. However, whilst routes 3/9 and 8 were originally tendered as separate packages, the 3/9 routes are struggling commercially and use some of the support funding on the 8 to remain viable. Therefore, given their intra-funding relationship then all three routes (3,8 and 9) will be tendered as a single package going forward
	1.11	Note (ii) - route 53 is a shared service run by Bracknell with a small annual contribution from RBWM
	1.12	Note (iii) - concessionary passenger usage is over 50% on most routes. As funding is separate and costs £1.07m p.a. it has a net effect of double the cost impact to the council to fund bus journeys in many parts of the borough. Concessionary passes are a statutory requirement and there is little scope to reduce this cost

	2019/20 vs. 2022/23 passenger journeys per head: Thames Valley Buses
	2019/20 vs. 2022/23 passenger journeys per head:  Bear Buses (305) and White Bus (01, P1/W1)
	1.13	The two graphs above compare total passenger journeys per head for 2019/20 with 2022/23 for the current set of supported bus service routes. A breakdown of concessionary passengers for each route is also shown
	1.14	Interim changes were agreed with the operators in the latter half of 2022. These remain in place and could be a contributing factor in changing passenger numbers. Overall passenger journeys have declined post pandemic, however, there are two exceptions. Increased journeys have been observed on routes:
	1.14.1	Thames Valley Buses (TVB) 53 – data is based on passengers boarding within RBWM. From November 2022 onwards this route took additional passengers from Holyport after service 16 was withdrawn from there
	1.14.2	Bear Buses 305 – this now includes Datchet which could account for the rise
	1.15	Other routes to note where usage has declined:
	1.15.3	TVB 3 – route was amended in November 2022 to cover the North side of the A4 Bath Road. Compared with pre pandemic overall patronage dropped by 18k in 2022/23
	1.15.4	TVB 8 – route reduced from two area loops to one, now covering Maidenhead Town Centre to North Maidenhead only
	1.15.5	TVB 9 – from November 2022, when service 8 was withdrawn from the Halifax Road area, this moved more passengers onto service 9. However, 2022/23 total was still 10k lower compared with 2019/20
	1.15.6	TVB 15 – route reduced and no longer goes to Maidenhead
	1.15.7	TVB 234/235 – no longer includes Cox Green loop. Route also updated at the end of November 2022 to support Altwood School
	1.15.8	White Bus P1 and W1 services operated separate buses pre pandemic. P1 previously ran 16 trips per day from Home Park car park to Windsor Town Centre with three journeys to Datchet. Both routes now utilise the same buses alternating between route schedules accordingly. P1 now runs 9 trips per day and fewer services to Datchet. W1 remains a 5 trip per day service

	Cost per journey – pre and post pandemic
	1.16	Cost per journey is based on current contract values and compares actual data for the period 2019/20 with 2022/23
	1.17	Based on 2022/23 journeys per head, the most cost efficient routes are 3/9 (13p) and 53 (52p). Route 15 (£11.42) is the most expensive, almost triple the cost in 2019/20 (£4.37)

	Achieving for Children (AfC) school services
	1.18	AfC are responsible for transporting children to school. Most routes are  closed-door registered public bus services, only available to students
	1.19	Conversations with AfC are ongoing to determine if supported bus services can replace some existing school routes
	1.20	Example: Churchmead School (Datchet) is served by Carlone Ltd and Thames Valley Buses (TVB), transporting a total of 49 children per day
		AfC pay TVB £50k p.a. for their part of this service
		There is a possibility to replace Bear Buses route 305 by amending this school route to support a roundtrip from Windsor to Staines and extending operational hours. This is under review
	1.21	A summary of AfC services, passenger numbers and alternatives under review is shown at Error! Reference source not found.


	3.	KEY IMPLICATIONS
	3.1	In 2019/20 the borough was ranked the lowest nationally in terms of bus use, with bus trips per head of population at 9.3. Latest post pandemic data shows a decline to 4.8 trips per head of population
	3.2	Performance levels of neighbouring Berkshire authorities were analysed to understand what the patronage levels could look like in areas with a similar demographic to ours
	3.3	The BSIP long-term ambition was to be the leading Berkshire authority, excluding Reading. They have exceptionally high bus trips per head (137 in 2019/20) as they have an advanced bus network with Reading council owning the main operator
	3.4	Whilst the BSIP target was to achieve over 30 journeys per head by 2030 (excluding Reading) this was greatly dependent on significant investment from the BSIP funding, which has not materialised

	4.	FINANCIAL DETAILS / VALUE FOR MONEY
	4.1	The recommendation of this paper to approve the redesign proposal does not commit the Council to any new spending. It enables us to proceed with formal Market Engagement and tender to understand the appetite within the wider bus service operator community, and their latest views on running services including costs.
	4.2	Subsequently, the redesign proposal can be refreshed if required ahead of the formal tender beginning, including seeking Cabinet approval to proceed. However, extensive delays to the tender process increases the risks of operators no longer being willing to run the services and ceasing routes
	4.3	Financial details (i.e. service operation, costs, expected benefits and outcomes) will become clearer upon conclusion of the tender process and evaluation. Whereupon the Council can present its findings and recommendations to the Cabinet

	5.	LEGAL IMPLICATIONS
	5.1	The recommendation of this paper does not have direct legal implications

	6.	RISK MANAGEMENT
	7.	POTENTIAL IMPACTS
	7.1	Equalities. An Equality Impact Assessment is available at Appendix A
	7.2	Climate change/sustainability. This redesign proposal will contribute to the lowering of carbon emissions in the borough from well used public transport bus services and is consistent with the borough’s Environment and Climate Strategy
	7.3	Data Protection/GDPR. No impact

	8.	CONSULTATION
	8.1	The development of the design proposal was informed by:
		Primary customer research completed in July 2021 to inform the BSIP
		Passenger usage data from our incumbent supported bus service operators and general feedback from them
		Passenger usage data from Achieving for Children
		Resident feedback in response to interim changes made during the pandemic that have since remained in place

	9.	TIMETABLE FOR IMPLEMENTATION
	9.1	Implementation date if not called in: Immediately. The full implementation stages are set out in table 4
	Table 4: Implementation timetable

	10.	APPENDICES
	10.1	This report is supported by five appendices:

	11.	BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS
	11.1	This report is supported by one background documents:

	12.	CONSULTATION
	APPENDIX A
	APPENDIX B – Achieving for Children school services
	APPENDIX C – Bus route start and end points
	APPENDIX C – Bus route frequencies
	APPENDIX D – Summary of route proposals and actions

	11 Self-Build and Custom Housebuilding Guidance Note
	1.	DETAILS OF RECOMMENDATION(S)
	2.	REASON(S) FOR RECOMMENDATION(S) AND OPTIONS CONSIDERED
	Options
	2.1	The National Planning Policy Framework (2021) defines self-build and custom-build housing as, ‘housing built by an individual, a group of individuals, or persons working with or for them, to be occupied by that individual. Such housing can be either market or affordable housing. A legal definition, for the purpose of applying the Self-build and Custom Housebuilding Act 2015 (as amended), is contained in section 1(A1) and (A2) of that Act.’
	2.2	The Government is committed to increasing the supply of housing. The Self Build and Custom Housebuilding Act 2015 (as amended by the Housing and Planning Act 2016) places responsibility on local planning authorities for keeping a self-build and custom housebuilding register of individuals and associations of individuals, who are seeking to acquire serviced plots of land in the authority’s area in order to build houses for those individuals to occupy as homes.
	2.3	The Act (2015) does not distinguish between self-build and custom housebuilding and provides that both are where an individual, an association of individuals, or persons working with or for individuals or associations of individuals, build or complete houses to be occupied as homes by those individuals. For the purposes of planning policy, self-build and custom build dwellings share the same definition and the terms are used interchangeably.
	2.4	However, there are various models of self-build and custom housebuilding, including:
	Self-build housing generally refers to when a person is directly involved in organising the design and construction of their own home. This can cover a wide range of projects, from a traditional DIY self-build home to projects where the self-builder employs someone to build their home for them. In this scenario, the finding and buying of a plot of land would usually be undertaken by the individual/self-builder.
	Custom build housing is where a person commissions a specialist developer to help deliver their own home. In this scenario, the developer may secure the site and manage the build. They may even arrange the finance. This is a more ‘hands-off’ approach, but the home would still be tailored to match the individual requirements of the customer, who should retain primary input into the design of the dwelling.
	Group self/custom build is where a group of people come together to design and build a housing development which they then live in. They may do this themselves, or with the help of a developer who would manage the project.
	2.5	Policy HO2 (4) in the adopted RBWM Borough Local Plan (BLP) states the following:
	Proposals for 100 or more net new dwellings (on greenfield sites) are required to provide 5% of the market housing as fully serviced plots for custom and self-build housing.
	On other allocated and windfall sites, the Council will encourage the provision of custom and self-build plots. Self-build plots will generally be expected to be provided in clusters.
	Where developers provide custom and self-build plots, these plots must be made available and appropriately marketed for 12 months. Marketing should be agreed with the Council before it is commenced. If the plots have not been sold in the 12-month period, these plots may be reverted back to the developer to build. All self-build plots will need to be provided with a plot passport.
	2.6	The Self-Build and Custom Housebuilding Guidance Note has been prepared to provide detail and clarification on the self-build and custom housebuilding process. The Guidance Note provides information on how the Council will support the delivery of serviced plots and also includes various other sources of further information and advice.
	2.7	The need for this Guidance Note has increased significantly recently for two main reasons. The first is the adoption of the Borough Local Plan and the introduction of the policy requirement set out in paragraph 2.5 above. With large, allocated housing sites now coming forward for development, it is important that the Council has the guidance in place to help inform Officer decision making and the application of Policy HO2. It is also important that applicants better understand how the Council expects self and custom build houses and sites to be delivered. Secondly, a recent appeal was allowed on a planning application in the Green Belt (ref. 21/03573, Land Adjoining Pondview, Sturt Green, Holyport), with the Inspector considering that ‘very special circumstances’ existed due to the Council’s historic under delivery of self and custom housebuilding. There are several reasons for this under delivery, including the previous lack of a policy requirement for delivery of self and custom build housing (prior to the adoption of the BLP). Officers anticipate that similar planning applications will continue to be submitted in the future, and the Guidance Note is considered to strengthen the Council’s position at appeal.
	2.8	In addition, even where large greenfield sites that have coming forward since the adoption of the BLP do provide self and custom build housing, this has tended to be custom build rather than self-build and it has been unclear whether this truly meets the legal definition of self and custom build insofar as there is primary input from the prospective purchaser.  The guidance note will emphasise the need for primary input into its design and layout.
	2.9	In due course, if required, an SPD could be prepared which would have more weight than this Guidance Note. However, the preparation of an SPD will take time, and, considering the need to have regard to existing material considerations such as those mentioned in paragraph 2.7, and the fact that large, greenfield sites are coming forward now, it is considered that the publication of the Guidance Note is prudent and necessary.
	2.10	The Guidance Note is set out at Appendix B.


	3.	KEY IMPLICATIONS
	Table 2: Key Implications

	4.	FINANCIAL DETAILS / VALUE FOR MONEY
	4.1	The Guidance Note has been prepared by Council Officers and is therefore within existing budgets.

	5.	LEGAL IMPLICATIONS
	The Guidance Note will not form part of the statutory development plan. It is intended to provide advice on how the Council will seek to address existing material considerations within the planning process and would have the weight of a material consideration. The document would not be an adopted SPD, which would require additional consultation and procedural steps.

	6.	RISK MANAGEMENT
	7.	POTENTIAL IMPACTS
	7.1	Equalities. An Equality Impact Assessment is available as Appendix A.
	7.2	Climate change/sustainability. The adoption of the Guidance Note will have a positive impact in relation to climate change / sustainability as it will reduce the risk of unsustainable developments in the Green Belt being permitted due to very special circumstances.
	7.3	Data Protection/GDPR. There are not anticipated to be any impacts.

	8.	CONSULTATION
	8.1	The Guidance Note has been drafted in collaboration with relevant internal Council teams. As the document does not intend to introduce new policy and would not form a Supplementary Planning Document, it is not considered that consultation is required.
	8.2	It is acknowledged that consultation, and an SPD would have been preferable, but there pressing need to provide clarity on the implementation of Policy HO2 (4) in the BLP.  In these circumstances it is considered appropriate to adopt the guidance without further delay.

	9.	TIMETABLE FOR IMPLEMENTATION
	9.1	Implementation date if not called in: October 2023. The full implementation stages are set out in table 4.
	Table 4: Implementation timetable

	10.	APPENDICES
	10.1	This report is supported by 2 appendices:

	11.	BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS
	11.1	This report is supported by 3 background documents:

	12.	CONSULTATION
	Self Build Custom Housebuild Appendix B
	1.	Introduction
	2.	What is Self-Build and Custom Housebuilding?
	3.	Self-Build and Custom Housebuilding Register
	4.	How do I register for Self-Build and Custom Housebuilding?
	5.	Delivery of Serviced Plots
	6.	Planning Applications
	7.	Design Requirements
	Design Codes
	Plot Passports

	8.	Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) Exemptions
	9.	Marketing
	10.	Affordable Housing
	11.	Monitoring
	12.	FAQs
	13.	Further advice and information


	12 Renewal of lease over land at Cookham Bridge and Toll House, Cookham
	1.	REASON(S) FOR RECOMMENDATION(S) AND OPTIONS CONSIDERED
	Options
	1.1	The land is occupied by DB International Limited (DBIL) under a long term lease that expired on 16th September 2023. The tenant has security of tenure under the security of tenure provisions of the 1954 Landlord and Tenant Act and is entitled to a new lease.
	1.2	DBIL is a long standing business in Cookham and the new lease will enable them to invest further in facilities and bring more visitors to Cookham.
	1.3	Cookham Bridge is due to be refurbished with the first phase due to commence in October 2023. This is a major project that carries many risk and complexities given the structure’s age, nature and location. The land in question sits alongside and under the northern end of the bridge.
	1.4	The Council and DBIL have worked collaboratively to minimise the disruption to the tenant’s business and achieve efficiencies for the Council contractors and minimise the closure of the bridge itself and as such the disruption to residents and users of the bridge’
	1.5	Terms have been agreed for a new 20 year lease that will see the rent increase from the current £9,150 pa to £12,500 pa for the first 5 years, £14,500 pa years 6 to 10, £16,500 for years 11 to 15 and £19,000 for years 16 to 20
	1.6	The new lease contains provisions that allow the Council to re-enter the land to undertake works to Cookham Bridge.
	1.7	The Council and DBIL have agreed a method statement to minimise disruption to DBIL’s business and also use some of DBIL’s freehold land during the bridge refurbishment project to aid efficiency and minimise the project period and disruption to residents and bridge users.
	1.8	The Council will enter into an option to use part of DBIL’s freehold land for a site compound for future phases of works to the bridge ir necessary


	2.	KEY IMPLICATIONS
	2.1	The rental income received by the Council is secured by entering into the new lease and increases by 36.6%.
	2.2	The new lease will assst with the efficient delivery of the Cookham Bridge refurbishment project.
	Table 2: Key Implications

	3.	FINANCIAL DETAILS / VALUE FOR MONEY
	3.1	The annual rent increases from £9,150 pa to £12,500 pa. The rent increases at the end of each 5 years period
	3.2	Remove tables below if there are no financial implications

	4.	LEGAL IMPLICATIONS
	4.1	The terms of the agreements have been negotiated by the asset management surveyors in the property services team and the new lease and option agreement will be drafted by the property solicitor in the legal services team,
	4.2	The Part 8 Section D – Property Procedures of the Councils’ Constitution confirms Cabinet authority to approve lease agreements where the aggregate income exceeds £500,000 and the lease terms exceeds 10 years.

	5.	RISK MANAGEMENT
	5.1	The risk to the Council is low. Entering the lease reduces the risk of the rental income ceasing and secures an increase.
	5.2	The transaction has been negotiated by the asset management surveyors in the property services team and the lease documentation will be drafted and finalised by the solicitors in the legal services team.

	6.	POTENTIAL IMPACTS
	6.1	Equalities. An Equality Impact Assessment is available as Appendix A. The lease renewal has no impact on protected groups or characteristics
	6.2	Climate change/sustainability. The lease renewal has no impact on climate change or bio-diversity
	6.3	Data Protection/GDPR. No personal data is being stored or utilised in this matter

	7.	CONSULTATION
	7.1	Internal officer and Cabinet Member consultation only

	8.	TIMETABLE FOR IMPLEMENTATION
	8.1	Implementation date if not called in: The draft lease will be issued to the tenant’s solicitor on 1st October. The full implementation stages are set out in table X.
	Table 5: Implementation timetable

	9.	APPENDICES
	9.1	This report is supported by 3 appendices:

	10.	CONSULTATION
	Appendix B - Title Plan
	Appendix C - Heads of Terms

	13 Retendering of Library Stock Contract
	1.	REASON(S) FOR RECOMMENDATION(S) AND OPTIONS CONSIDERED
	Options
	1.1	A robust open tender procurement process in compliance with West Sussex County Council’s Procurement rules is due to be undertaken.
	Membership of CBC provides significant discounts on the purchase of library stock which would not be possible with the lesser buying power of a single small library authority. Membership also reduces the costs associated with procurement.
	Cabinet approved joining and continuing membership of the CBC library stock contract in 2010. As this offers excellent value for money, the Council has continued to approve associate membership of CBC and to take advantage of the contracts tendered and negotiated by CBC.


	2.	KEY IMPLICATIONS
	2.1	The CBC contract represents excellent value for money as it requires no extra budgetary input but will provide continued savings.
	2.2	Agreeing to the extension of the existing CBC contract will mean that RBWM Libraries can continue to offer the full statutory comprehensive and efficient library service to residents at a significantly reduced cost.
	Table B: Key Implications

	3.	FINANCIAL DETAILS / VALUE FOR MONEY
	3.1	The estimated spend for physical books via the CBC contract is, at present,  approximately £170,600 per year. This proposal includes a recommendation to reduce this to £100,000 per year. The service includes delivery to individual library locations with the books shelf-ready. The financial administration is managed via EDI (Electronic Data Interchange). As a consequence, there is no need for the council to employ its own Bibliographic Processing or Finance Team. Items are put through return on the self-issue kiosks on receipt and they are immediately shelf ready. Invoicing and payment is fully automated.
	3.2	As an Associate Member authority using the CBC Library Book contract, RBWM will continue to be charged a 1% fee which is estimated to be £1,000 each year.
	3.3	The contract is for two years plus an optional extension of a further two years. Were the extension to be utilised, the total spend over four years of the contract is estimated to be £400,000.
	3.4	This report is to ensure the council secures the best possible discounts.
	3.5	Library loans are estimated to reach over 700,000 for the current financial year.
	3.6	Table C below shows how this spend compares with neighbouring authorities.
	Table C.

	4.	LEGAL IMPLICATIONS
	4.1	CBC (Central Buying Consortium) was formed in 1991. It is a non-profit  federation of 55 local authority members and associate members. Collective procurement spend is currently in excess of £5,000m with the authorities.
	4.2	West Sussex is the Lead and Contracting Authority for the Library Supply contract and manages the contract on behalf of Members. At the point of tendering the contract a fully compliant procurement process was implemented.
	4.3	The market is a specialist library supplier market with limited suppliers to choose from. However, the consortium ensures a robust process is followed with a competitive outcome.
	4.4	The Council is enabled, by section 111 of the Local Government Act 1972, to do anything which is calculated to facilitate, or is conducive or incidental to, the discharge of any of its functions. The Council therefore has a general power to enter into contracts for the discharge of any of its functions. The contract will be let in accordance with the Part 3 of the Council’s Contract Rules and The Public Contracts Regulations 2015. Cabinet may delegate approval to award the contract to specified officers.
	4.5	Procurement have been consulted and their advice has been followed.

	5.	RISK MANAGEMENT
	6.	POTENTIAL IMPACTS
	6.1	Equalities: An Equality Impact Assessment is available as Appendix A. The Equality Act 2010 states that public bodies must have “due regard” to a variety of equalities objectives, such as the need to eliminate discrimination and advance equality of opportunity and foster good relations between those who share a “protected characteristic” and those who do not. The PSED should be considered by councils at all stages of bringing forward library proposals and should be demonstrably embedded in the decision-making process.
	6.2	Climate change/sustainability: Items purchased against the CBC contract are purchased for multiple, repeated use by residents and therefore support the sustainability agenda.  The library loan service encapsulates a recycling ethos, discourages single use approaches and provides residents with the opportunity to share resources while ensuring equality of access.
	6.3	Data Protection/GDPR: The levels of discount offered by the contracted suppliers are commercially confidential and are not for publication by virtue of paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972.
	6.4	Budget Reduction: The proposed reduction in stock budget is likely to have an impact on the Council’s statutory obligation to secure, by the keeping of adequate stocks sufficient in number, range and quality, to meet the general requirements and any special requirements both of adults and children; and of encouraging both adults and children to make full use of the library service (Public Libraries and Museums Act 1964 7(2) (a) and (b)).
	6.5	The Secretary of State for Digital, Culture, Media and Sport has a duty, under the Act, to superintend and promote the improvement of the public library service provided by councils in England and to secure the proper discharge by councils of their functions as library authorities. The Act also provides the Secretary of State with the statutory power to intervene and call a local inquiry when a library authority fails (or is suspected of failing) to provide the required service. What a comprehensive and efficient service means will differ between councils, and will depend on the needs of each area which must be ascertained by councillors:
		in consultation with their communities
		through analysis of evidence around local needs
		in accordance with their statutory duties
	6.6	Library authorities are also required to provide DCMS with such information as the Secretary of State may require for carrying out their duties. DCMS expects councils considering changing their library service to inform the DCMS Libraries team about their proposals before public engagement or consultation. Library authorities should be able to demonstrate:
		plans to consult with local communities alongside an assessment of their needs (including any projections of need)
		consideration of a range of options to sustain library service provision in their area
		a rigorous analysis and assessment of the potential impact of their proposals
	6.7	If a member of the public believes a council is in breach of its duties under the Act they can make an official complaint to the Secretary of State.
	6.8	DCMS will consider each complaint on its own merits following careful consideration of a number of factors. These include:
		if there is any serious doubt or uncertainty that the council is (or may cease to be) complying with its legal obligation to provide a comprehensive and efficient library service
		if the council appears to be acting in a careless or unreasonable way
		if the decision is (or may be outside) the proper bounds of the council’s discretion, such as a capricious decision to stop serving a particularly vulnerable group in the local community
		if the council appears to have failed to consult affected individuals or to carry out significant research into the effects of its proposals
		if the council has failed to explain, analyse or properly justify its proposals
		if the local proposals are likely to lead to a breach of national library policy
		if there is any other good reason why a local inquiry should be ordered

	7.	CONSULTATION
	7.1	No public consultation has been carried out.

	8.	TIMETABLE FOR IMPLEMENTATION
	Implementation date if not called in:
	Table D: Implementation timetable

	9.	APPENDICES
	9.1	This report is supported by 2 appendices:

	10.	BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS
	10.1	This report is supported by 0 background documents:

	11.	CONSULTATION

	15 Procurement of the Specialist Integrated Sexual and Reproductive Health Service



